Towards the validation of the International Trauma Interview for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress disorder, and the role of core beliefs in the development and maintenance of CPTSD

Zoe Wagland

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Edinburgh Napier University, for the award of Doctor of Philosophy.

October 2023

Declaration

I hereby declare that the work presented in this thesis has not been submitted for any other degree or professional qualification, and that it is the result of my own independent work.



Zoe Wagland

01/10/2023

Date

Abstract

Background

Complex post-traumatic stress disorder (CPTSD) was added to the International Classification of Diseases 11th edition (ICD-11) as a sibling diagnosis to post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (WHO, 2018). To date the only validated measure for CPTSD is the International Trauma Questionnaire (ITQ) (Redican et al., 2021). However, the current gold standard for diagnosis is a clinician interview (Siqveland et al., 2017). For the reliable diagnosis of CPTSD, it is important that a diagnostic interview protocol be developed. The International Trauma Interview (ITI) (Roberts et al., 2019), is based on the ITQ and intends to fill the need for an interview CPTSD measure, however validation is necessary.

This thesis is also concerned with the relationship between CPTSD and negative core beliefs (NCBs). An NCB is defined as a core belief or schema detailing negative beliefs about the self. This relationship may help to shed light on how CPTSD is developed and maintained, and how CPTSD may be treated. Research already shows how PTSD relates to NCBs, and this has informed the successful use of cognitive behavioural therapies for PTSD.

Research questions

- What research already exists about the correlation between CPTSD and NCBs?
- 2) What NCBs are correlated with CPTSD when CPTSD is measured with the ITQ?
- 3) Is the ITI a reliable and valid assessment tool for CPTSD?

Methods

A meta-analysis was conducted to collate data published in pre-existing studies that explore associations between DSO symptoms and NCBs, with the view to understand what is already known, and identify gaps in the literature. The search strategy identified studies measuring the relationship between NCBs and proxy measures of DSO symptoms. R values were extracted and analysed in a random effects meta-analysis.

In order to address gaps in the literature and establish the relationship between NCBs and a direct measure of PTSD/CPTSD, an online survey (n=2,144) was also conducted to collect empirical data based on the findings from the metaanalysis. A measure of NCBs (core beliefs questionnaire, Wong et al., 2017) is administered alongside the ITQ. Correlational and reliability analyses were run.

Finally, this thesis aimed to provide a provisional validation of the ITI for assessment of PTSD and CPTSD. Participants (n=25) were recruited from NHS psychology services and administered both the ITQ and the ITI. These data were analysed for validity and reliability. Concurrent validity was measured by the agreement between the ITI and ITQ using Pearson's r, internal reliability was analysed with Cronbach's Alpha, and clinical utility was analysed qualitatively.

Results

The results of the meta-analysis suggest moderate positive correlations between CPTSD symptoms and NCBs. Further research using direct measures of CPTSD symptoms and using clinical populations was recommended.

The results of the large-sample study show very strong correlations between NCBs and PTSD/CPTSD symptom profiles. Some types of NCBs are strongly

associated with CPTSD, NCBs are less significantly correlated with NCBs. Steps must be taken to replicate these findings with clinical populations to draw conclusions for therapeutic practice.

The ITI showed promise as a CPTSD assessment tool but the sample in this thesis was too small to be counted as a standalone validation study. Further research is required to establish the validity and reliability of the English language version of the ITI.

Discussion

The meta-analysis indicated positive, moderate correlations between NCBs and proxy measures of DSO symptoms. Gaps in the literature are identified as weaknesses in reporting of data by published studies. Many studies omitted demographic data, power analyses, and the use of proxy measures causes issues with validity of results.

The large-sample online survey study revealed strong correlations between specific NCBs and CPTSD symptom profiles, and the negative self-concept DSO symptoms were the most strongly correlated. There was no significant difference in endorsement of NCBs between participants with PTSD and non-symptomatic profiles. CPTSD symptom profiles correlated significantly more strongly with NCBs than either PTSD or non-symptomatic profiles. This indicates that there is a significant difference between the cognitive structure of CPTSD and PTSD/nonsymptomatic profiles.

v

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to Rita Woodbridge, George and Ruth Wagland, Mike, Gina, and Sam Wagland, and Shaune Murray.

Without you, this would not have been possible.

Acknowledgements

This thesis would not have been possible without the support and advice of my supervisors; Prof. Thanos Karatzias, Dr. Philip Hyland, and Dr. Amanda Woodrow. Thank you so much for sharing your knowledge and experience, answering my lists of questions, and for reading many, many drafts of my chapters.

Also integral to the completion of this document are my friends and family. Sue Wagland for proofreading my application and managing my expectations of the experience of a PhD. Mike and Gina Wagland for listening to the roadblocks I encountered and responding with sympathetic, realistic advice. Sam Wagland for telling me to suck it up and get on with it. Shaune Murray for providing almost infinite cups of tea and bringing levity after long days.

Finally, I would be remiss if I didn't acknowledge Holly, Daniel, and Coco for their company, and Guy Montgomery and Tim Batt for their community support for PhD students

Contents

Abstract iii	
Dedication vi	
Acknowledgements	vii
Contents 8	
List of tables	
Glossary of terms	21
1 Introduction	22
1.1 Classification of post-traumatic disorders	22
1.1.1 Diagnostic criteria	24
1.2 Assessment of post-traumatic stress disorder and complex post-	
traumatic stress disorder	27
1.2.1 Self-report and clinician-administered	27
1.2.2 International trauma questionnaire	
1.2.3 International trauma interview	
1.2.4 Clinical utility	
1.3 Cognitive model of complex post-traumatic stress disorder	32
1.4 Aims / Conceptual framework	34
1.4.1 Gaps in current literature	
1.5 Research questions	38

1.6 **Thesis structure**

Study one: systematic review and metanalysis of core beliefs and the disorders of self-organisation symptoms of complex post-traumatic stress

disorder 41

2.1	Introduction	41
2.1.1	Summary	41
2.1.2	Chapter aims	41
2.1.3	Schemas and core beliefs	41
2.1.4	Negative core beliefs in trauma response	42
2.1.5	Objectives	43
2.2	Method	44
2.2.1	Protocol registration	44
2.2.2	Identification of key terms	46
2.2.3	Inclusion/exclusion criteria	47
2.2.4	Data extraction	49
2.2.5	Data synthesis and analysis	49
2.3	Results	54
2.3.1	Characteristics of included studies	54
2.3.2	Outcome statistics	55
2.3.1	Forest plot	64
2.3.2	Risk of bias assessment	64
2.3.3	Funnel plots	69

2.4	Discussion	74
2.4.	1 Main findings	74
2.4.2	2 DR discussion	76
2.4.	3 AD discussion	77
2.4.4	4 Implications for research	
2.4.	5 Strengths and limitations	81
2.5	Conclusion	82
3	Study two: online survey methodology	83
3.1	Introduction	83
3.1.	1 Summary	
3.1.	2 Chapter aims	83
3.2	Meta-analysis findings	84
3.3	Research design	85
3.3.	1 Cross-sectional design	85
3.3.2	2 Online survey design	
3.4	Rejected study designs	88
3.4.	1 Longitudinal design	
3.4.	2 Retrospective design	
3.4.	3 In-person design	
3.5	Research questions	91

3.6	5 Ethical considerations	91
3.6	5.1 Ethical approval	91
3.6	5.2 Confidentiality and anonymity	91
3.6	5.3 Informed consent	92
3.6	5.4 Data storage and protection	93
3.6	5.5 Source of data	94
3.7	Participants	94
3.7	1 Recruitment	94
3.7	2.2 Sampling	95
3.7	.3 Inclusion criteria	98
3.7	.4 Exclusion criteria	99
3.7	.5 Participant characteristics	99
3.8	Measures	101
3.8	3.1 International trauma exposure measure	101
3.8	3.2 Core beliefs questionnaire	102
3.8	3.3 International trauma questionnaire	103
3.9	Procedure	104
3.9	0.1 Administration schedule	104
3.9	0.2 Data analysis	105
3.1	0 Summary	109
4	Study two: online survey results	110

	4.1	Introduction 11	10
	4.1.1	Summary11	10
	4.1.2	Missing data11	10
	4.2	Results 11	1
	4.2.1	Synthesis of international trauma questionnaire data1	11
	4.2.2	Participant experience of trauma11	12
	4.2.3	Reliability of core beliefs questionnaire to assess negative core beliefs in	
	post-	traumatic stress disorder and complex post-traumatic stress disorder1	15
	4.2.4	Difference in negative core belief endorsement between all symptom profile	s
		115	
	4.2.5	Differences in negative core belief endorsement between paired symptom	
	profil	les	18
	4.2.6	Core belief questionnaire items correlation with international trauma	
	quest	ionnaire items12	24
	4.3	Summary 12	26
	4.3.1	Key findings	26
	4.3.2	Strengths and limitations	26
5	5 St	tudy three: international trauma interview validation methodology12	28
	5.1	Introduction 12	28
	5.1.1	Summary	28
	5.1.2	Chapter aims	28
	5.2	Research design 12	29

5.2.1	Cross-sectional design	.129
5.2.2	Hybrid design	.129
5.2.3	Rejected study design	.130
5.3	Research questions	133
5.4	Hypothesis	133
5.5	Ethical considerations	134
5.5.1	Ethical approval	.134
5.5.2	Confidentiality and anonymity	.134
5.5.3	Informed consent	.135
5.5.4	Data storage and protection	.136
5.5.5	Safety considerations	.136
5.6	Study setting	137
5.7	Standardisation and training	138
5.7.1	Administration training	.138
5.7.2	Interview supervision	.138
5.8	Participants	139
5.8.1	Recruitment	.139
5.8.2	Sampling	.139
5.8.3	Inclusion and exclusion criteria	.140
5.9	Participant characteristics	141
5.10	Measures	141

5.10	0.1 International trauma exposure measure	141
5.10	0.2 International trauma questionnaire	142
5.10	0.3 International trauma interview	144
5.10	0.4 Clinical utility	148
5.11	Procedure	148
5.11	1.1 Administration schedule	148
5.11	1.2 Clinician participants procedure	150
5.12	2 Data analysis	150
5.12	2.1 Descriptive statistics	150
5.12	2.2 Concurrent validity	150
5.12	2.3 Internal reliability	151
5.12	2.4 Clinical utility	152
6	Study three: international trauma interview validation results	154
6.1	Introduction	154
6.1.	1 Summary	154
6.2	Participants	154
6.3	Reliability and validity of international trauma interview	155
6.3.	1 Concurrent validity	155
6.3. 6.3.	 Concurrent validity Internal reliability 	155 159
6.3. 6.3. 6.4	 Concurrent validity Internal reliability Clinical Utility 	155 159 161

6.5	5.1	Key findings	
6.5	5.2	Strengths and limitations	163
7	D	Discussion	165
7.1	L	Summary of this thesis	165
7.2	2	This thesis in the context of the pandemic	165
7.3	3	Study one	167
7.4	ļ	Study two	168
7.4	1.1	Discussion of findings	168
7.4	1.2	Implications	171
7.5	5	Study three	178
7.5	5.1	Discussion of findings	178
7.5	5.2	Implications	
7.6	Ó	Strengths and limitations of the thesis	183
7.7	7	Conclusion	185
7.7	7.1	Research Question 1: What does the current literature show regar	ding the
rela	ati	onship between DSO symptoms and NCBs?	186
7.7	7.2	Research Question 2: How are NCBs related to ICD-11 PTSD, C	PTSD and
DS	50	symptoms?	186
7.7	7.3	Research Question 3: Is the ITI a reliable and valid tool for assess	ing ICD-11
PT	SI	D and CPTSD?	187
8	R	eferences	
9	A	ppendices	237

9.1	Table of screened and excluded studies	237
9.2	AHRQ scoring criteria	240
9.3	Upgrading and downgrading GRADE risk of bias criterion	242
9.5	Online survey study data management plan	243
9.6	Online survey invitation to participate	248
9.7	Online survey participant information sheet	249
9.8	Online survey privacy notice	252
9.9	Online survey consent form	255
9.10	International Trauma Exposure Measure	256
9.11	International Trauma Questionnaire	262
9.12	Core Beliefs Questionnaire - Trait	264
9.13	Online survey debrief sheet	265
9.14	Instructions to SPSS to create diagnostic groups	266
9.15	Interpersonal and non-interpersonal traumatic events	267
9.16	Validation study ethics application	268
9.17	Validation study data management plan	284
9.18	Validation study NHS letter of ethical approval	290
9.19	Validation study IRAS amendment tool 09/12/2022	294
9.20	Validation study IRAS amendment tool 30/01/2023	296
9.21	Validation study end of study declaration	298
lf no	, please submit a Final Report within 12 months of the end of t	he
stud	ly (or for paediatric CTIMPs, within 6 months).	300

9.22	Validation study NHS letter of access	301
9.23	Validation study participant information sheet	304
9.24	Validation study privacy notice	307
9.25	Validation study consent form	309
9.26	Validation study debrief sheet	310
9.27	Validation study letter to referring clinician	311
9.28	International Trauma Interview	315
9.29	Clinician survey	341

List of tables

Table 2.1. Search strategy
Table 2.2. Characteristics of included studies 56
Table 2.3. Outcome data for included studies 59
Table 2.4. Analysis outcome data61
Table 2.5. Risk of bias assessment outcome
Table 2.6. GRADE risk of bias outcome 74
Table 3.1. Full participant characteristic data100
Table 3.2. α thresholds (Bland, & Altman, 1997; Tavakol, & Dennick, 2011)107
Table 3.3 Cohen's d threshold interpretation (Gignac &Szodorai, 2016)108
Table 3.4. Spearman's rank coefficient thresholds (Dancey and Reidy, 2007) 109
Table 4.1. Participant experiences of trauma
Table 4.2. Mean score and standard deviation for overall NCB endorsement and
number of lifetime traumatic events experienced compared to ITQ symptom
endorsement114
Table 4.3. Full K-W outcome data 116
Table 4.4. NCB endorsement difference between PTSD and CPTSD independent t
test output where equal variances is assumed120
Table 4.5. NCB endorsement difference between PTSD and CPTSD independent t
test output where equal variances is not assumed121
Table 4.6. NCB endorsement difference between PTSD and neither subgroups
independent t test output where equal variances is assumed121
Table 4.7. NCB endorsement difference between PTSD and neither subgroups
independent t test output where equal variances is not assumed

Table 4.8 NCB endorsement difference between CPTSD and neither subgroups
independent t test output where equal variances are assumed122
Table 4.9 NCB endorsement difference between CPTSD and neither subgroups
independent t test output where equal variances is not assumed123
Table 4.10. All significant and non-significant correlations between individual NCB
and individual ITQ items125
Table 5.1. Sample demographics 142
Table 5.2. Items on the ITI and the symptom clusters represented
Table 5.3. Questions asked to clinicians and researchers and the aspect of clinical
utility represented147
Table 5.4. r thresholds 151
Table 5.5. α thresholds152
Table 6.1. Mean number of traumatic experiences by life stage and type of trauma
percent of participants who did not experience a traumatic event at each life stage or
type of trauma155
Table 6.2. diagnostic agreement between ITI and ITQ
Table 6.3. Correlations between ITQ and ITI outcomes
Table 6.4. Correlations between PTSD symptom scores on ITQ and ITI
Table 6.5. Correlations between CPTSD symptom scores on ITQ and IT1
Table 6.6. ITI inter-item correlations 160
Table 6.7. TA of clinician survey responses

List of figures

Figure 1.1 Ehlers and Clark (1999) cognitive model of PTSD	.33
Figure 1.2. Memory and identity theory of CPTSD (Hyland et al., 2023)	.34
Figure 2.1. PRISMA flowchart of article elimination	.48
Figure 2.2. Forest plot for DR meta-analysis	.62
Figure 2.3. Forest plot for AD meta-analysis	.63
Figure 2.5 Trim and fill funnel plot for DR analysis	.71
Figure 2.4 Funnel plot for DR analysis	.71
Figure 2.6. Funnel plot for AD analysis	.72
Figure 2.7. Trim and fill funnel plot for AD analysis	.72
Figure 7.1. Memory and Identity theory of CPTSD	172

Glossary of terms

Abbreviation	Term
AD	Affect dysregulation
CBQ	Core beliefs questionnaire
CPTSD	Complex post-traumatic stress disorder
DR	Disturbed relationships
DSM	Diagnostic and statistical manual for mental disorders
DSO	Disturbances in self-organisation
ICD-11	International classification of diseases 11 th edition
ITEM	International trauma experience measure
ITI	International trauma interview
ITQ	International trauma questionnaire
NCB	Negative core beliefs
NICE	National Institute for Clinical Excellence
PD	Personality disorder
PTSD	Post-traumatic stress disorder
WHO	World Health Organisation

1 Introduction

1.1 Classification of post-traumatic disorders

Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) was first included in the International Classification of Diseases, 10th edition (ICD-10) published by the World Health Organisation (WHO, 1992). Research following the publication of ICD-10 was used to propose a cognitive model of PTSD (Ehlers, & Clark, 2000), validate diagnostic tools (Blake et al., 1995), and develop treatment protocols (Marcus et al., 1997; Sherman, 1998).

A variety of publications emerged arguing that the existing concept of PTSD did not fully encompass the range of symptoms experienced by individuals with complex trauma backgrounds (Herman, 2015; van der Kolk, 2005). It was also identified that the ICD-10 criteria yielded unusually high comorbidity of PTSD and personality disorders (PDs) when compared with the prevalence of PDs in the general population (Oldham, 1994; Weissman, 1993) and differentiation between PTSD and PDs was difficult for the practicing clinician (Bollinger et al., 2000).

Similarities between CPTSD and PDs include interpersonal difficulties, social isolation, negative view of the self, and a correlation with experience of trauma (Felding, et al., 2021; Frost, et al., 2020; Powers, et al., 2022). While these symptoms are common between the two disorders (WHO, 2018), there are differences made clear in the ICD-11. For example, interpersonal difficulties in CPTSD is characterised by consistent withdrawal from social contact, perhaps due to the belief that others are dangerous (Frost, et al., 2020). Whereas interpersonal difficulties in PDs may be better described as a pattern of intense idealisation of a particular person, and the subsequent sabotaging of that relationship or withdrawal

following rejection (Frost, et al., 2020). The end result of both behaviours is a general difficulty in maintaining relationships but a detailed examination of the cause of this difficulty reveals distinct patterns of behaviour. Similarly, negative view of the self in CPTSD is a pervasive, global belief in the self as worthless and a failure, while a PD symptom profile requires a fluctuation between periods very high self-worth, followed by intense feelings of worthlessness (Frost, et al., 2020).

It was clear from further research that clarification in both the PD and PTSD diagnostic criteria was necessary (Ford, & Courtois, 2014) and arguments were made for the addition of a complex PTSD (CPTSD) disorder to the 2018 ICD 11th edition (ICD-11) (Ford, & Courtois, 2014; Herman, 1992; Ide, & Paez, 2000). As a result of this, a reconfigured definition of PTSD and the novel sibling diagnosis of CPTSD were listed in the ICD-11. The goal of the ICD-11 was also to increase clinical utility of each diagnosis listed (Maercker, 2021). To this end, the revised description of PTSD contains clear core symptoms, concise definitions, and guidelines on differentiating between CPTSD and PDs.

The research in this thesis will reference ICD-11 diagnostic criteria, and research based on ICD-11 measures, with exceptions where ICD-11 evidence is unavailable. This is because the ICD-11 is more clinically relevant, (the most up to date and commonly used diagnostic system in Scotland where this research is taking place) and the only diagnostic manual that currently lists CPTSD as a disorder. The ICD-11 is therefore more relevant to the population used in the research associated with this thesis.

1.1.1 Diagnostic criteria

The ICD-11 requires the presence of an index event for the diagnosis of both PTSD and CPTSD. The index event is defined as the single "worst" traumatic event which is thought to be the main cause of the client's distress (WHO, 2018). Assessment of the index event relies on the client's autobiographical memory and their ability to assess each event for traumatic significance. Whilst this may be more straightforward for clients with only one index event, for the client with multiple traumatic events or poor recall of an event, identification of the main index event may be more complicated (Peirce et al., 2009).

The diagnosis of PTSD, as listed in the ICD-11, involves symptoms classified into three symptom clusters: re-experiencing in the here and now, avoidance, and sense of current threat (WHO, 2018). The domain of re-experiencing is defined as unpleasant, unintentional recollections of an event (often experienced as flashbacks or nightmares) resulting in the person believing that they are reliving the traumatic event in the present moment (Brewin 2015; Ehlers et al., 2004). Dreams are accompanied by significant loss of sleep and feelings of horror (Miller et al., 2017).

The avoidance symptom cluster embodies behaviours employed designed to reduce or eliminate contact with people, places, and activities which may serve as triggers (WHO, 2018). This can include avoidance of internal reminders through suppression of thoughts or feelings related to the index event (Powers et al., 2022).

Sense of current threat is described as persistent feelings of heightened threat, which may be indicated by the presence of hypervigilance and an exaggerated startle response (WHO, 2018). Sense of current threat is generally pervasive

throughout the day, and the person may experience hypervigilance and hyperarousal (Hyland et al., 2020).

The ICD-11 definition of CPTSD requires that the above PTSD symptom clusters be present, as well as symptoms relating to the domains of affect dysregulation, negative self-concept, and disturbed relationships (WHO, 2018). These three symptom clusters are collectively known as disturbances in selforganisation (DSO). The inclusion of PTSD symptoms along with additional symptom clusters is indicative of CPTSD being a sibling disorder of PTSD. That is, the two disorders are related and share similar aetiology but there are differences in presentation and associated risk factors (Ben-Ezra et al., 2018; Karatzias et al., 2017).

In CPTSD, affect dysregulation may be recognised by level of reactivity to emotionally challenging situations. For example, poor emotion regulation can be exemplified by hyper-reactivity (emotional outbursts at inappropriate moments) or hypo-reactivity (numbing or flattening of emotional reactions) (Ford & Courtois, 2014). The symptom cluster of negative self-concept is defined by the ICD-11 as including negative beliefs about the self, feelings of guilt or shame, and a pervasive feeling of worthlessness (Gilbar 2020; Glück et al., 2017; Steen et al., 2023). Many people with CPTSD believe that the world would be better off if they were dead, or that anything they attempt is doomed to fail (Banz et al., 2022; Karatzias et al., 2019).

The final symptom cluster, disturbed relationships, is defined as difficulties in maintaining long-term relationships and strong feelings of being distanced from others (WHO, 2018). The traumatised person may feel unable to make emotional

connections and may isolate themselves form others who they were previously close to (Heim et al., 2022; Karatzias et al., 2023).

The ICD-11 rounds off the diagnostic descriptions for both PTSD and CPTSD by detailing that the symptoms must be present for several weeks and cause a significant level of impairment in the domains of social and occupational functioning (Brenner et al., 2019). The CPTSD symptoms and functional impairment must be demonstrated to be related to the identified index event, either through timeline (emergence of symptoms following the index event) or by identifying how the client's cognitions have changed as a result of the index event to cause the symptoms (Roberts et al., 2019).

Since CPTSD was added to the ICD-11 relatively recently, there is a need for validation of diagnostic tools for CPTSD and the development of a model that integrates pre-existing CPTSD research into a model that explains the development and maintenance of ICD-11 CPTSD and PTSD disorders (Hyland et al, 2023). Diagnosis of CPTSD is required for clients to access appropriate treatment services and for research into CPTSD to be conducted (Gelezelyte et al., 2022; Karatzias, & Levendosky, 2019). Presently, CPTSD is being diagnosed via clinical judgement and a self-report diagnostic tool, but the ideal would be the availability of validated selfreport and clinician-administered tools for screening and diagnosis, designed around the criteria for CPTSD as listed in the ICD-11 (Bisson et al., 2020; Siqveland et al., 2017). Additionally, a cognitive model that integrates both PTSD and CPTSD would allow for greater understanding of how the two disorders develop, are maintained, and how the treatment for the two should be approached (Hyland et al., 2023).

1.2 Assessment of post-traumatic stress disorder and complex post-traumatic stress disorder

1.2.1 Self-report and clinician-administered

The assessment of PTSD and CPTSD takes the form of self-report questionnaires, or a clinician-led structured interview (Bauer et al., 2013). The clinician-led interview typically comprises items that the clinician must ask the client, with prompts for use in clarifying answers and attaining a greater level of detail. Self-report measures typically involve the client receiving a piece of a paper with items listed alongside a scoring system (typically a 1-5 Likert scale).

Both methods of assessment have benefits and drawbacks, for example, self-rated scales enable the use of quantitative data to illustrate the severity of a person's disorder and may be less susceptible to social desirability bias. However, it is possible for a client to misunderstand an item and therefore give an inaccurate response (Stone et al., 1999; Visted et al., 2017). Additionally, overlap of symptomology with other disorders such as may represent a significant hurdle to diagnosis via solely self-report measures (Ford, & Courtois, 2014).

Interviews are presently considered to be gold standard for diagnosis of a condition, due to generally higher levels of disclosure from the client (Fincher et al., 2015). Guidelines from the National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) recommend that questionnaires be used for screening, while diagnosis should involve speaking with a health professional, as this represents a valuable opportunity to parse out exactly which difficulties are related to PTSD or CPTSD and which may be better explained by substance abuse or other medical conditions (NICE, 2018).

While some have demonstrated that results from self-report measures are reliable and appropriate for use in diagnosis (Ashbaugh et al., 2016; Steketee et al., 1996; Van Praag et al., 2020), this is not always the case. PTSD has been shown to be over-diagnosed by self-report measures, with up to 40% of individuals diagnosed with PTSD believing that they had been incorrectly diagnosed (Stevens et al., 2013). Stevens et al. (2013) focussed on the diagnostic concordance between validated self-report and interview measures, finding that clients previously diagnosed solely on the basis of self-report psychometric scales did not fit any published diagnostic criteria for PTSD. It was discovered that items listed on self-report scales may be misleading or confusing, and in fact a client's PTSD symptoms may be more accurately described as resulting from the presence of physical pain or fatigue caused by the index event (e.g., endorsement of the diagnostic criteria of difficulty concentrating may be caused by physical discomfort from an injury, rather than the inferred presence of rumination) (Stevens et al., 2013).

The clinician-administered PTSD scale (CAPS-5) is a clinicianadministered measure of PTSD that was designed for use with the diagnostic criteria outlined in the 5th edition of the diagnostic and statistical manual for mental disorders (DSM-5) (Weathers et al., 2018). The CAPS-5 comprises 20 items and measures symptoms relating to nine symptom clusters. The CAPS-5 has been used successfully in clinical practice as well as research (Krüger-Gottschalk et al., 2022; Rameckers et al., 2021) and has produced reliable results when compared with other measures of DSM-5 PTSD (Lee et al., 2022; Resick et al., 2023). Since the CAPS-5 uses DSM-5 diagnostic criteria, there are symptom clusters in this PTSD assessment tool that may be more suited to labelling as CPTSD symptomology. For example, the CAPS-5 measures negative alterations in mood and cognition and alterations in

arousal and reactivity, both of which bear a meaningful resemblance to the DSO symptom clusters of negative self-concept and emotional dysregulation (Krüger-Gottschalk et al., 2022). This means that clinicians and researchers in the UK and around the world cannot make full use of the CAPS-5 because the ICD-11 criteria are the official diagnostic standards for the vast majority of countries. A clinician-administered measure of CPTSD that matches ICD-11 criteria is therefore required.

It is evident that the diagnosis of such a complex disorder as PTSD requires more than the sole use of self-report measures. It follows, therefore, that the same is true of CPTSD. The ideal resolution is that self-report and clinician-administered measures be used in conjunction. It is suggested (NICE, 2018) that self-report measures be used for screening clients for relevant symptoms and individuals with clinically relevant scores subsequently be given the opportunity to attend a clinician interview.

At present the only validated English-language diagnostic tool for CPTSD is the international trauma questionnaire (ITQ), a self-report measure, which, considering the evidence of over-diagnosis above, is not sufficient as a stand-alone diagnostic tool. It is necessary to develop and validate clinical interviewing styles and protocols to allow for the interview assessment of CPTSD.

1.2.2 International trauma questionnaire

The ITQ is a self-report measure designed to capture all aspects of the ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD diagnoses. It was published in 2018 and has been validated in English-speaking UK populations (Cloitre et al., 2018). The ITQ uses 18 self-report items measured on a 5-point Likert scale, six items relating to PTSD symptom clusters, and six relating to DSO, as well as six functional impairment items relating

to both symptom clusters. Respondents are instructed to answer the PTSD questions in relation to how much they have been bothered by each symptom in the past month and are instructed to answer the DSO items in relation to how they typically feel, think about themselves, and relate to others. Probable Diagnosis of CPTSD requires the endorsement of at least one of two symptoms from each of the six PTSD and DSO clusters, plus endorsement of functional impairment associated with these symptoms. The ICD-11 taxonomic structure dictates that a person may only receive a diagnosis of PTSD or CPTSD, but not both.

The English language ITQ has been validated using British samples in Wales and Scotland (Hyland et al., 2017; Karatzias et al., 2016; Murphy et al., 2020). Translations of the ITQ have been validated in China (Ho et al., 2019), Denmark (Hansen et al., 2021), Germany (Haselgruber et al., 2020), French Canada (Cyr et al., 2022), and Lithuania (Kazlauskas et al., 2018). A review by Redican et al. (2021) identified 32 published studies using the ITQ as an assessment tool for PTSD and CPTSD. It was found that clinical studies consistently reported the ITQ as effectively distinguishing between PTSD and CPTSD at different levels of severity, as well as identifying sub-clinical levels of symptomology. It is evident that the ITQ is becoming a reliable self-report assessment tool for screening for PTSD and CPTSD. However, there is a lack of validation data for the interview version of the ITQ, the International Trauma Interview (ITI).

1.2.3 International trauma interview

The ITI was developed subsequently to the ITQ and comprises 18 items rated on a 5-point Likert scale measuring the presence of symptoms over the most recent three months (Roberts et al., 2019). Further details on the structure of the ITI can be found in section 5.10.3.

Presently, the ITI has been validated in a Swedish sample by Bondjers et al (2019). The resulting diagnostic rates were 16% PTSD and 6% CPTSD, with satisfactory inter-rater reliability (α =.76) and convergent validity. Bondjers et al (2019) concluded that these results indicated that the Swedish translation of the ITI is a reliable and valid measure of PTSD and CPTSD.

The ITI has been successfully used by Gelezelyte et al (2022) in a Lithuanian study into sexual abuse and suicide risk (n=103). Results of reliability and validity analyses performed by Gelezelyte et al (2022) indicated very good internal reliability ($\alpha = .93$) and moderate agreement between the ITI and ITQ ($\kappa =$.49). The ITI has not yet been validated in an English-speaking population, and as such is not yet approved for use in research or clinical practice in this population.

Since clinician interviews are the gold standard for diagnosis (Siqveland et al., 2017) it is necessary for the English version of the ITI to be validated. The bestcase scenario is that the ITQ can be used to screen for PTSD and CPTSD and then the ITI be used to confirm or disconfirm ITQ results.

Chapters five and six of this thesis will focus on the validation of the ITI for use in assessment of ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD. Validation of the ITI is a necessary step in the process of enabling widespread access to CPTSD diagnoses and treatment because, as previously stated in this chapter, clinician-administered interviews are perceived to be more reliable than self-report measures, and at present the only tools validated for use are self-report questionnaires (ITQ, ITI etc.).

1.2.4 Clinical utility

Practical clinical utility of a diagnostic tool is vital to ensure appropriate usage. Since the purpose of many changes made to the ICD-11 was to improve the

clinical utility of the PTSD and CPTSD criteria (Maercker et al., 2013), an evaluation of the clinical utility of the ITI would be a valuable addition to extant literature. Successful analysis of the clinical utility of the ITI would support the use of the interview protocol alongside the ethos of improved clinical utility set out in the ICD-11. An aspect of clinical utility is the use of the assessment output in planning care pathways for clients. A clinically useful ITI must be used by clinicians to develop treatment plans based on the most prominent symptoms experienced by the individual, as well as simply determining which disorder is present. Previous research has demonstrated that the ITQ is clinically useful in a refugee population (Vallières et al., 2018), so a similar evaluation of the ITI could aim to find comparable results.

1.3 Cognitive model of complex post-traumatic stress disorder

The most influential cognitive model of PTSD was proposed by Ehlers and Clark (1999). They theorise that PTSD manifests, in part, as a result of negative appraisals of the index event as a confirmation of pre-existing negative beliefs. Put simply, an index event causes PTSD when it is seen as an experience with global negative implications for one's future, and when the index event is viewed as evidence in support of a negative belief about the self or the world (e.g., "nobody cares about me") or causes a shattering of previously held positive beliefs about the self or the world. Ehlers and Clark (1999) also propose that previously held beliefs influence the strategies a person may use to cope with the aftermath of an index event. For example, a person believing that people with emotional problems are inferior may use suppression of emotion to deal with difficult thoughts and feelings. This maladaptive method of coping may prevent improvement in symptoms (Freichel et al., 2022; Zerach 2023). This will mean that the index event cannot be appropriately processed and will increase the overall presence of PTSD symptoms.

Negative core beliefs (NCBs) play multiple roles in this model, impacting the appraisal of the index event and experiences following the index event, perception of current threat, and the perpetuation of PTSD symptoms (Chukwuorji et al., 2019; Ehlers & Clark, 1999; George et al., 2016). Research has also been conducted to investigate the correlational relationship between cognitive factors and PTSD symptoms (Dunmore et al., 2001). More recently, the memory and identity (M&I) model of CPTSD (Hyland et al., 2023) has been developed and does integrate the role of NCBs in the context of the development and maintenance of CPTSD.





The M&I theory of CPTSD (Hyland et al., 2023) proposes that negative beliefs about the self (including thoughts of being as powerless, worthless, or abandoned) are impacted by the experience of traumatic events and can contribute to the experience of CPTSD/PTSD symptoms. For example, the traumatic event causes thoughts of vulnerability, memories of the traumatic event are processed in the context of personal vulnerability, the individual feels the need to be on constant vigilance for danger, and their perception of themselves as an independent, strong person is damaged, leading to poor self-concept. In this way, the M&I theory of CPTSD shows how NCBs can, in conjunction with a traumatic experience, lead to hypervigilance and negative self-concept.

Figure 1.2. Memory and identity theory of CPTSD (Hyland et al., 2023)



Part of this thesis will address the relationship between NCBs and

PTSD/CPTSD/DSO symptoms with the view to contributing support to the M&I theory of CPTSD. The meta-analysis conducted as a part of this thesis does not include the DSO symptom negative self-concept. This is due to the fact that the definition of negative self-concept used in previously published literature varied and did not reflect the symptom definition described in the ICD-11. The ICD-11 defines the negative self-concept symptom as specifically relating to or caused by a traumatic event, while the definition used in previous non-CPTSD research very closely resembles the definition of NCBs. This conceptual overlap in the existing literature meant that negative self-concept was excluded from the meta-analysis.

1.4 Aims / Conceptual framework

The principle aim of this thesis is better understand the condition/symptoms of CPTSD and how they are best measured. Further, in order to investigate the

currently existing evidence around a possible link between NCBs and increased CPTSD symptomology, a meta-analysis was conducted to review previous studies showing correlations between proxy measures of DSO symptoms and NCBs. A survey study aimed to address flaws identified by the meta-analysis and provide a comparison between a direct measure of CPTSD and NCBs. Finally, this thesis aimed to assess the validity and reliability of the ITI to diagnose CPTSD and PTSD.

The validation of the ITI is important because without evidence in support of its psychometric properties, the ITI cannot be used with confidence in clinical practice to diagnose clients. There is presently no alternative clinician-administered tool for use in diagnosing CPTSD, so positive results would mean that clients are able to receive the diagnosis of CPTSD from a clinician interview as opposed to using the self-report questionnaire which is currently being used.

In addition, the exploration of the relationship between NCBs and severity or presence of CPTSD symptoms may have implications for the treatment of CPTSD and will represent a contribution to knowledge in terms of how CPTSD develops and is maintained. Similarly, the meta-analysis detailed in the next chapter represents unique contribution to knowledge in regard to the NCBs associated with DSO symptoms. The aim of this analysis was to provide a synthesis of current knowledge on the relationship between NCBs and DSO symptoms, which then informed the development of the study detailed in chapters three and four.

A small number of studies have published research on the relationship between cognitive factors and CPTSD. The first such study analysed the role of negative cognitions in CPTSD (Karatzias et al., 2018), and found that negative cognitions about the self, the world, and self-blame significantly more prevalent in a

CPTSD subgroup than a PTSD subgroup. Previous work using the posttraumatic cognitions inventory (PTCI) used in Karatzias et al., (2018) was published by Foa and Ehlers (1999) and found that the PTCI was reliable at distinguishing between individuals with PTSD and those without symptoms. Limitations of Karatzias et al., (2018) include the lack of results to indicate the efficacy of the PTCI in distinguishing between individuals with PTSD and those were necessary to determine the reliability of the PTCI as a tool for distinguishing between all three groups (CPTSD, PTSD, and non-symptomatic). Additionally, the PTCI uses very negatively worded items. This may be an issue in terms of accurate assessment of core beliefs, as the participant's transient mood may be negatively affected by reading the strongly negatively phrased statements (Goodwin, & Williams, 1982; Hankins, 2008).

More recently, it was found that endorsement of NCBs mediated the relationship between childhood trauma and severity of CPTSD symptoms (Vasilopoulou et al., 2019). Older adults (>64 years of age) with higher levels of childhood trauma and elevated schemas associated with disconnection form others perceived themselves as inadequate, socially isolated, and defective. These feelings mirror diagnostic criteria listed in ICD-11 CPTSD (specifically the negative selfconcept and disturbed relationships criteria). Through this study, it is suggested that NCBs have a significant lifetime effect on individuals, including the development of CPTSD. An idea which is supported by research showing the long-term rigidity of Schemas (Riso et al., 2006).

Limitations of Vasilopoulou et al (2019) include the mean age of the sample (m=71.4, SD=4.6) and the relatively small sample size (n=42). The older age of the participants means that results cannot be generalised to younger populations and the
small sample size gives the results relatively low statistical power. Despite these limitations, the study had high levels of significance and was the first study to investigate the specific relationship between CPTSD symptoms, trauma severity, and endorsement of NCBs.

The broad aims of this thesis are to identify the pre-existing literature regarding the association between proxy measures of NCBs and DSO symptoms, and to conduct a large-sample study to address the gaps in this pre-existing literature and establish correlations between NCBs and a direct measure of PTSD and CPTSD. The final aim of this thesis is to provide a preliminary validation of the ITI as a diagnostic tool for PTSD and CPTSD.

1.4.1 Gaps in current literature

The first study in this thesis aimed to address the absence of any study looking at collation and synthesis of data concerning the relationship between NCBs and DSO symptoms, and to identify the flaws with the current research. Previous research has analysed correlations between NCB endorsement and experience of symptoms that fit the definition of individual DSO symptoms (Estevez et al., 2016; Ke & Barlas, 2020; Thimm 2013). However, no study has yet brought these findings together to show what is currently known about this relationship and direct future research. The first study therefore searched databases for pre-existing research on correlations between measures of NCBs and measures of two DSO symptoms (affect dysregulation and difficulties in relationships) and analysed the strength and direction of these correlations.

The second study covers gaps in current research relating to the flaws identified in the first study. Flaws such as sample size calculations, reporting of

demographic data, and over-use of undergraduate samples were common in the research identified in study one and represent a significant gap in the literature. In addition, study two addresses the lack of any research into the relationship between NCBs and CPTSD/PTSD symptom profiles involving a younger sample of participants. Vasilopoulou et al. (2019) did use a direct measure of NCBs and a validated measure of PTSD/CPTSD symptomology, but the sample was older, and the results were therefore not generalisable to any younger populations. Additionally, all studies included in study one used proxy measures of DSO symptoms. Study two addressed this by using a direct measure of DSO and PTSD symptoms.

The third and final study in this thesis addressed the lack of a clinicianadministered diagnostic tool for PTSD and CPTSD. There exists a self-report measure of PTSD and CPTSD symptoms as per the ICD-11 but a clinicianadministered tool has not yet been validated, and is greatly needed (Gelezelyte et al., 2019; Siqveland et al., 2017), as self-report measures are suitable only for screening for possible symptoms (Ford, & Courtois, 2014; Stevens et al., 2013; Visted et al., 2017). This study aimed to contribute to the preliminary validation of the ITI as it may be used to diagnose PTSD and CPTSD. An English-language version of this assessment tool has not yet been assessed in this way, though the ITI had been analysed for reliability and validity in Lithuanian and Swedish (Bondjers et al., 2019; Gelezelyte et al., 2021). The validation of the English language version would constitute a substantial contribution to CPTSD research and clinical practice.

1.5 Research questions

- What does the current literature show regarding the relationship between DSO symptoms and NCBs?
- 2) How are NCBs related to ICD-11 PTSD and DSO symptoms?

3) Is the ITI a reliable and valid tool for assessing ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD?

The first question to be addressed is investigated in the next chapter via a meta-analysis of the existing research into correlations between NCBs and proxy measures of DSO symptoms. The relationship between NCBs and PTSD/DSO symptoms is addressed in chapters three, four, and seven, and the analysis of the ITI as a measure for CPTSD and PTSD is detailed in chapter five, six, and seven.

1.6 Thesis structure

This thesis is comprised of seven chapters: (1) Introduction: summary of the purpose, background research, and setting for this thesis. This is the present chapter and has discussed two cognitive models of PTSD and one model of CPTSD. The aims and structure of the thesis have been set out and rationalized. (2) Meta-analysis: identification of the current evidence about associations between proxy measures of DSO symptoms and endorsement of NCBs. This chapter introduces the idea of NCBs in greater detail and deals with the present evidence for the correlation between NCBs and DSO. (3) Methodology 1: procedure and data analysis of a survey undertaken to observe the relationships between a direct measure of CPTSD and a measure of NCBs. This chapter presents the methodology of an online study that was developed to address issues with current research into the correlation between NCBs and CPTSD symptoms and provide evidence that may support the M&I theory of CPTSD (Hyland et al., 2023). (4) Results 1: results of the survey data analysis. This chapter presents the results of the data analysis of the online survey that was planned in chapter three. (5) Methodology 2: methodological approach to the preliminary validation of the ITI. This chapter shows the methodological approach to the interviewing of participants for the ITI validation, the measures used, and the data analytic plan. (6) Results 2: outcome of the preliminary ITI validation

data analysis. This chapter presents the data resulting from the recruitment and data analysis plan in chapter five. (7) Discussion: addresses the thesis aims and research questions and draws final conclusions from the available data. This final chapter summarises the findings of all previous chapters, interprets the results, and discusses the findings of this thesis in the context of previous research. 2 Study one: systematic review and metanalysis of core beliefs and the disorders of self-organisation symptoms of complex post-traumatic stress disorder

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Summary

This chapter presents the results of a systematic review and meta-analysis concerning the associations between two disturbances in self-organisation (DSO) symptoms (affect dysregulation and difficulties in relationships) and negative core beliefs (NCBs). Two meta-analyses were conducted. First, a meta-analysis on the association between NCBs and affect dysregulation (AD), and secondly on the association between NCBs and disturbed relationships (DR). Because of the conceptual overlap between DSO negative self-concept and NCBs, it would not be meaningful to explore their association as part of this review. As discussed in introduction to this thesis, this association will be used to inform recommendations for future research to understand the cognitive structure of complex post-traumatic stress disorder (CPTSD).

2.1.2 Chapter aims

This review aims to collate and synthesise existing research on the relationship between AD and DR and NCBs using proxy measures of DSO symptoms to provide an evaluation of current evidence and develop a basis for future research into the relationship between CPTSD and NCBs.

2.1.3 Schemas and core beliefs

The term 'schema' refers to 'relatively enduring internal structures of stored generic or prototypical features of stimuli, ideas, or experience that are used to organize new information in a meaningful way thereby determining how phenomena are perceived and conceptualized'' (Clark et al., 1999, p. 79). This is a broad definition, encompassing patterns of thought relating to the self (self-schemas), how one should act in different situations (event-schemas), and how the world works (world-schemas). This chapter will focus on self-schemas.

Similarly, a negative core belief is an enduring, negatively framed, inflexible belief about the self, others, and/or the world at large, informed by information gathered about oneself from others, and from past experiences (Clark & Wells, 1995; Heimberg et al., 2010). While core beliefs and schemas could be argued to be distinct cognitive facets by staunch cognitive behaviourists, the two terms are often used interchangeably in published works (Dozois et al., 2014; Waller et al., 2001). Therefore, negative core beliefs and early maladaptive schemas (EMSs) will be grouped together under the heading of NCBs in this thesis.

2.1.4 Negative core beliefs in trauma response

It has been suggested by previous research that those with a post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) diagnosis present with more NCBs (Karatzias et al., 2016; Naderi et al., 2015; Testa, 2008). Indeed, disruption of core beliefs has been shown to correlate with PTSD-type symptoms (Galloucis et al., 2000), and experience of a traumatic event that re-activates a previously held NCB is a risk factor for PTSD symptoms (Boudoukha et al., 2016). Change in core beliefs following a traumatic event is common (Kaufman et al., 2018). This research is demonstrative of the idea that NCBs or disruption of adaptive core beliefs may play a role in disorders of traumatic stress. However, these studies do not concern CPTSD symptoms, nor the international classification of diseases (ICD-11) reconfiguration of PTSD.

However, there remains a lack of research exploring the association between CPTSD and NCBs. NCBs are identified and modified in many therapeutic treatment modalities for PTSD, predominantly of cognitive behavioural orientation (Bourdon et al., 2021; Müller-Engelmann, & Steil, 2017) and prior to implementing such therapies for CPTSD, it would be useful to explore whether NCBs are as relevant in CPTSD as they are in PTSD. If a relationship is found between CPTSD and NCBs, then this indicates that cognitive behavioural interventions might be particularly useful for the treatment of CPTSD. This is important considering that there are currently few published studies on the efficacy of interventions for the treatment of CPTSD as per ICD-11.

According to The World Health Organisation (WHO) (WHO, 2019), CPTSD shares three clusters of symptoms with PTSD (re-experiencing in the here and now, avoidance, and sense of threat), and includes three additional DSO symptom clusters. The three DSO symptoms are negative self-concept, AD, and DR. With a relationship between PTSD and NCBs solidly established (Ahmadian et al., 2015; Dekel et al., 2013), it is essential to explore the relationship between NCBs and DSO symptoms.

2.1.5 Objectives

Taking into consideration the research summarized above, this chapter aims to collate and synthesise data from correlational studies that have identified the relationship between NCBs and proxy measures of DSO symptoms. This chapter will address the following questions: 1) what is already known about the strength and direction of the correlations between NCBs and DSO symptoms? 2) what is needed to be able to better understand the relationship between NCBs and CPTSD symptoms?

2.2 Method

2.2.1 Protocol registration

The study protocol was registered with The International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO) (PROSPERO ID CRD42021216521) on the 16th of February 2021

(https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPEROFILES/216521 PROTOCOL 20210204.pd f).

2.2.1.1 Changes to registered protocol

It was necessary to make some changes to the protocol due to unexpected findings in the search results. The initial protocol registration included the third DSO symptom (negative self-concept), but it was found that proxy measures of negative self-concept also closely matched the description of NCBs. The DSO symptom of negative self-concept is defined in the ICD-11 as "beliefs about oneself as diminished, defeated or worthless" (WHO, 2019). This does share some similarity with the definition of NCBs, meaning that there is conceptual overlap between NCBs and negative self-concept (Gibson, & Francis, 2019; Waller et al., 2001). This may cause issues when attempting to demonstrate an association between the two concepts. If the difference between NCBs and negative self-concept is semantic rather than conceptual, any meta-analysis may in fact be measuring the correlation between the same variable twice.

The definition of NCBs could be expanded to include world- and otherbeliefs, which are distinguishable from negative self-concept. However, the inclusion of world- and other- beliefs is beyond the scope of the current review. In order to resolve the issue of the conceptual overlap between negative self-concept and selfNCBs, negative self-concept was excluded from this analysis. This review will instead focus on the relationship between the remaining two DSO symptoms, AD and DR, and measures of self-directed NCBs. It was determined that the current published literature does not accurately reflect the clinical definition of DSO negative self-concept in a way that can be meaningfully correlated with NCBs, since the two are treated as the same construct in relevant research.

Similarly, the initial protocol listed NCBs and maladaptive schemas as separate entities, as well as negative automatic thoughts (NATs). While there are nuanced arguments for NCBs and maladaptive schemas being two separate concepts (James et al., 2004), it was found that NCBs and maladaptive schemas are used interchangeably in many published studies (Dozois et al., 2014; Mizara et al., 2012). Indeed, the young schema questionnaire (YSQ) has been used in studies claiming to be studying NCBs (Brotchie, 2004; Waller et al., 2001). Maladaptive schemas were therefore collapsed into the NCBs category.

Preliminary searches also found that the definitions of NATs varied across published literature, some studies using NAT to mean perfectionistic thoughts (Flett et al., 2016), and few using the NAT concept from cognitive behavioural theory that was intended to be used when the protocol was written (Hiçdurmaz, & Öz, 2016). The finding that the intended definition of NATs could not be consistently matched meant that any correlation analysis may not be measuring correlation between a DSO symptom and the NAT as defined in the present study. For this reason, NATs were removed from the searches.

The first registration of the protocol also listed an intention to make recommendations for clinical and research practice. However, most studies in the

analysis did not recruit clinical populations and so the data cannot be used to propose directions for practitioners. It was always intended to identify implications for research, which is where most recommendations will be made.

To reflect the above changes to the protocol, the title, research questions, and data analysis plan were updated (for example, mentions of "Core Beliefs" and "Maladaptive Schemas" became "Negative Core Beliefs"). All changes to the protocol were updated in the PROSPERO registry on the 13th of February 2021.

2.2.2 Identification of key terms

At the time of database searching there were no published studies of correlations between DSO symptoms and NCBs, so it was necessary to use proxy measures of DSO symptoms. Database thesauruses and dictionaries were consulted to identify suitable terms related to AD and DR to include in the search strategy. The term "schema" was included in the search strategy as it is typically used interchangeably with "core beliefs" in published research (Dozois et al., 2014; Waller et al., 2001).

Definitions of AD and DR were operationalised to follow the definition of these symptoms as listed in the ICD-11. AD describes problems with emotion regulation such as heightened emotional reactivity, excessive expression of anger, or emotional numbing. DR describes difficulties in sustaining relationships, little interest in socialising, or avoidance of relationships (World Health Organisation, 2018). A study was considered for inclusion if it compared a measure of NCBs to a measure meeting one of these descriptions.

A primary search was conducted on the 19th of October 2020, revealing 708 results. A further search was carried out on 10th of October 2022 and resulted in

1,052 articles. Databases searched were MEDLINE, CINHAL, PsychInfo,

PsychArticles, PubMed, and Web of Science. The full search strategy can be found

in Table 2.1.

No.	Terms	Results	Theme
1	"core bel*" OR "schema" OR "belief"	153,247	Core beliefs
2	"DSO" OR "disturbance* in self-organi#ation"	968	DSO
3	"Interpersonal Relations" OR "Interpersonal difficulties" OR "interpersonal relationships" OR "interpersonal problems"	213,501	Interpersonal
4	"affective dysregulation" OR "affect regulation" OR "affective" OR "emotional regulation"	336,860	Affective
5	S1 AND (S2 OR S3 OR S4)	734	Total

2.2.3 Inclusion/exclusion criteria

To minimise heterogeneity, only studies involving adult participants were included in analysis. Studies were only considered for inclusion if they were published in English and provided quantitative data on the relationship between a measure of NCBs and a measure relating to either AD or DR. To be included in this study, an article must have also used a measure that assessed either AD (e.g., anger, aggression, or distress intolerance) or DR (e.g., intimate relationship dissatisfaction, use of interpersonal violence, or disconnection from others). Doctoral dissertations were not considered for inclusion as the standard peer review process had not been completed. Conference posters or abstracts were considered for inclusion if useable data were published. Authors of one study were contacted for their data, but no reply was received (Khalili et al., 2022).

Figure 2.1. PRISMA flowchart of article elimination



2.2.4 Data extraction

Title and abstract review was completed by ZW, full text review was completed by ZW and GM, and any disagreements resolved through discussion between ZW and GM. The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) (Moher et al., 2015) flowchart detailing number of studies screened, and full-text reviews completed can be found in Figure 2.1.

Data extraction was completed in line with PRISMA guidelines and verified by a second researcher (GM). Appendix 9.1 shows a list of excluded studies.

2.2.5 Data synthesis and analysis

2.2.5.1 Model choice

A random-effects meta-analytical model was used. The random-effects model is suited to meta-analyses with studies using different samples. The assumption made by a random-effects model is that the true effect sizes differ between studies due to factors such as different measurement tools, intervention protocols, or sample characteristic differences (Barili et al., 2018). The variance expected in a random-effects meta-analysis is from within- and between-studies. Heterogeneity is expected in this model, and when interpreting the output importance is placed on the identification of sources of heterogeneity (Borenstein et al., 2010).

Alternatively, the fixed-effects model assumes that all studies included in the analysis share a common true effect size and any differences between observed effect sizes are due to sampling error only (Barili et al., 2018). This means that there are no methodologically significant differences between the samples used in each study and little to no heterogeneity is expected (Borenstein et al., 2010). Since no heterogeneity arising from the differences between samples was anticipated,

procedural/protocol differences, and measures used, a random-effects model was chosen (Riley et al., 2011). The random-effects correlation analysis was performed on Comprehensive Meta-Analysis (CMA) software using random effects analysis.

2.2.5.2 R-values

R⁻values were used to estimate the strength of association between the variables of interest. The *r*-value (Pearson's correlation coefficient) was used as it is a commonly reported measure of the strength of a correlation between two variables. The *r*-value represents the strength and direction of a correlation, with a positive value indicating a positive association, a negative value indicating a negative association, and a value of zero meaning no correlation between the variables (Akoglu, 2018). Two meta-analyses were performed; one to assess the relationship between NCBs and AD and one to measure correlation between NCBs and DR.

In some cases, multiple relevant *r*-values were reported within a single paper. For example, Thimm (2013) reported correlations between each subscale of the Inventory of Interpersonal Problems (IIP) and the total YSQ score, resulting in 120 unique *r*-values. In these cases, each *r*-value was converted to Fisher's Z value, the average of these values was taken and then converted back into an *r*-value. This method was proposed by Alexander (1990) and overcomes the known bias that comes from averaging *r*-values for use in meta-analysis.

Thresholds applied for effect size interpretation are as follows: an *r*-value of \geq .50 indicates a large effect size, *r*-value of .30 to .49 indicates a moderate effect size, and an *r*-value of <.30 indicates a small effect size. These values were taken from Cohen (2013) and were commonly used in behavioural science.

2.2.5.3 *Heterogeneity*

The I^2 value was used to indicate heterogeneity, where 0 to 40 indicates minimal heterogeneity, 30 to 60 may represent moderate heterogeneity, 50 to 90 may represent substantial heterogeneity, and 75 to 100 indicates considerable heterogeneity (Higgins et al., 2022). Heterogeneity was defined as excess variation in effect size between studies. Some variance in effect size is to be expected due to differences in assessment tools used and populations, however, substantial to considerable heterogeneity within a meta-analysis may be due to methodological issues across several studies and would indicate the need to be cautious of conclusions drawn from the results.

2.2.5.4 Risk of bias

Assessment of risk of bias was completed by ZW and verified by a second reviewer using an adapted version of the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) assessment tool as presented in Dudley et al., (2016). The adapted AHRQ uses seven criteria that each study is rated on; unbiased selection of cohort, transparency of power calculation, adequate description of sample, validated tool used for DSO symptom measurement, validated tool for NCB measurement, transparency of handling missing data, and use of appropriate analytic methods. Each study is scored either "Yes", "Partial", "No", or "Unclear" Ratings of "No" or "Unclear" score one point, and "Yes" or "Partial" scores zero. Basis for partial or unclear ratings varied between criteria and is detailed in 9.2. The total score for each study is calculated to give a score out of seven where a score of 1-2= low risk of bias, 3-5= moderate risk of bias, and 6-7= high risk of bias. The outcome of the risk of bias assessment can be found in the results section below.

2.2.5.5 Grading of recommendations, assessment, development, and evaluations

Quality of outcome evidence was assessed using the grading of recommendations, assessment, development, and evaluations (GRADE) system, which comprises five main criteria; risk of bias (the quality of evidence and study limitations), imprecision (the accuracy of the results overall), inconsistency (the similarity of effect size between studies and any unexplained heterogeneity), indirectness (the relevance of the outcome of interest to the population of interest), and publication bias (over-publication of studies with large or significant effects, and non-publication of non-significant results) (Guyatt et al., 2008).

In GRADE, cross-sectional evidence begins as low quality and is upgraded or downgraded based on each of the outcome criteria listed in the paragraph above. The overall GRADE score is relevant to the interpretation of the reported effect size and the judgement of its accuracy. Very low GRADE ratings suggest that any 'true effect' may be very different from the reported estimate, and high GRADE ratings offer greater confidence that meaning that the 'true' and estimated effects are likely very similar.

Risk of bias was assessed by identifying possible sources of bias in each study that contributed data to the analysis. This includes considering the AHRQ assessment of bias for each study, as well as identifying GRADE-specific criteria (failure to develop and apply eligibility criteria, failure to control confounding variables, and flawed measurement of exposure and outcome). Appendix 9.3 is adapted from (Balshem et al., 2011) and identifies in detail the causes of upgrading or downgrading GRADE score due to risk of bias. (Guyatt et al., 2011C).

Imprecision was assessed using 95% confidence intervals (CI), where a wider range in CI represents lower precision (Guyatt et al., 2011D). According to GRADE, a CI excluding the null line on a forest plot (see 2.4.8 for forest plots) is representative of a lower likelihood of imprecision. Where the pooled CI bar did not cross the null line, a rating of moderate or high certainty was given. Imprecision was downgraded if the pooled 95% CI bar does cross the null line and neither upgraded nor downgraded if the pooled bar did not cross the null line. Also taken into consideration was the overall width of the CI bars. Wide-spread bars also resulted in a downgrading of certainty, as this indicates a wider range of results from published studies and undermines the overall certainty that can be had in the results.

Inconsistency was primarily measured in this analysis using the I² heterogeneity statistic. Inconsistency was rated down for each analysis if the I² statistic was \geq 50%, neither upgraded nor downgraded for values between 30 to 50% and upgraded for a value lower than 30% (Ades et al 2012 Guyatt et al 2011A).

Indirectness was assessed by counting the number of studies collecting data from non-clinical populations, since the current population of interest is clinical. There are currently no strict guidelines on assessing indirectness, rather Guyatt et al., (2011A) recommend considering main sources of indirectness and rating down for any considerable issues. Indirectness was rated down two levels when all studies in an analysis recruited a non-clinical population, rated down one level when a third of all studies recruited a clinical sample, not rated down when half or more recruited non-clinical samples, and rated up one level when 100% of included studies recruited clinical samples.

Publication bias is scrutinised by the over-publication of positive or significant results, reliance on "easy-to-collect" data, and over-publication of large studies (Guyatt et al., 2011C). To identify publication bias, this chapter will consider data from funnel plots, sample sizes, methods of data collection (e.g., automatically collected data, or secondary data). It is difficult to objectively assess for publication bias since there is no reliable method to measure the absence of negative or non-significant results in publications (Guyatt et al., 2011C). Publication bias was rated down where there was a high risk of publication bias as assessed by a funnel plot and trim and fill analysis, not down rated if there was no evidence of publication bias and upgraded with the discovery of exceptionally low evidence of publication bias (Guyatt et al., 2011C).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Characteristics of included studies.

A total of 30 studies were included in this review, nine of which were included in the AD meta-analysis and 27 were included in the DR analysis. The majority of studies were undertaken in the United States of America.

Studies recruited between 40 and 848 participants (M=239, SD=156) for an overall total of 6,939 participants. Typically, studies recruited from undergraduate populations (n=15) or from general populations (n=9). A total of 723 participants from six studies were recruited from clinical populations (any population receiving mental health support or treatment), and 23 studies recruited a total of 6,216 participants from non-clinical populations. Studies included in the DR analysis recruited a total of 6,455 participants (M=230, SD=154) and studies included in the AD analysis recruited 2,476 participants in total (M=275, SD=243)

Included studies were published between 2005 and 2021, and the vast majority (N=26) used a variation of the YSQ to measure NCBs. The Evaluative Beliefs Scale (N=2), Pathogenic Beliefs Scale (N=1), and Self-Defeating Beliefs Scale (N=1) were also used to measure NCBs. In terms of DSO symptom assessment, a wide variety of assessment tools were used relating to the either AD or DR (see Table 2.2 below).

2.3.2 Outcome statistics

Full outcome data extracted and processed for analysis can be found in Table 2.3. Some relevant *r*-values reported in included studies were significant at the p<.05 level (AD N=0; DR N=20), and a majority were significant to p<.01 (AD N=18; DR N=41) or p<.001 (AD N=38; DR N=90). A minority were found to be significant at p<.0001 (AD N=3; DR N=6) and some were non-significant (AD N=6; DR N=33).

For the DR meta-analysis, a pooled *r*-value of 0.366 (95% CI 0.32-0.41) was found, along with a significance of p<.001. These outcome statistics indicate that there is a small but still significant positive correlation between DR and the endorsement of NCBs. I^2 was 73.28 for DR meta-analysis, indicating considerable to substantial heterogeneity.

The AD meta-analysis revealed an overall pooled *r*-value of 0.425 (95% CI 0.35-0.50) and significance of p<.001, indicating a moderate, statistically significant, positive correlation between AD and NCBs. The I² value for the AD meta-analysis was 78.15, indicating considerable to substantial heterogeneity.

Primary author	Year	Sample	DSO measure	NCB	Sample	Country
	<i>1</i> •	(n)		measure		
Disturbed Relation	nships					
Aafjes-van Doorn	2021	210	OQ-45	PBS-SF	Psychotherapy clinic outpatients	America
Allen	2017	171	IIP-C-IRT	SDBS	Undergraduates	America
Baugh	2019	231	TCRS	EBS	General population	America
Blisset	2006	206	PAQ	YSQ-SF	Female Undergraduates	United Kingdom
Calvete	2007	298	CTS2	EBS	Undergraduates	Spain
Crawford	2007	301	AQ; IDA	YSQ-SF	Undergraduates	America
Dumitrescu	2012	182	DAS	YSQ-SF-3	General population	Romania
Eftekhari	2016	200	EMSQ	YSQ-SF	General population	Iran
Ertürk	2020	291	AQ	YSQ-SF-3	General population	Turkey
Estevez	2016	168	DAQ	YSQ-SF	General population	Spain
Evraire	2014	303	ECR-R	YSQ-SF	Undergraduates	America
Gay	2013	409	CTS2; RSQ	YSQ-SF	Undergraduates	America
Gilbert	2013	87	LHA-A	YSQ-SF-3	Community forensic mental health service	Australia
					users	
Hassija	2018	305	CTS2	YSQ-SF	Undergraduates	America
Janovsky	2019	117	IIP-32	YSQ-SF-3	General Population	Australia
Kachadourian	2013	174	CTS2	YSQ	Male perpetrators of interpersonal violence	America
Ke	2020	142	TEIQue	YSQ-SF-3	Undergraduates	Singapore
LaMotte	2016	83	CTS2	YSQ-SF	Female general population	America
LaMotte	2016	83	CTS2	YSQ-SF	Male general population	America
Messman-Moore	2007	382	IIP; IASC	YSQ-2	Undergraduates	America
Mojallal	2014	150	IIP-64	YSQ-SF	Undergraduates	Iran
O'Connor	2018	246	EMSQ	YSQ-SF	General population	Iran

Table 2.2. Characteristics of included studies

Primary author	Year	Sample	DSO measure	NCB	Sample	Country
		(n)		measure		
Shorey	2015	106	PAI	YSQ-L3	Male substance users	America
Smyth	2017	312	CTS2	YSQ-SF-3	Undergraduates	America
Tremblay	2009	848	AQ	YSQ-SF	Undergraduates	Canada
Thimm	2013	106	IIP-C	YSQ-SF	Psychiatric outpatients	Norway
Yoo	2014	304	PCS; SOS	YSQ-SF	Undergraduates	South Korea
Affect Dysregulation	n					
Calvete	2007	298	RSQ	YSQ-SF	Female victims of interpersonal violence	Spain
Ertürk	2020	291	DERS	YSQ-SF-3	General public	Turkey
Gilbert	2013	87	STAXI-2	YSQ-SF-3	Community forensic mental health service	America
					users	
Ke	2020	142	TEIQue; CSI	YSQ-SF-3	Undergraduates	America
McKee	2012	40	STAXI-2	YSQ-2	Male perpetrators of interpersonal violence	Ireland
Simons	2017	364	DTS	YSQ-SF-3	Undergraduates	America
Smyth	2017	110	PANAS; DERS;	YSQ-SF-3	Undergraduates	America
			ADS-S			
Tremblay	2009	848	AQ	YSQ-SF	Undergraduates	Canada
Yakin	2018	296	DERS	YSQ-SF-3	General population	Amsterdam, Turkey

ADS-S; Anger Disorders Scale-Short, AQ; Anger Questionnaire, CSI; Coping Strategies Inventory, CTS2; Revised Conflict Tactics scale, DAQ; Displaced Aggression Questionnaire, DAS; Dyadic Adjustment Scale, DERS; Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale, DTS; Distress Tolerance Scale, EBS; Evaluative Beliefs Scale, ECR-R; Experiences in Close Relationships-Revised, EMSQ- Enrich Marital Satisfaction Questionnaire, IASC; Inventory of Altered Self-Capacities, IDA; Index of Dating Abuse, IIP; Inventory of Interpersonal Problems, IIP-32; Inventory of Interpersonal Problems Short Form, IIP-64; Inventory of Interpersonal Problems Long Form, IIP-C; Inventory of Interpersonal Problems-Circumplex, IIP-C-IRT; Inventory of Interpersonal Problems-Circumplex-Item Response Theory, LHA-A; Life History of Aggression-Aggression Scale, OQ-45; The Outcome Questionnaire, PAI; Personality Assessment Inventory, PANAS; Positive and Negative Affect Schedule, PAQ; Parental Attachment Questionnaire, PBS-SF; Pathogenic Beliefs Scale-Short Form, PCS; Peer Connectedness Scale,

RSQ; Relationship Styles Questionnaire, SDBS; Self-Defeating Beliefs Scale, SOS; Social Orientedness Scale, STAXI-2; State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory-2, TCRS; Trust in Close Relationships Scale, TEIQue; Trait Emotional Intelligence Questionnaire, YSQ; Young Schema Questionnaire, YSQ-2; Young Schema Questionnaire 2nd edition, YSQ-L3; Young Schema Questionnaire Long Form 3, YSQ-SF; Young Schema Questionnaire-Short Form, YSQ-SF-3; Young Schema Questionnaire-Short Form-3

Table 2.3. Outcome data for included studies

Primary author	<i>r</i> -value(s)	Transformed Fishers' Z values	Mean fishers' Z	Final <i>r</i> -value
Disturbed Relation	iships			
Aafjes-van Doorn	$0.45^3, 0.43^3$	0.49, 0.46	0.47	0.44
Allen	0.66 ³			0.66
Baugh	0.32^{3}			0.32
Blisset	$0.39^4, 0.45^4, 0.49^4, 0.44^4, 0.48^4, 0.50^4$	0.41, 0.49, 0.53, 0.47, 0.52, 0.55	0.49	0.46
Calvete	$0.27^3, 0.28^3$	0.28, 0.29	0.28	0.28
Crawford	0.47^2 , 0.48^2 , 0.54^2 , 0.43^2	0.51, 0.52, 0.60, 0.46	0.52	0.48
Dumitrescu	0.18^2			0.18
Eftekhari	0.54^{1}			0.54
Ertürk	$0.24^3, 0.48^3, 0.34^3, 0.38^3, 0.36^3, 0.53^3$	0.25, 0.52, 0.35, 0.40, 0.38, 0.59	0.42	0.39
Estevez	$0.34^3, 0.28^3, 0.16^1, 0.23^2, 0.15^1$	0.354, 0.288, 0.161, 0.234, 0.151	0.2378	0.23
Evraire	$0.59^2, 0.08$	0.67, 0.08	0.38	0.36
Gay	$0.23^2, 0.23^2, 0.12^1, 0.18^2, 0.14^2, 0.04,$	0.23, 0.23, 0.12, 0.18, 0.14, 0.04, 0.76,		
	0.64^2 , 0.30^2 , 0.45^2 , 0.18^2 , 0.32^2 , 0.08	0.31, 0.49, 0.18, 0.33, 0.08	0.26	0.25
Gilbert	$0.6, 0.18, 0.11, 0.11, 0.26^1, 0.30^1, 0.17,$	0.69, 0.18, 0.11, 0.11, 0.27, 0.31, 0.17,		
	$0.05, 0.24^1, 0.29^1, 0.33^1, 0.11,15,13,$	0.05, 0.25, 0.30, 0.34, 0.11, -0.15, -0.13, -		
	0.15, 0.15,01,04	0.01, -0.4, 0.15, 0.15	0.14	0.14
Hassija	$0.22^1, 0.25^1, 0.30^2, 0.02, 0.29^1, 0.18^1,$			
	$0.25^2, 0.25^2, 0.27^2, 0.37^2, 0.06, 0.31^2,$	0.22, 0.26, 0.31, 0.02, 0.30, 0.18, 0.26,		
	$0.18^2, 0.25^2$	0.26, 0.28, 0.39, 0.06, 0.32, 0.18, 0.26	0.23	0.23
Janovsky	0.64^3 , 0.63^3 , 0.62^3 , 0.59^3 , 0.59^3 , 0.58^3 ,	0.75, 0.74, 0.72, 0.67, 0.67, 0.66, 0.65,		
	$0.57^3, 0.56^3, 0.55^3, 0.55^3, 0.53^3, 0.47^3,$	0.63, 0.62, 0.62, 0.59, 0.51, 0.51, 0.50,		
	$0.47^3, 0.46^3, 0.42^3, 0.32^3, 0.26^3, 0.23^3$	0.45, 0.33, 0.27, 0.23	0.56	0.51
Kachadourian	$0.13, 0.21^2$	0.13, 0.21	0.17	0.17
Ke	$0.34^2, 0.51^2, 0.07, 0.32^2$	0.35, 0.56, 0.07, 0.33	0.33	0.32

Primary author	<i>r</i> -value(s)	Transformed Fishers' Z values	Mean fishers' Z	Final <i>r</i> -value
LaMotte (male				
subgroup)	0.40^{3}	0.42, 0.44	0.43	0.40
LaMotte (female				
subgroup)	0.22^{1}	0.22, 0.37	0.30	0.29
McKee	0.64^2 , 0.58^2 , 0.26 , 0.45^2 , 0.14 , 0.46^2 ,	0.76, 0.66, 0.27, 0.49, 0.14, 0.50, 0.49,		
	0.45^2 , $0.06\ 0.44^2$, 0.50^2	0.60, 0.47, 0.55	0.49	0.46
Messman-Moore	$0.34^2, 0.39^2, 0.49^2, 0.35^2$	0.35, 0.41, 0.54, 0.37	0.42	0.39
Mojallal	$0.97^3, 0.34^3, 0.41^3, 0.27^3, 0.52^3, 0.53^3,$			
U U	$0.89^3, 0.81^3, 0.58^3, 0.70^3, 0.24^3, 0.56^3,$	0.09 0.35, 0.44, 0.28, 0.58, 0.59, 0.42,		
	$0.65^3, 0.92^3, 0.17^1, 0.26^3, 0.12, 0.31^3,$	0.13, 0.66, 0.87, 0.63, 0.25, 0.78, 0.59,		
	$0.13, 0.08, 0.25^3, 0.24^3, 0.30^3, 0.42^3,$	0.17, 0.27, 0.12, 0.32, 0.13, 0.08, 0.26,		
	$0.33^3, 0.24^3, 0.15, 0.36^3, 0.13, 0.13,$	0.25, 0.31, 0.45, 0.34, 0.25, 0.15, 0.38,		
	$0.18^1, 0.31^3, 0.18^1, 0.08, 0.20^1$	0.13, 0.13, 0.18, 0.32, 0.18, 0.08, 0.20,	0.47	0.44
O'Connor	0.29			0.29
Shorey	$0.47^3, 0.41^3, 0.15, 0.34^3, 0.56^3$	0.51, 0.44, 0.15, 0.35, 0.63	0.42	0.40
Smyth	0.32^{2}			0.32
Tremblay	$0.38^3, 0.51^3, 0.40^3, 0.32^3, 0.40^3, 0.23^3,$	0.40, 0.56, 0.42, 0.33, 0.42, 0.23, 0.40,		
2	$0.38^3, 0.22^3, 0.29^3, 0.47^3, 0.39^3, 0.29^3,$	0.22, 0.30, 0.51, 0.41, 0.30, 0.08, 0.31,		
	$0.08^1, 0.30^3, 0.16^3$	0.16,	0.34	0.33
Thimm	$0.43^3, 0.42^3, 0.46^3, 0.50^3, 0.56^3, 0.36^3,$	0.46, 0.45, 0.50, 0.55, 0.63, 0.38, 0.47,		
	$0.44^3, 0.42^3, 0.50^3, 0.69^3, 0.41^3, 0.58^3,$	0.45, 0.55, 0.85, 0.44, 0.66, 0.58, 0.22,		
	$0.52^3, 0.22^1, 0.32^3$	0.33	0.50	0.46
Yoo	$0.38^3, 0.44^3$	0.40, 0.47	0.44	0.41
Affect Dysregulat	ion			
Calvete	$0.24, 0.14^{1}$	0.52, 0.40	0.46	0.43
Ertürk	$0.60^2, 0.57^2, 0.22^2, 0.44^2, 0.33^2, 0.48^2,$	0.69, 0.65, 0.22, 0.47, 0.34, 0.52, 0.35,		
	$0.34^2, 0.38^2, 0.36^2, 0.53^2$	0.40, 0.38, 0.59	0.46	0.43

Primary author	<i>r</i> -value(s)	Transformed Fishers' Z values	Mean fishers' Z	Final <i>r</i> -value
Gilbert	$0.24^2, 0.29^2, 0.18, 0.33^2, 0.30^2, 0.44^3,$	0.25, 0.30, 0.18, 0.34, 0.31, 0.47, 0.32,		
	0.31^2 , 0.18 , 0.41^3 , 0.41^3 , 0.61^3 , 0.35^3 ,	0.18, 0.44, 0.45, 0.71, 0.37, 0.04, 0.40,		
	$0.04, 0.38^3, 0.36^3, 0.34^2, 0.12, 0.12$	0.38, 0.35, 0.12, 0.12	0.32	0.31
Ke	$0.56^2, 0.48^2, 0.17^1, 0.37^2, 0.56^2$	0.50, 0.63, 0.44, 0.34	0.48	0.44
McKee	$0.57^2, 0.57^2, 0.26, 0.65^2, 0.34^1$	0.65, 0.65, 0.27, 0.78, 0.35	0.54	0.49
Simons	$0.48^4, 0.42^4, 0.46^4$	0.50, 0.45, 0.52	0.49	0.45
Smyth	$0.53^2, 0.37^2, 0.63^2$	0.59, 0.39, 0.74	0.57	0.52
Tremblay	$0.33^3, 0.33^3, 0.28^3, 0.28^3, 0.30^3, 0.23^3,$	0.34, 0.34, 0.29, 0.29, 0.31, 0.31, 0.23,		
	$0.30^3, 0.20^3, 0.24^3, 0.33^3, 0.35^3, 0.25^3,$	0.20, 0.25, 0.34, 0.37, 0.26, 0.02, 0.21,		
	$0.02, 0.21^3, 0.13^3$	0.13	0.26	0.25
Yakin	$0.61^3, 0.58^3, 0.49^3, 0.34^3, 0.54^3$	0.71, 0.66, 0.54, 0.36, 0.61	0.58	0.52

Table 2.4. Analysis outcome data

	r	Lower limit	Upper limit	Р	I ²
Disturbed Relationships	0.366	0.323	0.408	<.001	73.28
Affect Dysregulation	0.425	0.345	0.498	<.001	78.15

Figure 2.2. Forest plot for DR meta-analysis

Study name	Statistics for each study					Co	rrelation and 95%	<u>6 C</u> I		
	Correlation	Lower limit	Upper limit	Z-Value	p-Value					
Aafjes-van Doorn	0.440	0.324	0.543	6.794	0.000	1	1		++	1
Allen	0.660	0.566	0.737	10.276	0.000				→-	
Baugh	0.323	0.202	0.434	5.058	0.000			- 1	→	
Blisset	0.459	0.344	0.561	7.068	0.000				_+ + -	
Calvete	0.276	0.168	0.378	4.867	0.000			-	+	
Crawford	0.481	0.389	0.563	9.051	0.000				-+-	
Dumitrescu	0.180	0.035	0.317	2.435	0.015				-	
Eftekhari	0.540	0.434	0.631	8.480	0.000				_ ++ _	
Ertürk	0.394	0.292	0.487	7.069	0.000				→	
Estevez	0.233	0.085	0.371	3.049	0.002					
Evraire	0.358	0.256	0.452	6.488	0.000				<u> </u>	
Gay	0.253	0.160	0.342	5.211	0.000				⊢	
Gilbert	0.138	-0.075	0.339	1.273	0.203			-+	_	
Hassija	0.230	0.121	0.334	4.070	0.000				-	
Janovsky	0.509	0.361	0.632	5.994	0.000				_ -	
Kachadourian	0.171	0.023	0.312	2.258	0.024				-	
Ke	0.319	0.163	0.460	3.897	0.000			<u> </u>	<u>+</u>	
LaMotte A	0.406	0.209	0.572	3.853	0.000			- -	+	
LaMotte B	0.287	0.076	0.473	2.641	0.008			I —	+ I	
McKee	0.455	0.167	0.671	2.987	0.003			<u> </u>	+	
Messman-Moore	0.394	0.306	0.476	8.109	0.000				_ → _	
Mojallal	0.436	0.296	0.557	5.665	0.000				 +	
O'Connor	0.290	0.171	0.401	4.654	0.000			<u> </u>	+	
Shorey	0.397	0.223	0.546	4.263	0.000				 +_	
Smyth	0.320	0.217	0.416	5.830	0.000				→	
Tremblay	0.326	0.264	0.385	9.835	0.000				→	
Thimm	0.463	0.299	0.601	5.086	0.000					
Yoo	0.411	0.313	0.500	7.578	0.000			1	— ––	
Pooled	0.366	0.323	0.408	15.194	0.000				•	
Prediction Interval	0.366	0.150	0.549					– I –	<u> </u>	
						-1.00	-0.50	0.00	0.50	1.00

Favours A

Favours B

Figure 2.3. Forest plot for AD meta-analysis

Study name		Statistics for each study							Correlation and 95% CI			
	Correlation	Lower limit	Upper limit	Z-Value	p-Value							
Calvete	0.430	0.333	0.518	7.899	0.000				-+	1		
Ertürk	0.430	0.331	0.519	7.805	0.000				→			
Gilbert	0.310	0.106	0.489	2.938	0.003							
Ke	0.444	0.301	0.567	5.626	0.000				→ +			
McKee	0.490	0.211	0.695	3.261	0.001			-	<u> </u>			
Simons	0.450	0.364	0.528	9.209	0.000				-++			
Smyth	0.520	0.369	0.644	5.962	0.000				_ -			
Tremblay	0.250	0.186	0.312	7.425	0.000				⊢			
Yakin	0.520	0.432	0.599	9.865	0.000				- 			
Pooled	0.425	0.345	0.498	9.518	0.000							
Prediction Interval	0.425	0.147	0.640					_ ⊢				
						-1.00	-0.50	0.00	0.50	1.00		

Favours A

Favours B

2.3.1 Forest plot

2.3.1.1 Disturbed relationships

Overall, the evidence in this analysis was very consistent. The 95% CI for all but one study did not cross the null line. This distribution of the evidence indicates strong agreement between the outcomes of studies. This single nonsignificant result is made up for by the large number of studies included in this analysis, many of which have very strongly significant positive results.

Affect dysregulation

Figure 2.3 shows the forest plot for the AD meta-analysis. All included studies have positive, significant correlations between AD and NCBs (Higgins et al., 2022). That is, experience of AD symptom is positively correlated with NCB endorsement. The pooled effect shows a moderate effect size of 0.425 (95% CI 0.35-0.50).

2.3.2 Risk of bias assessment

Detailed risk of bias assessment for all studies can be found in Table 2.5. Risk of bias scores ranged from three to five out of a maximum of seven, indicating a moderate risk of bias generally across studies. Of interest, only three of the included studies detailed a power calculation to justify their sample size, no studies were able to demonstrate an unbiased recruitment strategy, but all studies did use an appropriate validated measure of DSO symptoms. The lowest scoring article achieved two (low risk of bias) and the highest scoring article received five (high risk of bias), while the majority scored four (high risk of bias). ZW completed the risk of bias assessment for all included studies, and a third of studies (N=10) were corroborated by second reviewer MA. MA was provided all scoring criteria and returned her verdict to ZW. Agreement between reviewers was achieved in 86% of cases on the first pass. Cases of disagreement resulted in refinement of scoring criteria, for example, it was made explicit that the YSQ is not considered a robust, validated measure of NCBs (for reasons discussed below). It was also necessary to clarify definitions of "unclear" ratings in each category, as these were under-used in the first pass of bias assessment. On the second pass of the same studies, agreement was 100%.

During the risk of bias assessment, the quality of the tools used to measure DSO symptoms and NCBs was investigated. In this process it was discovered that the most commonly used tool for measuring NCBs (the YSQ) has a conflicting evidence base. Factor structure of the YSQ varies substantially across published studies. One of the most frequently used versions of the YSQ is the 3rd Short Form (YSQ-SF3) and the disagreement in factor structure is seen most vividly here. The original publication of the YSQ-SF3 purports to measure 18 schemas over five domains (groupings of similar schemas) (Young et al., 2003). However, subsequent validation studies have provided evidence in support of; 14 schemas over five domains (Soygüt et al., 2009), 18 schemas over three domains (Saritaş, & Gençö, 2011), 18 schemas over four domains (Sakulsriprasert et al., 2016), 18 schemas with no domain analysis (Lee et al., 2015), and 17 schemas with no domain analysis (Alfasfos, 2009).

The issue with this uncertainty is that the studies included in this review analysed the collected data based on inconsistent research, and some individual schema subscales may not be supported by the full body of research about the YSQ-

SF3. Similar issues are found in validation research for the long form (Oei, & Baranoff, 2007; Schmidt et al., 1995; Young, 1994), third long form (Saggino et al., 2018; Yalcin, Lee, & Correia, 2020), and short form (Baranoff et al., 2006; Cui et al., 2011; Van Vlierberghe et al., 2010) versions of the YSQ. The second versions of both the long and short form YSQ rarely appear in published literature. For these reasons, any that used any version of the YSQ as a measure of NCBs were given unfavourable assessments on that criterion in the risk of bias assessment.

	Unbiased	Sample size	Adequate	Validated DSO	Validated NCB	Missing data	Appropriate	Score
	cohort	calculation	description	symptom	assessment tool	low or well-	analytic	
	selection	presented	of cohort	assessment tool		handled	methods	
Disturbed Relation	iships							
Aafjes-van Doorn	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	2
Allen	No	No	Partial	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	2
Baugh	No	No	Partial	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	2
Blisset	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	Unclear	Yes	4
Calvete	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Crawford	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	Partial	Yes	3
Dumitrescu	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	Unclear	Yes	4
Eftekhari	No	Yes	Partial	Yes	No	Partial	Yes	2
Ertürk	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	Partial	Yes	3
Estevez	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	Partial	Yes	3
Evraire	Unclear	No	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Gay	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Gilbert	Unclear	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Hassija	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Janovsky	No	Yes	Partial	Yes	No	Partial	Yes	2
Kachadourian	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Ke	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	5
LaMotte	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Messman-Moore	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Mojallal	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
O'Connor	No	Yes	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	3
Shorey	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	4

Table 2.5. Risk of bias assessment outcome

	Unbiased cohort selection	Sample size calculation presented	Adequate description of cohort	Validated DSO symptom assessment tool	Validated NCB assessment tool	Missing data low or well- handled	Appropriate analytic methods	Score
Smyth	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	4
Tremblay	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Thimm	Unclear	No	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Yakin	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Yoo	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	Partial	Yes	3
Affect Dysregulati	on							
Calvete	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Crawford	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	Partial	Yes	3
Ertürk	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	Partial	Yes	3
Gilbert	Unclear	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Ke	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	5
McKee	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Simons	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Smyth	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	4
Tremblay	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	4
Yakin	No	No	Partial	Yes	No	No	Yes	4

Each "No" or "Unclear" scores one point, each "Yes" or "Partial" scores zero.

Score of 1-2= Low risk of bias, 3-5= moderate risk of bias, 6-7= high risk of bias

2.3.3 Funnel plots

2.3.3.1 Disturbed relationships

Figure 2.4 shows the potential for publication bias in the DR analysis. Standard error in this context is a measure of variability across samples, calculated from the number of participants in the sample and the standard deviation (Deeks et al., 2022). While funnel plots are recommended by GRADE for detection of potential publication bias, there are known issues, including subjectivity of interpretation, inaccuracy, and alternative explanations for plot asymmetry (Lau et al., 2006). However, in the absence of a more reliable alternative, funnel plots remain the prevailing method of detecting publication bias, with recommendations for caution when interpreting results or making inferences from funnel plot results (Guyatt et al., 2011C). The funnel plot in Figure 2.4 shows a relatively symmetrical plot, with few outliers and an even number of studies on both sides of the estimated overall effect size line. This indicates that publication bias was not detected. Figure 2.5 represents the output for a trim and fill analysis for the DR studies. The trim and fill analysis suppresses the studies with extreme effect sizes, on both the left and right sides (this is the trim process) and then estimates and imputes potentially 'missing' studies (this is the fill process) (Shi, & Lin, 2019). This analysis leaves a symmetrical funnel plot that can be used to observe the presence of publication bias (Sutton et al., 2000).

There are methodological issues associated with the use of the trim and fill method. The primary issue is that the imputation of missing studies makes assumptions that may or may not be correct (Guyatt et al., 2011C). However, while the suppressed and imputed studies may not be entirely accurate, there is not yet a

preferred method of analysing publication bias without comparable methodological issues (Guyatt et al., 2011C).

The funnel plot for DR in Figure 2.4 was mostly symmetrical, with no imputed or suppressed studies from the trim and fill analysis in Figure 2.5. This means that publication bias in this case has not been detected.

2.3.3.2 Affect dysregulation

Figure 2.6 and

Figure 2.7 show funnel plots for the AD analysis. A minimum of 10 studies is required for a reliable funnel plot to be generated (Lau et al., 2006). The AD analysis is just below the threshold of this requirement, so it should be noted that the output of this plot will be interpreted with caution as there was insufficient data. The funnel plot in Figure 2.6 is asymmetrical with only two studies to the left of the estimated overall effect size line, and the majority on the right of the line. The funnel plot inf is symmetrical, with one study removed and one study added by the trim and fill analysis. In this case, it can be said that publication bias is suspected by the funnel plots.

Figure 2.4 Funnel plot for DR analysis



Figure 2.5 Trim and fill funnel plot for DR analysis



Figure 2.6. Funnel plot for AD analysis



Figure 2.7. Trim and fill funnel plot for AD analysis


2.3.4 Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluations2.3.4.1 Disturbed relationships

The prevalence of high risk of bias in the studies included in the DR analysis indicates that the evidence should be rated down one level. The amount of bias introduced by the methodological decisions in the included studies may have significantly altered the estimated effect from the true effect. The CI bar does cross the null line for one study, but the pooled CI bar does not. The CI bars are also generally not spread out. This indicates that it can be said with moderate certainty that imprecision did not affect the estimated effect. Due to the very high I² value, this analysis was rated down one level for inconsistency. High indirectness is present in this analysis. Four studies recruited clinical samples, meaning that there is a substantial difference between the population of interest and the sample recruited. The GRADE assessment is therefore downgraded by two levels. Publication bias is given a rating of moderate certainty since the funnel plot is symmetrical. Publication bias was therefore not detected. The GRADE rating was therefore neither upgraded nor downgraded. Since the evidence in this analysis began with low certainty (as described in 2.2.5.5) and it is not possible to rate below very low certainty, the overall GRADE score for this analysis is very low. This means that the quality of the evidence here is poor and there are steps that must be taken to improve the quality of future research.

2.3.4.2 Affect dysregulation

Due to the moderate to high risk of bias indicated in many studies by the AHRQ, the rating for risk of bias in the AD analysis was downgraded. The risk of bias may have significantly affected the observed effect. None of the CI bars cross

the null line and the cars tend towards being closely gathered. This means that imprecision is unlikely to have had an impact on the estimated effect, and the overall GRADE rating was not downgraded. Due to the very high I² value, this analysis was rated down one level for inconsistency. High indirectness was also found in this analysis, since only three included studies recruited clinical samples. The analysis was therefore downgraded by one level. Publication bias resulted in downgrading since the funnel plot was asymmetrical. Publication bias was suspected and is therefore likely to have changed the estimated effect from the true effect. Like the DR analysis, the overall score for the quality of the evidence in this analysis was very poor. Steps must again be taken to improve the quality of future research to ensure the reliability of conclusions drawn.

Table 2.6. GRA	DE risk of	bias outcome
----------------	------------	--------------

	Risk of bias	Imprecision	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Publication bias	Overall
DR	-1	-1	-1	-2	0	-4
AD	-1	0	-1	-1	-1	-3

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Main findings

The aim of this review was to collate existing research on the relationship between AD and DR symptoms and NCBs using proxy measures of the included DSO symptoms, and to provide a basis for making recommendations regarding future research into the relationship between CPTSD and NCBs. It has been found that there are significant, positive correlations between AD and DR, and NCBs in published studies to date.

This indicates that the DSO symptoms of DR and AD are associated with endorsement of NCBs. The hypothesis of this review was that there would be a significant association between DSO symptoms and NCBs, and this can be confirmed to a certain extent.

The data used in the meta-analyses are limited by the relatively small number of relevant studies in the AD analysis and the fact that some studies had low power due to small sample sizes. The meta-analyses also revealed substantial heterogeneity in both analyses, indicating that the degree of correlation between NCBs and the DR and AD symptoms varies between studies. A majority of studies were carried out in the USA on either undergraduates or other general population samples so generalisability of the findings to clinical populations is low. There is a need for further research in this area in clinical samples.

Many studies recruited undergraduate students as their sample, some of which received course credit for their participation. The use of undergraduate samples who take part in studies for course credit is common but has a number of significant limitations. The population of undergraduate courses tends be less representative of the general population, leaning female and younger in age (Dickinson et al., 2012), and the motivation for participating being course credit may mean that the study measures were completed with suboptimal effort (DeRight, & Jorgensen, 2015; Ross et al., 2016). These issues with sampling mean that the findings of many studies in this review may not be generalisable to other populations, and the risk of bias is increased. Therefore, there is a need for research into the relationship between DSO symptoms and NCBs in clinical populations before intervention-based research can be conducted to explore the effectiveness of cognitive schema therapy for ICD-11 CPTSD.

2.4.2 DR discussion

The DR meta-analysis included 27 studies, a relatively large number for a meta-analysis, so the strong positive correlation was made with high power. This lends credibility to the conclusions drawn, and the lack of publication bias found in the funnel plots indicates that this large body of evidence is likely to be representative of the true effects in the populations studied.

However, the I² heterogeneity in this analysis was considerable to substantial. This level of heterogeneity indicates that there is a substantial amount of error. Causes of this could be due to the different populations included in each study, the use of poor schema assessment tools such as the YSQ (see section 2.5.4 for methodological issues associated with use of YSQ), or differences in proxy measures of DSO symptoms. This amount of heterogeneity indicates that conclusions must be drawn with some hesitancy. However, the GRADE assessment for this analysis showed low levels of imprecision (another way of measuring heterogeneity) when measured using the overlap of CI. These conflicting findings indicate that, while the outcomes of all the papers were mostly all positive, some were much stronger than others. This can be observed in the fact that all but one study (Gilbert et al., 2013) had a positive effect size. This means that it is highly likely that the true effect is positive, but there is currently a wide range that the true effect could fall within.

The heterogeneity observed in these analyses is an indicator that more accurate research in the topic area of NCBs in DSO symptom experience is needed. Heterogeneity could be minimised by running studies with samples representative of the general clinical population, using more reliable measures, and studies with more consistent methodology (Ioannidis, 2008; Lau et al., 1998).

Risk of bias in this analysis was moderate overall. While only three studies described a power calculation to justify the sample size used (implications of this discussed in 2.6.3), all studies did use validated tools to measure DSO symptoms, and missing data or rate of attrition (addressed in only 9 studies) was typically below 20%. The risk of bias in this analysis could have been lowered by an attitude of transparency and the inclusion of small pieces of information (i.e., power calculation, demographic data etc.).

Overall, there is a positive association with NCB endorsement and DR symptom experience. Further research is needed to identify how this relationship functions and to address sources of bias.

2.4.3 AD discussion

The positive correlation found in the AD analysis indicates that there is a mild positive association between AD symptomology and NCB endorsement. However, there are a number of issues with the data available and therefore the outcomes of the analysis. For example, only nine studies were included in the analysis, which is a relatively small number of data points to be drawing conclusions from. This means that there may be data missing, unrepresented populations, and publication bias, and further research is required to address these issues before any conclusions can be drawn with confidence. This all indicates that the small positive correlation may not represent the 'true' effect.

A risk of publication bias was suggested by the asymmetrical funnel plot, as well as the trim and fill analysis. This is unsurprising as analyses with smaller numbers of included studies does increase the likelihood of publication bias (Sutton et al., 2000), It may therefore be likely that there is a bias in this area towards

publishing studies with larger positive effect sizes, and the outcome of this analysis may be artificially inflated. The outcome should be regarded with caution, and further research should be conducted.

Heterogeneity as measured by the I^2 in this analysis is higher than the DR analysis, indicating that the spread of outcomes is wider in the AD analysis. There is also less overlap between the CIs, possibly due to the current lack of evidence in this area, or possible methodological inconsistencies and sources of bias. Again, this indicates that there is a wide range where the true effect size may fall, and further rigorous research is needed to reduce bias and narrow the range of effect sizes.

The risk of bias of the included studies was moderate overall. No studies described a power calculation to justify the sample size used, and rate of attrition was addressed in only one study, but all studies did use validated tools to measure DSO symptoms.

The most common issue relating to risk of bias was the absence of a sample size calculation. A study that does not perform and publish a sample size calculation may not have recruited a large enough sample to limit bias and cannot be said to have a sample that is representative of the population (Simundic, 2013). A too-small sample is also at risk of having a larger standard deviation, and therefore giving observed effect sizes further from the true effect size (Sullivan, & Feinn, 2012). Any study included in this review that did not publish a sample size calculation may have recruited an underpowered sample. Some studies included in this review without a sample size calculation did recruit very large samples, so this does reduce the risk of inaccurate results. In addition, many studies report non-significant results.

Overall, the evidence analysed here may tentatively indicate that NCB endorsement has a positive association with AD symptom. Again, further research is needed to identify the nuances of this association and reduce sources of bias, as well as increase the volume of data in this area.

2.4.4 Implications for research

Implications for research inferred from this study should be viewed with caution due to the proxy measures used for DSO symptoms, and significant heterogeneity in both analyses.

Future experimental research should seek to test for a causal link between NCBs and AD and DR, using a validated measure of CPTSD (for example, the international trauma questionnaire (ITQ) (Cloitre et al., 2018) or the international trauma interview) (Roberts et al., 2019) rather than proxy measure of DSO symptoms. Such research can potentially shed light onto the temporal link between the two constructs- which comes first, and therefore which may cause the other. A longitudinal understanding of the development of NCBs and DSO symptoms will help with understanding the mechanisms of the relationship between DSO symptoms and NCBs.

The results of this review indicate a positive association between DSO symptoms and NCBs but cannot be used to determine causation. Causation cannot be assumed from cross-sectional, correlational studies since it cannot be said whether the NCBs existed before or after the DSO symptoms, and there is no proposed mechanism for how one may have developed from the other. Demonstrating evidence for causation would require further research, including longitudinal studies to show the development of NCBs and DSO symptoms over time. Additional

research is therefore required to further define the temporal ordering of the relationship and to make subsequent, better-informed recommendations for clinical practice.

The above is necessary before recommendations can be made for therapies to address NCBs or DSO symptoms, as well as further research with clinical samples. The studies included in this review were mostly non-clinical samples, which may be logistically sensible, but does not accurately represent the population of interest for therapeutic intervention. Further research is therefore recommended with clinical samples.

Furthermore, future research into the relationship between DSO symptoms and NCBs should employ measures of NCBs other than the YSQ. As discussed above, the YSQ has significant participant burden due to its length and attempts to identify consistent factor structures have given varied results (Oei, & Baranoff, 2007). Alternative measures of NCB measurement such as the Core Beliefs Questionnaire (Wong et al., 2017) should therefore be used in future research exploring the association between DSO and NCBs.

To correct the presence of publication bias, studies with negative results should be published, as well as studies with larger sample sizes and rigorous protocol design. Protocols for studies in progress should be registered, and any nonsignificant findings that are not to be published in a peer reviewed journal should be made public. Negative results are less likely to be published but are important for identifying true effects, so this procedure of registering negative results in protocol registries would allow this data to be made available.

2.4.5 Strengths and limitations

A pre-specified published protocol was used for data extraction, synthesis, and quality assessment, the PRISMA checklist and flowchart were used (Page et al., 2021) and the Cochrane Handbook (Lasserson et al., 2022) guidelines were followed wherever possible. The use of these best practices lends credibility to the outcomes and the conclusions drawn. Changes to the protocol are listed above and have been recorded on the PROSPERO pre-registration site. Additionally, full text screening, data extraction, and quality evaluation was confirmed by a secondary researcher to minimise evaluator bias and error.

In terms of publication bias, the methods used in this analysis are the best available, but empirical publication bias measurement is difficult to achieve at present, particularly for meta-analyses of observational studies (Lau et al., 2006). All known methods do carry some inherent risk of subjectivity or statistical manipulation (Guyatt et al., 2011C). Publication bias is not the only explanation for an asymmetrical funnel graph. Population choice, study protocol, and other methodological issues can impact the effect size of a published study and therefore the symmetry of the funnel graph (Guyatt et al., 2011C). To mitigate these issues with funnel graph interpretation, additional sources of information were sought. Mean number of participants, authors' declarations of conflicts of interest, and funding sources were also considered as qualitative data when rating risk of publication bias, as recommended by GRADE guidelines (Guyatt et al., 2011C).

Furthermore, despite being planned in the initial protocol registered with PROSPERO, the association between NCBs and Negative Self Concept was not explored in the present review due to conceptual overlap between existing measures

for the two constructs. Further research should focus on the relationship between specific NCBs and CPTSD symptomology, including Negative Self Concept.

2.5 Conclusion

In conclusion, the research questions detailed in section 2.1.5 of this chapter can confidently be answered. Current knowledge on the topic of the relationship between AD/DR and NCBs indicated a moderate positive correlation. In order to better understand the relationship between NCBs and CPTSD symptoms, experimental research with larger sample sizes must be conducted to provide further evidence in support of the correlation. Research beyond that may then identify a mechanism of causation. This is a vital step before conducting research involving schemas as a target for CPTSD therapies. Future research should also use direct measures of all three DSO symptoms and a more reliable measure of NCBs.

3 Study two: online survey methodology

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 Summary

This chapter will present the research design, ethical approval, procedure, measures, and analysis plan of an online, cross-sectional survey study that recruited 2,144 participants. The background and rationale for this study can be found in chapter one, the results in chapter four, and the discussion in chapter seven. This chapter also describes the cohort via demographic data.

This study generated quantitative data relating to demographics, types of trauma experienced, levels of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and complex PTSD (CPTSD) symptoms experienced, and negative core beliefs (NCBs) endorsed by the respondent. The aim of this study is to analyse the relationship between NCB endorsement and PTSD/CPTSD symptom profile.

3.1.2 Chapter aims

This chapter will present the methodology of a study looking at the differences between NCBs in participants with PTSD, CPTSD symptoms, and participants with no symptoms. The methodology presented in this chapter was developed to answer the question "How are NCBs related to PTSD and disturbances in self-organisation (DSO) symptoms as detailed in the 11th edition of the International Classification of Diseases?". This research is required in supporting the memory and identity (M&I) model of CPTSD (Hyland et al., 2023), which will lead into theoretically driven research in the field and the identification of potential treatment pathways for CPTSD. The results of the methodology presented in this chapter will also contribute to the current understanding of the role of NCBs in these

conditions across different demographic groups. This will allow for the development of research-informed assessment and treatment practices that can be tailored made across different groups.

3.2 Meta-analysis findings

The findings from the meta-analysis presented in chapter two of this thesis suggest that there was a moderate positive correlation between the symptoms of affect dysregulation (AD) and disturbed relationships (DR) and NCBs. The studies included in the meta-analysis used proxy measures of DSO symptoms, as there is presently a very small number of published studies that measure the correlation between a validated measure of CPTSD symptoms and a measure of NCBs (Greenblatt-Kimron et al., 2023; Karatzias et al., 2018; Vasilopoulou et al., 2020). Analysis of studies using proxy measures was necessary but reduces the validity of the results and subsequently conclusions drawn from the analysis. The meta-analysis concluded that it was necessary to conduct further research using validated measures of CPTSD symptoms and NCBs. This chapter will therefore build upon this conclusion and use validated measures in investigate the relationship between PTSD/CPTSD symptomology and NCBs.

It was also identified that a majority of research exploring associations between NCBs and DSO symptoms has employed the young schema questionnaire (YSQ). At present there is significant disagreement about the factor structure of the YSQ (see section 2.5.4 of this thesis for detail about this issue), and a major limitation of the meta-analysis presented in this thesis was the heavy reliance of published research using the YSQ. The recommendation from the meta-analysis was for future research to use an alternative measure of NCBs, such as the core beliefs questionnaire (CBQ). Previous research has shown the CBQ to be a reliable

assessment tool for NCBs in social anxiety (Wong et al., 2017). The CBQ is therefore a useful tool for assessing NCBs, and the present study identified the CBQ as a potentially reliable tool for measuring NCBs in PTSD and CPTSD populations. The reliability of the CBQ was assessed and presented as an alternative to the YSQ in these populations.

In the introduction chapter to this thesis, it was discussed that there is presently no cognitive model of post-traumatic disorders that can also be applied to CPTSD. Ehlers and Clark (1999) did propose a cognitive model of PTSD that has since been widely accepted, but research into the inclusion of CPTSD in this model has yet to be carried out. It is important that we understand how CPTSD is developed and maintained, and what are the cognitive factors that are associated with CPTSD in order to develop appropriate treatments for this debilitating condition. The research described in this chapter represents a first step towards a cognitive model of CPTSD, by understanding the role that NCBs play in CPTSD compared to PTSD and non-diagnosed presentations.

3.3 Research design

A number of different designs were considered for this work as outlined below. These include longitudinal, retrospective, or cross-sectional, and in-person or online. The strengths and weaknesses of each approach in answering the main research questions are described as follows.

3.3.1 Cross-sectional design

The cross-sectional design entails taking measurements from a sample at one time point. This design allows for quick gathering of data (Setia, 2016) and is ideal for research questions requiring correlational analyses without analysis of longitudinal data to assess causation (Wang, & Cheng, 2020), or questions dealing with the prevalence of a disease in a population (Kesmodel, 2018) or the validation of a measurement tool (Kesmodel, 2018). Since the research questions for this chapter are designed to investigate reliability, differences between groups at one time point, and prevalence of PTSD/CPTSD in the selected population, a cross-sectional design is appropriate.

Cross-sectional designs are prone to certain types of bias, however. Due to the measure being taken at only one time point, it is possible that some participants may be experiencing an unusually greater or lesser symptom burden. Therefore, when asked about their experience with symptoms in the preceding four weeks, their answers may not be an accurate representation of their typical symptom profile (Wang, & Cheng, 2020). Symptoms of mental health disorders do fluctuate over time and with experiences (Chopra et al., 2014; Green, & Graham, 2022), so while it is possible that some participants reported less significant symptoms than they usually experience, this is a realistic illustration of the experience of mental health difficulties and therefore lends generalisability to the study.

Additionally, the prevalence of PTSD and CPTSD depends on the survivability of the condition. Even if the number of cases of CPTSD goes down, this may not represent recovery from the illness so much as it indicates the rate of suicide in that population (Boerma, Sommerfelt, & Bicego, 1992; Setia, 2016). Unfortunately, this is an unavoidable flaw in cross sectional research, and would be exacerbated with the use of longitudinal design (Czeisler et al., 2021). It was therefore determined that cross sectional design was the most appropriate approach for this study, also considering the available resources for this work.

3.3.2 Online survey design

Online survey approach to data collection taken in this chapter was vital to the collection of a large sample from a large population. Fast and cheap collection of quantitative data from large groups of people is one of the advantages of online surveys (Andrade, 2020). Online participation allows participants to take part when and where they wanted to, reducing participant burden (Ball, 2019). This allowed for the inclusion of participants who would otherwise be too busy or live too remotely to take part (Evans, & Mathur, 2018). However, despite the ability to collect a large amount of data, there are flaws inherent in the online survey data collection method.

Online administration of self-report psychometrics introduces a certain amount of selection bias (Nayak & Narayan, 2019). For example, only those people with access to a computer and an internet connection in their home are able to take part, and online samples tend to consist of younger participants (Nayak & Narayan, 2019). This excludes many people in lower socioeconomic groups, elderly people, and those less computer-literate (Ball, 2019; Hargittai et al., 2019). Despite this drawback, online surveys allow researchers to reach communities that would otherwise be unable to participate, for example, those unable to leave their home due to disability or mental health difficulties or when researching sensitive topics, as in the case of this study (Wright, 2005). Additionally, rates of computer literacy in the elderly have now increased such that many older people are moderately confident (Hargittai et al., 2019). The Office for National Statistics (ONS) reported an increase in adults with an internet connection from 86% in 2015 (Office for National Statistics, 2015) to 89% in 2016 (Office for National Statistics, 2016), 96% in 2020 (Office for National Statistics, 2020). This continued increase in access to internet

means that online surveys can access a greater proportion of the general public year on year.

Online survey designs lend more secure anonymity to respondents, which can be both a benefit and a drawback (Ball, 2019). As stated above, sensitive topics can be more easily researched, but anonymity means that participants do sometimes respond falsely, and it is difficult to detect survey fraud in online spaces (Bohannon, 2016). To mitigate this risk as far as possible, the online survey company used in this study (detailed in section 3.7.1) has integrated fraud detection protocols and automatically discards any datasets that appear to have been answered illegitimately by measuring the amount of time taken to respond to each item.

Despite the potential drawback to the online survey design, it was determined that this was the most appropriate approach to the present study. The required sample size could be recruited within time and financial constraints, sources of bias could be mitigated as far as possible, and the population of interest could be most easily reached via online survey. For these reasons, the study went ahead using online survey.

3.4 Rejected study designs

3.4.1 Longitudinal design

A longitudinal survey design would have been an option to allow for the tracking of NCB change over time and before/after exposure to traumatic events. However, in addition to increased participant burden and rate of attrition, this was cost-prohibitive. NCBs are also very deeply held and do not change over a short period of time without intervention (Riso et al., 2006). A suitable interval time as indicated by existing literature would not have been achievable in the timeline of this PhD (Fernández-González et al., 2021; Simard et al., 2011). The majority of published studies analysing the correlation between NCBs and the symptoms of a mental health disorder only measure at one time point (Pilkington et al., 2021). A longitudinal design is not only unnecessary to answer the research question detailed in this chapter, but it would also exceed time constraints and may only produce results already gleaned from a cross-sectional design.

3.4.2 Retrospective design

Retrospective data collection was considered as an alternative to prospective data. The method would have included asking participants to report their beliefs about themselves from before their most traumatic event, and then their present beliefs, then analysing the change between the two time points. However, the amount of time passing since the index event could have been upwards of a decade, meaning that participants' memory of their beliefs before the index event would have been deteriorated by time, a process that is exacerbated by PTSD and trauma (Bryant et al., 2007; Jelinek et al., 2006; Joseph, 1999). The potential inaccuracy of the results resulting from such a retrospective study would have damaged the integrity of any conclusions drawn.

3.4.3 In-person design

In order to collect data from a large enough sample to capture population characteristics, a very large sample size was needed. A goal of c. 2,000 participants was set based on the needs of another project sharing the data collected in this process (see section 3.7.2 for power calculations and rationale). Such a large sample would allow for the ascertainment of practical effect size (a crucial aspect in determining practical significance of a statistically significant p-value) (Khalilzadeh, & Tasci, 2017) and narrow confidence intervals (Lantz, 2013). A sample of such size

could be obtained through costly and time-consuming field work. Even after contact is made with such large samples, attrition for in-person research is very high. Dobie et al., (2002) who contacted 2,545 participants succeeded in recruiting only 282 participants for in-person participation.

A paper and pencil recruitment method would require accessing a pool of trauma-exposed individuals, meeting them face-to-face, and facilitating their participation. As detailed in chapters five and six of this thesis, accessing such a population face to face is logistically complicated. Approval is required from gatekeepers, cooperation from clinical professionals, and there is greater participant burden (Ball, 2019). These barriers were such that it would not have been possible to access participants, screen for inclusion, collect responses, and debrief needed to meet the 2,000-person target within any reasonable timescale.

Additionally, collection of a sample size comparable to that recruited in this chapter by in-person research methods would be prohibitively expensive both financially and in terms of work hours. For example, the estimated time for a single participant to complete the questionnaires online was 25 minutes. Two researchers collecting this data by pencil and paper survey would have to work for 1,786 hours each, or 45 fulltime work weeks. Remuneration for these researchers at a postdoctoral pay grade of £21/hour would amount to £37,520 each. This timescale is not workable, and such funds to pay researchers are not available. It was therefore not possible to conduct this study in-person in the timescale available to complete this work.

3.5 Research questions

The aim of this study was to investigate how NCBs are related to international classification of diseases 11th edition (ICD-11) PTSD and DSO symptoms. The following research questions were considered in the design of the study:

- Does the CBQ produce reliable measurements of NCBs in participants endorsing PTSD/CPTSD symptoms?
- 2) Do participants meeting diagnostic requirements for CPTSD score more highly on the CBQ than participants meeting requirements for PTSD and those that do not meet requirements for either disorder?
- 3) Which NCBs are most likely to be endorsed by participants meeting requirements for CPTSD compared to participants meeting requirements for PTSD and neither?

3.6 Ethical considerations

3.6.1 Ethical approval

Ethical approval was sought and gained from Edinburgh Napier University (ENU) School of Health and Social Care Research Integrity Committee through the online Worktribe ethics application portal. The application was submitted on 29/03/2023 and approved on 18/05/2023 (REF Number 3026271).

3.6.2 Confidentiality and anonymity

Participants were informed of their right to anonymity in the consent form (see appendix 9.9), privacy notice (see appendix 9.8), and participant information sheet (PIS) (see appendix 9.7) at the beginning of their participation. No identifiable data (i.e., name, date of birth etc.) was gathered and TGM assigned participant numbers to be used as identifiers for individual cases in the dataset.

All anonymous survey data were stored on password-protected university computers, on university premises, and inside locked rooms. All data were processed in line with Edinburgh Napier University guidelines. During the discussion chapter of this thesis, any names used to discuss individual participants are pseudonyms. This is also the case with any journal publications made as a result of data collected in this study.

3.6.3 Informed consent

Informed consent was gained through the online survey before participants took part in the study. There was a potential risk to the participants in this study, due to the discussion of potentially sensitive or triggering traumatic events. To mitigate this risk as much as possible, participants were informed of their rights to withdraw at any point in time without penalty and they were informed that the study would ask about sensitive topics before they agreed to take part. Participants were also referred to appropriate external resources for support following their participation in the study.

Participants were offered financial compensation for completion of the survey. However, they were not paid if they did not complete all questionnaires on the survey. This did introduce the potential for coercion, with the risk that some participants might have completed the survey solely to be paid. This is an issue inherent in TGM's (N.B., TGM is not an acronym) business design (see section 3.7.1 for more detail on the survey platform). Efforts were taken to mitigate this, including minimization of participant burden and emphasis placed on ensuring that participants

knew what would be asked of them before agreeing to take part in the study. Participant burden was minimized by only administering questionnaires that were relevant to the research questions, and allowing for the questionnaires to be completed at a time and place that was convenient to the participant. Response patterns were also analysed by TGM to check for participants answering questions without reading the instructions to be paid quickly. Two such cases were identified and excluded before the data was provided for analysis.

Participants were requested to read the privacy notice (in appendix 9.8) before agreeing to consent. This described what the study would entail and how their data would be treated and stored to ensure confidentiality and anonymity. If a participant was still interested after reading these documents, they were presented with the consent form (in appendix 9.9), and if any statement on the consent form was disagreed with, the participant was redirected to a debrief page and their data was not collected.

3.6.4 Data storage and protection

Online survey platform TGM was company used for data collection. After a participant completed the psychometrics, their data were stored in password protected files on TGM's secure servers until the full dataset was collected. After the dataset was complete, a password-protected link to the file of anonymised data was emailed to the research team to download and for analysis.

Participant information and data were stored on university drives and processed on a university laptop. The laptop was password-protected, as was the data folder, and the laptop was kept in a locked drawer when not in use. This was a university requirement, so that university cyber security could protect all participant

data. A data management plan was submitted to ENU governance and approved before ethical approval was submitted. These processes were designed to be in line with ENU research and data protection guidelines (Edinburgh Napier University, 2019).

3.6.5 Source of data

The data in this study were sourced in collaboration with another PhD student. The collaborators on this project had secured funding to collect data from an online survey and were using the same questionnaires that the present study intended to use. Collaborators collected the data via a recruitment organisation and were passed on for analysis in this study.

Because this study acquired data in collaboration with another study, full control over the order and number of assessment tools was not possible. In the survey, there were a total of 12 psychometric tools, presented in a set order (i.e. nonrandomised presentation). This induced the possibility of response fatigue (Jeong, et al., 2023) but previous research has shown that response fatigue only becomes a major concern at around the two-hour mark (Hess, et al., 2012; Jeong, et al., 2023), and estimated completion time for the survey in the current study was under one hour.

3.7 Participants

3.7.1 Recruitment

Participants were recruited online via the online survey platform TGM. Participants were recruited as a part of a collaborative study between another researcher at Edinburgh Napier University. TGM maintain nationally representative survey panels in 130 countries. Members of the public in these countries can sign up

to receive notifications on their mobile phones, if there is a recruiting study for which they match the inclusion criteria. After agreeing that they meet the inclusion criteria for this study (detailed in 3.7.3), any participants choosing to take part in this survey were reimbursed for their time at a rate of 0.16 GBP per two minutes, with this survey taking approximately 25-30 minutes to complete (1.68-2.08 GBP).

Participants were already signed up with TGM as available to complete surveys and notified by either an email or an in-app notification. They then logged on, read the privacy notice and participant information sheet, and completed the consent form and psychometrics as they were presented. Survey completion was online, so participants were able to take part at any time that suited them during the recruitment window.

Participants were given the opportunity to email questions to the researchers and independent Edinburgh Napier University staff if they had any queries or concerns. Participants then read the information sheet and privacy notice, and completed their consent form through TGM software,

3.7.2 Sampling

The sample was a trauma-exposed group of adults from the UK. This population was selected because the topic of interest in this study is the relationship between NCBs and PTSD/CPTSD. Per the ICD-11 it is not possible for a diagnosis of PTSD or CPTSD to be conferred to a person who has not experienced a traumatic event. Therefore, any participant who did not meet the diagnostic criteria of exposure to a traumatic experience would not be included in this study. Many of the analyses in this thesis will be performed on only participants from this sample meeting PTSD

or CPTSD diagnostic criteria to allow for maximum clinical application of the results.

One of the key issues found in the results of chapter two of this thesis was the risk of bias in the included studies. Very few studies that assessed the correlation between NCBs and DSO symptoms published a power calculation to justify the sample size used. The present chapter aims to improve upon the research analysed in chapter two. To this end, a power calculation was completed to assess the number of participants needed to answer the research questions listed in 3.5. G*power (Faul et al., 2007) and a review of published articles detailing simulations of minimum sample requirements was used to identify the minimum participants needed for all analyses (see 3.9.2 for detail on data analysis plan). The largest required sample size indicated by power calculations was 470.

Fan et al. (2012) indicated that a minimum of 360 participants would be needed for a Kruskal-Wallis (K-W) test with unequal subgroups and an effect size of .80. G*power revealed that for the planned t tests with an alpha level of 0.05 and an effect size of .80, a minimum of 402 participants was necessary to achieve acceptable statistical power in this study. De Winter et al. (2009) concluded that a one-factor exploratory factor analysis with 24 loadings would be adequately powered with 470 participants. The minimum required sample size of this chapter is therefore 470.

Despite the needs of this study only requiring 470 participants, an initial goal of 1,599 participants was set. Primarily, this was because a power calculation performed by another project sharing this recruitment process revealed the need for 1,454 participants with an additional 10% to account for useable or incomplete data.

Toward the end of the data collection period, it was discovered the majority of participants were female. To ensure that a gender split of 50% was attained, participation was limited to male participants until 2,144 individuals were recruited. The initial recruitment target was exceeded, lending greater statistical power to this study.

Exceeding the 470 participants required by this study is almost exclusively a positive result. A larger sample means that population characteristics can be captured more comprehensively (Muhammad, Tasmin, & Aziati, 2020) and statistical power is greater (Lantz, 2013). In addition, the trauma-exposed population of the UK is very large. In studies measuring trauma exposure in the general population by self-report questionnaire, between 71% and 84% of adults reported experiencing a traumatic event at one point in their life (Briere, & Elliott, 2000; Elliott, 1997; Frans et al., 2005; Knipscheer et al., 2020; Mills et al., 2011). In order to recruit a representative sample of such a large population, as large a sample as possible is necessary.

Larger sample sizes do have their drawbacks, however. Exposing more participants than necessary to questionnaires about sensitive topics that may cause undue distress is ethically questionable (Faber, & Fonseca, 2014). In the ethical application for this study, the emotional impact on participants was discussed at length. To reduce distress, steps were taken to ensure that participants were aware of what they would be asked to do, including the completion of consent forms, reading the privacy notice, and the participant information sheet. Participants were also encouraged to leave the survey before completion if they believed they were experiencing emotional distress. These measures were determined by the School of

Health and Social Care Research and Integrity Committee to be appropriate for the proposed sample size and sufficient to offset potential emotional distress.

Additionally, when using large samples, it is important to not conflate statistical significance with significant effect size (Lantz, 2013). A large sample is more likely to return statistically significant values, so the interpretation of these values should only be in conjunction with practical effect sizes (Khalilzadeh, & Tasci, 2017). To ensure that the analysis of the outcomes of this study did not draw conclusions based on inflated p values, reported findings were discussed in the context of effect sizes and measures of effect magnitude (Berger, 2005).

3.7.3 Inclusion criteria

Participants taking part in the present study were required to be between the ages of 18 and 30, be able to read and write in English, and be able to give informed consent to taking part and having their data collected and analysed. The upper age limit was established due to the needs of another project using the same data being collected. This upper age limit requirement represented a significant restriction in the generalisation of the findings for this study. The conclusions drawn from this study cannot the generalised beyond the age category of 18-30 years. Clearly, the ideal would be to collect data from a wider age range, but the funding for the data collection was controlled by a project with strict requirements for participant upper age limit. To secure funding on a similar scale to recruit a comparable sample would have taken significant time investment beyond the scope of this thesis, given the other areas of work that have been completed. The decision was therefore taken to use the large sample with the upper age limit of 30 years and discuss the implications of this.

Participants were also required to have experienced at least one traumatic event in their lifetime. This criterion was implemented due to the ICD-11 diagnostic guidelines that PTSD and CPTSD follow a traumatic event. This did restrict the number of individuals who were able to complete the survey and introduced the ethical issue of asking participants to think about and answer questions about traumatic experiences. However, it was decided that it was more important to collect relevant data (i.e., data from participants who have experienced a traumatic event and therefore may be eligible to receive a diagnosis of PTSD or CPTSD) than collect data from individuals with no trauma history. Any participant not meeting the inclusion criteria as assessed by screening questions during the survey were directed to a debrief screen and thanked for their time.

3.7.4 Exclusion criteria

Participants not completing all measures were excluded from the sample, as well as any participants not agreeing to all statements on the consent form.

3.7.5 Participant characteristics

A total of 2,144 participants were recruited. Participants ranged in age from 18 to 30 (mean =24, SD=3.82). Most common highest educational achievement was A-levels or equivalent (n=653, 30.5%) or an undergraduate degree (n=600, 28%), 1,520 (70.9) identified as British, 104 (4.9%) as African, and 91 (4.2%) as British/Irish. Most participants did not meet criteria for either PTSD or CPTSD (n=1,179, 55.0%), the second most common outcome was endorsement of CPTSD criteria (n=734, 34.2%), and the least common outcome was endorsement of PTSD criteria (n=231, 10.8%). Full participant characteristics can be found in Table 3.1.

	Naithar PTSD nor	PTSD N (%)	CPTSD N(%)	Total N (%)
	CPTSD N (%)	1 15D IV (70)	CI ISD IV (70)	10tai 1 (70)
Total	1,174 (54.7)	236 (11.0)	734 (34.1)	2,144 (100.0)
Gender				
Male	419 (35.7)	96 (40.7)	324 (44.1)	839 (39.1)
Female	744 (63.3)	139 (58.9)	404 (55.0)	1,287 (60)
Other	9 (0.8)	1 (0.4)	6 (0.8)	16 (0.7)
Ethnicity				
British	804 (68.5)	172 (72.9)	544 (74.1)	1,520 (70.9)
British/Irish	48 (4.1)	9 (3.8)	34 (4.6)	91 (4.2)
Chinese	11 (0.9)	0 (0.0)	4 (0.5)	15 (0.7)
Indian	48 (4.1)	0 (0.0)	28 (3.8)	84 (3.9)
Pakistani	34 (2.9)	12 (5.1)	17 (2.3)	63 (2.9)
Bangladeshi	19 (1.6)	2 (0.8)	13 (1.8)	34 (1.6)
Arab	14 (1.2)	1 (0.4)	7 (1.0)	22 (1.0)
Other Asian	18 (1.5)	2 (0.8)	12 (1.6)	32 (1.5)
Afro-Caribbean	19 (1.6)	3 (1.3)	5 (0.7)	27 (1.3)
African	64 (5.5)	10 (4.2)	30 (4.1)	104 (4.9)
Other	94 (8.1)	18 (7.6)	40 (5.4)	152 (7.1)
Religion				
Christian	396 (33.7)	98 (41.5)	270 (36.8)	764 (35.6)
Muslim	97 (8.3)	31 (13.1)	79 (10.8)	207 (9.7)
Jewish	4 (0.3)	0 (0.0)	13 (1.8)	17 (0.8)
Hindu	28 (2.4)	4 (1.7)	18 (2.5)	50 (2.3)
Buddhist	10 (0.9)	2 (0.8)	8 (1.1)	20 (0.9)
Sikh	12 (1.0)	1 (0.4)	8 (1.1)	21 (1.0)
Atheist	391 (33.3)	58 (24.6)	200 (27.2)	649 (30.3)
Agnostic	154 (13.1)	25 (10.6)	60 (8.2)	239 (11.1)
Other	82 (7.0)	17 (7.2)	78 (10.6)	177 (8.3)
Highest educationa	al qualification			
None	26 (2.2)	4 (1.7)	20 (2.7)	50 (2.3)
O-level/GCSE	156 (13.3)	28 (11.9)	121 (16.5)	306 (14.2)
A-level	371 (31.6)	81 (34.3)	201 (27.4)	653 (30.5)
Technical	51 (4.3)	10 (4.2)	46 (6.3)	107 (5.0)
qualification				
Undergraduate	348 (29.6)	80 (33.9)	172 (23.4)	600 (28)
Diploma	50 (4.3)	11 (4.7)	42 (5.7)	103 (4.8)
Postgraduate	165 (14.1)	19 (8.1)	127 (17.3)	311 (14.5)
Other	7 (0.6)	3 (1.3)	5 (0.7)	15 (0.7)
Occupation				
Employed full	565 (48.1)	113 (47.9)	386 (52.6)	1064 (49.6)
Employed part	194 (16.5)	46 (19.5)	105 (14.3)	345 (16.0)
time				
Unemployed	83 (7.1)	19 (8.1)	57 (7.8)	159 (7.4)
looking for work				
Unemployed not looking for work	35 (3.0)	8 (3.4)	44 (6.0)	87 (4.0)
Retired	1 (0.1)	0 (0.0)	2 (0.3)	3 (0.1)

Table 3.1. Full participant characteristic data

	Neither PTSD nor CPTSD N (%)	PTSD N (%)	CPTSD N (%)	Total N (%)
Student	279 (23.7)	50 (21.2)	118 (16.1)	447 (20.8)
Disabled	17 (1.4)	0 (0.0)	22 (3.0)	39 (1.8)
Lifetime experience	of mental health d	ifficulties		
Previous	351 (30.0)	97 (41.1)	301 (41.0)	750 (35.0)
Current	137 (11.7)	42 (17.8)	185 (25.2)	364 (17.0)
Never	685 (58.3)	97 (41.1)	248 (33.8)	1030 (48.0)

3.8 Measures

3.8.1 International trauma exposure measure

Participants' exposure to traumatic events was assessed using the international trauma exposure measure (ITEM) (Hyland et al., 2021). The ITEM lists 21 experiences understood to fulfil the criteria required to qualify as a traumatic experience, as well as a 22nd option wherein the respondent is invited to detail any experiences they feel may be the cause of post-traumatic stress but were not specifically listed. The ITEM asks the respondent to identify whether the event occurred before age 12 (childhood), between 13 and 18 (adolescence), or after the age of 18 (adulthood). The respondent is then requested to identify the most significant traumatic event, and how many times the event occurred, as well as the exact time since the most recent occurrence of the event. The final question requires that the respondent identify the main emotion associated with the most significant event (fear, anger, disgust, sadness, shame, guilt, or no emotion).

The ITEM allows for identification of a number of traumatic events occurring during childhood, adolescence, and adulthood, as well as lifetime occurrence of trauma but does not ask that the respondent assign any level of severity to traumatic events, beyond identifying the most significant experience. The ITEM contains a number of broad categories of experience, as well as a free entry "other" response. It was therefore determined that the ITEM was suitable for use in this study as a measure to ensure participants meet the inclusion criterion of having experienced at least one traumatic event in their lifetime. Full detail on the contents of the ITEM can be found in appendix 9.10.

3.8.2 Core beliefs questionnaire

The CBQ (Wong et al., 2017) trait subscale is a 17-item tool designed to measure the presence of negative core beliefs about the self. The client is instructed to respond to each statement on a scale of one (strongly disbelieve) to six (strongly believe). The CBQ has shown validity when used in samples with personality disorders (Reeves & Taylor, 2007), social anxiety (Andrea et al., 2018) and depression (Otani et al., 2018), with an initial validation Cronbach's alpha of 0.96 for the subscale used in this thesis.

The CBQ is scored on a 1-6 scale and totals are computed by adding together the scores of each item for an overall score indicating negative beliefs about the self. The minimum score is 17 and the maximum 102. In a validation study, it was found that respondents with diagnosis of social anxiety disorder scored an average of 57 (SD=21.65), and respondents without such a diagnosis scored an average of 25 (SD=10.27) (Wong et al., 2017). The CBQ can be found in appendix 9.12.

The CBQ is currently less widely used in research, and therefore has a lesser evidence base. It would have been possible to use the YSQ, which has a larger evidence base, and is more widely used in research to measure NCBs. However, the research base for the YSQ factor structure is conflicting, with studies reporting the presence of between 14 and 18 schemas and between three and five domains (Alfasfos, 2009; Lee et al., 2015; Sakulsriprasert et al., 2016; Saritaş, & Gençö,

2011; Soygüt et al., 2009; Young et al., 2003). This represents an unacceptable level of uncertainty as to what is really being measured. Additionally, even short versions of the YSQ contain 90 items (Onen, & Günes, 2021), which would have added to the already high participant burden and may have affected the ability of the participant to complete the remainder of the survey. The CBQ was therefore identified as an acceptable alternative, given that it contains only 17 items and reports a consistent unidimensional factor structure.

3.8.3 International trauma questionnaire

The International Trauma Interview (ITQ) (Cloitre et al., 2018) is an 18item self-report measure which uses a 5-point Likert scale to assess PTSD and DSO symptoms with the view to measure criteria for PTSD and CPTSD. The ITQ was designed to be administered in clinical settings where it is desirable for client burden to be minimised. To this end, the ITQ follows ICD-11 guidelines in terms of simplicity, ease of use in both clinical and research settings, and maximisation of international applicability (Cloitre et al., 2018). The ITQ has been examined in a number of contexts and has shown Cronbach's Alpha scores of 0.87 for the PTSD subscale and 0.90 for the DSO subscale (Camden, et al, 2023).

The first six items on the ITQ relate to PTSD symptom clusters, and the client is requested to answer how much each symptom has bothered them over the last month from "Not at all" to "Extremely". The client is then asked how much the PTSD symptoms affect their social and occupational functioning. The subsequent six items on the ITQ measure DSO symptomology along the same Likert scale used for the PTSD symptoms, and then the same questions about the impact on their social and occupational functioning are asked. A score of ≥ 2 for any symptom item indicates an endorsement of the symptom cluster represented by that item. A

diagnosis of PTSD is applied if a client endorses PTSD symptomology but does not meet DSO symptom threshold. CPTSD is diagnosed if a client endorses both PTSD and DSO symptoms. If a client does not score ≥ 2 on at least one item in each symptom, the symptom is considered absent, and the participant does not meet diagnostic criteria. The ITQ can be found in appendix 9.11.

The ITQ was chosen for use in this research due to its status as a validated assessment tool for PTSD and CPTSD. The ITQ has been shown to accurately diagnose PTSD and CPTSD in a variety of populations (Cyr et al., 2022; Haselgruber et al., 2020; Murphy et al., 2020; Vang et al., 2021) so the data resulting from its use in research can be relied upon. The ITQ is a self-report measure and so carried with it inherent issues, such as the potential for participants to misunderstand items, or answer inaccurately. It was determined that the ITQ was the most suitable method of assessing PTSD and CPTSD symptoms in the context of collecting data from participants via online survey.

3.9 Procedure

3.9.1 Administration schedule

Following the recruitment procedure (detailed in 3.7.1), participants were presented with 11 self-report questionnaires in total. The demographics questionnaires, ITEM, ITQ and CBQ were presented first, second, fourth, and eleventh, respectively. The order of the measures was allocated randomly, with the exception of the ITEM, since an affirmative response to at least one traumatic event was required for participation in the study. Any participant responding that they had never experienced any traumatic event was thanked for their time and debriefed without the opportunity to complete the remainder of the questionnaires. There was a minor concern that participants completing all questionnaires may be fatigued by the final questionnaire and not answer questions to the best of their ability. This was managed by allowing unlimited time for the completion of the questionnaires, participants could minimize the survey and return as long as they didn't close the browser. The smallest possible number of questionnaires were administered, to minimize the number of questions that each participant had to respond to as far as possible. Participants were also instructed to complete the questionnaires to the best of their ability, answering as honestly as possible, and the importance of this was explained in the participant information sheet and consent form.

After participants had completed the online survey, they were debriefed, reminded of their right to withdraw their data, and thanked for their participation. Participants were also encouraged at this time to contact the researchers if they had any questions about any part of the survey. After data collection was complete, the data were available to download and analyse. Analysis was conducted using IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) (version 26) by the analysis detailed below.

No identifiable participant data were being collected, and participants were distinguished by an ID number only. Once data were collected between the 25th of May and the 9th of June 2023, TGM provided a password protected link through which the research team was able to download the data in SPSS and Microsoft Excel format.

3.9.2 Data analysis

3.9.2.1 Descriptive statistics

Age, gender, religion, education level, experience of mental health difficulties, and ethnicity distribution of the sample were gathered. The outcome of

the ITQ was analysed to show the prevalence of those with no diagnosis, PTSD, and CPTSD endorsement. Prevalence of interpersonal vs non-interpersonal traumas and mean number of traumas were also calculated, as well as mean scores on each CBQ item for subclinical, PTSD endorsement, and CPTSD endorsement subgroups. Tables with the full data described here can be found in chapter four, Table 4.1 and table 4.2.

3.9.2.2 Reliability of CBQ to assess NCBs

Cronbach's Alpha (α) is the mainstream standard for internal reliability (McNeish, 2018), and was used in this analysis to assess internal reliability. However, α does demand some very stringent assumptions (normally distributed data, equal groups etc.) and may yield relatively conservative estimates of correlation (Revelle, & Zinbarg, 2009). A suitable alternative may have been the Omega coefficient (Kalkbrenner, 2023). However, artificially inflated correlation levels can be returned if the Omega coefficient is applied to a multidimensional measure (Bell, Chalmers, and Flora, 2023; Green & Yang, 2015). In order to confirm which version of the Omega coefficient should be used, a full analysis of the latent structure of the CBQ would be needed (Bell et al., 2023; Cortina et al., 2020; Green & Yang 2015; McNeish, 2018), which is beyond the scope of the current study. α was therefore identified as the most appropriate measure of internal reliability. Table 3.2 details acceptability values and interpretations (Bland, & Altman, 1997; Tavakol, & Dennick, 2011). Some argue that a result of $\alpha \ge 0.90$ suggests that some items on the scale are redundant, and should be revised (Streiner, 2003; Tavakol, & Dennick, 2011). However, since the purpose of the CBQ subscale used in this study is to measure only one aspect of core beliefs (that is, trait beliefs about the self) such a

homogenous result is not concerning in the way the same result would be for a more heterogeneous latent concept.

Table 3.2. a thresholds (Bland, & Altman, 1997; Tavakol, & Dennick, 2011)

Internal reliability	α
Poor	≤0.69
Acceptable	0.70-0.89
Very high	≥0.90

3.9.2.3 Correlation between PTSD/CPTSD symptomology and NCBs

Participants' ITQ scores were calculated following the scoring guidelines detailed in 3.8.3. Coding in SPSS was as follows: 1. not meeting symptom requirements for ICD-11 PTSD or CPTSD, 2. PTSD symptom requirements are met, and 3. CPTSD symptom requirements are met. Scoring guidelines detailed in 3.8.1 were followed for each participant to give an overall NCB score.

Tests for the assumptions of ANOVA were run; Levene's test of homogeneity of variances (Glass, 1966; Mishra et al., 2019) and Shapiro-Wilk (S-W) test of normality (Field, 2018; Razali, & Wah, 2011). Both assumptions were violated egregiously, so ANOVA could not be used to analyse this dataset, so the K-W test was identified as a suitable nonparametric test (Corder, & Foreman, 2014; McKight, & Najab, 2010; Ostertagova et al., 2014). Assumptions of the K-W test were met; observations are independent, dependent variable is ordinal., and sample size is large enough.

3.9.2.4 Differences in NCBs between symptom profiles

Two further analyses were conducted to examine more closely the differences between the endorsement of NCBs held by participants meeting thresholds for each subgroup. The above analysis in 3.9.2.3 determined that a difference between the groups does exist, this analysis looks at the direction and nature of the differences between groups. An independent samples t-test was used here, as the groups were comprised of non-matched participants and categorical data (Nevill et al., 2002; Savalei, & Rhemtulla, 2013).

Instead of the standard reporting of the raw mean difference between each variable in the independent t-test, the standardised Cohen's d statistic was reported. This choice was made due to the ease of comparison of these results with results from other published works (Cahan, & Gamliel, 2011; Diener, 2010), and the unitless design allows for interpretation of the effect size by readers who may not be expertly familiar with the assessment tools used in this study and it may therefore not be clear to them whether the raw mean differences are large or small but Cohen's d can easily be interpreted with threshold guidelines (Table 3.3) (Andrade, 2020; Cohen, 1988;). Cohen's d is a standardised measure of difference for assessing mean differences between variables (Cohen, 1988; Cohen, 1992). More recent analyses based on quantitative data analysis in individual differences research have suggested guideline thresholds for this statistic to be 0.10 (small), 0.20 (medium), and 0.30 (large) (Gignac & Szodorai, 2016).

Cohen's d	Interpretation
0.10	Small
0.20	Medium
0.30	Large

Table 3.3 Cohen's d threshold interpretation (Gignac &Szodorai, 2016)

3.9.2.5 Individual CBQ items correlated with individual ITQ items

Spearman's rank correlation was used to measure correlation between scores on individual CBQ and ITQ items, as both variables are categorical, and Spearman is designed to work with such data (Croux, & Dehon, 2010). Thresholds
applied for effect size interpretation are detailed in Table 3.4. These values are taken from Dancey and Reidy, (2007). And are commonly used in psychological sciences (Akoglu 2018). The CBQ items of 'I am a failure' and 'I am not worthwhile' were removed from this analysis due to the conceptual similarity between these beliefs and the DSO symptom of negative self-concept.





3.10 Summary

This chapter detailed the process of collecting and analysing data from an online survey with the intention of using this data to contribute to a cognitive model of the differences between PTSD and CPTSD. The next chapter details the results of these analyses.

4 Study two: online survey results

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 Summary

Chapter four of this thesis describes the results from the online study of negative core beliefs (NCBs) and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and complex PTSD (CPTSD) symptoms in a trauma-exposed sample (n=2,144). Method of dealing with missing data is detailed, followed by the process of synthesising data. Data collected on the types and number of traumatic experiences is presented and described, including the findings that interpersonal trauma was more common that non-interpersonal trauma, and types of trauma exposure as a risk factor for symptom endorsement. Findings relating to the core beliefs questionnaire (CBQ) to assess NCBs in the sample are presented and followed by the correlational findings between NCBs and different symptom profiles. It is shown that PTSD symptom profiles endorse fewer NCBs than participants with CPTSD endorsement. Results are interpreted in narrative form and strengths/limitations of the results are described.

4.1.2 Missing data

No incomplete surveys were accepted by the survey software, so no cases were eliminated for missing or incomplete data. Participants were able to skip individual items that they found personally upsetting or disturbing, but the survey software rejected any cases with greater than 10% missing data. There are of course ethical issues associated with allowing participants to complete questionnaires and then discarding their data. Requiring participants to respond to potentially distressing questions, only to not use their data in the research project, means that the time spent by the participant and the potential distress experienced did not produce any useable

data. This issue was mitigated as far as reasonably possible by informing participants that they should try to answer as many questions as possible, and that they would not be reimbursed if they did not complete the questionnaire. This was communicated in the participant information sheet, in highlighted text to draw attention to this statement. Contact emails for researchers and academic staff were provided for participants to contact if they experienced distress that they wished to discuss with someone involved in the study, and the consent form remined participants of their right to stop answering questions at any time.

An observational inspection of the dataset also revealed incomplete answers to the item "Any other event not listed (please specify)" on the international trauma exposure measure (ITEM) scale by four participants. These participants ticked the answer that they had experienced a traumatic event not listed in the ITEM but did not give detail on what these experiences were. These cases were not removed, as this missing data would not impact the analytical design planned for this study.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Synthesis of international trauma questionnaire data

Each participants' diagnostic outcome from the international trauma questionnaire (ITQ) was calculated from raw scores in Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) (IBM Corp., 2019). Programming used to categorise participants by diagnostic outcome can be found in appendix 9.14. Since an inclusion criterion for participation in this study was lifetime exposure to at least one traumatic event, it was not necessary to check that participants met this diagnostic criterion, so diagnostic subgroup membership was based on ITQ outcome alone.

4.2.2 Participant experience of trauma

To be eligible all participants had experience of at least one traumatic event in their lifetime. Most frequently, trauma was experienced during adolescence, which is to be expected given the limited age range of the sample, and the vast majority of participants experienced multiple traumas. Death or illness of a close friend of family member were the most common index events, usually occurring one to five years ago, and sadness was the most common emotion associated with the event. Full data on participant experiences of trauma can be found in Table 4.1.

Appendix 9.15 details the events included on the ITEM, and whether each event is regarded as interpersonal or non-interpersonal. Broadly, an event is interpersonal if it involves the participant as a victim of another person or as a perpetrator against a person (Jowett et al., 2020; Sandberg et al., 2010). The most common type of traumatic experience across all categories was interpersonal (m=10.3, SD=7.6), the most common age range to experience a traumatic event was adolescence (m=4.4, SD=3.7), and participants endorsing CPTSD symptoms had the highest mean score on the CBQ (m=80.1, SD=22.9). For more details on these findings and mean scores for each ITQ subgroup on overall NCB endorsement, see table 4.2.

Table 4.1. Participant experiences of trauma

	Neither PTSD	PTSD N (%)	CPTSD N (%)	Total N (%)
	nor CPTSD N			
	(%)			
Lifetime trauma ex	perience			
Overall trauma	1,174 (100.0)	236 (100.0)	734 (100.0)	2,144 (100)
Interpersonal	1,123 (95.6)	230 (97.4)	723 (98.5)	2,078 (96.9)
Non-interpersonal	869 (74.0)	204 (86.4)	614 (83.6)	1,67 (78.6)
Polytraumatisation	1,093 (93.0)	232 (98.3)	712 (97.0)	2,037 (95.0)
Experience of trau	na during each stag	ge of life		
Childhood	769 (65.5)	184 (77.9)	539 (73.4)	1,492 (69.5)
Adolescence	1,031 (87.8)	216 (91.5)	663 (90.3)	1,920 (89.0)
Adulthood	860 (73.2)	200 (84.7)	611 (83.2)	1,671 (77.9)
Nature of most sign	nificant traumatic en	vent		
Illness	19 (1.6)	2 (0.8)	13 (1.8)	34 (1.6)
Close person died	138 (11.8)	28 (11.9)	112 (15.3)	278 (13.0)
Close person	191 (16.3)	37 (15.7)	73 (9.9)	301 (14.0)
illness				
Weapon life threat	32 (2.7)	6 (2.5)	29 (4.0)	67 (3.1)
Parent assault	24 (2.0)	8 (3.4)	42 (5.7)	74 (3.5)
Other person	39 (3.3)	6 (2.5)	34 (4.6)	79 (3.7)
assault				
Parent sexual	17 (1.4)	8 (3.4)	37 (5.0)	62 (2.9)
assault				
Other sexual	98 (8.3)	20 (8.5)	77 (10.5)	195 (9.1)
assault				
Sexual harassment	49 (4.2)	7 (3.0)	23 (3.1)	79 (3.7)
War or combat	7 (0.6)	1 (0.4)	2 (0.3)	10 (0.5)
Torture	4 (0.3)	1 (0.4)	1 (0.1)	6 (0.3)
Caused suffering	1 (0.1)	3 (1.3)	5 (0.7)	9 (0.4)
Witnessed	80 (6.8)	9 (3.8)	28 (3.8)	117 (5.5)
suffering				
Accident	31 (2.6)	8 (3.4)	9 (1.2)	48 (2.2)
Natural disaster	14 (1.2)	4 (1.7)	8 (1.1)	26 (1.2)
Non-natural	12 (1.0)	1 (0.4)	7 (1.0)	20 (0.9)
disaster				
Stalked	20 (1.7)	9 (3.8)	16 (2.2)	45 (2.1)
Bullied	104 (8.9)	22 (9.3)	49 (6.7)	175 (8.2)
Humiliation	80 (6.8)	10 (4.2)	39 (5.3)	129 (6.0)
Unloved	122 (10.4)	20 (8.5)	75 (10.2)	217 (10.1)
Neglected	54 (4.6)	16 (6.8)	42 (5.7)	112 (5.2)
Other	38 (3.2)	10 (4.2)	13 (1.8)	61 (2.8)
Time since most sig	nificant traumatic	event		
<1 month	34 (2.9)	13 (5.5)	55 (7.5)	102 (4.8)
1-6 months	91 (7.8)	25 (10.6)	84 (11.4)	200 (9.3)
6-12 months	98 (8.3)	28 (11.9)	130 (17.7)	256 (11.9)
1-5 years	427 (36.4)	96 (40.7)	234 (31.9)	757 (35.3)
6-10 years	245 (20.9)	41 (17.4)	145 (19.8)	431 (20.1)
>10 years	279 (23.8)	33 (14.0)	86 (1.7)	398 (18.6)

	Neither PTSD nor CPTSD N (%)	PTSD N (%)	CPTSD N (%)	Total N (%)
Main emotion ass	ociated with event			
Fear	234 (19.9)	59 (25.0)	165 (22.5)	458 (21.4)
Anger	142 (12.1)	31 (13.1)	101 (13.8)	274 (12.8)
Disgust	75 (6.4)	14 (5.9)	65 (8.9)	154 (7.2)
Sadness	548 (46.7)	95 (40.3)	256 (34.9)	899 (41.9)
Shame	78 (6.6)	11 (4.7)	69 (9.4)	158 (7.4)
Guilt	35 (3.0)	12 (5.1)	43 (5.9)	90 (4.2)
No emotion	62 (5.3)	14 (5.9)	35 (4.8)	111 (5.2)

Table 4.2. Mean score and standard deviation for overall NCB endorsement and number of lifetime traumatic events experienced compared to ITQ symptom endorsement

	Neither m(SD)	PTSD m(SD)	CPTSD m(SD)	Total m(SD)
CBQ total score	55.6 (24.7)	58.4 (23.3)	80.1 (22.9)	64.3 (26.5)
Age	24.2 (3.8)	23.8 (3.8)	24.5 (3.7)	
ITEM				
Lifetime traumatic	7.7 (5.5)	10.9 (7.2)	14.2 (8.7)	10.3 (7.6)
experiences				
Lifetime interpersonal	5.8 (4.4)	8.2 (5.7)	10.9 (6.8)	7.8 (5.9)
traumatic experiences				
Lifetime non-interpersonal	1.6 (1.5)	2.3 (1.9)	2.9 (2.6)	2.1 (2.1)
traumatic experiences				
Childhood traumatic	1.9 (2.2)	2.6 (2.8)	3.5 (3.9)	2.5 (3.1)
experiences				
Adolescent traumatic	3.4 (2.8)	4.7 (3.3)	5.9 (4.5)	4.4 (3.7)
experiences				
Adulthood traumatic	2.4 (2.4)	3.5(3.3)	4.7 (4.4)	3.3 (3.5)
experience				

4.2.3 Reliability of core beliefs questionnaire to assess negative core beliefs in post-traumatic stress disorder and complex post-traumatic stress disorder

Internal reliability of the CBQ in participants endorsing PTSD and CPTSD criteria was assessed using Cronbach's alpha (α) in SPSS. Very high internal reliability (α =0.95) was found in the PTSD subgroup, and very high internal reliability (α =0.96) in the CPTSD subgroup. This is strikingly similar to the findings of Wong et al (2017) whose α analysis revealed an α of 0.96 for very strong internal reliability. The first research question for this study can therefore be answered in the affirmative; the CBQ is a reliable measure of core beliefs in individuals endorsing PTSD/CPTSD symptomology.

4.2.4 Difference in negative core belief endorsement between all symptom profiles

The Kruskal-Wallis (K-W) test revealed a statistically significant difference between levels of PTSD/CPTSD/neither symptom endorsement and total CBQ score (H [2] =392.9, p<.001). The K-W test was also statistically significant between levels of ITQ symptom endorsement and individual CBQ items. Full K-W outcome data can be found in Table 4.3. This means that it can be said with confidence that PTSD presents with different levels of NCBs than CPTSD.

The findings of this analysis show that there is a statistically significant difference between the three subgroups. Participants in the CPTSD subgroup rated their belief in the CBQ items much more highly than those in the PTSD or neither subgroups. There was less of a difference between the neither and PTSD subgroups, but there remains a small increase in endorsement of CBQ items by those in the PTSD subgroup. This finding is true for the total CBQ score, as well as each individual item. Further analysis was conducted to determine the exact nature of the

differences in NCB endorsement between PTSD and CPTSD groups (see section $\boldsymbol{0}$

for this analysis).

Table 4.3. Full K-W outcome data

Group	H	Mean rank	<i>p</i>
CBQ total			-
Neither	392.9	871.9	<.001
PTSD	392.9	931.9	<.001
CPTSD	392.9	1,438.9	<.001
I am unlike	eable	,	
Neither	294.2	899.3	<.001
PTSD	294.2	967.7	<.001
CPTSD	294.2	1,383.6	<.001
I am foolis	h	,	
Neither	268.3	910.0	<.001
PTSD	268.3	955.9	<.001
CPTSD	268.3	1,283.6	<.001
I am inade	quate		
Neither	261.3	911.2	<.001
PTSD	261.3	963.3	<.001
CPTSD	261.3	1,365.9	<.001
I am inferi	or		
Neither	275.7	908.7	<.001
PTSD	275.7	948.8	<.001
CPTSD	275.7	1,374.4	<.001
I am unint	eresting		
Neither	175.3	947.0	<.001
PTSD	175.3	945.3	<.001
CPTSD	175.3	1,313.9	<.001
I am boring	g		
Neither	162.6	947.13	<.001
PTSD	162.6	947.2	<.001
CPTSD	162.6	1,304.8	<.001
I am dumb	/stupid		
Neither	307.5	895/9	<.001
PTSD	307.5	965.5	<.001
CPTSD	307.5	1,389.7	<.001
I am a wea	k person		
Neither	267.5	906.8	<.001
PTSD	267.5	975.8	<.001
CPTSD	267.5	1,368.9	<.001
I am incom	petent		
Neither	320.1	887.9	<.001
PTSD	320.1	988.5	<.001
CPTSD	320.1	1,396.3	<.001
I am unacc	eptable		
Neither	392.2	881.0	<.001
PTSD	392.2	907.5	<.001

Group	Н	Mean rank	р
CPTSD	392.2	1,432.0	<.001
I am not a v	vorthwhile	person	
Neither	302.5	900.4	<.001
PTSD	302.5	945.7	<.001
CPTSD	302.5	1,388.7	<.001
I am a weir	d person		
Neither	113.4	962.4	<.001
PTSD	113.4	1,022.4	<.001
CPTSD	113.5	1,265.0	<.001
I am odd/pe	eculiar		
Neither	130.1	954.0	<.001
PTSD	130.1	1,023.0	<.001
CPTSD	130.1	1,278.2	<.001
I am unimp	ortant		
Neither	276.8	910.2	<.001
PTSD	276.8	938.3	<.001
CPTSD	276.8	1,375.3	<.001
I am physic	ally unattr	active	
Neither	151.7	957.0	<.001
PTSD	151.7	947.7	<.001
CPTSD	151.7	1,297.2	<.001
I am inept			
Neither	355.2	885.5	<.001
PTSD	355.2	941.5	<.001
CPTSD	355.2	1,413.9	<.001
I am undest	irable		
Neither	214.1	924.0	<.001
PTSD	214.1	986.3	<.001
CPTSD	214.1	1,338.1	<.001
I am unlova	able		
Neither	328.5	892.2	<.001
PTSD	328.5	946.4	<.001
CPTSD	328.5	1,401.7	<.001
I am a failu	re		
Neither	315.6	896.7	<.001
PTSD	315.6	942.7	<.001
CPTSD	315.6	1,395.7	<.001
I am defecti	ive	,	
Neither	301.7	891.7	<.001
PTSD	301.7	1.000.1	<.001
CPTSD	301.7	1,385.5	<.001

4.2.5 Differences in negative core belief endorsement between paired symptom profiles

A series of independent samples t-tests were run to identify the relationships between subgroup endorsement and scores on CBQ items. Levene's test of equality of variances was significant in seven cases for the PTSD/CPTSD subgroup analysis (I am not a worthwhile person, I am a weird person, I am odd/peculiar, I am physically unattractive, I am undesirable, I am a failure, I am defective), and one case in the PTSD/neither analysis (I am unacceptable). Four tables are presented below: Table 4.4 shows the independent samples t test output for items indicating equality of variances in the PTSD/CPTSD analysis, and Table 4.5 shows the same output for items that did not indicate equality of variances in the PTSD/CPTSD analysis. Table 4.6 and

Table 4.7 show the same for the PTSD/neither analysis. Post-hoc analysis using Bonferroni transformation was performed. Bonferroni is a relatively conservative method of adjusting alpha levels when multiple statistical tests are being performed concurrently (Cabin, & Mitchell, 2000). This is necessary because multiple simultaneous statistical tests increases the risk of a type I error (that is, concluding that the result of the analysis is significant when in fact, it is not), and the Bonferroni transformation indicates what p value should be achieved in order for a result to be considered statistically significant (Armstrong, 2014). A new alpha level was obtained by dividing .05 by 17 for each of the items on the CBQ, to give .0029. This means that in order to be considered significant, t tests in this analysis must reach a p value of <.0025. Overall, there was a statistically significant difference between the PTSD and CPTSD groups on the mean scores for CBQ items.

items than those in the PTSD symptom group. None of the t test analyses were significant in the PTSD/neither subgroup analysis.

A series of t tests (Table 4.4 through to Table 4.9) were run to compare pairs of subgroups to each other. First, the PTSD and CPTSD subgroups were analysed (Table 4.4 and Table 4.5). It was revealed that participants in the PTSD subgroup scored significantly (p<.001) lower on each individual CBQ item and the CBQ as a whole than participants in the CPTSD subgroup. Cohen's d measure of effect size is also ≥ 0.4 for each analysis, indicating that the effect size is large and subgroup membership between PTSD and CPTSD has a significant impact on the level of NCBs endorsed.

Secondly, PTSD and non-symptom endorsing subgroups were compared (Table 4.6 and Table 4.7). No significant difference (p>.05) was found in NCB endorsement between PTSD and non-symptomatic subgroups, and Cohen's d effect size was ≤ 0.19 for all analyses. This means that group membership in this case had no significant impact on the level of NCBs endorsed, and any effect sizes were small to nil.

Finally, t tests between CPTSD and non-symptom endorsing subgroups were run (Table 4.8 and Table 4.9). The greatest difference between subgroup NCB endorsement was observed in this analysis. All t tests were statistically significant and produced Cohen's d effect sizes of ≥ 0.5 . This again indicates that subgroup membership has a significant impact on the level of NCBs endorsed.

CBQ item	Symptom	Mean	SD	t (df)	Cohen's d
	subgroup				
Unlikeable	PTSD	2.89	1.576	9.81 (963)	0.74
	CPTSD	4.03	1.528	9.81 (963)	0.74
Foolish	PTSD	2.87	1.527	9.71 (963)	0.77
	CPTSD	3.96	1.479	9.71 (963)	0.77
Inadequate	PTSD	2.87	1.520	9.51 (963)	0.73
	CPTSD	3.97	1.521	9.51 (963)	0.73
Inferior	PTSD	2.79	1.487	10.10 (963)	0.75
	CPTSD	3.94	1.521	10.10 (963)	0.75
Uninteresting	PTSD	2.92	1.525	8.65 (963)	0.65
	CPTSD	3.93	1.546	8.65 (963)	0.65
Boring	PTSD	3.08	1.645	7.57 (963)	0.57
	CPTSD	3.99	1.591	7.57 (963)	0.57
Dumb/stupid	PTSD	2.69	1.590	9.88 (963)	0.74
	CPTSD	3.85	1.555	9.88 (963)	0.74
Weak person	PTSD	2.89	1.567	9.31 (963)	0.71
	CPTSD	3.98	1.546	9.31 (963)	0.71
Incompetent	PTSD	2.77	1.484	9.73 (963)	0.74
	CPTSD	3.89	1.527	9.73 (963)	0.74
Unacceptable	PTSD	2.49	1.554	12.13 (963)	0.92
-	CPTSD	3.90	1.523	12.13 (963)	0.92
Unimportant	PTSD	2.87	1.596	10.49 (963)	0.80
-	CPTSD	4.09	1.525	10.49 (963)	0.80
Inept	PTSD	2.64	1.485	11.15 (963)	0.85
-	CPTSD	3.84	1.406	11.15 (963)	0.85
Unlovable	PTSD	2.77	1.521	11.01 (963)	0.83
	CPTSD	4.04	1.533	11.01 (963)	0.83
Total CBQ score	PTSD	58.44	23.387	12.49 (963)	0.93
	CPTSD	80.17	22.954	12.49 (963)	0.93

Table 4.4. NCB endorsement difference between PTSD and CPTSD independent t test output where equal variances is assumed

Bold=significant to the <.001 level

CBQ item	Symptom subgroup	Mean	SD	t(df)	Cohen's D
Not worthwhile	PTSD	2.78	1.619	10.40 (375.94)	0.79
	CPTSD	4.01	1.542	10.40 (375.94)	0.79
Weird	PTSD	3.59	1.678	5.68 (375.94)	0.43
	CPTSD	4.25	1.510	5.68 (375.94)	0.43
Odd/peculiar	PTSD	3.45	1.625	5.93 (375.94)	0.45
	CPTSD	4.13	1.498	5.93 (375.94)	0.45
Unattractive	PTSD	3.16	1.692	8.13 (375.94)	0.58
	CPTSD	4.14	1.585	8.13 (375.94)	0.58
Undesirable	PTSD	3.08	1.636	8.43 (375.94)	0.64
	CPTSD	4.07	1.516	8.43 (375.94)	0.64
Failure	PTSD	2.90	1.569	11.31 (375.94)	0.86
	CPTSD	4.18	1.467	11.41 (375.94)	0.86
Defective	PTSD	2.94	1.563	9.30 (375.94)	0.70
	CPTSD	3.98	1.472	9.30 (375.94)	0.70

Table 4.5. NCB endorsement difference between PTSD and CPTSD independent t test output where equal variances is not assumed

Bold=significant to the <.001 level

Table 4.6. NCB endorsement difference between PTSD and neither subgroups independent t test output where equal variances is assumed

CBQ item	Symptom	Mean	SD	t (df)	Cohen's D
	subgroup				
Unlikeable	Neither	2.69	1.542	1.97 (1408)	0.14
	PTSD	2.91	1.583	1.97 (1408)	0.14
Foolish	Neither	2.73	1.510	1.49 (1408)	0.11
	PTSD	2.89	1.539	1.49 (1408)	0.11
Inadequate	Neither	2.72	1.542	1.71 (1408)	0.12
	PTSD	2.91	1.534	1.71 (1408)	0.12
Inferior	Neither	2.69	1.491	1.18 (1408)	0.08
	PTSD	2.81	1.496	1.18 (1408)	0.08
Uninteresting	Neither	2.93	1.594	0.01 (1408)	0.00
	PTSD	2.93	1.530	0.01 (1408)	0.00
Boring	Neither	2.99	1.639	0.73 (1408)	0.05
	PTSD	3.08	1.652	0.73 (1408)	0.05
Dumb/stupid	Neither	2.49	1.512	1.89 (1408)	0.14
	PTSD	2.70	1.584	1.89 (1408)	0.14
Weak person	Neither	2.70	1.566	1.71 (1408)	0.12
	PTSD	2.89	1.559	1.71 (1408)	0.12
Incompetent	Neither	2.53	1.468	2.39 (1408)	0.17
	PTSD	2.78	1.475	2.39 (1408)	0.17
Not worthwhile	Neither	2.65	1.541	1.31 (1408)	0.10
	PTSD	2.80	1.630	1.31 (1408)	0.10
Weird	Neither	3.41	1.662	1.93 (1408)	0.14

CBQ item	Symptom subgroup	Mean	SD	t (df)	Cohen's D
	PTSD	3.64	1.681	1.93 (1408)	0.14
Odd/peculiar	Neither	3.24	1.617	2.30 (1408)	0.17
_	PTSD	3.51	1.636	2.30 (1408)	0.17
Unimportant	Neither	2.78	1.608	0.97 (1408)	0.07
	PTSD	2.89	1.598	0.97 (1408)	0.07
Unattractive	Neither	3.18	1.688	0.20 (1408)	0.01
	PTSD	3.20	1.703	0.20 (1408)	0.01
I am inept	Neither	2.48	1.403	1.72 (1408)	0.13
	PTSD	2.66	1.478	1.72 (1408)	0.13
Undesirable	Neither	2.90	1.646	1.86 (1408)	0.13
	PTSD	3.12	1.646	1.86 (1408)	0.13
Unlovable	Neither	2.63	1.554	1.43 (1408)	0.10
	PTSD	2.79	1.515	1.43 (1408)	0.10
Failure	Neither	2.77	1.649	1.45 (1408)	0.10
	PTSD	2.94	1.589	1.45 (1408)	0.10
Defective	Neither	2.64	1.549	2.81 (1408)	0.19
	PTSD	2.95	1.577	2.81 (1408)	0.19
Total CBQ score	Neither	55.57	24.737	1.91 (1408)	0.12
	PTSD	58.90	23.358	1.91 (1408)	0.12

Table 4.7. NCB endorsement difference between PTSD and neither subgroups independent t test output where equal variances is not assumed

CBQ item	Symptom subgroup	Mean	SD	t (df)	Cohen's D
Unacceptable	Neither	2.40	1.566	0.95 (518)	0.06
	PTSD	2.50	1.559	0.95 (518)	0.06

Table 4.8 NCB ende	orsement difference	between CPTSI	D and neither s	ubgroups indep	oendent t test o	utput where
equal variances are	e assumed					

CBQ item	Symptom subgroup	Mean	SD	t (df)	Cohen's D
Inferior	Neither	2.69	1.491	-17.722 (1,906)	0.83
	CPTSD	3.94	1.521	-17.722 (1,906)	0.83
Dumb/stupid	Neither	2.49	1.512	-18.908 (1,906)	0.89
	CPTSD	3.85	1.555	-18.908 (1,906)	0.89
Incompetent	Neither	2.53	1.468	-19.427 (1,906)	0.91
	CPTSD	3.89	1.527	-19.427 (1,906)	0.91
Unacceptable	Neither	2.40	1.419	-21.758 (1,906)	0.95
	CPTSD	3.90	1.523	-21.758 (1,906)	0.95

CBQ item Symptom Mean SD t (df) Cohen's D subgroup

Bold=significant to the <.001 level

Table 4.9 NCB endorsement difference between CPTSD and neither subgroups independent t test output where equal variances is not assumed

CBQ item	Symptom	Mean SD t (c		t (df)	Cohen's D		
	subgroup						
Unlikeable	Neither	2.69	1.542	-18.488 (1,906)	0.87		
	CPTSD	4.03	1.528	-18.488 (1,906)	0.87		
Foolish	Neither	2.73	1.510	-17.537 (1,906)	0.82		
	CPTSD	3.96	1.479	-17.537 (1,906)	0.82		
Inadequate	Neither	2.72	1.542	-17.271 (1,906)	0.81		
	CPTSD	3.97	1.521	-17.271 (1,906)	0.81		
Uninteresting	Neither	2.93	1.594	-13.588 (1,906)	0.64		
	CPTSD	3.93	1.546	-13.588 (1,906)	0.64		
Boring	Neither	2.99	1.639	-13.196 (1,906)	0.62		
	CPTSD	3.99	1.591	-13.196 (1,906)	0.62		
Weak person	Neither	2.70	1.566	-17.474 (1,906)	0.82		
	CPTSD	3.98	1.546	-17.474 (1,906)	0.82		
Not worthwhile	Neither	2.65	1.541	-18.702 (1,906)	0.88		
	CPTSD	4.01	1.542	-18.702 (1,906)	0.88		
Weird	Neither	3.41	1.662	- 11.426 (1,906)	0.53		
	CPTSD	4.25	1.510	-11.426 (1,906)	0.53		
Odd/peculiar	Neither	3.24	1.617	-12.216 (1,906)	0.57		
	CPTSD	4.13	1.498	-12.216 (1,906)	0.57		
Unimportant	Neither	2.78	1.608	-17.856 (1,906)	0.83		
	CPTSD	4.09	1.525	-17.856 (1,906)	0.83		
Unattractive	Neither	3.18	1.688	-12.669 (1,906)	0.59		
	CPTSD	4.14	1.585	-12.669 (1,906)	0.59		
I am inept	Neither	2.48	1.403	-20.455 (1,906)	0.96		
	CPTSD	3.84	1.406	-20.455 (1,906)	0.96		
Undesirable	Neither	2.90	1.646	- 15.796 (1,906)	0.73		
	CPTSD	4.07	1.516	-15.796 (1,906)	0.73		
Unlovable	Neither	2.63	1.554	-19.510 (1,906)	0.92		
	CPTSD	4.04	1.533	-19.510 (1,906)	0.92		
Failure	Neither	2.77	1.649	-19.427 (1,906)	0.89		
	CPTSD	4.18	1.467	- 19.427 (1,906)	0.89		
Defective	Neither	2.64	1.549	-18.981 (1,906)	0.88		
	CPTSD	3.98	1.472	-18.981 (1,906)	0.88		
Total CBQ score	Neither	55.57	24.737	-22.725 (1,906)	0.98		
	CPTSD	80.17	22.954	-22.725 (1,906)	0.98		

Bold=significant to the <.001 level

4.2.6 Core belief questionnaire items correlation with international trauma questionnaire items

Spearman's rank coefficient was run to measure correlation between scores on individual CBQ and ITQ items. All item correlations were significant the p=<.001 and ranged from weak to very strong correlation. Full list of values can be found in Table 4.10.

The symptom most significantly correlated with each CBQ item was either feelings of failure or feelings of worthlessness. These are the negative self-concept symptoms of CPTSD, so a high level of correlation is unsurprising. All items on the CBQ were significantly positively correlated with items on the ITQ. CBQ items tended to be more strongly correlated with DSO items than PTSD items. This indicated a higher level of endorsement of NCBs in participants with higher levels of DSO symptomology than those without. The finding that all CBQ items correlated most strongly with the negative self-concept symptom cluster was unexpected. Given the WHO definition of negative self-concept, it was anticipated that the CBQ items "I am a failure" and "I am worthless" would correlate most strongly with negative self-concept, but that other items may correlate most strongly with other symptom clusters. This finding may imply a conceptual overlap between negative self-concept and endorsement of NCBs.

These findings support an affirmative response to research question two for this study. Participants with CPTSD do score more highly on the CBQ than participants with PTSD or subclinical symptomology. Research question three for this study can be answered very generally. All NCBs are more highly endorsed by participants with CPTSD symptomology compared to participants with sub-clinical and PTSD symptomology.

	Unlikeable	Foolish	Inadequate	Inferior	Uninteresting	Boring	Dumb/stupid	Weak	Incompetent	Unacceptable	Weird	Odd	Unimportant	Inept	Undesirable	Unlovable	Defective
Nightmares	.28 ³	.26 ³	.29 ³	.26 ³	.21 ³	$.20^{3}$.28 ³	$.27^{3}$.30 ³	.33 ³	.19 ³	.19 ³	.27 ³	$.20^{3}$.31 ³	.25 ³	.29 ³
Flashbacks	.29 ³	.28 ³	.30 ³	.28 ³	.23 ³	.213	.28 ³	.28 ³	.30 ³	.32 ³	.22 ³	.22 ³	.30 ³	.22 ³	.31 ³	.26 ³	.31 ³
Internal avoidance	.30 ³	.29 ³	.30 ³	.29 ³	.26 ³	.23 ³	.29 ³	.29 ³	.31 ³	.32 ³	.213	.24 ³	.32 ³	.23 ³	.33 ³	.29 ³	.31 ³
External avoidance	.28 ³	$.27^{3}$.29 ³	.26 ³	.22 ³	.21 ³	.25 ³	.26 ³	.29 ³	.29 ³	.22 ³	.24 ³	$.27^{3}$.21 ³	.30 ³	$.27^{3}$.30 ³
Hypervigilance	.25 ³	.24 ³	.26 ³	.24 ³	.213	.18 ³	.24 ³	.24 ³	.26 ³	.29 ³	.213	.23 ³	.24 ³	.19 ³	.26 ³	.23 ³	$.27^{3}$
Startle	.29 ³	.26 ³	.29 ³	.29 ³	.22 ³	.23 ³	.30 ³	.30 ³	.31 ³	.33 ³	.19 ³	.22 ³	.28 ³	.18 ³	.32 ³	.23 ³	.28 ³
Hyperactivation	$.40^{3}$.38 ³	.39 ³	$.40^{3}$.35 ³	.31 ³	.38 ³	$.40^{2}$	$.40^{2}$	$.42^{2}$.34 ³	.34 ³	$.40^{2}$.35 ³	.40 ³	.38 ³	$.42^{2}$
Hypoactivation	$.44^{2}$.43 ²	$.44^{2}$.41 ²	.38 ³	.34 ³	.41 ²	.41 ²	.43 ²	$.47^{2}$.37 ³	.38 ³	.46 ²	.36 ³	.45 ³	.43 ²	$.47^{2}$
Failure	$.54^{2}$.51 ²	.58 ²	. 54 ²	.50 ²	.46 ²	.51 ²	.53 ²	. 54 ²	$.57^{2}$. 41 ²	.41 ²	$.59^{2}$.48 ²	$.55^{2}$	$.52^{2}$.65 ¹
Worthlessness	.55 ²	. 52 ²	.58 ²	. 54 ²	$.49^{2}$	$.45^{2}$.53 ²	. 54 ²	. 54 ²	.59 ²	$.40^{2}$. 42 ²	.60 ¹	.48 ²	.56 ²	. 54 ²	.63 ¹
Emotional distance	$.48^{2}$	$.44^{2}$	$.47^{2}$.43 ²	.43 ²	$.40^{2}$	$.42^{2}$	$.44^{2}$	$.45^{2}$	$.47^{2}$.40 ³	.38 ³	$.48^{2}$.39 ³	.46 ²	$.44^{2}$	$.48^{2}$
Emotional difficulty	.41 ²	.38 ³	.41 ²	.38 ³	.39 ³	.37 ³	.37 ³	.37 ³	.40 ²	.43 ²	.36 ³	.36 ³	.43 ²	.34 ³	.43 ²	.41 ²	.43 ²

Table 4.10. All significant and non-significant correlations between individual NCB and individual ITQ items

All values are significant to <.001.

Bold=most significant symptom correlation for each CBQ item

¹Strong effect size

²Moderate effect size

³Weak effect size

4.3 Summary

4.3.1 Key findings

Chapters three and four of this thesis described the methodology and results of an online survey study that looked to investigate the relationship between a measure of CPTSD and NCBs. There are significant differences and large effect sizes between the NCBs endorsed by the PTSD and CPTSD subgroups, as well as the CPTSD and non-symptomatic subgroup. There was no significant difference and small to nil effect sizes between NCBs endorsed by PTSD and non-symptomatic subgroups. This study showed positive correlations between both NCBs and overall CPTSD symptomology, as well as between NCBs and individual CPTSD symptoms.

4.3.2 Strengths and limitations

However, this work was limited by the available tools to assess CPTSD. At present, the only English language measures of CPTSD are self-report questionnaires, the ITQ (Cloitre et al., 2018) and the ITQ- children and adolescent version (ITQ-CA) (Cloitre et al., 2018; Haselgruber et al., 2020). However, despite being commonly used in the health sciences (Theofanidis, & Fountouki, 2018), selfreport questionnaires have significant flaws when applied to diagnosis or assessment of mental health conditions.

Self-report questionnaires have been known to yield unreliable results due to respondents misunderstanding items (Stone et al., 1999; Visted et al., 2017), purposeful over-reporting of positive affect (Myers, 2000), and the prevalence of missing data (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). Despite these methodological issues, self-report measures remain a vital tool for quick and easy assessment of mental health issues, particularly in research contexts where large sample sizes are required and logistical restraints prevent the use of a clinician-administered interview (Levis et al., 2019) and in clinical practice when efficient allocation of resources is paramount (Lakkis, & Mahmassani, 2015).

In the case of this study, the issue of missing data was dealt with by the survey software, which required responses to a minimum number of items, and discarded cases where participants withdrew from the study before completing all questionnaires. Participants were provided with instructions on how to complete the survey, and the surveys administered are validated measures, meaning that it has been previously shown that participants are reliably able to complete the surveys accurately and without misunderstanding survey items, and contact details for researchers were provided in case participants required clarification. The decision to use online survey methodology was also a pragmatic one. As discussed in 3.4.3, an in-person design would have ensured that participants completed all items without missing any and without misunderstanding, but this would have significantly increased the risk of social desirability bias. The logistical issues associated with an in-person design would also have been beyond the means of the study.

5 Study three: international trauma interview validation methodology

5.1 Introduction

5.1.1 Summary

This chapter details the research design, process of ethical approval, procedure, measures, and analyses employed during the validation of the international trauma interview (ITI) for diagnosis of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and complex PTSD (CPTSD). The background and rationale for this analysis can be found in chapter one, the results in chapter six, and the discussion in chapter seven. Also discussed in this chapter, the process of training the researcher in administration of the ITI and the characteristics of the sample recruited.

This study recruited 25 participants using a cross-sectional design, generating both qualitative and quantitative data through use of the ITI, international trauma questionnaire (ITQ), and a clinical utility survey. The participants were able to receive a letter detailing the outcomes of the interview and completed psychometrics relevant to their treatment. The data gathered were analysed and are reported in the next chapter.

5.1.2 Chapter aims

Due to issues of reliability and accuracy, diagnosis of mental health conditions cannot be achieved solely on the basis of self-report data (Levis et al., 2019). It is usually recommended that the self-report tool be used in conjunction with a complementary assessment method, typically a clinician administered interview (Sysko et al., 2015) but may also include sourcing information from family members (Stadnick et al., 2017), depending on the disorder of interest. In the case of CPTSD, speaking to family members may not uncover symptoms that are experienced internally by the client. A clinician-administered interview is consequently required to gain sufficient information to make a diagnostic judgement.

The ITI (Roberts et al., 2019) is one such interview. The ITI intends to diagnose CPTSD and PTSD accurately and reliably (see section 5.10.3 for full detail on the structure and development of the ITI). However, the ITI has not yet been validated in the English language. Validation is the process of showing that an assessment tool can reliably measure the presence of the disorder and return accurate estimates of symptom severity. This is a vital step that must be taken before the ITI can be used in research or clinical practice, and the present chapter aims to describe the method of a study to validate the ITI.

5.2 Research design

5.2.1 Cross-sectional design

This study used a cross-sectional observational design to gather data for analysis. The single time point is a design commonly used when validating mental health assessment tools (Finizia et al., 2012), including previously published validations of the ITI (Bondjers et al., 2019) and the related ITQ (Hyland et al., 2017; Murphy et al., 2020). The cross-sectional design has the benefit of low burden on participants, the reduced low need for time and resource investment (Wang, & Cheng, 2020), and matches the precedent set by Bondjers et al (2019), and Gelezelyte et al (2022).

5.2.2 Hybrid design

Finally, a hybrid design utilising online and in person participation options was considered. A solely in person study design was impossible due to pandemic restrictions, and an online only design would have unfairly excluded some

participants. Despite the fact that the application for ethical approval for this study was submitted while online research was the only option, the application detailed circumstances under which in person recruitment would take place. Namely, in the event that restrictions were lifted, and it was deemed safe for in person research to recommence. This approach allowed for the recruitment of online participants in the first instance, with the commencement of in person recruitment in the future.

The combined use of online and in person recruitment meant that no group of potential participants were excluded due to technological illiteracy or lack of facilities, and participants unable to travel to a recruitment site to meet could still take part. Additionally, this hybrid approach reflects the direction in which clinical practice appears to be moving, with may clinicians expressing desire for both in person and online treatment to be an option to maximise accessibility for all clients (Gentry et al., 2021). This design therefore has the added benefit of lending realism to this study.

5.2.3 Rejected study design

5.2.3.1 Longitudinal design

A longitudinal study was briefly considered for this study. The benefits to a longitudinal approach would have been the possibility to administer the ITI to participants on multiple instances to allow for the analysis of test-retest reliability (Aldridge et al., 2017). However, a pilot of a test-retest design conducted in the process of data collection for this thesis yielded unacceptable levels of attrition. High levels of attrition are common in test-retest studies and can result in the retest sample being more homogenous than the initial sample, with serious negative implications for the reliability of the data (Polit, 2014). It was determined that the poorer quality

data did not warrant the additional participant and researcher burden associated with a repeated interview.

5.2.3.2 In person only design

Development of this study began in March 2020, and initial plans were set for data collection to take place only in person. This is the standard procedure for validation of clinician-administered measures (Rivest-Beauregard et al., 2022; Weathers et al., 2018), and the intention was for this study to follow common research practice. Until the emergence of the Coronavirus pandemic, online or telehealth for mental health difficulties was spoken about in research as a possibility for the future but generally viewed as not the ideal (Grondin et al., 2019) and research focussed on concerns for the quality of the therapeutic relationship and ethical issues related to online clinical practice (Glueckauf et al., 2018; Norcross, & Wampold, 2019). Consequently, this study was intended to take place in person only.

However, during the planning phase of this study, the pandemic began. When clinical practice was forced to take place online, the plan for this study had to change rapidly. It would no longer be feasible to conduct this research in-person due to lockdown restrictions and health and safety measures to prevent the spread of the infection. Many psychological interventions were converted to online only formats (Tomaino et al., 2022), and many were suspended in order to maintain quality (Jurcik et al., 2021). This study was delayed due to ethics application backlogs and uncertainty around the course that the pandemic would take. It became evident that it would not be possible to conduct this research only in person, so an alternative had to be developed.

5.2.3.3 Online only design

Given the impossibility for an in person only study, the alternative that many research projects moved for was online only. The quality of evidence gained from online research has been shown to be of similar quality and content to that gathered in person (Woodyatt et al., 2016), achieve a better rate of response than traditional methods (Comer, 2021) and clinicians have reported a desire for videobased telehealth to be a standard in the future of their practice (Gentry et al., 2021). This indicates a shift in the practice of mental health research and practice to include online participation as an option.

The option of online participation was therefore considered for this study, though it did introduce a novel set of ethical issues (Lieggho & Caragata, 2020). For example, identifying secure and safe video call software (Fouqueray et al., 2023), keeping participants safe while discussing potentially distressing experiences, and the potential exclusion of participants who did not have access to a secure location and internet connection to join a video call (Konken & Howlett, 2022). During the early months of the pandemic, nearly all other researchers and clinicians were experiencing the same issues, so there emerged a wealth of information via peer discussion, debate forums, and opinion publications (Jurcik et al., 2021).

Through discussion with recruitment sites, access was gained to 'Attend Anywhere'. The National Health Service (NHS) approved this video call software, as it uses encryption to ensure security of information and uses password protection to prevent unauthorised parties from joining a call uninvited. In terms of keeping participants safe, advice was again taken from NHS clinicians at recruitment sites. All video calls were conducted during office hours, when it would be possible to

immediately report concerns to an NHS clinician, participants were reassured of the option to halt the interview with no penalty if they felt distressed, and the interviewer regularly checked in with the participant to ensure that they felt able to continue.

However, the issue remained of how to ensure equality of access to participate in this study. While carrying out interviews by video call would have expanded the potential sample to include those unable to leave their homes due to disability or childcare responsibilities (Afzalan & Muller, 2018), some concerns remained. Specifically, the accessibility of participation for those unable to conduct an hour-long confidential meeting at home, those without internet connection or computer access (Konken & Howlett, 2022), and those uncomfortable with online participation.

5.3 Research questions

The specific aim of this study was to investigate whether the ITI is a reliable and valid tool for assessing international classification of diseases version 11 (ICD-11) PTSD and CPTSD. The following research questions were considered in the design of this study:

- 1) What is the level of diagnostic concordance between the ITI and the ITQ?
- 2) Does the English version of the ITI produce internally reliable scores?
- 3) What are the views of clinicians regarding the clinical utility of the ITI?

5.4 Hypothesis

The testable hypothesis of this study was that the ITI would be a reliable and valid tool for assessing ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD. The basis of this hypothesis was the previous successful English language validation of the ITQ (Hyland et al., 2017; Murphy et al., 2020) upon which the ITI is based. Previous validations of the ITI in non-English languages have also found results that would support the above hypothesis (Bondjers et al., 2019; Gelezelyte et al., 2022).

5.5 Ethical considerations

5.5.1 Ethical approval

Ethical approval was sought and gained from the National Health Service (NHS) West of Scotland Research Ethics Service (WoSRES) through the online Integrated Research Application System portal. Approval was granted by the WoSRES on 23/03/2021 (ref: 21/WS/0027).

An amendment to extend the end date of the study from 31/03/2023 to 31/07/2023 was submitted to WoSRES on 08/12/2022 and approved on 15/12/2022. A further amendment to add a recruitment site was approved on 28/01/2023 by ENU ethics committee and 18/04/2023 by WoSRES.

5.5.2 Confidentiality and anonymity

Participants were informed during initial contact that their privacy would be respected at all times and were provided a privacy notice to read. No paper notes were taken, and no hard copies of data were retained for longer than the amount of time taken to digitize records. Participant names were not recorded alongside their responses; instead, a participant number was assigned to each individual and this number was used in analysis of data.

Confidentiality was broken in the case that participants mentioned intention or thoughts of harming themselves or others. In these cases, after ascertaining that the participant had protective factors and a safe plan for the remainder of the day, a member of the referring clinical team was informed and requested to follow up with the participant. These limits to confidentiality were discussed with the participants

before the beginning of the interview. This is in line with the British Psychological Society's Code of Human Research Ethics (Oates et al., 2021).

During the discussion chapter of this thesis, any names used to discuss individual participants are pseudonyms. This is also the case with any journal publications made as a result of data collected in this study.

5.5.3 Informed consent

Ensuring informed consent was of utmost importance in this study. Since participants were being recruited through a care provider, it was essential that they knew that they had no obligation to take part. To this end, a referring clinician already known to the participant contacted the individual to discuss the possibility of taking part in the study. This included discussing the content of the participant information sheet (PIS) (in appendix 9.15), privacy notice (in appendix 9.24), and consent form (in appendix 0), gaining verbal consent for the researcher to contact the client, and informing the potential participant that any issue discussed with the researcher would be confidential with the exception of the feedback letter detailing the outcome of the interview and questionnaires or if the participant disclosed any thoughts of harming themselves or others or other exceptions to BPS confidentiality guidelines. The individual's preferred contact details (either phone or email) were then forwarded to the researcher, who waited at least 48 hours to allow the participant to read the PIS and to consider their options in terms of participation. After the minimum 48-hour consideration time, the researcher contacted the individual via their preferred method of contact. Introductions were made and the opportunity was given for participants to ask questions about the study and participation.

If interest was expressed, the participant was asked if they would like to participate in the study. Further consideration time was allowed if this was necessary or desirable. Individuals who decided they did not wish to participate were thanked for their time, and the referring clinician was informed of the decision. Participants were informed that they were able to withdraw at any time with no repercussions.

5.5.4 Data storage and protection

Anonymised demographics, participant codes and interview/questionnaire data were stored and processed on a university laptop, on university drives. The laptop was password-protected, as was the folder the data sat within, and the laptop was kept in a locked drawer when not in use. This decision was made to be in line with university data management guidance. A data management plan was submitted to ENU governance and approved before ethical approval was submitted. These processes were designed to be in line with ENU research and data protection guidelines (Edinburgh Napier University, 2019) guidelines.

5.5.5 Safety considerations

All participants were in active mental health treatment at their time of participation and were therefore receiving psychological support. They were able to discuss their results from the study with their primary clinician to minimise misinterpretation of the research processes. If needed on the day of a participant being interviewed, further support from the clinical team at the referring clinic was available. In the provided debrief form (in appendix 9.26), participants were also instructed to contact their primary care provider (GP or therapist) if they felt increasingly distressed over the hours or days following their participation in the study. As participants were receiving treatment, clinicians were also encouraged to only refer participants they thought were emotionally stable enough to tolerate

participation. This did of course have implications for the generalisability of this study, given that the only participants referred were not acutely mentally unwell, the findings would not be representative of the most unwell population. However, this was an ethical concern that could not be waived in favour of realism or generalisability. It would have been ethically unacceptable to allow a person to participate if it was thought that they were too mentally unwell.

Re-traumatisation was a concern in this study, as part of the ITI did require discussion of traumatic experiences (Mailloux, 2014; Robins & Wilson 2015). In order to avoid this, the participant was informed that they could stop the interview at any time and continue at a later date or withdraw completely, and the researcher kept observational notes on the participants' emotional state, taking into account verbal tone, content of speech, and facial expressions in both online and in person interviews, and body language in in-person interviews. The interview was called to a halt if it was deemed that re-traumatisation was a risk. Research has shown that participation in a study such as this can even support recovery for people with CPTSD (Matheson, & Weightman, 2021), provided trauma-informed practice is employed to avoid re-traumatisation (Ames, & Loebach, 2023).

5.6 Study setting

In total, three sites were included in this study. The two original sites were the Rivers Centre in NHS Lothian and the Glasgow Psychological Trauma Service in NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde (Anchor Centre). Both centres provide one-to-one therapeutic support and group psychoeducation courses for individuals seeking treatment for trauma-related mental difficulties in their respective cities.

Veterans First Point (V1P) was added to the list of recruitment sites in April 2023 to supplement recruitment from the above sites. V1P is an NHS-run support service for ex-military personnel in Lothian. V1P offers individual therapy, group support and psychoeducation groups, and peer support.

5.7 Standardisation and training

5.7.1 Administration training

The researcher was trained in the administration of the ITI by one of the developers of the interview (NR) over a two-day period. This training involved an explanation of the questions, examples of how the items should be administered, and an opportunity to score a sample interview. A scoring calibration exercise was carried out twice to ensure that items would not be artificially inflated or underscored by the researcher.

The importance of ensuring trauma-relatedness of each symptom was stressed during this training. Many people may meet one or two criteria for PTSD or CPTSD, but it is important to ensure that the symptoms being described were caused or worsened by a traumatic experience for an accurate diagnosis to be made.

5.7.2 Interview supervision

A random sample of three interviews were recorded, transcribed, and sent to NR for secondary scoring. NR left comments on the transcription with recommendations for interview technique and how each item should be scored. NR's judgements were reviewed by the researcher, and the advice was taken into account and applied at all subsequent interviews.

5.8 Participants

5.8.1 Recruitment

Recruitment of the clinical sample was through the three NHS mental health treatment centres described in section 5.6. Clinicians working at the treatment centres were asked to identify clients from treatment waiting lists who might benefit from additional PTSD/CPTSD assessment. These clients were contacted by the NHS clinician, informed about the study, and sent a copy of the participant information sheet (PIS), privacy notice, and consent form. Procedure following initial recruitment can be found in 5.11.

5.8.2 Sampling

The sample was taken from a clinical population of treatment-seeking individuals in South-East Scotland. A clinical sample was necessary since the practical application of the ITI will be with individuals seeking treatment for traumarelated disorders. This means that a non-clinical sample would be unnecessary and inappropriate. The findings of this study may be tentatively generalised to the wider UK, but a nationally representative sample should be recruited for further research. CPTSD is also a relatively uncommon disorder in the non-traumatised population, so a validation of the ITI in a non-traumatised sample would likely not yield enough participants meeting CPTSD criteria. Data were collected from this sample using the measures detailed in 5.10 and analysed in the manner described in 5.12.2.

A cross-section of qualitative data was also collected from referring clinicians to understand the utility of the ITI. The details of qualitative clinical utility data collection can be found in section 5.12.4. Participants were recruited through NHS trauma treatment centres to ensure that appropriate care was in place during the recruitment period.

5.8.3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

5.8.3.1 Clinical sample inclusion criteria

Patients were eligible for inclusion of they were referred from one of the recruiting mental health centres, had a history of exposure to at least one traumatic life event, were able to give informed consent to be involved in the study and were able to fluently communicate in English. Clinical sample exclusion criteria included those without a history of exposure to at least one traumatic life event, those unable to give fully informed consent, or who were unable to speak and understand English. Those likely to be unable to emotionally cope with the requirements of the interview were also excluded

The inclusion and exclusion criteria for the clinical sample were selected in order to facilitate the efficient completion of the study and in order to ensure the continued welfare of the participants. Participants were required to be referred by one of the health centres involved in the study to ensure that they were receiving suitable clinical support, and to verify their traumatic history. History of exposure to at least one traumatic event was necessary for participation in this study as the existence of an index event is necessary to meet the criteria for PTSD or CPTSD.

The requirement that the participants be able to give their own informed consent was included as an ethical requirement. Finally, fluent communication in English was necessary because the English version of the ITI is the version being validated in this study and the additional variable of administering the ITI in any other language would be an unacceptable limitation to this study.

5.8.3.2 Researcher and clinician inclusion criteria

Invitations to contribute qualitative data on clinical utility were extended to researchers who have used the ITI in an empirical study and clinicians referring participants to the present study.

5.9 Participant characteristics

Twenty-eight participants were recruited to the study, of which three did not complete their participation or requested for their data to be removed after participation, leaving 25 cases for analysis. Incomplete data was rare in this sample, four participants missed either one or two items on the questionnaires, but all of these were within the range of acceptable missingness. All interviewed participants fully completed the interview portion of the study. Two participants declined to return their questionnaires, and so were treated as withdrawal cases. Withdrawing participants were debriefed and informed that their data were being destroyed. This represents a 10.7% attrition rate. The majority of participants were female (84%, n=21), and the largest age group was 36-45 (28%, n=7). Full participant characteristics can be found in Table 5.1.

5.10 Measures

5.10.1 International trauma exposure measure

Participants' exposure to traumatic events was assessed using the international trauma exposure measure (ITEM) (Hyland et al., 2021). The ITEM lists 21 experiences understood to fulfil the criteria required to qualify as a traumatic experience, as well as a 22nd option wherein the respondent is invited to detail any experiences they feel may be the cause of post-traumatic stress but were not specifically listed. For full detail on the ITEM, see section 3.8.1. The ITEM was

used in this chapter to determine whether participant met inclusion criterion of

lifetime exposure to traumatic event.

	Percent (n)					
Gender						
Female	84% (21)					
Male	12% (3)					
Nonbinary or other	4% (1)					
Age						
18-25	16% (4)					
26-35	24% (6)					
36-45	28% (7)					
46-55	20% (5)					
56-65	12% (3)					
Ethnicity						
Scottish	44% (11)					
British	44% (11)					
African	4% (1)					
Berber Algerian	4% (1)					
Not disclosed	4% (1)					

Table 5.1. Sample demographics

5.10.2 International trauma questionnaire

The ITQ (Cloitre et al., 2021) is a 12-item self-report measure which uses a 5-point Likert scale to assess PTSD and DSO symptoms with the view to return a diagnosis of either PTSD, CPTSD, or non-clinical levels of symptoms. The ITQ was designed to be administered in clinical settings where it is desirable for client burden to be minimised. To this end, the ITQ follows ICD-11 guidelines in terms of simplicity, ease of use in both clinical and research settings, and maximisation of international applicability (Cloitre et al., 2018). Full description of the ITQ and item list can be found in 3.8.3.

The ITQ was used as an external criterion against which the individuals' responses to the ITI were compared. The ITI was developed subsequent to the ITQ,

using similar theory and research so it is reasonable to expect that the two measures are likely to give similar results when administered to the same client.

Because the ITQ was developed a few years before the ITI, a body of work validating the ITQ already exists. An initial Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) was carried out by Cloitre et al (2018) with results in line with expectations based on previous research. Since the release of the ITQ into the public domain, translated versions have been validated in Chinese (Ho et al., 2019), Lebanese (Vallières et al., 2018), and Brazilian Portuguese (Donat et al., 2019). Each study yielded positive results and provided evidence in support of the validity and reliability of the ITQ.

Redican et al (2021) carried out a systematic review of validation studies of the ITQ. Thirty-two studies found one of two possibilities for the latent structure of the ITQ. One latent structure being a correlated six-factor model, with each symptom of PTSD and CPTSD being represented by one factor, or a two-factor second order model of PTSD symptoms and DSO symptoms. The main findings of this study are in support of the conceptual distinction between PTSD and CPTSD and the use of the ITQ as a reliable and valid measure of both. The ITQ is therefore a very good fit for use as a comparator in this study.

The studies included in Redican et al., (2021) recruited a variety of samples including in a general clinical population (Cloitre et al., 2018), a sample of treatment-seeking military veterans (Murphy et al., 2020) and a sample of children living in foster care (Haselgruber et al., 2020). The presence of studies confirming the reliability and validity of the ITQ indicated that the measure routinely provides accurate and useful results and is therefore a good fit for use in this study as a measure of diagnostic concordance.

5.10.3 International trauma interview

The ITI (Roberts et al., 2019) is a semi-structured interview protocol designed to diagnose ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD. The ITI was designed following the success of the ITQ and as such, follows a similar structure. As with the ITQ, the ITI comprises two sections; the first part uses six items to measure symptom clusters relating to PTSD, and the second containing six items to assess DSO symptoms. Each symptom has two items, with each item having scripted follow-up questions such as "Can you tell me more about that?" and "How strong are these feelings?". Functional impairment is also scored on a 5-point scale from zero (no adverse impact) to four (extreme, little or no functioning).

The clinician administering the interview is instructed to determine whether the symptoms described by the client represent a severe and persistent pattern of problems. This is assessed on a scale from 0 (Not at all) to 4 (extremely). Both parts of the interview contain two additional items pertaining to the functional impairment resulting from the symptoms experienced by the individual.

The overall scores from the ITI give an indication of the presence and severity of symptoms as they are experienced by the client. Both sections have an overall maximum score of 48, and the maximum possible score for each symptom cluster is eight. Moderate severity in terms of symptom is said to be indicated by a score of ≥ 2 . In order to receive a diagnosis of PTSD, the client must score moderately on at least one item from each symptom cluster, as well as registering moderate functional impairment. Similarly, a diagnosis of CPTSD is defined as moderate presence of at least one item from each cluster, as well as functional impairment attributed to both PTSD and DSO symptoms. The symptoms must also be clearly related to the traumatic event and have been present for at least 3 months.
Trauma relatedness is assessed by the clinician administering the ITI. The client is asked whether the symptom began or got worse in the time following the traumatic experience, or if they believe that the symptom is trauma related. The clinician lists each symptom as "definite" if the symptom and be clearly attributed to the event, "probable" if the link is probable but not definitive, and "unlikely" if it is believed that the symptom is caused by a factor other than the index event.

Presently, only two studies exist on the validation of the ITI, carried out by Bondjers et al., (2019) and Gelezelyte et al., (2022). The Bondjers et al., (2019) validated the Swedish version of the ITI using a sample of 184 participants recruited via volunteer sampling from advertisements in local media and flyers at primary and psychiatric care facilities. Analysis revealed moderate inter-rater agreement (Krippendorff α = .76), as well as evidence in support of internal reliability for both PTSD (α =.86) and DSO (α =.89).

Gelezelyte et al., (2022) recruited a Lithuanian sample of 103 traumaexposed adults via social media, online groups of healthcare associations, and email lists of mental healthcare providers. Their analysis revealed 18% of the sample fulfilled criteria for PTSD and 21% for CPTSD. They discovered moderate agreement between the ITI and the ITQ for both CPTSD ($\kappa = .38$) and DSO criteria ($\kappa = .33$), but poor agreement for PTSD ($\kappa = -.08$) criteria if CTPSD cases were excluded.

Table 5.2. Items on the ITI and the symptom clusters represented

Item	Symptom
In the past month, have you had any upsetting dreams that replay part of (EVENT) or are clearly related to (EVENT)?	Re-experiencing
In the past month, have there been times when powerful images or memories have come into your mind in which you felt as though the event was happening again in the here and now, while you were awake?	Re-experiencing
In the past month, have you tried to avoid thoughts or feelings about (EVENT)?	Avoidance
In the past month, have you tried to avoid things that remind you of (EVENT), like certain people, places, or situations?	Avoidance
In the past month, have you been especially alert or watchful, even when there was no specific threat or danger? In the past month, have you had any strong startle reactions? In the past month, have these (PTSD SYMPTOMS) affected your relationships with other people and your social life? By social life we mean your ability to enjoy social events with	Hypervigilance Hypervigilance Impairment in social functioning
other people, feel comfortable in a group of people, engage in	
Are you working now?	Occupational impairment
When you are upset how easy is it for you to calm down?	Affect dysregulation
Do you often feel emotionally numb or shut down?	Affect dysregulation
Do you feel like a failure?	Negative self-image
Do you feel worthless or inferior compared to other people?	Negative self-image
Do you feel distant or cut off from other people much of the time?	Interpersonal difficulties
Do you have any close relationships?	Interpersonal difficulties
In the past month, have these problems in emotions, in	Impairment in social
beliefs about yourself and in relationships affected your social life?	functioning

Item	Symptom
Are you working now?	Occupational
	Impairment

Table 5.3. Questions asked to clinicians and researchers and the aspect of clinical utility represented

Item	Aspect of Clinical utility
How easy do you feel it was to apply the interview to this individual?	Ease of Application
How useful do you feel the interview would be for communicating information about this individual with other	Professional
mental health professionals?	Communication
How useful do you feel this interview would be for communicating information about the individual to	Client Communication
themselves?	
How useful is this interview for comprehensively describing all the important PTSD/CPTSD-related problems	Comprehensive of
the individual has?	Difficulties
How useful would this interview be for helping you to formulate an effective intervention for this individual?	Treatment Planning
How useful was this interview for describing the individual's global mental health?	Global Mental Health
	Utility

5.10.4 Clinical utility

Clinical utility was assessed through statements from therapists using the results from the ITI. There is currently no widely accepted empirical measure of clinical utility that is suitable for this application, so a series of questions were adapted from First et al., (2004).

First et al., (2004) proposed that clinical utility could be operationalised by; 1) the ease of application of a tool, 2) the level to which the tool facilitates communication with other professionals, 3) the level to which the tool facilitates communication with the client, 4) the level to which the tool provides a comprehensive overview of the client's difficulties, 5) the tool's utility in facilitating treatment planning, and 6) the ability of the tool to describe the client's global mental health. Clinicians and researchers were asked to respond to each question either positively or negatively and then provide a reasoning for their answer. A list of the adapted items and the facet of clinical utility they measure can be found in table 5.3.

The survey questions provide structure to facilitate discussion between clinicians, and the researcher for this study was able to ask follow-up questions to clarify or probe further. The survey also facilitates the suggestion of improvements to the ITI by encouraging clinicians to reflect on their experience of using the interview protocol.

5.11 Procedure

5.11.1 Administration schedule

Those agreeing to participation were sent a participant pack to complete at home and invited to attend a meeting with the researcher via Attend Anywhere

(access provided by NHS Anchor Trauma Centre) or face-to-face at a recruitment site. The participant pack contained all measures listed in section 5.10 (excluding the clinical utility measure). The meeting was arranged to take place at a time convenient to the participant. During this meeting, a copy of the completed consent form was collected, the ITI was administered and responses to the self-report measures were recorded.

After the ITI was completed, participants were thanked for their time, given the debrief sheet, and asked if they had any further questions. Participants were verbally informed that the referring clinician would be sent a written summary of the results of their interview to be incorporated into their onward care pathway, and that they could expect the results at the time of their next meeting with the clinician. Participants were also informed of this written summary by the referring clinician, by the researcher in the pre-interview contact with the participant, again at the meeting with the participant before commencing the interview, and in the debrief form that was given to each participant after participation. The fact that the interview and questionnaire outcomes would be shared with their referring clinician was vital to acquiring informed consent.

Participants' responses to questionnaires were entered into a digital data log as soon as reasonably possible after the conclusion of the assessment. This was to ensure both the participants' confidentiality and the security of the responses. Any hard copy completed psychometrics or consent forms were digitised and stored on university laptop in a password protected folder, as detailed in the data management plan, and then hard copies were destroyed. The data collected from all participants were collated into an SPSS spreadsheet and analysed in the manner detailed in section 5.12.

5.11.2 Clinician participants procedure

A group of clinicians and researchers with experience administering or working with the results of the ITI were recruited to collect data on the clinical utility of the ITI. Groups of referring clinicians were contacted to ask if they would like to give their opinions and an email was sent with the questions listed in Table 5.3. Any responding clinician was thanked for their responses and any necessary clarifying questions were asked. Thematic analysis (TA) was then conducted as outlined in 5.12.4.

5.12 Data analysis

5.12.1 Descriptive statistics

Age, gender, and ethnicity distribution of the sample were reported. Prevalence of interpersonal vs non-interpersonal traumas and mean number of traumas were also calculated. Outcomes of this analysis can be found in Table 5.1.

5.12.2 Concurrent validity

Average inter-item correlation and agreement on diagnostic outcome between the ITI and ITQ was used to measure internal reliability. This process involved matching the items on the ITI and the ITQ, measuring the correlation between paired items, and a second analysis measuring the correlation between total ITI and ITQ score. In the initial ethics application, a goal of 200 participants was set based on observation of sample sizes of between 136 and 423 being recruited by other similar studies (Bondjers et al., 2019; Haselgruber et al., 2019; Ho et al., 2019). Once it became clear that this goal was not reasonably achievable in the timeframe of this PhD, G*Power (Faul et al., 2007; Faul et al., 2009) was used to determine the minimum sample size requirements for the planned analysis. It was found that a minimum of 44 participants was needed in order to achieve an effect size of 0.5 and

an alpha (α) of ≤ 0.05 . An α of ≤ 0.05 was necessary to indicate statistical significance, and an effect size of 0.5 was necessary to indicate a correlation level of at least moderate size (Faul et al., 2007; Faul et al., 2009).

The degree of concordance between the paired ITI and the ITQ items was measured using Pearson's Correlation (r) (see Table 5.4 for strength of association thresholds). Pearson's r was chosen due to its robust nature and ability to work with smaller sample sizes with appropriate bootstrapping (Bishara, & Hittner, 2012). Pearson's r is expressed as a decimal where a ranking of 1 is perfect agreement, 0 is representative of complete independence (neither agreement nor disagreement) and (-1) is perfect disagreement. The thresholds listed in Table 5.4 are set based on Akoglu, (2018).

Table 5.4. r threshold

	Pearson's correlation (r)					
Strength of association	Positive correlation	Negative correlation				
Null	0	0				
Weak	0.1 to 0.3	-0.1 to -0.3				
Moderate	0.4 to 0.6	-0.4 to -0.6				
Strong	0.7 to 0.9	-0.7 to -0.9				
Perfect	1	-1				

5.12.3 Internal reliability

The ITI uses two items to measure each symptom in PTSD and CPTSD. In order to ensure that both items for each symptom are measuring the same concept, a split-half analysis was conducted. This involved measuring the correlation between each pair of items (i.e., correlation between both avoidance items, both negative selfconcept items etc) using r (Demirci et al., 2014; Robinson, & Post, 1995). Cronbach's Alpha is also used to assess overall internal reliability, as used in previous reliability studies of the ITI (Gelezelyte et al., 2022) and according to acceptability values and interpretations recommended by Bland, and Altman (1997) and Tavakol, and Dennick (2011) (see Table 5.5 for these values).

Table 5.5. a thresholds

Internal reliability	α
Poor	≤0.69
Acceptable	0.70-0.89
Very high	≥0.90

5.12.4 Clinical utility

Qualitative data collected for the analysis of clinical utility were analysed using thematic analysis (TA). The approach outlined in Willig and Rogers (2017), adapted from Braun, and Clarke, (2012) was used. This involves the following phases: familiarisation and encoding, theme development, review and define themes, and produce the report. Willig and Rogers (2017) do suggest 50 qualitative surveys as an appropriate number for TA in this manner, but since multiple participants were referred by a smaller number of clinicians, this would not be possible.

Both survey responses were read through thoroughly to create familiarisation and understand the content and intention of the responses. Statements were coded in nVivo to represent common statements between both responses, as well as unusual or outlying comments and comments that may contribute towards the answering of the research question about the clinical utility of the ITI. After coding, the intention was to organise codes into themes. However, due to the very small sample size and short responses, it was determined that there were not enough codes to support development of themes. Thematic analysis was therefore terminated at this stage and the results were written based on codes alone.

TA was therefore conducted with the maximum number of clinicians possible with the understanding that this information is to supplement the findings of the main ITI validation study and to assess the feasibility of the use of ITI outcomes in clinical work, rather than a standalone analysis. A table with codes emerging from this analysis can be found in Table 6.7.

6 Study three: international trauma interview validation results

6.1 Introduction

6.1.1 Summary

The second study in this thesis (chapters five and six) aimed to assess the reliability and validity of the English-language version of the International Trauma Interview (ITI). Study two found that the correlation between NCBs and endorsement of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) or complex PTSD (CPTSD) symptoms would be more accurately ascertained, if it was possible to use a clinician-administered tool to diagnose CPTSD and PTSD rather than using a self-report questionnaire. There is also a general need in research and clinical practice for an English-language clinical interview protocol for diagnosing PTSD and CPTSD, since this is the gold standard for diagnosis (Sysko et al., 2015) that is presently unavailable for international classification of diseases version 11 (ICD-11) PTSD and CPTSD.

This chapter details the results of the ITI validation study. a description of the types of trauma experienced by participants is first presented, followed by the findings in relation to concurrent validity, internal reliability, and clinical utility. Finally, a narrative interpretation and discussion of the strengths and limitations of the results is presented. The aim of this study was to investigate whether the ITI is a reliable and valid tool for assessing ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD.

6.2 Participants

In terms of trauma experience, every participant reported polytraumatisation. There was a mean of 4.56 traumatic events experienced during childhood, and only one participant reported no traumatic events in their childhood. Participants experienced a mean of eight interpersonal traumas (e.g., abuse by another person, threatened by another person) and two non-interpersonal traumas (e.g., natural disaster, experience of a life-threatening illness). See Table 6.1 for data on traumatic experiences throughout life stages and interpersonal vs noninterpersonal trauma.

Each participant participating in the study was administered the ITI, and as such was given a preliminary diagnosis of PTSD (7.1%, n=2), CPTSD (78%, n=22), or clinically non-significant symptoms (4%, n=1). These results are similar to previous research completed with comparable treatment-seeking clinical samples (Cloitre et al., 2018). For detailed comparison of international trauma questionnaire (ITQ) and ITI outcome data, see Table 6.2.

Table 6.1. Mean number of traumatic experiences by life stage and type of trauma percent of participants who did not experience a traumatic event at each life stage or type of trauma

	Mean (SD)	Range	Percent not experienced (n)
Childhood	4.56 (3.01)	0-11	4% (1)
Adolescence	5.80 (3.53)	0-15	8% (2)
Adulthood	5.96 (3.81)	1-14	0% (0)
Lifetime total	16.32 (7.58)	5-35	0% (0)
Interpersonal	8.12 (2.78)	3-15	0% (0)
Non-interpersonal	1.84 (1.46)	0-6	20% (5)

Table 6.2. diagnostic agreement between ITI and ITQ.

	CPTSD %(n)	PTSD %(n)	Subclinical %(n)
ITI	88% (22)	8% (2)	4% (1)
ITQ	76% (19)	20% (5)	4% (1)

6.3 Reliability and validity of international trauma interview

6.3.1 Concurrent validity

Concurrent validity was assessed in comparison to the ITQ, a measure of

PTSD and CPTSD which has previously been validated in the population used in this

study. Each participant's outcome (coded as PTSD, CPTSD, or subclinical) from the ITQ ad ITI were assessed for correlation using Pearson's correlation (r). There was a moderately positive significant relationship (r=.469, p=.018) between diagnostic decision from the ITI and the ITQ. This indicates moderate agreement between the ITQ and ITI, dropping to poor, non-significant correlation when looking at agreement on PTSD diagnosis or CPTSD diagnosis (full detail in Table 6.3).

Participant scores on individual ITQ and ITI were also measured for correlation using *r*. Outcomes from this analysis arranged by symptom cluster can be found in Table 6.4 and Table 6.5. This study found moderate to strong correlations between symptom measurement on the ITI and ITQ for nightmares, re-experiencing, PTSD functional impairment, worthlessness, feelings of being cut off from others, emotional distance from others, and impairment in occupational functioning. The positive, significant and non-significant concurrent validity results found in this study suggest that the English version of the ITI and ITQ have moderate to poor agreement, and further research is required to assess the causes of this finding. Research question one "What is the level of diagnostic concordance between the ITI and the ITQ?" can be answered as moderate to poor.

Table 6.3. Correlations	s between ITQ	and ITI	outcomes
-------------------------	---------------	---------	----------

	ITQ outcome	ITQ PTSD diagnosis	ITQ CPTSD diagnosis
ITI outcome	.469 ¹		
ITI PTSD diagnosis		.102	
ITI CPTSD diagnosis			.266

¹Significant to 0.05 level

	Re-experiencing		Avoidance		Perception of he current threat	rightened	Functional impairment		
	Nightmares	Flashbacks	Internal	External	Hypervigilance	Startle response	Social	Work	
Re-experiencing	8								
Nightmares	$.62^{3}$								
Flashbacks		.451							
Avoidance									
Internal			.24						
External				.34					
Perception of h	eightened curre	nt threat							
Hypervigilance					.07				
Startle response						.02			
Functional imp	airment								
Social							$.48^{1}$		
Work								.67 ³	
Other important								.65 ³	
part of life									

Table 6.4. Correlations between PTSD symptom scores on ITQ and ITI

¹Significant to 0.05 level

²Significant to 0.01 level

³Significant to 0.001 level

		ITQ items							
		Affect dysregulation		Negative self-concept		Disturbed relationships		Functional impairmen	! t
		Hyperactivation	Hypoactivation	Failure	Worthlessness	Cut off	Distanced	Social	Work
	Affect dysregulation								
	Hyperactivation	.28							
	Hypoactivation		.12						
	Negative self-concept								
	Failure			.34					
IS	Worthlessness				$.55^{2}$				
ten	Disturbed relationships								
Π	Cut off					.63 ³			
LI	Distanced						$.67^{3}$		
	Functional impairment								
	Social							.20	
	Work								.39
	Other important part of								.53 ²
	life								

Table 6.5. Correlations between CPTSD symptom scores on ITQ and ITI

¹Significant to 0.05 level

²Significant to 0.01 level

³Significant to 0.001 level

6.3.2 Internal reliability

Overall, the agreement between paired items is low to moderate, with only a few pairs being significantly correlated. The Cronbach's alpha (α) for ITI responses was 0.89, indicating acceptable internal reliability. Individual inter-item correlations produced null to moderate correlations, with few significant correlations. The strongest, most significant correlations were between (1) feelings of failure and feelings of worthlessness and (2) feeling cut off from others and emotional distance from others. These findings indicate that the items measuring the symptom clusters negative self-concept and difficulties in relationships present with high internal consistency. Other item pairs in the ITI did not correlate with each other, meaning that further research is needed to verify these findings and refine the administration of these items to improve correlation between item pairs.

The exception here is the items used to measure the emotional dysregulation symptom cluster. The two items used to measure emotional dysregulation assess opposite responses (i.e., hyperactivation and hypoactivation) so it is anticipated that these could be potentially negatively or non-significantly correlated for some. This was indeed the findings of study three; hyperactivation and hypoactivation were weakly negatively correlated.

Of interest, both items used to measure difficulties in relationships were moderately significantly correlated with nearly all other items in the DSO section of the ITI, with the exclusion of the emotional hyperactivation item. This may indicate that difficulties in relationships is a predictor of other symptoms in CPTSD, although further research is required to corroborate these findings.

Table 6.6. ITI inter-item correlations

	Nightmares	Flashbacks	Internal	External	Hypervigilance	Startle response	Hyperactivation	Hypoactivation	Failure	Worthlessness	Cut off
Flashbacks	.18	01									
	.25	01	10								
External	.49	.18	.18								
Hypervigilance	.411	.28	.33	.13							
Startle response	05	11	.06	.01	.39						
Hyperactivation	02	.20	.12	08	$.42^{1}$	$.45^{1}$					
Hypoactivation	.20	.08	05	.27	.21	.15	02				
Failure	$.46^{1}$	·16	.32	.27	$.46^{1}$.14	.22	.39			
Worthlessness	.62 ³	.06	.32	.30	$.55^{2}$.06	.16	.31	.92 ³		
Cut off	.39	.26	.26	.19	$.48^{2}$.32	.34	.43 ¹	$.56^{2}$	$.59^{2}$	
Emotional	.36	.17	.16	.24	.29	.11	.38	.46 ¹	.45 ¹	.51 ²	.79 ³
distance											

¹Significant to 0.05 level

²Significant to 0.01 level

³Significant to 0.001 level

Table 6.7	TA of	clinician	survey	responses
-----------	-------	-----------	--------	-----------

Code (frequency)	Example
Useful in goal setting	"People may be able to use the results to guide their
(3)	choices of clinical goals" - Clinician 2
Supplementary to	"Somewhat helpful as part of other strands of
further clinical	information." - Clinician 2
assessment (4)	
	"Suitable additional information in routine letters or
	updates to other involved parties" – Clinician 1
Validating to	" the results were particularly validating for one
participant (3)	participant I was working with" - Clinician 1
	"I leaful in validating their perspective subjectively"
	Clinician 2
Aspects of mental	"There are many factors that could influence global
health not covered in	mental health that are not covered as [sic] additional
ITI (2)	stressors, protective factors, supportive structures etc."
111(4)	Clinician 2
	Chinician 2

6.4 Clinical Utility

Survey responses from two clinicians were collected and analysed using thematic analysis (TA). Codes with frequencies and examples can be found in table 6.7. Seven clinicians were approached for survey responses, though only two responded. It is unclear as to why this was, since none of the other clinicians responded to email contact. It is possible that the workload experienced by clinicians referring to this study was too great, and the time to complete the questions was not available. In-person or phone contact with the clinician may have resulted in better response rates, but this was not possible due to time constraints, and the fact that this method of contact was not permitted by the ethics application.

TA with only two responses is difficult, as common themes are expected but may not be as meaningful as themes would be if found in a larger sample of comments. For the purposes of this study, the TA has been performed and will be discussed with a view to direct possible areas of future research.

Four codes were identified in the Thematic Analysis (TA) of two statements taken from clinicians who used the results of the ITI in their work with clients. The vast majority of this feedback was positive. Utility in setting treatment goals was mentioned three times, with clinicians being able to use the areas of higher scoring to speak to their clients about specific areas of difficulty that may be useful targets in therapeutic intervention. Use of the ITI as supplemental to additional clinical assessment was mentioned four times, as clinicians used their own judgement and outputs from self-report and standard intake assessments in conjunction with the ITI results to formulate the needs of their clients. Validation of subjective experience for the client was mentioned three times, giving confidence to participants that they understood the symptom structure of CPTSD and how their symptoms fit into the

clusters. This was useful for participants in gaining confidence to voice their feelings in therapy and take an active role in their recovery.

6.5 Summary

6.5.1 Key findings

In all, the results from the analysis of this data have some mixed results. Concurrent validity of the ITI when compared to the ITQ was significant and moderate, falling to non-significant and weak, which is not unusual for a self-report and clinician-administered measures (Gelezelyte et al. 2022). Internal reliability is at the upper threshold of acceptability (α =0.89). a value higher than this would call into question which concept was being measured by the ITI- it may have been possible that all items were measuring the exact same concept, rather than multiple aspects of a latent concept.

TA of clinician surveys revealed overall positive opinions, with only minor issues with the quantitative nature of the outcome not being suitable for comprehensively describing the issues faced by a person. Both clinicians stated that there were factors that influence a person's mental health that were not measured by the ITI (e.g., protective factors, support systems, external stressors). Implications for these findings are discussed in the next chapter.

Additionally, a finding that was unexpected but had great implications for the future of trauma-related research comes from study two. Previous research has always suggested that those with PTSD symptom profiles are more likely to endorse NCBs than those without such symptoms. However, this research was all conducted before the emergence of the CPTSD diagnosis. Study two indicated that people with PTSD are no more likely to endorse NCBs than those with no trauma-related

symptoms, and it is in fact those with CPTSD symptom profiles who have higher rates of NCB endorsement. It is therefore proposed that previous research did not know to differentiate between PTSD and CPTSD symptom profiles and participants with CPTSD artificially inflated the rates of NCB endorsement in samples incorrectly labelled as experiencing only PTSD. This suggestion means that any research into PTSD conducted prior to the publication of the ICD-11 may in fact be invalidated by the inclusion of CPTSD participants. Future research should take care to screen participants for both PTSD and CPTSD to avoid this error continuing.

6.5.2 Strengths and limitations

They key strengths of this study include the sample recruited; the clinical sample is representative of the population that the ITI will be used with most frequently. this means that the conclusions drawn from this study are more relevant to the target population than if this study had recruited a more accessible sample such as undergraduates or a general population sample.

The use of recorded and transcribed interviews as a calibration method is also a vital strength of this study. The opportunity to receive feedback on the administration and scoring of the interview allowed the researcher to administer the interview as intended, and in the same manner for each interviewee. This reduced researcher effects on the outcomes of the interviews and increased the consistency of the interview process.

However, as stated above, it was not possible to recruit the number of participants anticipated in the ethics application process, nor the number of participants indicated by the power calculation. This is egregious flaw in the study, and attempts have been made to mitigate this issue by indicating the conclusions

drawn as guidance rather than indisputable. It was unfortunately not possible to recruit the desired number of participants, despite the best efforts of all involved. Chapter seven discusses directions for future research that may build upon these preliminary findings.

7 Discussion

7.1 Summary of this thesis

The primary objectives of this thesis were therefore to answer the following questions:

- What does the current literature show regarding the relationship between disturbances in self-organisation (DSO) symptoms and negative core beliefs (NCBs)?
- 2. How are NCBs related to international classification of diseases (ICD-11) post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), complex PTSD (CPTSD) and DSO symptoms?
- 3. Is the international trauma interview (ITI) a reliable and valid tool for assessing ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD?

This thesis aimed to answer these questions in a three-stage process. Stage one involved a systematic review and meta-analysis to identify existing evidence about the relationship between proxy measures of DSO symptoms and NCBs. Stage two recruited participants into an online survey with the intention to answer research question two, and to address some of the limitations of previous literature as identified in stage one. Stage three attempted to provide a preliminary validation of the ITI as a measure of PTSD and CPTSD.

7.2 This thesis in the context of the pandemic

The work detailed in this thesis was undertaken during the COVID-19 pandemic and its aftermath. The impact of the pandemic has been heavily studied in recent years, showing that healthcare workers experienced very high rates of both traumatic exposure and post-traumatic symptoms (Chan et al., 2021; Marvaldi et al., 2021; Salehi et al., 2021; Sanghera et al., 2020). An everyday level of traumatic exposure and decline in mental health was also experienced by the general population and those with no direct exposure to COVID-19-related trauma through front-line healthcare work (Chen et al., 2022; Holzinger et al., 2022; Jukes et al., 2022; Kauhanen et al., 2022; Lund et al., 2020). The real-world need for better understanding and diagnosis of trauma-related disorders has increased as exposure to trauma has become more commonplace throughout the pandemic. This includes the ability to diagnose PTSD and CPTSD accurately. PTSD was reorganized in the recently released ICD-11 and CPTSD is a new diagnosis that does not have any validated diagnosis tools, so there is an urgent need for a way of assessing both of these disorders.

An interview method of diagnosing CPTSD is therefore necessary for the future of CPTSD research and treatment. Interviews are considered the gold standard for diagnosis by National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE,2018). A selfreport measure for the diagnosis of CPTSD and PTSD has previously been validated, but even a preliminary investigation of a diagnostic interview such as the ITI will be a step in the right direction towards appropriate methods of diagnosis for CPTSD being widely available for people who have been affected by traumatic life events.

Given the relative youth of the CPTSD diagnosis, a cognitive model integrating the development of PTSD and CPTSD has yet to be developed. Ehlers and Clark (1999) proposed a cognitive model of PTSD that may be expanded or adapted to include CPTSD, but before this happens, the cognitive structure of CPTSD must be better understood. Ehlers and Clark (1999) detail a mechanism by which a traumatic event may activate strongly held negative beliefs about the self, impacting the way a traumatic event and its aftermath is perceived, leading to the development of PTSD. If CPTSD is to be integrated into this model, the relationship between NCBs and CPTSD symptom endorsement must be investigated.

7.3 Study one

In order to collate pre-existing data relating to the relationship between NCBs and CPTSD endorsement, the meta-analysis detailed in chapter two was conducted. Overall, a positive correlation was found between NCBs and proxy measures of the DSO symptoms, affect dysregulation and difficulties in relationships. However, there were major flaws in previous research which made it challenging to draw any reliable conclusions. For example, the majority of the samples used were non-clinical or non-trauma-exposed and therefore evidence is not generalisable to therapeutic practice, no studies examined the correlation between a direct measure of CPTSD and NCBs, and the overall quality of the published research was low.

It was concluded that there is a need for research into the relationship between a direct measure of CPTSD symptoms and NCBs in clinical and traumaexposed populations before intervention-based research can be conducted to explore the effectiveness of cognitive behavioural therapies for ICD-11 CPTSD. Future recommendations for research indicated the use of a reliable measure of NCBs, higher quality research (i.e., reporting more detailed characteristics of the sample used, publication of a power calculation, etc.), and recruitment of clinical or traumaexposed samples. A more detailed discussion of the findings from the meta-analysis can be found in section 2.6.

7.4 Study two

Following the outcomes of the meta-analysis, an online cross-sectional survey was conducted with the aim to identify differences between NCBs in participants with PTSD, CPTSD symptoms, and participants with no symptoms. The core beliefs questionnaire (CBQ) was identified as an appropriate measure of NCBs, and analyses were run to ensure internal reliability in the sample recruited. A traumaexposed sample was recruited to ensure directness between the sample and population of interest, and the demographics of the sample were thoroughly reported.

The intention of this study was to fill in gaps in the literature around the relationship between NCBs and CPTSD symptoms and contribute to the integration of CPTSD into a cognitive model of post-traumatic disorders. The research questions that were answered in this study were:

- Does the CBQ produce reliable measurements of NCBs in participants endorsing PTSD/CPTSD symptoms?
- 2) Do participants with CPTSD score more highly on the CBQ than participants with PTSD or subclinical symptomology?
- 3) Which NCBs are endorsed by participants with CPTSD symptomology compared to participants with sub-clinical and PTSD symptomology?

7.4.1 Discussion of findings

7.4.1.1 Reliability of CBQ to assess NCBs

The results described in section 4.3.3 of this thesis identified very high internal reliability (α =0.95) in the PTSD subgroup, and very high internal reliability (α =0.96) in the CPTSD subgroup. This is strikingly similar to the findings of Wong

et al (2017) whose α analysis revealed an α of 0.96 for very strong internal reliability. The internal reliability of the CBQ is reaffirmed in a new population and may be used as a reliable tool to assess NCBs in research into CPTSD and PTSD populations.

7.4.1.2 Differences in NCB endorsement between subgroups

The findings of the Kruskal-Wallis (K-W) analysis revealed statistically significant differences between subgroups in terms of endorsement of NCBs. This was confirmed by t tests performed to analyse paired subgroups. The results of these pairs revealed: (1) subgroup membership between PTSD and CPTSD has a significant impact on the level of NCBs endorsed, (2) group membership between PTSD and non-symptomatic subgroups had no significant impact on the level of NCBs endorsed, and (3) subgroup membership between CPTSD and nonsymptomatic subgroups has a significant impact on the level of NCBs endorsed.

These findings are reflective of previous studies, for example, Vasilopoulou et al. (2019) found that all NCB domains were correlated with CPTSD symptomology to p<.001. Greenblatt-Kimron et al. (2023) also found higher levels of NCBs in a CPTSD subgroup than was found in a no-symptom or PTSD symptom subgroup, and Dutra et al. (2008) found significant differences in most NCB domains between PTSD and no-symptom groups. However, all these previous studies used the young schema questionnaire (YSQ) to assess NCBs (issues of reliability related to the YSQ are discussed in chapters two and three), and no study has yet presented findings relating to correlation between individual NCBs and individual PTSD/CPTSD symptom clusters without the use of the YSQ.

No significant difference found between NCB endorsement by participants with PTSD symptoms and those with no symptoms. These results indicate that there is no difference between the cognitive structure of those with PTSD and those without any symptoms, in terms of NCBs. These findings can be attributed to the nature of the specific scale that has been used for NCBs. This finding is also seen in Greenblatt-Kimron et al. (2023) (though a specific significance analysis is not performed in that study). Previous research aside from Greenblatt-Kimron et al. (2023) has not analysed the difference between all three subgroups. Similar research reports either the difference between PTSD and no-symptom groups, or CPTSD and non-CPTSD groups (Lian et al., 2023; Vasilopoulou et al., 2020).

7.4.1.3 Correlation between international trauma questionnaire (ITQ) symptom endorsement and NCBs

The results of this analysis revealed statistically significant (p<.001) interitem correlations in each pair. The strength of the significant correlations ranged from weak to very strong. Vasilopoulou et al (2019) found similar results in a sample of adults over the age of 64. They found all schema domains on the Young Schema Questionnaire Short Form-3 were strongly significantly correlated with CPTSD symptomology. The findings of Vasilopoulou et al (2019) and study two in this thesis indicate that NCBs do correlate with CPTSD symptoms in adults <30 years old and >64. Further research us required to identify the cause of this association and confirm this association within additional age groups. This finding of correlation between specific NCBs may indicate that core beliefs could be a useful therapeutic target for treating CPTSD or differentiating between PTSD and CPTSD symptom profiles.

7.4.2 Implications

7.4.2.1 Research implications

Regarding research implications, the finding that the CBQ is a reliable measure of NCBs in PTSD and CPTSD supports the use of the CBQ in future research into NCBs in this population. Future research needing to measure NCBs in populations with PTSD/CPTSD symptomology should regard the CBQ as a valid measure. Future research may seek to identify the nature of the conceptual overlap between the negative self-concept symptom cluster and NCBs as measured by the CBQ. This should also include findings regarding the relationship between the otherbelief subscale of the CBQ (a subscale measuring the respondent's NCBs regarding other people) and PTSD/CPTSD symptom endorsement. This would support the understanding of the nature of negative self-concept in CPTSD and differentiate this from endorsement of NCBs by people without CPTSD symptomology. This greater understanding of the nature of CPTSD symptoms and correlation with other-NCBs would contribute to the development of a cognitive model of CPTSD. This research would also further contribute to the development of treatment protocols for CPTSD.

The findings of this thesis support some assumptions made in Ehlers and Clark (1999). For example, study two supports the idea that prior experiences and beliefs directly impacts the development and maintenance of PTSD symptoms. However, findings from study two do not support causation, merely correlation. Additionally, study two found greater correlation between NCBs and DSO symptoms than between NCBs and PTSD symptoms, which were not integrated into Ehlers and Clark (1999) model of PTSD. In this way, the findings of study two both support and undermine this early cognitive behavioural model of PTSD.



The memory and identity (M&I) theory of CPTSD (Hyland et al., 2023) integrates NCBs in the form of negative identities. Hyland et al. (2023) state that negative identities result from the interaction of trauma exposure and individual vulnerabilities. Negative identities are deeply held thoughts about the self, including being worthless, alienated, unsafe, or powerless, and the individual may or may not be aware that they hold this belief. In this way, the negative identities in the M&I theory of CPTSD hold similarities with NCBs examined in chapters two, three, and four of this thesis. As illustrated in Figure 7.1, it is proposed that negative identities impact all symptoms of CPTSD and PTSD, excluding re-experiencing. The findings in study two of this thesis support the idea that negative identities may increase the impact of most PTSD and CPTSD symptoms, and NCBs correlated most poorly with both re-experiencing symptoms, supporting the assertion that negative identities may have lesser impact on those symptoms. However, the correlation between NCBs and re-experiencing did still exist, it is possible that there is an as-yet unobserved mechanism by which NCBs indirectly influence re-experiencing symptoms. Future research must test mediators of the relationship between NCBs and re-experiencing to clarify the cause of the correlation between NCBs and re-experiencing. In terms of the cognitive model of CPTSD, study two of this thesis does contribute this research. The understanding that NCBs regarding worthlessness and inferiority are significantly correlated with CPTSD symptoms and are significantly different between the PTSD and CPTSD subgroups may be viewed as supporting evidence in favour of the M&I model of CPTSD (Hyland et al., 2023). Particularly the assertion that negative identities impact all three DSO symptoms, but only two of the three PTSD symptoms. M&I model illustrates very simply how it may be the case that CPTSD presentations correlate more strongly with NCBs then PTSD presentations.

Next steps in this topic area may include qualitative research to identify self-reported origins of NCBs, whether the individual believes these NCBs to be related to traumatic events or not. This should also include the assessment of worldand other- NCBs to confirm that the differences in NCB endorsement between PTSD and CPTSD subgroups also applies to beliefs about the world at large and other people. This will allow for more information to be gathered on the nature of these NCBs, possible origins, and treatment options. This would also contribute evidence toward assumptions made by the M&I model that negative identities are informed by individual vulnerabilities and trauma exposure.

Future research may also seek to develop a new tool to measure NCBs in CPTSD. This tool may include items that are conceptually distinct from negative self-concept, including NCBs about other people and the world at large, as well as items relating to coping mechanisms, type of trauma experienced and post-traumatic reactions, as suggested in M&I model of CPTSD. This would allow clinicians to gain a comprehensive understanding of their clients' worldview beliefs and beliefs about the event that may be identified as targets for therapy (Edmondson et al., 2011; Feldman, & Kaal, 2007; Park et al., 2012).

The finding that there is no statistically significant difference between NCB endorsement in PTSD and no-symptom groups highlights a gap in current research and raises questions that must be answered by further research. For example, the differences in NCB endorsement found in studies comparing PTSD and no-symptom groups are typically published prior to the release of the ICD-11 and therefore would have included CPTSD participants in the PTSD groups. It may be the case that the significant differences between PTSD and no-symptom groups were due to the nondetection of CPTSD in samples. That is, previous research that was conducted without a measure of CPTSD will have grouped participants with PTSD and CPTSD into the same sample under the PTSD group. Future research should seek to verify this finding that there is no significant difference between NCB endorsement in PTSD and no-symptom groups, ensuring that CPTSD participants are not included in the PTSD subgroup. Alternatively, it may be the case that individuals with PTSD hold significant but different NCBs than those with CPTSD, and the NCB scale used in this thesis did not accurately capture NCBs commonly associated with PTSD. This would mean that future research should use alternative NCB measures to assess levels of NCBs in participants with PTSD to determine if there are in fact strong NCBs that were simply not identified by this research. For example, negative identities such as fragmentation and unsafe are listed in M&I theory but were not appropriately measures by the CBQ. It would be pertinent to conduct research to measure these identities, and others suggested in M&I theory, and assess the possibility that these facets of identity may differentiate between PTSD and CPTSD symptom profiles. Treatment implications for these future findings may include recommendations for specific NCBs to be targeted in PTSD vs CPTSD, or even the

suggestion that NCBs be disregarded as a treatment option for PTSD. However, these recommendations cannot be made based on research that currently exists.

Since differentiation between CPTSD and other conditions such as personality disorders (PD) can be difficult in research and clinical settings (Ford, & Courtois, 2014; Powers et al., 2022), future research may also seek to measure differences in NCB endorsement between participants with CPTSD and PD. Differentiation between borderline PD (BPD) and CPTSD symptom profiles has long been a subject of discourse in academic publishing (Jowett et al., 2020A; Jowett et al., 2020B; Karatzias et al., 2023). The two disorders have similar risk factors in number and type of trauma exposure (Jowett et al., 2020A), and the symptom profiles could be described as similar on paper (Jowett et al., 2020B), meaning that clinicians faced with the need to diagnose a client with either BPD or CPTSD are assigned a very difficult and nuanced task. However, evidence does support the distinction between BPD and CPTSD, and clinical direction and guidelines included in assessment tools such as the ITI can mean that the differentiation has clinical utility (Karatzias et al., 2023). It is important, therefore, that further methods of correctly identifying BPD and CPTSD symptoms profiles are developed.

Specific NCBs have been shown to effectively discriminate between PD typologies (Butler et al., 2002; Kunst et al., 2020), and targeting core beliefs has shown improvement in personality disorder symptoms (Kellogg, & Young, 2006; Koppers et al., 2021; Videler et al., 2018). So, it may be possible to develop groupings of core beliefs that differentiate between PTSD, CPTSD, and PD. This would contribute to the understanding of the differences between the three disorders and may also provide a mechanism of assigning the correct diagnosis to clients in clinical practice. Also contributing to the ability to differentiate between CPTSD and

PD would be the validation of a clinician-administered measure of CPTSD. Since the ITQ is a self-rated questionnaire, it carries with it all flaws of self-report measures (e.g., respondents misunderstanding items, purposeful over-reporting of positive affect, missing data) (Myers, 2000; Stone et al., 1999; Theofanidis et al., 2018; Visted et al., 2017) and may not achieve the levels of reliability and accuracy required to make accurate diagnostic decisions that will influence the treatment pathway of a client (Levis et al., 2019; Sysko et al., 2015). The validation of a clinician-administered interview would allow for research into the differences between NCBs held by participants diagnosed with PD and CPTSD, rather than those simply reporting the experience of symptoms by means of a self-report questionnaire.

7.4.2.2 Clinical implications

From a clinical standpoint, the confirmation that PTSD, CPTSD, and nosymptom groups endorse different levels of NCBs highlights the need for inquiry into the role of NCBs in the development and maintenance of CPTSD. While the role that NCBs play in CPTSD is not currently fully understood, the association between NCBs and CPTSD symptom endorsement suggests that NCBs may be an important therapeutic target and their measurement could be an important part of the clinician's initial assessment, as well as a metric for assessing improvement in symptoms as treatment progresses.

The CBQ may be a useful tool for researchers and clinicians to use to differentiate between clients with PTSD and CPTSD, but this research did not use a clinical sample. Because the sample in study two was a trauma-exposed sample, rather than a clinical sample, it cannot yet be said that the CBQ will certainly be a

useful tool for differentiating PTSD and CPTSD in clinical settings. This is an empirical question for future research, but it can be suggested that the CBQ may provide useful data to supplement clinical judgement and provide a holistic picture of the client's experiences of their disorder.

Specific recommendations for therapies to treat PTSD and CPTSD cannot be made from this research, as a clinical sample was not used. However, therapies that may be tested in trials and future research may include the efficacy of targeting specific NCBs. For example, chapter four of this thesis found that emotional hyperactivation correlated most strongly with the belief of being unacceptable. A client presenting with CPTSD and a specific difficulty with emotional hyperactivation may therefore most benefit from a therapeutic intervention geared towards targeting this belief in order to improve this symptom. Additionally, the symptoms that make up the DSO cluster negative self-concept correlated with all NCBs more strongly than all other symptoms. This means that overall self-NCBs would be a suitable therapeutic target for clients finding this symptom cluster the most troubling (Karatzias et al., 2023). Future research should trial a therapeutic intervention that targets NCBs associated with the most troubling symptoms experiences by clients with CPTSD.

Karatzias and Cloitre (2019) proposed a modular approach to treatment for CPTSD as a method of combining existing therapies, including cognitive strategies to target individual CPTSD symptom clusters. For example, a combination of selfsoothing exercises, self-compassion, and communication skills work to address emotional dysregulation, negative self-concept, and difficulties in relationships, respectively. Therapy interventions that target NCBs may include Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) activities such as cognitive reappraisal of automatic

thoughts, cognitive flexibility, and cognitive reprocessing (Jensen et al., 2022; Karatzias et al., 2019). A combination of these interventions with non-CBT therapies such as counselling or eye movement desensitization therapy (EMDR), may be administered in an order that addresses the most impairing symptoms and the symptoms most relevant to the client (Karatzias & Cloitre, 2019).

7.5 Study three

Study three in this thesis therefore aimed to answer the questions:

- 1. What is the level of diagnostic concordance between the ITI and the ITQ?
- 2. Does the English version of the ITI produce internally reliable scores?
- 3. What are the views of clinicians regarding the clinical utility of the ITI?
- 7.5.1 Discussion of findings

7.5.1.1 Concurrent validity

Concurrent validity was analysed using the average inter-item correlation between the ITI and the ITQ. There was a statistically significant moderate correlation between the overall diagnostic decision given by the ITI and the ITQ (r=.469, p=.018), dropping to poor, non-significant correlation when looking at agreement on PTSD diagnosis or CPTSD diagnosis. These results are similar but not as strong as the findings by Gelezelyte et al., (2022), who measured the reliability and validity of the ITI in a Lithuanian sample, Gelezelyte et al. (2022) found strong, significant agreement on PTSD and DSO diagnostic decision between the ITI and ITQ, dropping to poor when CPTSD participants were removed. Again, Gelezelyte et al. (2022) found stronger, more significant results, the only non-significant correlation being sense of threat. One possible cause for the weaker findings of the present study is the sample size. Gelezelyte et al. (2022) recruited 103 participants, whereas study three in this thesis recruited only 25. This may have contributed to the difference in strength of the correlation. However, the overall significant results on this study are not to be dismissed simply due to the smaller sample, findings should be viewed as preliminary rather than conclusive.

7.5.1.2 Internal reliability

Internal reliability as measured by Cronbach's Alpha (α) was at the upper threshold of acceptable (α =0.89), indicating very good internal reliability. The only previous study to analyse internal reliability of the ITI is Bondjers et al. (2019) who used a Swedish translation and composite reliability analysis to indicate acceptable levels of internal reliability. These similar results indicate that the English ITI may be an internally reliable measure of PTSD and CPTSD.

No previous research has reported the inter-item correlations of the ITI, so these findings cannot be compared to other findings. However, based on the findings presented here the research question "Does the English version of the ITI produce internally reliable scores?" can be answered with the affirmative, though the small sample size presented here demands that this conclusion be regarded with caution.

7.5.1.3 Clinical Utility

Negative feedback from clinicians came in response to a question about the ability of the ITI to describe a client's global mental health difficulties. Both clinicians stated that there were factors that influence a person's mental health that were not measured by the ITI (e.g., protective factors, support systems, external stressors). This feedback is accurate, as the ITI only intends to assess the six

symptom clusters relating to PTSD and CPTSD as listed in the ICD-11 and does not claim to be a measure of global mental health. The overall mental health is better assessed using supplemental clinical assessment, as proposed by Vallières et al., (2018).

Clinical utility of the ITI has not previously been reported, and so there is no previous research to compare these findings to. However, previous research has shown that the ITQ is generally perceived as fit for purpose, with some minor issues (Vallières et al., 2018). Vallières et al. (2018) identified issues including clients requiring assistance from psychotherapists to complete the measure, issues with comprehension, and not measuring some symptoms associated with PTSD/CPTSD such as amnesia or difficulty concentrating. There are other behaviours and symptoms commonly comorbid with PTSD/CPTSD that may not be explicitly assessed by the ITI or the ITQ. For example, memory difficulties (Johnsen, & Asbjørnsen, 2008; Thome et al 2020), moral injury (Hall et al., 2022; Papazoglou et al., 2020) and alcohol or drug use (Davies et al., 2019; Simpson et al., 2019) are all commonly found alongside PTSD diagnoses, but are not measured by the ITI or ITQ, because these are not part of the ICD-11 diagnostic criteria. So it may be the case that supplemental assessment is required for a full picture of the client's global mental health.

7.5.2 Implications

7.5.2.1 Research implications

More research is needed with a larger sample size to comprehensively capture population characteristics of PTSD and CPTSD. The conclusions drawn from this study came from a sample that fell short of the number of participants
identified by the power calculation (n=44 identified by G*power, n=200 identified through a priori analysis of similar articles). Because of this, conclusions should be viewed with caution. However, the findings are promising and the levels of agreement between the ITI and ITQ could be replicated with larger samples. Future research should aim to contribute further data for analysis to support the claims in this study that the reliability and validity of the English version of the ITI is acceptable. This will provide additional empirical basis for the use of the ITI in clinical diagnostic work.

Further research should also assess the test-retest and interrater reliability of the ITI. There was protocol in this study to assess these aspects of reliability but due to attrition and low sampling, it was not possible to complete this analysis. These aspects of reliability are vital to ensure that the ITI is not reliant on transient participant characteristics such as mood or poor memory (McCrae et al., 2011; Polit, 2014) and that change in responses can be attributed to true change in the aspect being measured, rather than random variance in responses (Polit, 2014). The testretest reliability of the ITI has not previously been evaluated, but interrater agreement has been found to be satisfactory in Swedish and Lithuanian samples (Bondjers et al., 2019; Gelezelyte et al., 2022). The need now is for the same analysis to be conducted with a UK sample with the English language ITI.

Future research around clinical utility is also necessary. In this study, two clinicians who used the outputs of the ITI were consulted on their thoughts about the utility of the ITI in formulating client needs and care pathways. This is a vital aspect of clinical utility, but the process of administering the ITI was not assessed for clinical utility. Future research should therefore consult clinicians who have experience of interviewing people using the ITI to identify areas of improvement for

181

instructions to the interviewer and scoring guidelines. This could include surveying clinicians who use the ITI once it is in use in standard clinical practice, or researchers who use the ITI in their research activities. These populations are the most likely to use the ITI on a daily basis and will provide the most insightful comments on how the ITI is received by participants and clients, and how useful the results are. This research will improve the ITI overall and allow for ease of use in clinical settings (First et al., 2004).

Similarly, future research could investigate the perceptions of interviewees being assessed by a clinician using the ITI. This could be done by partnering with clinicians to survey clients who are interviewed using the ITI, administering short and long form questions about their experience could be done by clients or completed on pen-and-paper questionnaires, as preferred by the participant. It is important that the interviewee understands the reasoning behind the questions being asked in the ITI, and that the interviewee believes that they are able to answer the questions to the best of their ability. Asking participants questions about their experience of being interviewed with that ITI may help to rephrase items to be clearer and communicate the purpose of the interview protocol more effectively (First et al., 2004; Pinninti et al., 2003).

7.5.2.2 Policy implications

Following further research listed in section 7.5.2.1 above, recommendations for policy may be made. For example, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines make recommendations that recognition of PTSD and CPTSD should use validated measures (NICE, 2018) which may be updated to include the ITI as a reliable assessment tool for qualified clinicians to use for

182

diagnosis (following replication of the findings in this study with larger sample sizes and analysis of test-retest and inter-rater reliability).

In terms of national healthcare, it may also be possible to update National Health Service (NHS) standard practices to include administration of the ITI to assess both PTSD and CPTSD (once further research and testing with larger sample sizes has been conducted). This would be a significant advancement as there is presently no validated measure of both disorders for use by NHS clinicians.

7.5.2.3 Clinical implications

As discussed previously, the clinical implications of this study are limited due to difficulties in drawing reliable conclusions from small sample sizes. However, based on the findings of this study, recommendation can be made for the use of the ITI as a supplemental assessment tool for diagnosing PTSD and CPTSD, and should be subject to further validation research. The research in this thesis does not support the use of the ITI as a standalone assessment tool, so in clinical practice it must be used in conjunction with information from other sources such as the ITQ, and clinical judgement. Further research on the English version of the ITI is recommended.

7.6 Strengths and limitations of the thesis

Each analytic chapter of this thesis discusses the limitations of the data specific to each analysis, and these were detailed further in the discussion chapter. However, there are some overall limitations that must be considered. For example, the vast majority of the data collected is self-report in nature. The issues with selfreport data includes social desirability bias (the tendency for participants to report either the responses they believe the researcher wants them to say, or responses that they believe will give the researcher a higher opinion of them), and the possibility of participants misunderstanding the items on the questionnaire (Myers, 2000; Stone et al., 1999; Theofanidis et al., 2018; Visted et al., 2017) Additionally, the cross-sectional design of both studies mean that it is not possible to evaluate causal relationships or the sequence in which symptoms developed.

However, the self-report data and cross-sectional study design allowed for a very large sample to be recruited for study two of this thesis. This is a great strength, as it can confidently be said that the full population characteristics were captured, and the findings were very strong. The sample gathered was much larger than indicated by the power calculation performed in 3.7, which did bring with it the risk of artificially inflated p values, but this was mitigated with the use of Cohen's d as a standardised effect size. This reduced the risk of a type I error to within an acceptable limit.

The greatest limitation of this thesis is the small sample size in study three. The power calculation detailed in chapter five identified the need for 44 participants to achieve the desired statistical power, and the target for recruitment set in the ethics application was 200. However, the final sample for this study was 25, falling short by 19. This represents a significant flaw in the ability of this study to draw reliable conclusions, as the sample does not appropriately reflect the diversity of the population and does not give sufficient power to the analysis. Conclusions drawn from this data can therefore be regarded as suggestive rather than comprehensive.

One key aspect of reliability is interrater reliability (Bondjers et al., 2019; Gelezelyte et al., 2022), and the fact that study three did not analyse interrater reliability has negative implications for the ability to draw conclusions about the

184

suitability for the use of the ITI in clinical practice. While analysis of interrater reliability was in the ethics application and initial protocol for the ITI validation study, it quickly became apparent that this analysis would not be feasible. Very few participants agreed to have their interviews recorded, which is understandable, since the topic of the interview was of an extremely sensitive nature. This, coupled with the fact that recruitment overall was very poor, meant that the target sample of 10 recorded interviews was not achieved. However, this difficulty was seized and transformed into a strength instead. The two recorded interviews that were achieved were transcribed and sent to a trained clinician (as described in the ethics application and participant information pack) and feedback was provided to the primary researcher conducting the interviews. This feedback was vital in calibrating the administration of the ITI, as this novel interview protocol must be administered and scored as intended.

7.7 Conclusion

The primary objective of this thesis was to answer three main research questions. The results of this thesis, from the meta-analysis, survey study, and ITI validation study, have successfully provided answers to these questions, to a greater or lesser extent. Unfortunately, it was beyond the scope of this study to provide an extensive validation of ITI or an evaluation of how the ITI was perceived by participants.

The three studies conducted in this thesis each produced findings and data that the following study used and built on. Study one began by collating and synthesizing existing data and identifying a number of gaps in the current literature around the relationship between NCBs and PTSD/CPTSD symptom profiles. Study two built on the work of study one, successfully filling the gaps in the literature and

185

identifying results that supported the M&I model of CPTSD and identifying the need for a clinician-administered assessment tool for ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD. Finally, study three administered the ITI to a group of participants with the intention to supply evidence in support of the validity and reliability of the ITI. This final aim was partially filled, but of course further research is needed.

7.7.1 Research Question 1: What does the current literature show regarding the relationship between DSO symptoms and NCBs?

At the time of writing, the current literature is sparse on the subject of the correlation between DSO symptoms and NCBs. The available data on this correlation indicated mild to moderate positive relationships between individual DSO symptoms and NCBs. A strong conclusion could not be drawn at the conclusion of this review, due to the poor quality of the available evidence, and the use of proxy measures of DSO symptoms.

7.7.2 Research Question 2: How are NCBs related to ICD-11 PTSD, CPTSD and DSO symptoms?

The results and discussion of the studies in this thesis indicate that there is a strong, positive correlation between NCBs and CPTSD symptom endorsement. Participants with CPTSD symptomology endorsed NCBs more strongly than participants with PTSD or subclinical symptomology. Those meeting PTSD criteria did not endorse NCBs at a level differing from participants with subclinical symptoms. All NCBs most strongly correlated with the DSO symptom of negative self-concept, which again supports claims made in the M&I theory. A temporal or causal relationship could not be determined at this time, due to the cross-sectional nature of the study design.

7.7.3 Research Question 3: Is the ITI a reliable and valid tool for assessing ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD?

This question can only be answered tentatively at present, given the issues with recruitment and the subsequent small sample size. Overall, it appears that the ITI is a reliable and valid tool for assessing ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD. Observations from the interviewer indicated that discrepancies between the ITI and ITQ outcomes were mostly due to participant misunderstanding of the items on the ITQ, or due to symptom crossover between CPTSD and PD. Further research is certainly needed in this area before the ITI can, without reservation, be declared a valid and reliable measure of ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD.

8 References

- Aafjes-van Doorn, K., McCollum, J., Silberschatz, G., Kealy, D., & Snyder, J. (2021). Interpersonal and Social Functioning Among Psychotherapy Patients: The Indirect Effect of Childhood Adversity. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 209(10), 747-752.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/nmd.00000000001373
- Afzalan, N., & Muller, B. (2018). Online participatory technologies: Opportunities and challenges for enriching participatory planning. *Journal of the American Planning Association*, 84(2), 162–177.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01944363.2018.1434010

- Ahmadian, A., Mirzaee, J., Omidbeygi, M., Holsboer-Trachsler, E., & Brand, S.
 (2015). Differences in maladaptive schemas between patients suffering from chronic and acute posttraumatic stress disorder and healthy controls. *Neuropsychiatric disease and treatment*, 11, 1677. https://doi.org/10.2147/ndt.s85959
- Akoglu, H. (2018). User's guide to correlation coefficients. *Turkish journal of emergency medicine, 18*(3), 91-93.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tjem.2018.08.001

Aldridge, V. K., Dovey, T. M., & Wade, A. (2017). Assessing test-retest reliability of psychological measures. *European Psychologist*, 22(4), 207-218). <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1027/1016-9040/a000298</u>

- Alexander, R. A. (1990). A note on averaging correlations. Bulletin of the Psychonomic Society, 28(4), 335-336. https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.3758/BF03334037.pdf
- Alfasfos, L. (2009). The early maladaptive schemas and their correlations with the psychiatric symptoms and the personality accentuations for Palestinian students (Doctoral dissertation, Staats-und Universitäts bibliothek Hamburg Carl von Ossietzky) <u>https://ediss.sub.uni-hamburg.de/handle/ediss/3072</u>
- Allen, J. E., Rogers, D. T., & Pearcey, S. M. (2017). Childhood Abuse and Adult Interpersonal Functioning: Analysis of Self-Defeating Beliefs and Binge Drinking as Mediators. *Psi Chi Journal of Psychological Research*, 22(3). https://doi.org/10.24839/2325-7342.JN22.3.206
- Ames, R. L., & Loebach, J. E. (2023). Applying Trauma-Informed Design Principles to Therapeutic Residential Care Facilities to Reduce Retraumatization and Promote Resiliency Among Youth in Care. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma*, 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40653-023-00528-y</u>
- Andrade, C. (2020). Mean difference, standardized mean difference (SMD), and their use in meta-analysis: as simple as it gets. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry*, 81(5), 11349. <u>https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.20f13681</u>
- Andrade, C. (2020). The limitations of online surveys. *Indian journal of psychological medicine*, 42(6), 575-576. https://doi.org/10.1177/0253717620957496
- Andrea, A., Shan, L., Garcia, C., Savage, C., Bennett, M., & Blanchard, J. (2018).S75. Maladaptive social-evaluative and self-beliefs informing the relation

between paranoia and social anxiety. *Schizophrenia Bulletin, 44*(suppl_1), S353-S354. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sby018.862

- Armstrong, R. A. (2014). When to use the Bonferroni correction. *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics*, 34(5), 502-508. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/opo.12131</u>
- Ashbaugh AR, Houle-Johnson S, Herbert C, El-Hage W, Brunet A (2016)
 Psychometric Validation of the English and French Versions of the
 Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist for DSM-5 (PCL-5). *PLoS ONE* 11(10): e0161645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0161645</u>
- Ball, H. L. (2019). Conducting online surveys. *Journal of human lactation*, *35*(3), 413-417. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890334419848734
- Balshem, H., Helfand, M., Schünemann, H. J., Oxman, A. D., Kunz, R., Brozek, J., ... & Guyatt, G. H. (2011). GRADE guidelines: 3. Rating the quality of evidence. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*, 64(4), 401-406.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.07.015
- Banz, L., Stefanovic, M., von Boeselager, M., Schäfer, I., Lotzin, A., Kleim, B., & Ehring, T. (2022). Effects of current treatments for trauma survivors with posttraumatic stress disorder on reducing a negative self-concept: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 13(2), 2122528.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/20008066.2022.2122528
- Baranoff, J., Oei, T. P., Cho, S. H., & Kwon, S. M. (2006). Factor structure and internal consistency of the Young Schema Questionnaire (Short Form) in Korean and Australian samples. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 93(1-3), 133-140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2006.03.003</u>

- Barili, F., Parolari, A., Kappetein, P. A., & Freemantle, N. (2018). Statistical Primer: heterogeneity, random-or fixed-effects model analyses?. *Interactive cardiovascular and thoracic surgery*, 27(3), 317-321.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/icvts/ivy163</u>
- Bauer, M. R., Ruef, A. M., Pineles, S. L., Japuntich, S. J., Macklin, M. L., Lasko, N.
 B., & Orr, S. P. (2013). Psychophysiological assessment of PTSD: A potential research domain criteria construct. *Psychological Assessment,* 25(3), 1037. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033432</u>
- Baugh, L. M., Cox, D. W., Young, R. A., & Kealy, D. (2019). Partner trust and childhood emotional maltreatment: The mediating and moderating roles of Maladaptive Schemas and psychological flexibility. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 12, 66-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2019.02.001</u>
- Bell, S. M., Chalmers, R. P., & Flora, D. B. (2023). The Impact of Measurement Model Misspecification on Coefficient Omega Estimates of Composite Reliability. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1177/00131644231155804
- Ben-Ezra, M., Karatzias, T., Hyland, P., Brewin, C. R., Cloitre, M., Bisson, J. I., ...
 & Shevlin, M. (2018). Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and complex
 PTSD (CPTSD) as per ICD-11 proposals: A population study in Israel.
 Depression and anxiety, 35(3), 264-274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22723</u>

Berger, V. W. (2005). Encyclopedia of Statistics in Behavioral Science–Vol. 1.

Bishara, A. J., & Hittner, J. B. (2012). Testing the significance of a correlation with nonnormal data: comparison of Pearson, Spearman, transformation, and

resampling approaches. *Psychological methods*, *17*(3), 399. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028087

Bisson, J. I., Brewin, C. R., Cloitre, M., & Maercker, A. (2020). Diagnosis, assessment, and screening for PTSD and complex PTSD in adults. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2020-23029-004</u>

Blake, D. D., Weathers, F. W., Nagy, L. M., Kaloupek, D. G., Gusman, F. D., Charney, D. S., & Keane, T. M. (1995). The development of a clinicianadministered PTSD scale. *Journal of traumatic stress*, 8, 75-90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02105408</u>

Bland, J. M., & Altman, D. G. (1997). Statistics notes: Cronbach's alpha. Bmj, 314(7080), 572. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.314.7080.572</u>

Blissett, J., Walsh, J., Harris, G., Jones, C., Leung, N., & Meyer, C. (2006). Different core beliefs predict paternal and maternal attachment representations in young women. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy: An International Journal of Theory & Practice*, 13(3), 163-171.
https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.482

Boerma, J. T., Sommerfelt, A. E., & Bicego, G. T. (1992). Child anthropometry in cross-sectional surveys in developing countries: an assessment of the survivor bias. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *135*(4), 438-449.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a116304

Bohannon, J. (2016). Survey fraud test sparks battle. *Science*, *351*(6277), 1014 LP– 1014. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.351.6277.1014</u>

- Bollinger, A. R., Riggs, D. S., Blake, D. D., & Ruzek, J. I. (2000). Prevalence of personality disorders among combat veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Traumatic Stress: Official Publication of The International Society for Traumatic Stress Studies*, 13(2), 255-270.
 https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1007706727869
- Bondjers, K., Hyland, P., Roberts, N. P., Bisson, J. I., Willebrand, M., & Arnberg, F.
 K. (2019). Validation of a clinician-administered diagnostic measure of
 ICD-11 PTSD and Complex PTSD: The International Trauma Interview in
 a Swedish sample. *European journal of Psychotraumatology*, 10(1),
 1665617. https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2019.1665617
- Borenstein, M., Hedges, L. V., Higgins, J. P., & Rothstein, H. R. (2010). A basic introduction to fixed-effect and random-effects models for meta-analysis.
 Research synthesis methods, 1(2), 97-111.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470743386.ch13
- Boudoukha, A. H., Przygodzki-Lionet, N., & Hautekeete, M. (2016). Traumatic events and early maladaptive schemas (EMS): Prison guard psychological vulnerability. *European Review of Applied Psychology*, 66(4), 181-187. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1016/j.erap.2011.05.004
- Bourdon, D. É., El-Baalbaki, G., Beaulieu-Prévost, D., Guay, S., Belleville, G., & Marchand, A. (2021). Personality beliefs, coping strategies and quality of life in a cognitive-behavioral therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder. *European Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 5(3), 100135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejtd.2019.100135</u>

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2012). Thematic analysis. In H. Cooper, P. M. Camic, D. L. Long, A. T. Panter, D. Rindskopf, & K. J. Sher (Eds.), APA handbook of research methods in psychology, Vol. 2. Research designs: Quantitative, qualitative, neuropsychological, and biological (pp. 57–71). American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/13620-004</u>
- Brenner, L., Köllner, V., & Bachem, R. (2019). Symptom burden and work-related impairment among patients with PTSD and complex PTSD. European *Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 10(1), 1694766.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2019.1694766
- Brewin, C. R. (2015). Re-experiencing traumatic events in PTSD: New avenues in research on intrusive memories and flashbacks. *European journal of psychotraumatology*, 6(1), 27180. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v6.27180</u>
- Briere, J., & Elliott, D. (2000). Prevalence, characteristics, and long-term sequelae of natural disaster exposure in the general population. *Journal of traumatic stress*, 13, 661-679. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1023/A:1007814301369</u>
- Brotchie, J., Meyer, C., Copello, A., Kidney, R., & Waller, G. (2004). Cognitive representations in alcohol and opiate abuse: The role of core beliefs. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 43(3), 337-342.
 https://doi.org/10.1348/0144665031752916
- Bryant, R. A., Sutherland, K., & Guthrie, R. M. (2007). Impaired specific autobiographical memory as a risk factor for posttraumatic stress after trauma. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, *116*(4), 837. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843x.116.4.837</u>

- Butler, A. C., Brown, G. K., Beck, A. T., & Grisham, J. R. (2002). Assessment of dysfunctional beliefs in borderline personality disorder. *Behaviour research and therapy*, 40(10), 1231-1240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-</u> <u>7967(02)00031-1</u>
- Cabin, R. J., & Mitchell, R. J. (2000). To Bonferroni or not to Bonferroni: when and how are the questions. *Bulletin of the ecological society of America*, 81(3), 246-248. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/20168454</u>
- Cahan, S., & Gamliel, E. (2011). Cohen's d vs alternative standardized mean group difference measures. *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation*, 16(1), 10
- Calvete, E., Corral, S., & Estévez, A. (2007). Cognitive and coping mechanisms in the interplay between intimate partner violence and depression. *Anxiety, stress, and coping*, 20(4), 369-382.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10615800701628850

Camden, A. A., Petri, J. M., Jackson, B. N., Jeffirs, S. M., & Weathers, F. W.
(2023). A psychometric evaluation of the International Trauma
Questionnaire (ITQ) in a trauma-exposed college sample. *European Journal* of Trauma & Dissociation, 7(1), 100305.
https://doi.org/10.1080%2F20008198.2021.1930961

Chopra, M. P., Zhang, H., Kaiser, A. P., Moye, J. A., Llorente, M. D., Oslin, D. W., & Spiro III, A. (2014). PTSD is a chronic, fluctuating disorder affecting the mental quality of life in older adults. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 22(1), 86-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2013.01.064</u>

- Chukwuorji, J. B. C., Ifeagwazi, C. M., & Eze, J. E. (2019). Event centrality influences posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms via core beliefs in internally displaced older adults. *Aging & mental health*, 23(1), 113-121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2017.1396580</u>
- Clark, D. A., Beck, A. T., & Alford, B. A. (1999). Scientific foundations of cognitive theory and therapy of depression. Philadelphia: Wiley. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1999-02440-000</u>
- Clark, D. M., & Wells, A. (1995). A cognitive model of social phobia. Social phobia: *Diagnosis, assessment, and treatment*, 41(68), 00022-3. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1995-98887-004
- Cloitre, M., Hyland, P., Prins, A., & Shevlin, M. (2021). The international trauma questionnaire (ITQ) measures reliable and clinically significant treatmentrelated change in PTSD and complex PTSD. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 12(1), 1930961.

https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1080/20008198.2021.1930961

- Cloitre, M., Shevlin, M., Brewin, C. R., Bisson, J. I., Roberts, N. P., Maercker, A.,
 ... & Hyland, P. (2018). The International Trauma Questionnaire:
 Development of a self-report measure of ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 138*(6), 536-546.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.12956</u>
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences*. Erlbaum, Hillsdale, NJ. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203771587</u>
- Cohen, J. (1992). Quantitative methods in psychology: A power primer. *Psychol. Bull.*, 112, 1155-1159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0033-2909.112.1.155</u>

- Cohen, J. (2013). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. *Routledge*. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203771587</u>
- Corder, G. W., & Foreman, D. I. (2014). *Nonparametric statistics: A step-by-step* approach. John Wiley & Sons. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118165881.ch1</u>
- Cortina, J. M., Sheng, Z., Keener, S. K., Keeler, K. R., Grubb, L. K., Schmitt, N., ... & Banks, G. C. (2020). From alpha to omega and beyond! A look at the past, present, and (possible) future of psychometric soundness in the Journal of Applied Psychology. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *105*(12), 1351. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/ap10000815</u>
- Crawford, E., & Wright, M. O. D. (2007). The impact of childhood psychological maltreatment on interpersonal Schemas and subsequent experiences of relationship aggression. *Journal of Emotional Abuse*, 7(2), 93-116. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1300/J135v07n02_06</u>
- Croux, C., & Dehon, C. (2010). Influence functions of the Spearman and Kendall correlation measures. *Statistical methods & applications*, *19*, 497-515. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1007/s10260-010-0142-z
- Cui, L., Lin, W., & Oei, T. P. (2011). Factor structure and psychometric properties of the Young Schema Questionnaire (Short Form) in Chinese undergraduate students. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 9, 645-655. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11469-010-9283-4</u>
- Cyr, G., Belanger, C., & Godbout, N. (2022). French translation and validation of the International Trauma Questionnaire in a Canadian community sample. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *128*, 105627.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2022.105627

- Czeisler, M. É., Wiley, J. F., Czeisler, C. A., Rajaratnam, S. M., & Howard, M. E.
 (2021). Uncovering survivorship bias in longitudinal mental health surveys during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Epidemiology and psychiatric sciences*, 30, e45. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2021.306460</u>
- Dancey, C. P., & Reidy, J. (2007). *Statistics without maths for psychology*. Pearson education.
- De Winter, J. C., Dodou, D., & Wieringa, P. A. (2009). Exploratory factor analysis with small sample sizes. *Multivariate behavioral research*, 44(2), 147-181. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1080/00273170902794206</u>
- Deeks, J.J., Higgins, J.P.T., Altman, D.G. (editors). Chapter 10: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins, J.P.T., Thomas, J., Chandler, J., Cumpston, M., Li, T., Page, M.J., Welch, V.A. (editors). *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.3 (updated February 2022)*. Cochrane, 2022. www.training.cochrane.org/handbook
- Dekel, S., Peleg, T., & Solomon, Z. (2013). The relationship of PTSD to negative cognitions: A 17-year longitudinal study. *Psychiatry*, 76(3), 241-255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/psyc.2013.76.3.241</u>
- Demirci, K., Orhan, H., Demirdas, A., Akpinar, A., & Sert, H. (2014). Validity and reliability of the Turkish Version of the Smartphone Addiction Scale in a younger population. *Klinik Psikofarmakoloji Bülteni-Bulletin of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 24(3), 226-234.

https://doi.org/10.5455/bcp.20140710040824

DeRight, J., & Jorgensen, R. S. (2015). I just want my research credit: Frequency of suboptimal effort in a non-clinical healthy undergraduate sample. *The*

Clinical Neuropsychologist, 29(1), 101-117.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13854046.2014.989267

- Dickinson, E. R., Adelson, J. L., & Owen, J. (2012). Gender balance, representativeness, and statistical power in sexuality research using undergraduate student samples. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 41(2), 325-327. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-011-9887-1</u>
- Diener, M. J. (2010). Cohen's d. *The Corsini encyclopedia of psychology*, 1-1. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470479216.corpsy0200
- Dobie, D. J., Kivlahan, D. R., Maynard, C., Bush, K. R., McFall, M., Epler, A. J., & Bradley, K. A. (2002). Screening for post-traumatic stress disorder in female Veteran's Affairs patients: validation of the PTSD checklist. *General hospital psychiatry*, 24(6), 367-374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-8343(02)00207-4</u>
- Donat, J. C., Lobo, N. D. S., Jacobsen, G. D. S., Guimarães, E. R., Kristensen, C. H., Berger, W., Mendlowicz, M. V., Lima, E. P., Vasconcelos, A. G., & Nascimento, E. (2019). Translation and cross-cultural adaptation of the International Trauma Questionnaire for use in Brazilian Portuguese. *Sao Paulo Medical Journal, 137*(3), 270-277. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/1516-</u> 3180.2019.0066070519
- Dozois, D. J., Bieling, P. J., Evraire, L. E., Patelis-Siotis, I., Hoar, L., Chudzik, S., ... & Westra, H. A. (2014). Changes in core beliefs (early maladaptive schemas) and self-representation in cognitive therapy and pharmacotherapy for depression. *International Journal of Cognitive Therapy*, 7(3), 217-234. https://doi.org/10.1521/IJCT.2014.7.3.217

Dunmore, E., Clark, D. M., & Ehlers, A. (2001). A prospective investigation of the role of cognitive factors in persistent posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) after physical or sexual assault. *Behaviour research and therapy*, 39(9), 1063-1084. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0005-7967(00)00088-7</u>

Edinburgh Napier University (2019) Data Protection Code of Practice. Edinburgh Napier University.

- Eftekhari, A., Hejazi, M., & Yazdani, K. (2018). Predicting marital satisfaction through early maladaptive schemas and communication styles of couples. *International Journal of Psychology (IPA), 12*(2), 118-146. <u>https://doi.org/10.24200/IJPB.2018.60303</u>
- Ehlers, A., & Clark, D. M. (2000). A cognitive model of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Behaviour research and therapy*, 38(4), 319-345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0005-7967(99)00123-0</u>
- Ehlers, A., Hackmann, A., & Michael, T. (2004). Intrusive re-experiencing in posttraumatic stress disorder: *Phenomenology, theory, and therapy. Memory, 12*(4), 403-415. https://doi.org/10.1080/09658210444000025
- Elliott, D. M. (1997). Traumatic events: prevalence and delayed recall in the general population. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 65(5), 811. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-006x.65.5.811</u>
- Ertürk, İ. Ş., Kahya, Y., & Gör, N. (2020). Childhood emotional maltreatment and aggression: The mediator role of the early maladaptive schema domains and difficulties in emotion regulation. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 29*(1), 92-110.

https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1080/10926771.2018.1541493

- Estévez, A., Ozerinjauregi, N., & Herrero-Fernández, D. (2016). Maladaptive schemas as mediators in the relationship between child sexual abuse and displaced aggression. *Journal of child sexual abuse*, 25(4), 449-465.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2016.1156207
- Evans, J. R., & Mathur, A. (2018). The value of online surveys: A look back and a look ahead. *Internet research*, 28(4), 854-887. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IntR-03-2018-0089</u>
- Evraire, L. E., & Dozois, D. J. (2014). If it be love indeed tell me how much: Early Core Beliefs associated with excessive reassurance seeking in depression. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science/Revue canadienne des sciences du comportement, 46*(1), 1. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0033486</u>
- Faber, J., & Fonseca, L. M. (2014). How sample size influences research outcomes. Dental press journal of orthodontics, 19, 27-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/2176-9451.19.4.027-029.ebo</u>
- Fan, C., & Zhang, D. (2012). A note on power and sample size calculations for the Kruskal–Wallis test for ordered categorical data. *Journal of biopharmaceutical statistics*, 22(6), 1162-1173. https://doi.org/10.1080/10543406.2011.578313
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149-1160. https://doi.org/10.3758/brm.41.4.1149
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical

sciences. Behavior Research Methods, 39, 175-191. https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03193146

- Felding, S. U., Mikkelsen, L. B., & Bach, B. (2021). Complex PTSD and personality disorder in ICD-11: when to assign one or two diagnoses?. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 29(6), 590-594. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/10398562211014212</u>
- Fernández-González, L., Orue, I., Adrián, L., & Calvete, E. (2021). Child-to-parent aggression and dating violence: Longitudinal associations and the predictive role of early maladaptive schemas. *Journal of family violence*, 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-021-00269-2</u>
- Field, A. (2018). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics Fifth edition. sage. <u>https://uk.sagepub.com/en-gb/eur/discovering-statistics-using-ibm-spss-statistics/book257672</u>
- Fincher, D., VanderEnde, K., Colbert, K., Houry, D., Smith, L. S., & Yount, K. M. (2015). Effect of face-to-face interview versus computer-assisted selfinterview on disclosure of intimate partner violence among African American women in WIC clinics. *Journal of interpersonal violence, 30*(5), 818-838. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260514536280
- Finizia, C., Rudberg, I., Bergqvist, H., & Rydén, A. (2012). A cross-sectional validation study of the Swedish version of SWAL-QOL. *Dysphagia*, 27, 325-335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00455-011-9369-6</u>
- First, M. B., Pincus, H. A., Levine, J. B., Williams, J. B., Ustun, B., & Peele, R. (2004). Clinical utility as a criterion for revising psychiatric diagnoses. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 161(6), 946-954.
 https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1176/appi.ajp.161.6.946

- Flett, G. L., Nepon, T., Hewitt, P. L., & Fitzgerald, K. (2016). Perfectionism, components of stress reactivity, and depressive symptoms. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 38*, 645-654. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1007/s10862-016-9554-x</u>
- Flora, D. B. (2020). Your coefficient alpha is probably wrong, but which coefficient omega is right? A tutorial on using R to obtain better reliability estimates. *Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science*, 3(4), 484-501. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2515245920951747</u>
- Foa, E. B., A. Ehlers, et al. (1999). The posttraumatic cognitions inventory (PTCI): Development and validation. *Psychological Assessment 11*(3), 303-314. <u>http://www.octc.co.uk/files/pdfs/PTCI.pdf</u>
- Ford, J. D., & Courtois, C. A. (2014). Complex PTSD, affect dysregulation, and borderline personality disorder. *Borderline Personality Disorder and Emotion Dysregulation*, 1(1), 1-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/2051-6673-1-9</u>
- Fouqueray, T., Lévesque, A., Turgeon, K., Bissonnette, J., Calmé, S., & Dupras, J. (2023). Remote participatory research has logistical benefits, but presents scientific and ethical challenges. *Environmental Research Letters*, 18(2), 021002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326%2Facb27d</u>
- Frans, Ö., Rimmö, P. A., Åberg, L., & Fredrikson, M. (2005). Trauma exposure and post-traumatic stress disorder in the general population. *Acta psychiatrica scandinavica*, 111(4), 291-290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-</u> 0447.2004.00463.x
- Freichel, R., Skjerdingstad, N., Mansueto, A. C., Epskamp, S., Hoffart, A., Johnson, S. U., & Ebrahimi, O. V. (2022). Use of substances to cope predicts PTSD

symptom persistence: Investigating patterns of interactions between complex PTSD symptoms and its maintaining mechanisms. https://bit.ly/3ubnWFR

Frost, R., Murphy, J., Hyland, P., Shevlin, M., Ben-Ezra, M., Hansen, M., ... & McDonagh, T. (2020). Revealing what is distinct by recognising what is common: distinguishing between complex PTSD and Borderline Personality Disorder symptoms using bifactor modelling. European Journal of Psychotraumatology, 11(1), 1836864.

https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2020.1836864

- Galloucis, M., Silverman, M. S., & Francek, H. M. (2000). The impact of trauma exposure on the cognitive schemas of a sample of paramedics. *International Journal of Emergency Mental Health*, 2(1), 5-18. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11232104/</u>
- Gay, L. E., Harding, H. G., Jackson, J. L., Burns, E. E., & Baker, B. D. (2013).
 Attachment style and early maladaptive schemas as mediators of the relationship between childhood emotional abuse and intimate partner violence. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 22*(4), 408-424. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2013.775982
- Gelezelyte, O., Roberts, N. P., Kvedaraite, M., Bisson, J. I., Brewin, C. R., Cloitre, M., ... & Kazlauskas, E. (2022). Validation of the international trauma interview (ITI) for the clinical assessment of ICD-11 posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and complex PTSD (CPTSD) in a Lithuanian sample. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology, 13*(1), 2037905. https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2022.2037905

- Gentry, M. T., Puspitasari, A. J., McKean, A. J., Williams, M. D., Breitinger, S.,
 Geske, J. R., ... & Hilty, D. M. (2021). Clinician satisfaction with rapid
 adoption and implementation of telehealth services during the COVID-19
 pandemic. *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 27(12), 1385-1392.
 https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2020.0575
- George, L. S., Park, C. L., & Chaudoir, S. R. (2016). Examining the relationship between trauma centrality and posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms: A moderated mediation approach. *Traumatology*, 22(2), 85. https://doi.org/10.1037/trm0000063
- Gibson, M., & Francis, A. J. (2019). Intergenerational transfer of early maladaptive schemas in mother–daughter dyads, and the role of parenting. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 43(4), 737-747.
 https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1007/s10608-018-09994-3
- Gignac, G. E., & Szodorai, E. T. (2016). Effect size guidelines for individual differences researchers. *Personality and individual differences*, 102, 74-78. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1016/j.paid.2016.06.069n</u>
- Gilbert, F., Daffern, M., Talevski, D., & Ogloff, J. R. (2013). The role of aggressionrelated cognition in the aggressive behavior of offenders: A general aggression model perspective. *Criminal justice and behavior*, 40(2), 119-138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854812467943</u>
- Glass, G. V. (1966). Testing homogeneity of variances. American Educational Research Journal, 3(3), 187-190. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312003003187</u>

Glueckauf, R. L., Maheu, M. M., Drude, K. P., Wells, B. A., Wang, Y., Gustafson,
D. J., & Nelson, E. L. (2018). Survey of psychologists' telebehavioral health
practices: Technology use ethical issues, and training needs. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 49(3), 205.
https://doi.org/10.1037/pro0000188

Goodwin, A. M., & Williams, J. M. G. (1982). Mood-induction research—its implications for clinical depression. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 20(4), 373-382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-7967(82)90097-3</u>

- Green, S. A., & Graham, B. M. (2022). Symptom fluctuation over the menstrual cycle in anxiety disorders, PTSD, and OCD: a systematic review. *Archives* of women's mental health, 1-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-021-01187-</u> <u>4</u>
- Green, S. B., & Yang, Y. (2015). Evaluation of dimensionality in the assessment of internal consistency reliability: Coefficient alpha and omega coefficients. *Educational Measurement: Issues and Practice, 34*(4), 14-20. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1111/emip.12100
- Greenblatt-Kimron, L., Karatzias, T., Yonatan, M., Shoham, A., Hyland, P., Ben-Ezra, M., & Shevlin, M. (2023). Early maladaptive schemas and ICD-11
 CPTSD symptoms: Treatment considerations. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice, 96*(1), 117-128.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/papt.12429
- Grondin, F., Lomanowska, A. M., & Jackson, P. L. (2019). Empathy in computermediated interactions: A conceptual framework for research and clinical

practice. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 26(4), e12298. https://doi.org/10.1111/cpsp.12298

- Guyatt, G. H., Oxman, A. D., Kunz, R., Brozek, J., Alonso-Coello, P., Rind, D., ... & Schünemann, H. J. (2011D). GRADE guidelines 6. Rating the quality of evidence—imprecision. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*, 64(12), 1283-1293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2011.01.012
- Guyatt, G. H., Oxman, A. D., Kunz, R., Woodcock, J., Brozek, J., Helfand, M., ... & GRADE Working Group. (2011B). GRADE guidelines: 8. Rating the quality of evidence—indirectness. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*, 64(12), 1303-1310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2011.04.014</u>
- Guyatt, G. H., Oxman, A. D., Kunz, R., Woodcock, J., Brozek, J., Helfand, M., ... & GRADE Working Group. (2011A). GRADE guidelines: 7. Rating the quality of evidence—inconsistency. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*, 64(12), 1294-1302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2011.04.014</u>
- Guyatt, G. H., Oxman, A. D., Montori, V., Vist, G., Kunz, R., Brozek, J., ... & Schünemann, H. J. (2011C). GRADE guidelines: 5. Rating the quality of evidence—publication bias. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*, 64(12), 1277-1282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2011.01.011</u>
- Guyatt, G. H., Oxman, A. D., Vist, G. E., Kunz, R., Falck-Ytter, Y., Alonso-Coello,
 P., & Schünemann, H. J. (2008). GRADE: an emerging consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *Bmj*, *336*(7650), 924-926. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.39489.470347.ad
- Guyatt, G. H., Oxman, A. D., Vist, G., Kunz, R., Brozek, J., Alonso-Coello, P., ... & Schünemann, H. J. (2011E). GRADE guidelines: 4. Rating the quality of

evidence—study limitations (risk of bias). *Journal of clinical epidemiology*, 64(4), 407-415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.07.017

- Hankins, M. (2008). The factor structure of the twelve item General Health
 Questionnaire (GHQ-12): the result of negative phrasing?. *Clinical Practice* and Epidemiology in Mental Health, 4, 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1745-</u> 0179-4-10
- Hansen, M., Vægter, H. B., Cloitre, M., & Andersen, T. E. (2021). Validation of the Danish International Trauma Questionnaire for posttraumatic stress disorder in chronic pain patients using clinician-rated diagnostic interviews. *European journal of psychotraumatology, 12*(1), 1880747. https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2021.1880747
- Hargittai, E., Piper, A. M., & Morris, M. R. (2019). From internet access to internet skills: digital inequality among older adults. *Universal Access in the Information Society*, 18, 881-890. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10209-018-0617-5</u>
- Haselgruber, A., Sölva, K., & Lueger-Schuster, B. (2020). Validation of ICD-11
 PTSD and complex PTSD in foster children using the International Trauma
 Questionnaire. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 141(1), 60-73.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.13100</u>
- Hassija, C. M., Robinson, D., Silva, Y., & Lewin, M. R. (2018). Dysfunctional parenting and intimate partner violence perpetration and victimization among college women: The mediating role of schemas. *Journal of Family Violence, 33*(1), 65-73. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1007/s10896-017-9942-3</u>

- Heim, E., Karatzias, T., & Maercker, A. (2022). Cultural concepts of distress and complex PTSD: Future directions for research and treatment. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 93, 102143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2022.102143</u>
- Herman, J. L. (1992). Complex PTSD: A syndrome in survivors of prolonged and repeated trauma. *Journal of traumatic stress*, 5(3), 377-391. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.2490050305
- Herman, J. L. (2015). *Trauma and recovery: The aftermath of violence--from domestic abuse to political terror*. Hachette, UK.
- Hess, S., Hensher, D. A., & Daly, A. (2012). Not bored yet–revisiting respondent fatigue in stated choice experiments. *Transportation research part A: policy* and practice, 46(3), 626-644. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2011.11.008</u>
- Hiçdurmaz, D., & Öz, F. (2016). Interpersonal sensitivity, coping ways and automatic thoughts of nursing students before and after a cognitive-behavioral group counseling program. *Nurse education today*, *36*, 152-158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2015.09.006
- Higgins, J. P. T., Thomas, J., Chandler, J., Cumpston, M., Li, T., Page, M.J., Welch,
 V.A. (editors). *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.3 (updated February 2022)*. Cochrane, 2022.
 www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.
- Ho, G. W., Karatzias, T., Cloitre, M., Chan, A. C., Bressington, D., Chien, W. T.,
 Hyland, P., & Shevlin, M. (2019). Translation and validation of the Chinese
 ICD-11 international trauma questionnaire (ITQ) for the assessment of
 posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and complex PTSD (CPTSD).

European journal of Psychotraumatology, 10(1), 1608718. https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.12956

- Hyland, P., Karatzias, T., Shevlin, M., McElroy, E., Ben-Ezra, M., Cloitre, M., & Brewin, C. R. (2021). Does requiring trauma exposure affect rates of ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD? Implications for DSM-5. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 13,* 133-142.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000908
- Hyland, P., Shevlin, M., Brewin, C. R., Cloitre, M., Downes, A. J., Jumbe, S., ... & Roberts, N. P. (2017). Validation of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and complex PTSD using the International Trauma Questionnaire. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *136*(3), 313-322.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.12771
- Hyland, P., Shevlin, M., Fyvie, C., Cloitre, M., & Karatzias, T. (2020). The relationship between ICD-11 PTSD, complex PTSD and dissociative experiences. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 21(1), 62-72. https://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2019.1675113
- Ide, N., & Paez, A. (2000). Complex PTSD: A review of current issues. International Journal of Emergency Mental Health. 2(1), 43–51 <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11232103/</u>
- Ioannidis, J. P. (2008). Interpretation of tests of heterogeneity and bias in metaanalysis. Journal of evaluation in clinical practice, 14(5), 951-957. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2753.2008.00986.x</u>

- James, I. A., Southam, L., & Blackburn, I. M. (2004). Schemas revisited. Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy: An International Journal of Theory & Practice, 11(6), 369-377. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.423</u>
- Janovsky, T., Clark, G. I., & Rock, A. J. (2019). Trait mindfulness mediates the relationship between early maladaptive schema and interpersonal problems. *Australian Psychologist*, 54(5), 391-401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ap.12390</u>
- Jelinek, L., Jacobsen, D., Kellner, M., Larbig, F., Biesold, K. H., Barre, K., & Moritz, S. (2006). Verbal and nonverbal memory functioning in posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD). *Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology*, 28(6), 940-948.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13803390591004347

- Jensen, T. K., Braathu, N., Birkeland, M. S., Ormhaug, S. M., & Skar, A. M. S. (2022). Complex PTSD and treatment outcomes in TF-CBT for youth: a naturalistic study. *European journal of psychotraumatology*, 13(2), 2114630. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20008066.2022.2114630</u>
- Jeong, D., Aggarwal, S., Robinson, J., Kumar, N., Spearot, A., & Park, D. S. (2023). Exhaustive or exhausting? Evidence on respondent fatigue in long surveys. *Journal of Development Economics*, 161, 102992.
- Joseph, R. (1999). The neurology of traumatic "dissociative" amnesia: Commentary and literature review. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 23(8), 715-727. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0145-2134(99)00048-4</u>
- Jowett, S., Karatzias, T., & Albert, I. (2020B). Multiple and interpersonal trauma are risk factors for both post-traumatic stress disorder and borderline personality disorder: A systematic review on the traumatic backgrounds and

clinical characteristics of comorbid post-traumatic stress disorder/borderline personality disorder groups versus single-disorder groups. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice, 93*(3), 621-638. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/per0000346</u>

- Jowett, S., Karatzias, T., Shevlin, M., & Albert, I. (2020A). Differentiating symptom profiles of ICD-11 PTSD, complex PTSD, and borderline personality disorder: A latent class analysis in a multiply traumatized sample. *Personality Disorders: theory, research, and treatment, 11*(1), 36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/per0000346</u>
- Jurcik, T., Jarvis, G. E., Zeleskov Doric, J., Krasavtseva, Y., Yaltonskaya, A., Ogiwara, K., Sasaki, J., Dubois, S., & Grigoryan, K. (2021). Adapting mental health services to the COVID-19 pandemic: Reflections from professionals in four countries. *Counselling Psychology Quarterly*, 34(3–4), 649. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1080/09515070.2020.1785846
- Kachadourian, L. K., Taft, C. T., Holowka, D. W., Woodward, H., Marx, B. P., & Burns, A. (2013). Maladaptive dependency schemas, posttraumatic stress hyperarousal symptoms, and intimate partner aggression perpetration. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 26(5), 580-587.
 https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1002/jts.21850

Kalkbrenner, M. T. (2023). Alpha, omega, and H internal consistency reliability estimates: Reviewing these options and when to use them. *Counseling Outcome Research and Evaluation*, 14(1), 77-88.
https://doi.org/10.1080/21501378.2021.1940118

- Karatzias, T., & Levendosky, A. A. (2019). Introduction to the special section on complex posttraumatic stress disorder (CPTSD): The evolution of a disorder. *Journal of Traumatic Stress, 32*(6), 817-821.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22476
- Karatzias, T., Bohus, M., Shevlin, M., Hyland, P., Bisson, J. I., Roberts, N., & Cloitre, M. (2023). Distinguishing between ICD-11 complex post-traumatic stress disorder and borderline personality disorder: clinical guide and recommendations for future research. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 1-4. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291719000436
- Karatzias, T., Cloitre, M., Maercker, A., Kazlauskas, E., Shevlin, M., Hyland, P., & Brewin, C. R. (2017). PTSD and Complex PTSD: ICD-11 updates on concept and measurement in the UK, USA, Germany and Lithuania. *European journal of psychotraumatology*, 8(sup7), 1418103. https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2017.1418103
- Karatzias, T., Hyland, P., Bradley, A., Fyvie, C., Logan, K., Easton, P., ... & Shevlin, M. (2019). Is self-compassion a worthwhile therapeutic target for ICD-11 complex PTSD (CPTSD)?. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 47(3), 257-269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1352465818000577</u>.
- Karatzias, T., Jowett, S., Begley, A., & Deas, S. (2016). Early maladaptive schemas in adult survivors of interpersonal trauma: foundations for a cognitive theory of psychopathology. *European journal of psychotraumatology*, 7(1), 30713. <u>https://doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v7.30713</u>
- Karatzias, T., Mc Glanaghy, E., & Cloitre, M. (2023). Enhanced Skills Training in Affective and Interpersonal Regulation (ESTAIR): A New Modular

Treatment for ICD-11 Complex Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (CPTSD). Brain Sciences, 13(9), 1300. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci13091300

- Karatzias, T., Murphy, P., Cloitre, M., Bisson, J., Roberts, N., Shevlin, M., ... & Hutton, P. (2019). Psychological interventions for ICD-11 complex PTSD symptoms: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychological medicine*, 49(11), 1761-1775. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291719000436</u>
- Karatzias, T., Shevlin, M., Hyland, P., Brewin, C. R., Cloitre, M., Bradley, A., ... & Roberts, N. P. (2018). The role of negative cognitions, emotion regulation strategies, and attachment style in complex post-traumatic stress disorder: Implications for new and existing therapies. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *57*(2), 177-185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjc.12172</u>
- Kaufman, J. S., Allbaugh, L. J., & Wright, M. O. D. (2018). Relational wellbeing following traumatic interpersonal events and challenges to core beliefs. *Psychological trauma: theory, research, practice, and policy, 10*(1), 103. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000253
- Kazlauskas, E., Gegieckaite, G., Hyland, P., Zelviene, P., & Cloitre, M. (2018). The structure of ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD in Lithuanian mental health services. *European journal of psychotraumatology*, 9(1), 1414559.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2017.1414559
- Ke, T., & Barlas, J. (2020). Thinking about feeling: Using trait emotional intelligence in understanding the associations between early maladaptive schemas and coping styles. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: theory, research and practice, 93*(1), 1-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/papt.12202</u>

- Kellogg, S. H., & Young, J. E. (2006). Schema therapy for borderline personality disorder. *Journal of clinical psychology*, 62(4), 445-458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20240</u>
- Kesmodel, U. S. (2018). Cross-sectional studies–what are they good for?. Acta obstetricia et gynecologica Scandinavica, 97(4), 388-393.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/aogs.13331</u>
- Khalilzadeh, J., & Tasci, A. D. (2017). Large sample size, significance level, and the effect size: Solutions to perils of using big data for academic research.*Tourism Management, 62*, 89-96.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TOURMAN.2017.03.026

- Knipscheer, J., Sleijpen, M., Frank, L., de Graaf, R., Kleber, R., Ten Have, M., & Dückers, M. (2020). Prevalence of potentially traumatic events, other life events and subsequent reactions indicative for posttraumatic stress disorder in the Netherlands: A general population study based on the Trauma Screening Questionnaire. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *17*(5), 1725. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17051725</u>
- Konken, L. C., & Howlett, M. (2022). When "Home" Becomes the "Field": Ethical Considerations in Digital and Remote Fieldwork. *Perspectives on Politics*, 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s1537592722002572</u>
- Koppers, D., Van, H., Peen, J., & Dekker, J. J. (2021). Psychological symptoms, early maladaptive schemas and schema modes: predictors of the outcome of group schema therapy in patients with personality disorders. *Psychotherapy Research*, *31*(7), 831-842. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10503307.2020.1852482</u>

- Krüger-Gottschalk, A., Ehring, T., Knaevelsrud, C., Dyer, A., Schäfer, I., Schellong, J., & Köhler, K. (2022). Confirmatory factor analysis of the Clinician-Administered PTSD Scale (CAPS-5) based on DSM-5 vs. ICD-11 criteria. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology, 13*(1), 2010995. https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2021.2010995
- Kunst, H., Lobbestael, J., Candel, I., & Batink, T. (2020). Early maladaptive schemas and their relation to personality disorders: A correlational examination in a clinical population. *Clinical psychology & psychotherapy*, 27(6), 837-846. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2467</u>
- Lakkis, N. A., & Mahmassani, D. M. (2015). Screening instruments for depression in primary care: a concise review for clinicians. *Postgraduate medicine*, *127*(1), 99-106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00325481.2015.992721</u>
- LaMotte, A. D., Taft, C. T., & Weatherill, R. P. (2016). Mistrust of others as a mediator of the relationship between trauma exposure and use of partner aggression. *Psychological trauma: theory, research, practice, and policy,* 8(4), 535. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000157
- Lantz, B. (2013). The large sample size fallacy. *Scandinavian journal of caring sciences*, 27(2), 487-492. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6712.2012.01052.x</u>

Lasserson, T. J., Thomas, J., Higgins, J.P.T., Chapter 1: Starting a review. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler, J., Cumpston, M., Li, T., Page, M.J., Welch, V.A. (editors). *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.3 (updated February 2022)*. Cochrane, 2022.
<u>www.training.cochrane.org/handbook</u>.
- Lau, J., Ioannidis, J. P., & Schmid, C. H. (1998). Summing up evidence: one answer is not always enough. *The lancet*, *351*(9096), 123-127.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(97)08468-7
- Lau, J., Ioannidis, J. P., Terrin, N., Schmid, C. H., & Olkin, I. (2006). The case of the misleading funnel plot. *Bmj*, 333(7568), 597-600.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.333.7568.597
- Lee, D. J., Weathers, F. W., Thompson-Hollands, J., Sloan, D. M., & Marx, B. P. (2022). Concordance in PTSD symptom change between DSM-5 versions of the Clinician-Administered PTSD Scale (CAPS-5) and PTSD Checklist (PCL-5). *Psychological assessment*, *34*(6), 604.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0001130
- Lee, S. J., Choi, Y. H., Rim, H. D., Won, S. H., & Lee, D. W. (2015). Reliability and validity of the Korean Young Schema Questionnaire-Short Form-3 in medical students. *Psychiatry investigation*, 12(3), 295. https://doi.org/10.4306%2Fpi.2015.12.3.295
- Lee, S., & Lee, D. K. (2018). What is the proper way to apply the multiple comparison test?. *Korean journal of anesthesiology*, *71*(5), 353-360. <u>https://doi.org/10.4097/kja.d.18.00242</u>
- Levis, B., Yan, X. W., He, C., Sun, Y., Benedetti, A., & Thombs, B. D. (2019).
 Comparison of depression prevalence estimates in meta-analyses based on screening tools and rating scales versus diagnostic interviews: a meta-research review. *BMC medicine*, *17*(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-019-1297-6</u>

- Lieggho, M., & Caragat, L. (2020). COVID-19 and Youth Living in Poverty: The Ethical Considerations of Moving From In-Person Interviews to a Photovoice Using Remote Methods. *Feminist Inquiry in Social Work*, 36(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109920939051</u>
- Maercker, A. (2021). Development of the new CPTSD diagnosis for ICD-11. Borderline personality disorder and emotion dysregulation, 8, 1-4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40479-021-00148-8</u>
- Maercker, A., Brewin, C. R., Bryant, R. A., Cloitre, M., van Ommeren, M., Jones, L.
 M., ... & Reed, G. M. (2013). Diagnosis and classification of disorders
 specifically associated with stress: Proposals for ICD-11. *World Psychiatry*, *12*(3), 198-206. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)62191-6
- Mailloux, S. L. (2014). The ethical imperative: Special considerations in the trauma counseling process. *Traumatology: An International Journal*, 20(1), 50. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1177/1534765613496649</u>
- Marcus, S. V., Marquis, P., & Sakai, C. (1997). Controlled study of treatment of PTSD using EMDR in an HMO setting. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 34*(3), 307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0087791</u>
- Matheson, C., & Weightman, E. (2021). Research and recovery: Can patient participation in research promote recovery for people with complex posttraumatic stress disorder, CPTSD?. *Health Expectations*, 24, 62-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.13014</u>
- McKee, M., Roring, S., Winterowd, C., & Porras, C. (2012). The relationship of negative self-Schemas and insecure partner attachment styles with anger

experience and expression among male batterers. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, *27*(13), 2685-2702. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260512436395

- McKight, P. E., & Najab, J. (2010). Kruskal-wallis test. *The corsini encyclopedia of psychology*, 1-1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470479216.corpsy0491</u>
- McNeish, D. (2018). Thanks coefficient alpha, we'll take it from here. *Psychological methods*, 23(3), 412. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/met0000144</u>
- Messman-Moore, T. L., & Coates, A. A. (2007). The impact of childhood psychological abuse on adult interpersonal conflict: The role of early Maladaptive Schemas and patterns of interpersonal behavior. *Journal of Emotional Abuse*, 7(2), 75-92. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1300/J135v07n02_05</u>
- Miller, K. E., Brownlow, J. A., Woodward, S., & Gehrman, P. R. (2017). Sleep and dreaming in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Current psychiatry reports*, 19, 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-017-0827-1</u>.
- Mills, K. L., McFarlane, A. C., Slade, T., Creamer, M., Silove, D., Teesson, M., & Bryant, R. (2011). Assessing the prevalence of trauma exposure in epidemiological surveys. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 45(5), 407-415. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/00048674.2010.543654</u>
- Mishra, P., Singh, U., Pandey, C. M., Mishra, P., & Pandey, G. (2019). Application of student's t-test, analysis of variance, and covariance. *Annals of cardiac anaesthesia*, 22(4), 407. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/aca.aca_157_18</u>
- Mizara, A., Papadopoulos, L., & McBride, S. R. (2012). Core beliefs and psychological distress in patients with psoriasis and atopic eczema attending secondary care: the role of schemas in chronic skin disease. *British Journal*

of Dermatology, *166*(5), 986-993. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-</u> <u>2133.2011.10799.x</u>

- Moher, D., Shamseer, L., Clarke, M., Ghersi, D., Liberati, A., Petticrew, M., ... & Stewart, L. A. (2015). Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. *Systematic reviews*, 4(1), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/2046-4053-4-1</u>
- Mojallal, M., Hakim Javadi, M., Mousavi, S. V. A., Hosseinkhanzadeh, A. A., &
 Gholam Ali Lavasani, M. (2015). Early maladaptive schemas and
 interpersonal problems in Iranian university students. *Practice in Clinical Psychology*, 3(1), 11-22. <u>http://jpcp.uswr.ac.ir/article-1-185-en.pdf</u>
- Muhammad, R. N., Tasmin, R., & Aziati, A. N. (2020, April). Sustainable competitive advantage of big data analytics in higher education sector: An Overview. *In Journal of Physics: Conference Series*,1529, (4), 042100.
 https://ui.adsabs.harvard.edu/link_gateway/2020JPhCS1529d2100M/doi:10.1088/1742-6596/1529/4/042100
- Müller-Engelmann, M., & Steil, R. (2017). Cognitive restructuring and imagery modification for posttraumatic stress disorder (CRIM-PTSD): A pilot study. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 54, 44-50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2016.06.004
- Murphy, D., Shevlin, M., Pearson, E., Greenberg, N., Wessely, S., Busuttil, W., & Karatzias, T. (2020). A validation study of the International Trauma Questionnaire to assess post-traumatic stress disorder in treatment-seeking veterans. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 216(3), 132-137. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2020.9

- Myers, L. B. (2000). Identifying repressors: A methodological issue for health psychology. *Psychology and Health*, 15(2), 205-214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08870440008400301</u>
- Naderi, Y., Moradi, A., Rahimi-Movaghar, V., Ramezanzade, F. (2015). Early Maladaptive Schemas in Post-traumatic Stress Disorder Patients: A potential risk factor. *Advances in Cognitive Science*, *17*(3).
 <u>https://icssjournal.ir/article-1-401-fa.pdf</u>
- National Institute for Clinical Excellence. (2018). *Post-traumatic stress disorder: NICE guideline*. <u>www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng116</u>
- Nayak, M. S. D. P., & Narayan, K. A. (2019). Strengths and weaknesses of online surveys. *technology*, 6(7), 0837-2405053138.
 <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.9790/0837-2405053138</u>
- Nevill, A. M., Atkinson, G., Hughes, M. D., & Cooper, S. M. (2002). Statistical methods for analysing discrete and categorical data recorded in performance analysis. *Journal of sports sciences*, 20(10), 829-844. https://doi.org/10.1080/026404102320675666
- Norcross, J. C., & Wampold, B. E. (2019). Relationships and responsiveness in the psychological treatment of trauma: The tragedy of the APA Clinical Practice Guideline. *Psychotherapy*, 56(3), 391. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pst0000228</u>
- Oates, J., Carpenter, D., Fisher, M., Goodson, S., Hannah, B., Kwiatowski, R., ... & Wainwright, T. (2021). BPS code of human research ethics. British Psychological Society. <u>https://www.bps.org.uk/guideline/bps-code-human-research-ethics</u>

- O'Connor, P., Izadikhah, Z., Abedini, S., & Jackson, C. J. (2018). Can deficits in emotional intelligence explain the negative relationship between abandonment schema and marital quality?. *Family Relations*, 67(4), 510-522. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/FARE.12320</u>
- Oei, T. P., & Baranoff, J. (2007). Young Schema Questionnaire: Review of psychometric and measurement issues. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 59(2), 78-86. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1080/00049530601148397</u>

Office for National Statistics (2015, May 22). *Internet users: 2015*. <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/itandinternetindustry/bull</u>

etins/internetusers/2015

Office for National Statistics (2016, August 4). Internet access – households and individuals, Great Britain: 2016. <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/householdcharacte</u>

ristics/homeinternetandsocialmediausage/bulletins/internetaccesshouseholds

and individuals/2016

Office for National Statistics (2020, August 7). Internet access – households and individuals. <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/householdcharacte</u> <u>ristics/homeinternetandsocialmediausage/datasets/internetaccesshouseholds</u> andindividualsreferencetables

Oldham, J. M. (1994). Personality disorders: Current perspective. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 272, 1770-1776. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/7966926/

- Onen, S., & Günes, A. (2021). Early maladaptive schemas, depression, distress and discomfort tolerance in migraine headache. Archives of Clinical Psychiatry (São Paulo), 47, 180-186. <u>https://doi.org/10.15761/0101-6083000000259</u>
- Ostertagova, E., Ostertag, O., & Kováč, J. (2014). Methodology and application of the Kruskal-Wallis test. *Applied mechanics and materials 611*, 115-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net%2FAMM.611.115</u>
- Otani, K., Suzuki, A., Matsumoto, Y., & Shirata, T. (2018). Interrelations among negative core beliefs, attachment anxiety and low self-directedness, putative central constructs of depression vulnerabilities in cognitive, attachment and psychobiological personality theories. *Psychiatry research*, 268, 34-36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2018.06.065
- Page, M. J., McKenzie, J. E., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T. C., Mulrow,
 C. D., ... & Moher, D. (2021). The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated
 guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *International journal of surgery*,
 88, 105906. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-021-01626-4
- Peirce, J. M., Burke, C. K., Stoller, K. B., Neufeld, K. J., & Brooner, R. K. (2009).
 Assessing traumatic event exposure: comparing the Traumatic Life Events
 Questionnaire to the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV. *Psychological Assessment*, 21(2), 210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015578</u>.
- Peterson, S. J., & Foley, S. (2021). Clinician's guide to understanding effect size, alpha level, power, and sample size. *Nutrition in Clinical Practice*, *36*(3), 598-605. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ncp.10674</u>
- Pilkington, P. D., Bishop, A., & Younan, R. (2021). Adverse childhood experiences and early maladaptive schemas in adulthood: A systematic review and

meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 28(3), 569-584. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2533

- Pinninti, N. R., Madison, H., Musser, E., & Rissmiller, D. (2003). MINI International Neuropsychiatric Schedule: clinical utility and patient acceptance. *European psychiatry*, 18(7), 361-364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2003.03.004
- Polit, D. F. (2014). Getting serious about test–retest reliability: a critique of retest research and some recommendations. *Quality of Life Research*, 23, 1713-1720. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-014-0632-9</u>
- Powers, A., Petri, J. M., Sleep, C., Mekawi, Y., Lathan, E. C., Shebuski, K., ... & Fani, N. (2022). Distinguishing PTSD, complex PTSD, and borderline personality disorder using exploratory structural equation modeling in a trauma-exposed urban sample. *Journal of anxiety disorders*, 88, 102558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2022.102558</u>
- Rameckers, S. A., van Emmerik, A. A., Bachrach, N., Lee, C. W., Morina, N., & Arntz, A. (2021). The impact of childhood maltreatment on the severity of childhood-related posttraumatic stress disorder in adults. *Child abuse & neglect*, *120*, 105208. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2021.105208</u>
- Rapee, R. M., & Heimberg, R. G. (1997). A cognitive-behavioral model of anxiety in social phobia. *Behaviour research and therapy*, 35(8), 741-756. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0005-7967(97)00022-3</u>
- Razali, N. M., & Wah, Y. B. (2011). Power comparisons of shapiro-wilk, kolmogorov-smirnov, lilliefors and anderson-darling tests. *Journal of*

statistical modeling and analytics, 2(1), 21-33.

http://www.de.ufpb.br/~ulisses/disciplinas/normality_tests_comparison.pdf

- Redican, E., Nolan, E., Hyland, P., Cloitre, M., McBride, O., Karatzias, T., Murphy, J., & Shevlin, M. (2021). A systematic literature review of factor analytic and mixture models of ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD using the International Trauma Questionnaire. *Journal of anxiety disorders*, 102381.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2021.102381
- Reeves, M., & Taylor, J. (2007). Specific relationships between core beliefs and personality disorder symptoms in a non-clinical sample. Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy: *An International Journal of Theory & Practice*, *14*(2), 96-104. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1002/cpp.519</u>
- Resick, P. A., Straud, C. L., Wachen, J. S., LoSavio, S. T., Peterson, A. L., McGeary, D. D., Young-McCaughan, S., Taylor, D. J., Mintz, J. (2023). A comparison of the CAPS-5 and PCL-5 to assess PTSD in military and veteran treatment-seeking samples. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 14(2), 2222608.

https://doi.org/10.1080/20008066.2023.2222608

- Revelle, W., & Zinbarg, R. E. (2009). Coefficients alpha, beta, omega, and the glb: Comments on Sijtsma. *Psychometrika*, 74(1), 145-154. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1007/s11336-008-9102-z</u>
- Riley, R. D., Higgins, J. P., & Deeks, J. J. (2011). Interpretation of random effects meta-analyses. *Bmj*, 342. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d549</u>
- Riso, L. P., Froman, S. E., Raouf, M., Gable, P., Maddux, R. E., Turini-Santorelli, N., ... & Cherry, M. (2006). The long-term stability of early maladaptive

schemas. *Cognitive Therapy and Research, 30*, 515-529. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-006-9015-z

- Rivest-Beauregard, M., Brunet, A., Gaston, L., Al Joboory, S., Trousselard, M., Simson, J. P., ... & El-Hage, W. (2022). The clinician-administered PTSD Scale for DSM-5 (CAPS-5) structured interview for PTSD: A French language validation study. *Psychological Assessment, 34*(3), e26. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0001099
- Roberts, N. P., Cloitre, M., Bisson, J., & Brewin, C. R. (2019). International trauma interview (ITI) for ICD- 11 PTSD and complex PTSD (Test Version 3.2).
- Robins, S., & Wilson, E., (2015). Participatory methodologies with victims: An emancipatory approach to transitional justice research. *Canadian Journal of Law and Society/La Revue Canadienne Droit et Soci´et´e 30*(2), 219–236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/cls.2015.17</u>
- Robinson, B. E., & Post, P. (1995). Split-half reliability of the work addiction risk test: Development of a measure of workaholism. *Psychological Reports*, 76(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.1995.76.3c.1226</u>
- Ross, T. P., Poston, A. M., Rein, P. A., Salvatore, A. N., Wills, N. L., & York, T. M. (2016). Performance invalidity base rates among healthy undergraduate research participants. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, *31*(1), 97-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2213-8587(15)00227-2</u>
- Saggino, A., Balsamo, M., Carlucci, L., Cavalletti, V., Sergi, M. R., Da Fermo, G., ... & Tommasi, M. (2018). Psychometric properties of the Italian version of the young schema questionnaire 1-3: Preliminary results. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 312. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00312</u>

- Sakulsriprasert, C., Phukao, D., Kanjanawong, S., & Meemon, N. (2016). The reliability and factor structure of Thai young schema questionnaire-short form 3. Asian Journal of Psychiatry, 24, 85-90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2016.09.011</u>
- Sandberg, D. A., Suess, E. A., & Heaton, J. L. (2010). Attachment anxiety as a mediator of the relationship between interpersonal trauma and posttraumatic symptomatology among college women. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 25(1), 33-49. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260508329126
- Saritaş, D., & Gençö, T. (2011). Psychometric Properties of" Young Schema Questionnaire-Short Form 3" In A Turkish Adolescent Sample. *Journal of Cognitive & Behavioral Psychotherapies*, 11(1). <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2011-25621-007</u>
- Savalei, V., & Rhemtulla, M. (2013). The performance of robust test statistics with categorical data. *British Journal of Mathematical and Statistical Psychology*, 66(2), 201-223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-</u> 8317.2012.02049.
- Schmidt, N. B., Joiner, T. E., Young, J. E., & Telch, M. J. (1995). The Schema Questionnaire: Investigation of psychometric properties and the hierarchical structure of maladaptive schemas. *Cognitive Therapy and Research, 19*, 295 – 321. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1007/BF02230402</u>
- Serdar, C. C., Cihan, M., Yücel, D., & Serdar, M. A. (2021). Sample size, power and effect size revisited: simplified and practical approaches in pre-clinical, clinical and laboratory studies. *Biochemia medica*, *31*(1), 27-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.11613/bm.2021.010502</u>

- Setia, M. S. (2016). Methodology series module 3: Cross-sectional studies. Indian journal of dermatology, 61(3), 261. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4103/0019-</u> <u>5154.182410</u>
- Sherman, J. J. (1998). Effects of psychotherapeutic treatments for PTSD: A metaanalysis of controlled clinical trials. *Journal of Traumatic Stress: Official Publication of The International Society for Traumatic Stress Studies*, 11(3), 413-435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1024444410595</u>
- Shi, L., & Lin, L. (2019). The trim-and-fill method for publication bias: practical guidelines and recommendations based on a large database of metaanalyses. *Medicine*, 98(23). <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/md.000000000015987</u>
- Shorey, R. C., Elmquist, J., Anderson, S., & Stuart, G. L. (2015). Early maladaptive schemas and aggression in men seeking residential substance use treatment. *Personality and individual differences*, 83, 6-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/02791072.2015.1050133
- Simard, V., Moss, E., & Pascuzzo, K. (2011). Early maladaptive schemas and child and adult attachment: A 15-year longitudinal study. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice,* 84(4), 349-366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8341.2010.02009.x</u>
- Simundic, A. M. (2013). Bias in research. *Biochemia medica*, 23(1), 12-15. https://doi.org/10.11613/bm.2013.003
- Siqveland, J., Hussain, A., Lindstrøm, J. C., Ruud, T., & Hauff, E. (2017). Prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder in persons with chronic pain: a meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 8, 164. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00164</u>

- Smyth, E. J., Gardner, F. L., Marks, D. R., & Moore, Z. E. (2017). An exploration of the mediators between childhood maltreatment and intimate partner violence. *Violence and victims*, 32(4), 567-583. https://doi.org/10.11613/BM.2013.003
- Soygüt, G., Karaosmanoğlu, A., & Cakir, Z. (2009). Assessment of early maladaptive schemas: A psychometric study of the Turkish Young Schema Questionnaire-Short Form-3. *Turkish Journal of psychiatry*, 20(1), 75-84. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19306129/</u>
- Stadnick, N., Chlebowski, C., Baker-Ericzén, M., Dyson, M., Garland, A., &
 Brookman-Frazee, L. (2017). Psychiatric comorbidity in autism spectrum disorder: Correspondence between mental health clinician report and structured parent interview. *Autism*, 21(7), 841-851.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361316654083
- Steen, S., Morris, D., Law, G. U., Fogarty, L., & Fox, C. (2023). Assessing moral injury and its clinical associations in a U.K. secure care population. *Traumatology*. Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/trm0000480</u>
- Steketee, G., Frost, R., & Bogart, K. (1996). The Yale-Brown obsessive-compulsive scale: Interview versus self-report. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 34(8), 675-684. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-7967(96)00036-8</u>
- Stevens, A., Fabra, M., & Thies, E. (2013). Self-report vs. clinical interview for posttraumatic stress disorder in medicolegal assessment. *German Journal of Psychiatry*, 16(3), 87-94. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2014-01843-001</u>

- Stone, A. A., Bachrach, C. A., Jobe, J. B., Kurtzman, H. S., & Cain, V. S. (Eds.).
 (1999). The science of self-report: Implications for research and practice.
 Psychology Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781410601261</u>
- Streiner, D. L. (2003). Starting at the beginning: an introduction to coefficient alpha and internal consistency. *Journal of personality assessment*, 80(1), 99-103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa8001_18</u>
- Sullivan, G. M., & Feinn, R. (2012). Using effect size—or why the P value is not enough. *Journal of graduate medical education*, 4(3), 279-282. <u>https://doi.org/10.4300/jgme-d-12-00156.1</u>
- Sutton, A. J., Duval, S. J., Tweedie, R. L., Abrams, K. R., & Jones, D. R. (2000). Empirical assessment of effect of publication bias on meta-analyses. *Bmj*, 320(7249), 1574-1577. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.320.7249.1574</u>
- Sysko, R., Glasofer, D. R., Hildebrandt, T., Klimek, P., Mitchell, J. E., Berg, K. C.,
 ... & Walsh, B. T. (2015). The Eating Disorder Assessment for DSM-5
 (EDA-5): Development and validation of a structured interview for feeding and eating disorders. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 48(5), 452-463. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22388
- Tavakol, M., & Dennick, R. (2011). Making sense of Cronbach's alpha. International journal of medical education, 2, 53. <u>https://doi.org/10.5116/ijme.4dfb.8dfd</u>
- Testa, S. M. (2008). The shaping of vulnerability factors including core cognitive beliefs and their subsequent role in posttraumatic stress disorder and general clinical psychopathology. *The Pennsylvania State University*. <u>https://etda.libraries.psu.edu/files/final_submissions/5707</u>

- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. Perioperative Nursing-Quarterly scientific, online official journal of GORNA, 7(3 September-December 2018), 155-163. <u>https://zenodo.org/record/2552022</u>
- Thimm, J. C. (2013). Early maladaptive schemas and interpersonal problems: A circumplex analysis of the YSQ-SF. *International journal of psychology and psychological therapy*, 13(1), 113-124. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2013-10226-008
- Tomaino, S. C. M., Viganò, G., & Cipolletta, S. (2022). The COVID-19 crisis as an evolutionary catalyst of online psychological interventions. A systematic review and qualitative synthesis. *International Journal of Human–Computer Interaction*, 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2022.2111047</u>
- Tremblay, P. F., & Dozois, D. J. (2009). Another perspective on trait aggressiveness: Overlap with early maladaptive schemas. *Personality and individual differences*, 46(5-6), 569-574.

https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1016/j.paid.2008.12.009

- Vallières, F., Ceannt, R., Daccache, F., Abou Daher, R., Sleiman, J., Gilmore, B., ...
 & Hyland, P. (2018). ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD amongst Syrian refugees in Lebanon: the factor structure and the clinical utility of the International Trauma Questionnaire. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 138(6), 547-557. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.12973</u>
- van der Kolk, B. A., (2005). Developmental Trauma Disorder. *Psychiatric Annals,* 35(5), 401-408. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/00485713-20050501-06</u>

- van Praag, D. L. G., Fardzadeh, H. E., Covic, A., Maas, A. I. R., von Steinbüchel, N. (2020) Preliminary validation of the Dutch version of the Posttraumatic stress disorder checklist for DSM-5 (PCL-5) after traumatic brain injury in a civilian population. *PLoS ONE 15*(4): e0231857. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0231857
- van Vlierberghe, L., Braet, C., Bosmans, G., Rosseel, Y., & Bögels, S. (2010).
 Maladaptive schemas and psychopathology in adolescence: On the utility of young's schema theory in youth. *Cognitive therapy and research*, *34*, 316-332. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1007/s10608-009-9283-5</u>
- Vang, M. L., Dokkedahl, S. B., Løkkegaard, S. S., Jakobsen, A. V., Møller, L., Auning-Hansen, M. A., & Elklit, A. (2021). Validation of ICD-11 PTSD and DSO using the International Trauma Questionnaire in five clinical samples recruited in Denmark. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 12(1), 1894806. https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2021.1894806
- Vasilopoulou, E., Karatzias, T., Hyland, P., Wallace, H., & Guzman, A. (2020). The mediating role of early maladaptive schemas in the relationship between childhood traumatic events and complex posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in older adults (> 64 years). *Journal of loss and trauma, 25*(2), 141-158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15325024.2019.1661598</u>
- Videler, A. C., van Alphen, S. P., van Royen, R. J., van der Feltz-Cornelis, C. M., Rossi, G., & Arntz, A. (2018). Schema therapy for personality disorders in older adults: a multiple-baseline study. *Aging & mental health*, 22(6), 738-747. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2017.1318260</u>.

- Visted, E., Sørensen, L., Osnes, B., Svendsen, J. L., Binder, P. E., & Schanche, E. (2017). The association between self-reported difficulties in emotion regulation and heart rate variability: the salient role of not accepting negative emotions. *Frontiers in psychology*, *8*, 328. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389%2Ffpsyg.2017.00328</u>
- Waller, G., Meyer, C., & Ohanian, V. (2001). Psychometric properties of the long and short versions of the Young Schema Questionnaire: Core beliefs among bulimic and comparison women. *Cognitive therapy and research*, 25, 137-147. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1023/A:1026487018110</u>
- Wang, X., & Cheng, Z. (2020). Cross-sectional studies: strengths, weaknesses, and recommendations. *Chest*, 158(1), S65-S71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chest.2020.03.012</u>
- Weathers, F. W., Bovin, M. J., Lee, D. J., Sloan, D. M., Schnurr, P. P., Kaloupek, D. G., ... & Marx, B. P. (2018). The Clinician-Administered PTSD Scale for DSM–5 (CAPS-5): Development and initial psychometric evaluation in military veterans. *Psychological assessment*, *30*(3), 383.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000486
- Weissman, M. M. (1993). The epidemiology of personality disorders: A 1990 update. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 7, 4462. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1993-33722-001</u>
- Wild, J., Warnock-Parkes, E., Grey, N., Stott, R., Wiedemann, M., Canvin, L.,Rankin, H., Shepher, E., Forkert, A., Clark, D. M., & Ehlers, A. (2016).Internet-delivered cognitive therapy for PTSD: a development pilot series.

European Journal of Psychotraumatology, 7(1), 31019. http://dx.doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v7.31019.

- Willig, C., & Rogers, W. S. (Eds.). (2017). The SAGE handbook of qualitative research in psychology. Sage. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526405555</u>
- Wong, Q. J., Gregory, B., Gaston, J. E., Rapee, R. M., Wilson, J. K., & Abbott, M. J. (2017). Development and validation of the Core Beliefs Questionnaire in a sample of individuals with social anxiety disorder. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 207, 121-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.05.069</u>
- Woodyatt, C. R., Finneran, C. A., & Stephenson, R. (2016). In-person versus online focus group discussions: A comparative analysis of data quality. *Qualitative health research*, 26(6), 741-749.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316631510

- World Health Organisation, (2022B). *ICD-11 2022 release*. Geneva: World Health Organization. <u>https://www.who.int/news/item/11-02-2022-icd-11-2022-</u> release
- World Health Organisation. (2018). *ICD-11 [Press Release]*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/spotlight/international-classification-of-</u> diseases
- World Health Organisation. ICD 10 International Classification of Diseases and health related problems: tenth revision. 2004. Geneva.
- World Health Organization. (1992). The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders: clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines. World Health Organization. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/37958</u>

World Health Organization. (2019). International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems (11th ed.). <u>https://icd.who.int/</u>

- World Health Orgnaisation, (2022A). International Classification of Diseases Eleventh Revision (ICD-11) Reference Guide. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Wright, K. B. (2005). Researching Internet-based populations: Advantages and disadvantages of online survey research, online questionnaire authoring software packages, and web survey services. *Journal of computer-mediated communication*, *10*(3), JCMC1034. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-</u> <u>6101.2005.tb00259.x</u>
- Yakın, D., Gençöz, T., Steenbergen, L., & Arntz, A. (2019). An integrative perspective on the interplay between early Maladaptive Schemas and mental health: The role of self-compassion and emotion regulation. *Journal* of clinical psychology, 75(6), 1098-1113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22755</u>
- Yalcin, O., Lee, C., & Correia, H. (2020). Factor structure of the Young schema questionnaire (long Form-3). *Australian Psychologist*, 55(5), 546-558. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1111/ap.12458</u>
- Yoo, G., Park, J. H., & Jun, H. J. (2014). Early Maladaptive Schemas as predictors of interpersonal orientation and peer connectedness in university students. *Social Behavior and Personality: an international journal*, 42(8), 1377-1394. <u>https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.2014.42.8.1377</u>
- Young, J. E. (1994). Cognitive therapy for personality disorders: A schema-focused approach (2nd ed.). Sarasota, FL: Professional Resource Exchange <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1994-98188-000</u>

Young, J. E., Klosko, J. S., & Weishaar, M. E. (2003). Schema therapy. *New York: Guilford*, 254. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2003-00629-000</u>

Zerach, G. (2023). PTSD and Complex PTSD Symptoms among Israeli Women Veterans: Role of Conformity to Masculine Norms and Coping Strategies. Sex Roles, 1-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-023-01403-8</u>.

9 Appendices

Authors	Year	Reason for exclusion
Akyunus & Gencöz	2019	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Baker et al	2016	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Barnow et al	2009	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Bartholomaeus & Strelan	2016	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Beretta et al	2005	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Besser et al	2008	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Birkley & Eckhardt	2019	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Borges & Dell'Aglio	2020	Sample not suitable
Bornstein et al	2005	DSO measure not present
Calevete et al	2005	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Casale et al	2016	Self-NCB measure not
	••••	present
Chatav & Whisman	2009	Self-NCB measure not
	2016	present
Collett et al	2016	DSO measure not present
Cracco et al	2020	Self-NCB measure not
Demochance di stal	2019	present
Daneshmandi et al	2018	Sell-INCB measure not
DePrince et el	2000	Solf NCP measure not
Deprince et al	2009	Sell-INCB measure not
Dorrostojin at al	2010	Solf NCP massure not
Donestejin et al	2019	present
Flett et al	2012	Self-NCB measure not
	2012	present
Flett et al	2016	Self-NCB measure not
	2010	present
Ford et al	2018	Self-NCB measure not
	2010	present
Gude & Hoffart	2008	Self-NCB measure not
	2000	present
Holmes et al	2019	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Huang & Murninghan	2010	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Ingram et al	1990	DSO measure not present
		r r r r

9.1 Table of screened and excluded studies

Ingram et al	2007	Self-NCB measure not
Karbasdahi at al	2018	present Self NCB measure not
Kaibasuem et ai	2018	present
Kawashima et al	2016	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Khalili et al	2022	Usable data not provided or
		made available upon request
Kimball et al	2019	DSO measure not present
Kneeland et al	2016	Self-NCB measure not
Konala Siblay & Santar	2000	Solf NCP massure not
Kopala-Sloley & Santoi	2009	present
Lau, Haigh et al	2012	Self-NCB measure not
Luu, mugn et ul	2012	present
Leahy et al	2019	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Lightsey et al	2013	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Lightsey et al	2012	Self-NCB measure not
Mahali at al	2020	Solf NCP massure not
Manan et al	2020	present
Mathew et al	2014	Self-NCB measure not
	2011	present
Manser et al	2012	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Martin et al	2018	DSO measure not present
Mazloom et al	2016	Self-NCB measure not
	1000	present
McKenar et al	1990	Sell-NCB measure not
Nicol et al	2022	Sample not suitable
Nordhal et al	2022	DSO measure not present
Norman et al	1988	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Peden et al	2000	DSO measure not present
Pirgablou et al	2013	Self-NCB measure not
	2010	present
Quinlan et al	2018	Self-NCB measure not
Ouirk at al	2015	DSO measure not present
Sovoiit & Savasir	2013	Self-NCB measure not
Soygur & Suvuşii	2001	present
Stewart & Harkness	2016	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Suh et al	2019	Self-NCB measure not
		present
Swami & Mammadova	2012	Self-NCB measure not
		present

Thomas & Larkin	2020	Self-NCB measure not present
Tilden & Dattilio	2005	Self-NCB measure not present
Vaillaincourt-Morel et al	2019	Sample not suitable
Valdez et al	2013	Self-NCB measure not present
Vasilopoulou et al	2020	Single DSO measure not present
Wells et al	2016	Self-NCB measure not present
Yesilaprak et al	2019	DSO measure not present

AHRQ aspect	Criteria	Scoring
Unbiased	Inclusion/exclusion criteria and	Yes- all criteria met
selection of	rationale clear	Partial- two criteria met
cohort	Recruitment strategy and	No- \leq one criterion met, or
	rationale described clearly	recruitment strategy is deemed
	Recruitment strategy free from	to be at risk of bias
	bias (i.e., not advertising in	Unclear- it is not clear whether a
	specific publications, not only	criterion is met
	undergraduate students	
	participating etc.)?	
Sample size	A sample size calculation was	Yes- all criteria met
calculation	conducted and published	Partial- sample size calculation
	Actual recruitment meets target	conducted but recruitment target
	set using calculation (10%	not met
	tolerance)	No- no sample size calculation
	If no calculation is published,	published and/or small sample
	sample size is adequate to	size
	detect effects at desired level	Unclear- it is not clear whether
		any criterion was met
Adequate	Reported age characteristics of	Yes- tour or five criteria
description of	sample	reported (if only four reported,
conort	Reported sex or gender	omitted criterion must be
	characteristics of sample	ethnicity, education, or
	Reported education	Derticle true on three eriteric
	Departed athrisity	Partial- two or three criteria
	Reported ethnicity	reported, or four criteria reported
	Reported employment	with age of gender criteria
	characteristics of sample	No. \leq one criteria reported or $<$
	characteristics of sample.	four criteria reported with age or
		gender omitted
Validated DSO	Valid and reliable measure	Yes- validated measure used
assessment tool	used to measure presence of	Partial- measure used is
	DSO symptom	validated but validation research
		is of poor quality or inconclusive
		No- measurement tool is
		unvalidated
		Unclear- tool used to measure
		DSO symptom is not described
Validated NCB	Valid and reliable measure	Yes- validated measure used
assessment tool	used to measure presence of	Partial- measure used is
	NCB (N.B. for the purposes of	validated but validation research
	this paper, and due to the	is of poor quality or inconclusive
	reasons listed in section Error! R	(i.e., use of YSQ)
	eference source not found.,	No- measurement tool is
	the YSQ is considered a non-	unvalidated
	validated tool)	Unclear- tool used to measure
		NCB is not described

9.2 AHRQ scoring criteria

Missing data	It is clear how missing or	Yes- reported no missing or
low or well-	incomplete data was identified	incomplete data, or all four
handled	and accounted for	above criteria met
	Missing data does not exceed	Partial- missing data exceeds
	20%	20%, or two to three criteria are
	Appropriate analytic methods	met
	were employed to minimise	No-≤one criteria met
	bias from missing data	Unclear- missing or incomplete
	There is no reason to assume	data not referenced
	that any portion of data is	
	missing	
Analytic	Analysis is appropriate for the	Yes- both criteria met
methods	type of data collected (i.e.,	Partial- one criterion met
appropriate	categorical, continuous etc.)	No- neither criterion met
	Number of variables	Unclear- not enough information
	appropriate for the sample size	to determine suitability of
		analytic methods
methods appropriate	type of data collected (i.e., categorical, continuous etc.) Number of variables appropriate for the sample size	Partial- one criterion met No- neither criterion met Unclear- not enough informat to determine suitability of analytic methods

Risk of bias within study	Risk of bias across all studies	Interpretation across all studies	Downgrade?
Low risk of bias for all key criteria	Most studies are at low risk of bias	The true effect lies close to the estimated effect	Do not downgrade
Major risk of bias in one major criterion or minor risks of bias in multiple criteria	Most studies are at moderate risk of bias	Substantial possibility that the true effect differs from the estimated effect	Rate down one level
Major risk of bias in multiple major criteria	Most studies are at high risk of bias	It is likely that the true effect is substantially different from the estimated effect	Rate down two levels

9.3 Upgrading and downgrading GRADE risk of bias criterion

9.5 Online survey study data management plan

SIMPLE DATA MANAGEMENT PLAN

PI: Thanos Karatzias

Project title: Building and Testing a Novel Cognitive-Developmental Model for the Development and Maintenance of ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD

Project dates: April 2023 – October 2025

Project type: PhD Student

1. Lay description of the work (max 200 words):

There are currently no theoretical models for the development and maintenance of complex-PTSD, and current models of PTSD are often limited to cognitive mechanisms. This proposal will therefore aim to build and test a new conceptualisation for the development and maintenance of CPTSD and PTSD. The construction of the model will begin by illustrating how adverse and benevolent childhood experiences may act to increase or decrease susceptibility to developing PTSD or CPTSD after trauma exposure. To do this, latent classes of both ACEs and BCEs will be identified, as currently no research has identified typologies of BCEs independently of or concurrently with ACEs.

Secondly, the model will explore the mechanisms of event centrality, negative core beliefs and rumination as mediators in the relationship between ACEs/BCEs and PTSD/DSO symptomology. This research hypothesises that higher numbers and vulnerable typologies of ACE exposure will increase event centralisation, rumination, and negative core beliefs, which will contribute to the development and maintenance of the symptoms of PTSD and CPTSD. These associations will be stronger or different in CPTSD DSO symptoms. It is also proposed that higher numbers and invulnerable typologies of BCEs will protect against the development/maintenance of the conditions through decreasing maladaptive mechanisms.

2. Short description of methods used to collect and analyse the data

The data will be collected through online survey company TGM Research who maintain nationally representative survey panels in 130 countries. TGM Research will host the online survey, recruit 2000 appropriate participants matching the study criteria and collect the raw data from the measures provided by the research team.

All data from TGM respondents is encoded and presented as a unique ID in the first instance, and the data is presented anonymously and does not violate the provisions of the GDPR. The data will be provided in this form from TGM in excel and SPSS format, and downloadable to the research team via a password protected link. No identifiable participant data is being collected, and participants will be distinguished by an ID number only. Data will therefore be anonymous in any publications. Participant data will be stored and processed within separate password-protected files on the university network which will be accessed securely e.g., via Virtual Desktop/ VPN. Only the researcher will have

access to these files. Non-identifiable data will be entered into a Microsoft excel spreadsheet for storage and processing. All data will be held securely and treated in accordance with the BPS (2009) Code of Ethics and Conduct and BPS (2014) Code of Human Research Ethics guidelines documents and the study will adhere to the principles of Good Clinical Practice.

Data will be collated and analysed through programmes Excel, PDF, SPSS, R and MPlus on the researcher's secure device, and kept securely as outlined below. The methods of analysis will include descriptive statistics, latent class analysis, correlation coefficients and structural equation modelling.

3. What information or data is being collected generated and analysed in this work? (Including secondary data and publicly available information):

a. Types, File Format, software used, and scale:

A large set of quantitative data from 2000 participants will be gathered for this study. File types will include raw data stored in Microsoft Office Word and Excel, alongside CSV files. Analysed data will be stored in SPSS, R and MPlus outputs and written up in Word and PDF documents. The researcher will collect the following:

- Participants gender, age, residence, ethnicity, highest qualification, religion, employment status, income, and if the participant has received any past treatment for mental health difficulties. Since the data is being generated online, IP addresses will also be collected.
- Participants' scores on International Trauma Questionnaire (ITQ)
- Details on Participants' most important traumatic event (ITEM)
- Participants scores on The Adverse Childhood Experiences Scale (ACE)
- Participants scores on A Brief Positive School Experiences (B-PSEs)
- Participants scores on The Memories of Home and Family Scale Short Form (MHFS-SF)
- Participants scores on The Benevolent Childhood Experiences Scale
- Participants' scores on The Centrality of Events Scale (CES)
- Participants' scores on The Ruminative Response Scale (RRS) Brooding Subscale
- Participants' scores on the Core Beliefs Questionnaire (CBQ)

b. How will this be collected:

The data will be collected via the host company TGM Research. TGM Research will create, disseminate, and host the online survey, and will recruit 2000 appropriate participants matching the study criteria. TGM Research will collect the raw data from the measures provided by the research team and then provide this securely to the researcher via a password protected link.

All data from TGM respondents is encoded and presented as a unique ID, and the data is presented anonymously and does not violate the provisions of the GDPR. Additionally, the respondent by registering to the TGM panel consents to the processing of their data by TGM and by participating in the survey, they also consent to the collective data processing by TGM partners. Data for this project will be sent by TGM to the research team via SPSS and excel format – no PIIs will be collected for this project.

c. What is retention period of data/information/documents:

TGM Research will delete the data from their secure servers once the study is complete. Exclusive use of data will be maintained by the research team until the completion of the study project (estimated October 2025). After this time, the data will be available upon request from the University repository.

The <u>Edinburgh Napier Data Management Policy</u> states requires research data to be retained after project completion if they substantiate research findings, are of potential long-term value or support a patent for at least 10 years. The policy also requires that funders and/or sponsors requirements are met. Long term storage is provided through the University data repository.

4. How will the information or data be stored or curated

Data storage: Digital research data/information will be stored on the University's X:drive (V:Drive for students). University-managed data storage is resilient, with multiple copies stored in more than one physical location and protection against corruption. Daily backups are kept for 14 days and monthly backups for an additional year.

Metadata: All research data will be organized as per the Universities metadata standards <u>http://staff.napier.ac.uk/services/research-innovation-office/research-</u> <u>data/Pages/Organising.aspx</u>

Data preservation: The <u>Edinburgh Napier Data Management Policy</u> states requires research data to be retained after project completion if they **substantiate research** findings, are of potential long-term value or support a patent for at least 10 years. The policy also requires that funders and/or sponsors requirements are met. Long term storage is provided through the University data repository.

4. Summarise the main risks to the confidentiality and security of information:

Napier University meets the Cyber Essential standards for data stored in the X:Drive/V:drive.

All research data will be organized as per the Universities metadata standards <u>http://staff.napier.ac.uk/services/research-innovation-office/research-</u><u>data/Pages/Organising.aspx</u>

Storage of digital data will be on university computer V-Drives. In these instances, firewall protection is in place to ensure security of data. All data processing will take place on university computers or on a virtual desktop on a home computer. This means that at all times data will be protected by university firewalls, and erasure of data from home pc hard drives is not necessary.

When collecting and transferring data to X:Drive/V:Drive or sharing with collaborators the risks and mitigations are:

It is unlikely but possible that data may be breached during the transfer from TGM Research to the university X:Drive/V:Drive, or when shared amongst the research team.

This may occur if data is transferred insecurely, to an incorrect recipient or third party, downloaded to a personal or insecure device which may become compromised, or if data is lost or altered during transfer.

These risks have been mitigated by the sole use of the university's secure storage by all of the research team ensuring that the data is stored securely at all times. Personal data will not be shared via any insecure means such as email. The data will be transferred by TGM Research via a password protected link, of which the download link and the password will be sent separately. This will limit the possibility of any data breaches from a third party or incorrect recipient.

5. Data sharing and access

Suitability for sharing: Data generated by the project (identified above) will be made open once appropriate changes have been made to honour assurances of confidentiality and anonymity.

Where data may not be freely available the metadata only will be made available in the repository and the datasets available on request and subject to a data sharing agreement **Discoverability:** Datasets will be allocated a DOI and stored on our open access Research Repository in accordance with the University research data deposit process. The DOI and the datasets will be made available to the repository within three months of the end of the grant/project.

6. Governance of access to shared data

Who makes decision on whether a new user can access the data/information? Not required when data is fully open. Where data may not be freely available a decision to share will be made jointly between the PI and the University data access panel Are there any restrictions on making data/information available? Eg ethics, IP, confidentiality agreements. If so, please detail here:

No restrictions.

Researchers will have exclusive use of the data prior to publication. Exclusive use of data will be maintained by the research team until the completion of the study project (estimated October 2025). After this time, the data will be available upon request from the University repository. Where data may not be freely available the metadata only will be made available in the repository and the datasets available on request and subject to a data sharing agreement which will prohibit any attempt to breach confidentiality. The data sharing agreement will also include specific individuals to whom the data will be released, the purposes for the release of data, any constrains on publication of the data, and arrangements for data destruction or secure archiving on the part of the individuals using the data.

7. Responsibilities:

The first point of contact for all queries in relation to this data is the PI. Who will also have overall responsibility for the production and maintenance of metadata. Preparation and upload of the data will be carried out by the team with the support of the University's Information Services staff.

University policies

Data Management Policy & Procedures	https://staff.napier.ac.uk/services/research- innovation- office/policies/Documents/Research%20Data%20M anagement%20Policy%202022.pdf
Data Security Policy	<u>http://staff.napier.ac.uk/services/cit/infosecurity/Pages/InformationSecurityPolicy.aspx</u>
Data Sharing Policy	http://staff.napier.ac.uk/services/secretary/governa nce/DataProtection/Pages/DataSharing.aspx
Data Protection for Research	https://staff.napier.ac.uk/services/governance- compliance/governance/DataProtection/Pages/Proc essingDataforResearch.aspx

9.6 Online survey invitation to participate



Invitation to study with TGM Panel Polska

Dear Panelist,

Based on the information stored in the panelist profile at TGM Panel Polska, we believe we have a survey that should be successfully completed by you.

Completing the survey will take about 25 minutes and if the survey is successfully completed, your account will be credited with PLN 3.60.

Complete the Survey Now

Can't open the link? Please copy the link below into your browser

Your participation in the survey is voluntary .

We increased the commission in the affiliate program to 25%. This means that for each survey completed by your referred panellists, you will receive a bonus of 25% of the **points** earned by your referred friends. Copy your <u>unique link</u> and send it to friends, family and friends on Facebook.

Cordial greetings, TGM Panel Poland

P.S. To ensure that our emails do not end up in your Inbox / SPAM bin, please add portal@tgmpanel.com to your contact list or address book.

9.7 Online survey participant information sheet

Participant Information

You are invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide whether to take part, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully. You may talk to others about the study if you wish. Please feel free to contact me if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information: sarah.guthrie@napier.ac.uk. Take as much time as you need to decide whether you wish to take part or not.

Project title: Building and Testing a Novel Cognitive-Developmental Model for the Development and Maintenance of ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD

Principal Investigator: Professor Thanos Karatzias, School of Health and Social Care, Edinburgh Napier University

Research Team: Sarah Guthrie (Edinburgh Napier University, Scotland), Professor Thanos Karatzias (Edinburgh Napier University, Scotland), Professor Anna Bak-Klimek (Edinburgh Napier University, Scotland), Professor Mark Shevlin (Ulster University, Northern Ireland).

Research Purpose and Procedures: We are hoping to better understand how Post Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex-Post Traumatic Stress Disorder develop after an individual has been exposed to a traumatic or stressful life event. To do this, we are considering the role of your positive and negative childhood experiences, your personal identity, and your thought patterns, and how these may or may not influence the later development of the conditions. You do not need to have a diagnosis to take part, but we are looking for individuals who have experienced traumatic or stressful life events.

By taking part in this research, you will be contributing to the understanding of mental health conditions, and how we may be affected by traumatic and stressful life events. We are recruiting adults from the general public based in the United Kingdom and Northern Ireland and you are invited to participate. This survey is open to members of the UK population aged 18-30 who have experienced a traumatic event. We have three key objectives for this research:

- 1. To assess the different types of positive and negative childhood experiences, and how these may be related to each other
- 2. To explore the impact of both positive and negative childhood experiences on the development and maintenance of PTSD and complex-PTSD

3. To examine if this relationship is impacted by thought patterns and personal identity, and if positive childhood experiences can protect against the conditions in any way.

You are under no obligation to participate in this survey. If you do choose to participate, it is expected to take approximately 25-30 minutes to complete the survey

Participants who are ineligible due to their age or who answer "never" to all trauma exposure items on the ITEM questionnaire will not be reimbursed, as well as those who withdraw from the study.

Survey Content:

In this survey, you will be asked to provide us with some demographic information including your gender, age, country of residence ethnicity, education level, religious beliefs, employment status, income, and if you have received any past treatment for any mental health difficulties. This information will be stored in a way that means it will not be able to be traced back to you and it will not be identifiable. This information will allow us to better understand the features of the population that has completed our survey.

Following this, you will be asked questions surrounding your experiences of traumatic and stressful life events, positive and negative childhood experiences, your current mental health status, your day-to-day functioning, your core beliefs about yourself and how you believe others see you, and your thinking patterns.

Risks and discomforts:

If you anticipate that answering the above questions will lead you to feel emotionally distressed or upset, please think carefully as to whether you would like to participate. If you choose to participate and find yourself becoming distressed at any time, you may stop and withdraw from the study. You can simply close the browser at any time. We believe, based on years of scientific evidence, that the risk of becoming distressed is very low. However, at the end of the survey we will provide you with information on organisations that provide free mental health services that should you feel in anyway distressed you can get in contact with. We do not think there are any other risks with this study, however, any study can have risks we are not aware of yet. We will strive to avoid any risks and will inform you as soon as possible should any risks arise.

Potential benefits:

Research using your data will help us to better understand how many people in the United Kingdom and Northern Ireland are affected by exposure to a traumatic or stressful life event, and how positive and negative childhood experiences may influence the way we react to these events and potentially influence our likelihood of developing PTSD or complex-PTSD. Your answers will also enable us to gain a better understanding of the proportion of the general population experiencing post-trauma related disorders as a result of traumatic and stressful life events and the factors which increase the risk for the development of such disorders. We hope this can help us to provide improved care and treatment for people affected by PTSD and CPTSD.

Provisions for confidentiality and data storage:

Your privacy is of upmost importance to us. All your responses will be kept strictly confidential, and all the data you provide will be completely anonymised. Your responses will only be accessible to members of the research team; however, the research team will never have access to any information that could be used to determine your identity. All your responses will be collected, stored, and used in full compliance with the European Commission's General Data Protection Regulations. All data collected will be stored on a password-protected, secured, and networked computer at Edinburgh Napier University. Although the research team will not have access to any of your personal information or contact details, TGM (the survey company) retains this information and may contact you in the future to invite you to participate in a follow-up study. There are, however, legal limits to confidentiality that you should be aware of. In exceptional circumstances, confidentiality of research data and records may be overridden by courts in the event of litigation or during investigation by lawful authority. In such circumstances, Edinburgh Napier University will take reasonable steps within the law to ensure that confidentiality is maintained to the greatest possible extent.

Voluntary participation and informed consent:

You don't have to take part in this study, you can refuse to take part if you want to. You can change your mind about participating in the study and opt out at any time even if the study has started. If you decide that you would like to participate in this study, you will be asked to provide informed consent by checking a box on the survey site. By doing so, you will be provided access to the survey questions. You will not be able to withdraw once you have submitted your responses.

Ethical Approval for this Study:

A favourable ethical opinion has been obtained the School of Health and Social Care Research and Integrity Committee at Edinburgh Napier University (REF: TBC).

Contact Details of Research Team:

Should you have any questions prior to, during, or after the research, you may contact the Principal Investigator of the project: Professor Thanos Karatzias, School of Health and Social Care, Edinburgh Napier University

If you would like to discuss this study with an independent person, please contact Amanda Woodrow:

9.8 Online survey privacy notice

Privacy notice

Name of Research Project: Building and Testing a Novel Cognitive-Developmental Model for the Development and Maintenance of ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD

Description of Project: The study involves participants completing a series of self-report measures through the online survey platform TGM Research

Data Controller	Edinburgh Napier University
Purposes for collection/ processing	To validate a new cognitive-developmental model for the development and maintenance of ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD
Legal basis	Art 6(1)(e), performance of a task in the public interest/exercise of official duty vested in the Controller by Statutory Instrument No. 557 (S76) of 1993 as amended, e.g. for education and research purposes.
	Where sensitive personal data is being processed the additional bases from Article 9 is:
	Art $9(2)(j)$ for archiving purposes in the public interest, scientific or historical research purposes or statistical purposes.
	All staff involved in this project will receive data quality and management, confidentiality, and record-keeping training
Whose information is being collected?	Participants from the general UK population accessible from TGMs nationally representative survey panels
What type/classes/fields of information are collected?	• Participants' gender, age, residence ethnicity, highest qualification, religion, employment status, income, and if the participant has received any past treatment for mental health difficulties.
	• Participants' scores on International Trauma Questionnaire (ITQ)
	• Details on Participants' most important traumatic event (ITEM)
	• Participants scores on The Adverse Childhood Experiences Scale (ACE)
	• Participants' scores on A Brief Positive School Experiences (B- PSEs)
	• Participants' scores on The Memories of Home and Family Scale Short Form (MHFS-SF)
	• Participants' scores on The Benevolent Childhood Experiences Scale
- Participants' scores on The Centrality of Events Scale (CES)
- Participants' scores on The Ruminative Response Scale (RRS) Brooding Subscale
- Participants' scores on the Core Beliefs Questionnaire (CBQ)

Who is the information being collected from?	Data is being collected directly from you as the participant in the study.
How is the information being collected?	Participant data is being collected through online survey company TGM Research
Is personal data shared externally?	No
How secure is the information?	Electronic information will be stored on the University network (which will be accessed remotely via secure methods e.g., Virtual Desktop or Virtual Private Network provided by the University) and therefore protected by university policies and procedures.
	TGM Research ensures that the research data we are provided with does not enable us to identify you.
	At the end of the project, the data will be stored within the university information repository, with all remaining copies of digital data being erased.
Who keeps the information updated?	Participants should advise the researcher of any updates to their personal data, where this is necessary. The researcher will have responsibility for keeping information updated if required.
How long is the information kept for?	Data will be retained in the university repository for 10 years. This does not include personal data such as dates of birth and ethnicity, which will be destroyed after the end of the project.
Will the data be used for any automated decision making?	No
Is information transferred to a third country? Outside the UK and not included in the adequate countries list.	No

Will the data from No the ITI be transferred to any other third party?

You can access all the University's privacy notices using the following link: <u>https://staff.napier.ac.uk/services/governance-</u> compliance/governance/DataProtection/Pages/statement.aspx

You have a number of rights available to you with regards to what personal data of yours is held by the University and how it is processed – to find out more about your rights, how to make a request and who to contact if you have any further queries about Data Protection please see the information online using the following URL: https://staff.napier.ac.uk/services/governance-

compliance/governance/DataProtection/Pages/default.aspx

9.9 Online survey consent form

Informed consent for research participation

Project title: Building and Testing a Novel Cognitive-Developmental Model for the Development and Maintenance of ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD

Principal Investigator: Thanos Karatzias, School of Health and Social Care, Edinburgh Napier University.

Informed Consent Statement:

I understand that I will be asked questions surrounding my experiences of traumatic and stressful life events, my positive and negative childhood experiences, my current mental health status, my day-to-day functioning, my core beliefs about myself and how I believe others see me, and my thinking patterns.

I further understand that it will take approximately 25-30 minutes to complete this survey and that I may stop answering the questions at any time that I wish. I can close the browser at any time. I am aware that all information provided is anonymous, confidential, and will be stored by the Research Team in accordance with General Data Protection Regulations. I am aware that if this research upsets me in any way and wish to discuss or report any issues with the study, I can contact the research team directly (t.karatzias@napier.ac.uk). I understand I will not be able to withdraw once I have submitted my responses. I have read, or had read to me, the Participant Information Form for this project (Version 2 26/4/23) and I understand the contents. I freely and voluntarily agree to be part of this research study, though without prejudice to my legal and ethical rights.

I understand that data collected for the study may be shared with other researchers (on an anonymous basis). Data sharing will only be conducted as per UK Data Protection Act 2018 and UK GDPR (General Data Protection Regulation) subject to a suitable data sharing agreement with Edinburgh Napier University.

I give consent for this form to stored electronically on the Edinburgh Napier University secure research computer drive.

o By clicking on this button I consent to participate in this survey

o I am at least 18 years old

o I refuse to participate- [terminate respondents]

9.10 International Trauma Exposure Measure

INTERNATIONAL TRAUMA EXPOSURE MEASURE (ITEM)

OVERVIEW: The *International Trauma Exposure Measure* (ITEM) is a new checklist developed to capture traumatic life events, and their associated features, in a manner consistent with the definition of a traumatic event in the 11th version of the International Classification of Diseases.

The ITEM measures exposure to different traumatic life events across different developmental periods (childhood, adolescence, and adulthood); frequency of exposure to one's most distressing traumatic event; and the main emotion associated with one's most distressing traumatic event. The ITEM is freely available to the research and clinical communities and may be used without permission.

Please note that the ITEM uses educational descriptors to aid respondents to accurately identify the period of their life in which their trauma occurred. The educational descriptors used in this example are appropriate for the Irish context in which the scale was developed. These descriptors should be amended for the context in which you wish to use the ITEM.

The reference for the ITEM is as follows:

Hyland, P., Karatzias, T., Shevlin, M., McElroy, E., Ben-Ezra, M., Cloitre, M., & Brewin, C. R. (in press). Does requiring trauma exposure affect rates of ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD? Implications for DSM-5. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*.

9.13 Online survey debrief sheet

Participant Debriefing Sheet

Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey. The information that you have provided will help us better understand the development and maintenance of PTSD and complex PTSD, potential risk and protective factors in childhood, as well as the impact of unhelpful thought patterns and self-belief's after exposure to a traumatic or stressful life event in the UK general population. We believe that the information that you have provided will contribute greatly to improving the lives of people affected by trauma exposure. If completing this survey led you to feel upset and you would like to speak to a mental health professional, we recommend that you contact your General Practitioner (GP). Your GP will be able to refer you to an appropriate mental health professional. Alternatively, you may contact any of the charitable organisations below who provide free telephone support for individuals experiencing mental health distress, or the consequences of experiencing a traumatic or stressful life event: The Samaritans: 116 123

SANEline: 0300 304 7000

For further information about PTSD and complex PTSD, please visit https://www.ptsduk.org/

If you would like to discuss this study with an independent person, please contact Amanda Woodrow:

Thank you again for your participation.

9.14 Instructions to SFSS to create diagnostic group	9.14	Instructions	to SPSS	to create	diagnostic	groups
---	------	--------------	---------	-----------	------------	--------

Stage	Instructions to SPSS
1	* Compute PTSD category.
	COMPUTE PTSD Category = 0 .
	IF (ITQ1.1_Re > 2 OR ITQ1.2_Re > 2) AND (ITQ2.1_Av > 2 OR
	ITQ2.2_Av > 2) AND (ITQ3.1_Th > 2 OR ITQ3.2_Th > 2) AND
	$(ITQ4.1_FI > 2 \text{ OR } ITQ4.2_FI > 2 \text{ OR } ITQ4.3_FI > 2) \text{ PTSD}_Category =$
	1.
	EXECUTE.
2	* Compute CPTSD category.
	COMPUTE CPTSD_Category = 0 .
	IF (PTSD_Category = 1) AND (ITQ5.1_Ad > 2 OR ITQ5.2_Ad > 2) AND
	$(ITQ6.1_NSC > 2 \text{ OR } ITQ6.2_NSC > 2) \text{ AND } (ITQ7.1_DR > 2 \text{ OR})$
	ITQ7.2_DR > 2) AND (ITQ8.1_DSOFI > 2 OR ITQ8.2_DSOFI > 2 OR
	$ITQ8.3_DSOFI > 2)$ CPTSD_Category = 1.
	EXECUTE.
3	* Label the categories.
	VARIABLE LABELS PTSD_Category "PTSD Category".
	VARIABLE LABELS CPTSD_Category "CPTSD Category".
4	* Value labels for categories.
	VALUE LABELS PTSD_Category 0 "Not met criteria" 1 "Met criteria".
	VALUE LABELS CPTSD_Category 0 "Not met criteria" 1 "Met criteria".
5	* Create diagnostic variable.
	STRING Diagnosis (A20).
	DO IF (PTSD_Category = 0 AND CPTSD_Category = 0).
	COMPUTE Diagnosis = "No diagnosis".
	ELSE IF (PTSD_Category = 1 AND CPTSD_Category = 0).
	COMPUTE Diagnosis = "PTSD diagnosis".
	ELSE IF (PTSD_Category = 1 AND CPTSD_Category = 1).
	COMPUTE Diagnosis = "CPTSD diagnosis".
	END IF.
6	EXECUTE.
0	* Define missing values for Diagnosis.
7	MISSING VALUES Diagnosis (*).
/	* Label the diagnosis variable.
0	VARIABLE LABELS Diagnosis Diagnosis .
ð	VALUE LADELS Discussion
	VALUE LABELS DIAGNOSIS "No diagnosis" "No diagnosis"
	"PTSD diagnosis" "PTSD diagnosis"
	"CPTSD diagnosis" "CPTSD diagnosis".

Item	Interpersonal or
	non-interpersonal
You were diagnosed with a life-threatening illness.	Non-interpersonal
Someone close to you died in an awful manner.	Non-interpersonal
Someone close to you was diagnosed with a life-threatening	Non-interpersonal
illness or experienced a life-threatening accident.	_
Someone threatened your life with a weapon (knife, gun,	Interpersonal
bomb etc.)	
You were physically assaulted (punched, kicked, slapped,	Interpersonal
mugged, robbed etc.) by a parent or guardian.	
You were physically assaulted (punched, kicked, slapped,	Interpersonal
mugged, robbed etc.) by someone other than a parent or	
guardian.	
You were sexually assaulted (anal, vaginal, or oral	Interpersonal
penetration, or any contact with sexual parts) by a parent or	
guardian.	
You were sexually assaulted (anal, vaginal, or oral	Interpersonal
penetration, or any contact with sexual parts) by someone	
other than a parent or guardian.	
You were sexually harassed (unwanted sexualized comments	Interpersonal
or behaviours).	
You were exposed to war or combat (as a soldier or as a	Interpersonal
civilian).	
You were held captive and/or tortured.	Interpersonal
You caused extreme suffering or death to another person.	Interpersonal
You witnessed another person experiencing extreme suffering	Non-interpersonal
or death.	
You were involved in an accident (e.g., transportation, work,	Non-interpersonal
home, leisure) where your life was in danger.	
You were exposed to a natural disaster (e.g., hurricane,	Non-interpersonal
tsunami, earthquake) where your life was in danger.	
You were exposed to a man-made disaster (e.g., terrorist	Non-interpersonal
attack, chemical spill, public shooting) where your life was in	
danger.	
Another person stalked you.	Interpersonal
You were repeatedly bullied (online or offline).	Interpersonal
You were humiliated, put down, or insulted by another person.	Interpersonal
You were made to feel unloved, unwelcome, or worthless.	Interpersonal
You were neglected, ignored, rejected, or isolated.	Interpersonal
Any other event not listed (please specify).	Either

9.15 Interpersonal and non-interpersonal traumatic events

9.16 Validation study ethics application

Full Set of Project Data	FRAS Version 63.5	Full Set of Project Data	FAS Version 6.3.
Welcome to the integrated Research Application System		Sectional	
		Woke	
RAS Project Filter		Nothern Lieland	
The Dependent detrand non-institle on a ranket with the resolution from the second courses to the R	Analyze or particular The	3a in which country of the UK will the lead NHSR&D office be	located
system will generate only those questions and sections which (a) apply to your study type and (b)	are required by the	OEngland	
bodies eviewing your study. Please answe you answer all the questions before proceeding with	your applications.	B coll and	
Please complete the questions in order. If you thange the response to a question please select 7	Savel and review all the	O Wates	
qualitions as your charge may have an exect sourcequark qualitions		O Nothern Ireland	
Please order a short title for this project (maximum 70 chasticters) International Trauma Interview (IT 0 Standardination and Validation		O This study data not involve the NHS	
1. Is your project research?		4. Which applications do you require?	
erm on		RAS Form	
		Confidentiality Advisory Group (CAG)	
2 Subart one materials from the list below		HM Pitison and Probation Service (HM PPS)	
 Protectivity of an investigational medicinal excited 			
Combined to d an investigation metrical product Combined to a provide the local and and an investigational method desire	23		
Official constitution or other at the of a medical disition		Most research projects require review by a REC within the UK	Health Departments' Research Othics Service. Is
Other christial hid to shark a manifestance in or carthering of clines at hid to compare internet.	the second second second second second	your study eserept from HEC review?	
OBasic solarce study involving my statement in the man part dearth		0 708 @ 910	
Shirk articleter measurement tenders for a well the and sits or using many interferences	a discover and hell set		
nefodology		5. Will any research sites in this study be NHS organisations?	
O Study involving qualitative methods only		® Ym Chio	
Study imited to working with humain its ave samples (or other human biological samples) and	d data (specific project		
(They)		6. Do you plan to include any participants who are children?	
OBeconchine a book		O'Yes @No	
OBeautrobablese			
		7. Do you plan at any stage of the project to undertake intrusive	e research i rivo living adulta lacking capadity to consent
If your work does not fit any of these astegories, select the option below		Brithersdyser	
Other study		0.100 00100	
		Answer Yes if you plan to recruit living participants agait 15 or on	er who lack depend to or to retain them in the study following
2a. Please answer the following question(s):		identifiable if asse san ples or personal information, except when	e application is being in ade to the Cantidentiality Advisory
a) Does the study involve the use of any ionising radiation?	Nes @ No	Group to set aside the common law duty of confidentiality in Engl further information on the Legal frameworks for research involving	and and Wates. Please consult the guidence ridies for a dults leaking capacity in the UK.
to will you be taking new human to sue sampras (or other human biological samples)?		 Do you plan to include any paticipants who are prisoners or who are offendes: apervised by the probation service in Ends 	young offenders in the custody of HM Prison Service or and or Wales?
c) Will you be using existing humanitasue samples (or other human biological samples)?	en en No	O'Va @No	10 - 10 - Max - 10
3. In which countries of the UK will the insearch sites be located?(7 iot of that apply)			
England	22	9.1s the study or any part of it being undertaken as an education	onal project?
1		2	

RAS Version 63.5

FullSet of Project Data

FullSet of Project Data

RAS Version 63.5

	ho	Yes I
viverally:	be briefly the involvement of the student(s); r is a doctoral candidate at E dinburgh Napier I ill form part of a stoctoral thesis submission.	e reasarc is projed
or other doctorate?	ct being undertaken in part fulfilment of a Phi	a the pro
	No	Yes
tates Department of Health and Human Services or any of	search be financially supported by the United gencies or programs?	Will this r divisions,
	(No)Yes I
	3	
	3	

In tegrated Research Application System Application Form for Research a dministering question naireal nterviews for quantitative analysis or mixed methodology study

The Chief Investigator should complete this form. Guidance on the questions is available wherever you see this symbol displayed We recommend reading the guidance first. The complete guidance and a glossary are available by selecting train.

Please define any terms or acronyms that might not be familiar to lay seviewers of the application.

Short title and veni on number: (maximum 70 characters - this will be inserted as header on all forms) International Trauma Litewiew (ITT) Standardisation and Validation

PARTA: Care study information

At. Full title of the research:

Towards the velicition of the Informational Trauma Interview (ITI) for the IDG-11 diagnoses of Post-Traumatic Bases Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress diaorder; and the role of core beliefs

Address	
Post Code	
E-mail	
Tid ophone	
Fbx.	
Give details of the educational course or degree for wh	ich this research is being undet alien:
Name and level of counter degree: PhD P sychology	
Name of educational establishment:	
Edinburgh Nepler University	
an e and cortact details of academic supervisori)(c	
Academic supervisor 1	



Full Set of Project Data

RAS Version 63.5

To pix do all the information required by review docking an information information systems, we ask a number of specific quantizers. This another involves your agive an over-the using appage compresentate to by nursewest an memory of the pashic. However, the qualitation active for attribute on this section.

AC-1. Summary of the study. Rease provide a bit elsummary of the research (neurinum 300 secret) using language easily understand by (a previewers and neurobers of the public). Where the research is neuropoint by a RRC within the UK Health Departments' Research Efficies Secretion, this summary will be published on the Health Research Suthody (HRA) whole the Secreting the efficiencies. Rease refer to the quarterin specific guidance for this quarterin.

This study aims to provide an initial validation of the English International Texama Internative (ITI) and explore its psychometric properties and initial valid). Secondary aims include durification around the installment poteneen installedgive a diverse and the exclopement of one groups texamics three discover (CPT SD) yand composition in the and to identify which a diverse predict the diagnosis of post-traumatic stress discover (PTSD) and CPTSD.

The ITI is a two-part are is shuckned interview protocol consisting of items reading to syn proms of PTSD and disorders of social organisation (DSO). The first part is based on the Clinician Administered PTSD is able for DSM 5 (CMTS 5) and uses as items to assess the three syn plans durings commonly all disorb PTSD is experiment ng, avoidance, and hypersplannois. The second part of the ITI betters to DSO, again considing of suctabilities experiment ng, avoidance, and hypersplannois. The second part of the ITI betters to DSO, again considing of suctabilities experiment of the three symptom customs and education sciences and an end encouncy and interpretament of that items establishes three symptom experiments. The second part of the ITI betters to DSO, again considing of suctabilities estimated interviews schedule can be interpreted to provide a suggested diagnosis of either PTSD, CPTSD, or non dis notify sufficient avertains.

Participants will be excitated from outpetend facilities perciparing in the study. If O, dereoprephila and information on schemass will be codected as self report measures to be completed prior to a virtual meeting with the escenches. The meeting will build place we Attend Argebrers adferrers. Chinasina's from participanting facilities will be united to refer suitable durins. If the cleant agrees to participate, an apport ment will be enranged for the participantion meet with the researcher virtual is '

A small number of participants will be instead to attend a second virtual meeting with the researches, where the IT will be administered for a second time, to include the assessment of test releast exists by, whother group of participants audicitaged, and the recordings materially trained clinicians who will assign is diagnosis. This will enable the analysis of inter reter reliable.

A6-2. Summary of main bases. Please summarize the main efficial, legal, or management listues ensing from your study and any how you have addressed them.

Not all shud as make a graficiant is also. Some studies may have sittagenforwaid othick or other is also that can be identified and managed southers, Orimer may parametriged and souse arguing binther consideration by a RBC, RBD of on or ther noise body bail appropriate to the issue. Shud as the present a normaline not parameter that years complex opproximations or legan source. You should fy to consider at the types of source that the different revenues may need to consider.

Participants' psychological distress:

The resource used in this study will ask about traumatic experiences, and thought patterns developed from a young age. These measures are regularly used in dirical pricice and research. It is possible that speaking about index events may upded or damas participants.

With regards to deling about adverse experiences/haumen in peri outer, the research it ensure suggests very minimal disk that anking about movem leads to any serious or long team consequencies (Reid, 2007) A number of studes draw that periods, but chicked and non-chicket, recepting the value and impositions of itsume assess:(h)(Coner et al., 2000) and acknowledge that there may be a societal disacturatege to notabiling about traums, and improving understanding of a impact and referse. Beddeel Base & Freed, 2006). Creat subj creat a minory of participants and reportance the period and acknowledge that there may be a societal disacturatege to notabiling about traums, and improving understanding of a impact and referse. Beddeel Base & Freed, 2006). Creat subj creat animory of participants and reportance to a single societability and the societability and the societability of the sector begins if a single and referse. Beddeel Base & Freed, 2006). Creat subj created animory of participants and societability of the single and referse. Beddeel Base & Freed, 2006). Creat subj creates and subjects and means and the societability of the societability of the societability of the part reports to Leagnesh & Bannets 2010. Expriment al. 2014) common weak gives au data throughts in a society discharged directal population and band minimal means with whereast of inset population.

Participants will be encounseed to sales when they would prefer not to answer any specific quasitons, and the sevencher carsing out the interview will continuely assess outward signs of metal state throughout the interview with a view to terminate the interview if undue discontrol is perceived. Participants will be interview terminate the interview any point if they featurable to contraw. Report with participants will be developed and used to encourse participants to terminate the interview of terminate.

7

Full Set of Project Data

FAS Version 63.5

The sensitive will be able to contract the supervision learnin throughout the study for support and advice. The supervision term is complianed of qualified and experienced of nodi psychologists who have experience sorting with patients and with conducing sale of efficience research. The research will be not them immediately in any case where the participant becomes significantly detracead. Signals ing after the interview and a detrief ing sestion will be used to help the participant process that is being and to insure that they are in a list bit blave the centre Screening prior to participant's inclusion in the study is designed to identify and exclude any persons who may experience significant distance sube to participation.

To further reduce distress and burden to participants, meetings will be scheduled to immediately procede or follow on from participants' initial dividal assessments.

Risk to researcher

Appropriate dia casesananta will be completed prior to annunging interview meetings, and NHS beatpractice guidelines will be followed at all times. Steps will be taken to minimise migrative psychological impact on the researcher, including access to university appoint facilities, and seguide contact with the supervision team.

Confidentiality

Data will be anonymised and mainteined in accordance with university and NHS guidelines. Digital data will be kept on a parameterize protected University computer in a tackad soon. Head copies of data will not be necessary. Participant's data will be anonymised by the use of inclusive three written informations is stored, and a perudonym where individual participants are discussed in publicated works. Participants will be advised of these measures been to ensure their conditional.

It is receptised that confidentiality cannot be maintained in notation to battatin disclosures. For example, where there is a disk of harm to the participantor others, their information will be paraeed on to the supervision variant and the appropriate contacts involved in the clearity case. The participants will also be informed of this exception to the confidentiality guidelines. The disclosure is made by a participant, the Thi will be time and adv halled, the researcher will later emphatically and battates the involvement of the participant. Iten This will be informed of the researcher will later emphatically and battates the involvement of the participant. Iten This will be informed adult the researcher will later emphatically and battates the involvement of the participant. Itenzial particular digit.

Informed consert and capacity:

Clinicians will be provided with information regarding inclusion oritinia and participant information sheets to discuss with operatel participants. They will observe that conserve tions potential participants for the researcher to context them. The researcher will laise by Mephone with the clinicians to obtain contact details, and discuss the potential participants adjust by:

Platicipants will be given the Platicipant Information Sheet, which will be taked through with the raseauchar. The participant will be given the opportunity to aik any questions they may have. Consent forms will be signed by toth the part opport and the mission-there one full understanding has been advected.

It is also required that gate openers involved in this research have the capacity to consert to their own participation. The chieval staffind to able to give professioner and print into participant' capacity to consert to the participation participant is deemed to roth have capacity to consert, they will be excluded from the subury if a consern about the person's capacity is insided by injections at any point' data collection will be traited inne adding or

Due to the fact that this study of the conducted via internet when orbit, it will not be pared the consert to be pared through usual paper and pare matching matching in the consert from will be posted or emission and the participant prefers to the participant, who will read and sign as they be they are able to, and then return a copy of the signed consert forms to the essenche before the interval wis conductant.

Data protections

Participant data collected during the study will be stored on a password protected. University computer. This data will induce answers to dimical measures and demographic date. No hard copy information will be collected, and at no port will participant memos or identifiable information be stored.

COMD-19

Due to be importing ploted issues statist to the COVID 19 pandmink; this executive will bits place with that resempts using Attend Anywhere software. Participants will be invited to attend a meeting with the researcher plot to their initial bases ment with their primary clinicals which will use the same software. At data will be recorded on a turnership whitsi disktop which will allow for the researcher to eark from forms, but hall provide the same level chicks excluty as a Univership computer. The Virtual desktop subcritical which expende parameters and one of the acceler on a based on the same level chicks expendent metrics.

Full Set of Project Data

kept in a room to which only the remarcher has access

A7. Select the appropriate methodology description for this nesearch. Prease tax of that apply

Case series/ case note review

Case control Cohot observation

Controlled trial without randomisation

Cross-sectional study

Detabese analysis

Englemiology

FF easibility plot study

Laboratory study

Meterolysis

Cualitative research

Cuestonnais, interview or deservation study

Pandomised controlled trial

Other please specify)

All 0. What is the prind palmesearch questionibly edive? Prease put this in language comprehensible to a Lay person.

Does the English version of the ITI if the ITI produce internally will able scores, acceptable test-rest reliability. and acceptable internative will ability?

At 1. What are the secondary research question stopped visit applicable? Please put this in language comprehensible to a lay person.

 Is the English vestion of the ITI a valid instrument?
 What is the level of diagnostic concordance between the ITI and the ITQ? Which thill thood m is adaptive schemiss predid PTSD, and which predid CPTSD?
 What are the thoughts of dividens on the clinical utility of the ITT?

M2. What is the scientific justification for the essenth? Please put this in larguage competienalitie to a lay person. Types of cellability

A tool has pool leaf-retest reliability when the assessment is applied to one person livice, usually with a pap of a few days in between, and similar navals are found both times. In other words, the outcome of the tool does not drange when applied to the same person on different days.

Inter-later led ability is the degree of agreement between two rates scoring the same assessment carried out on the same person.

Types of validity

Construct validity is the level to which a particular tool actually measures what it claims to measure, whether the tool measures the intended construct.

Convergent and discriminative validity are the measures of similarity. Convergent validity can be established when two constructs are similar, while discriminal we validity can be found when two constructs are very dissimilar. It is important to assess both of these when validating a new assessment tool (Campbell and Fiske, 1980).

Why does the ITI need to be validated?

The process of veliciting a new diagnostic tool involves the Finding of empirical data to support the use of the loot. That is, providing support in favour of the reliability and validity of the ITI will ensure that clinicians using the ITI in future will know that they are using a measure which will give them true and accuste results.

Full Set of Project Data

RAS Version 6.3.5

RAS Version 6.3.5

All both to be used in clinical practice must be validated, as it would be unathinal to assess a client using a treat which may give inscourse results. False results may lead the direct and clinician to pursue a naite of treatment which may be inappropriate, and not address the true cause of the client's issues. For example, if a dividian serve to use an invalidated PTSD questionnaire. The client may be given a false positive diagnosis of PTSD. This may cause the dilert to be incomedly prescribed medication and use resources for thesepoute interventions which may be used as at best, or at wost cause more ham than no intervention. It is vital that assessment to is to be used in NHS and private practice be validated so that time and financial

resources can be allocated appropriately, and to enable the direct to access treatment quickly and efficiently Additionally, the presence of a validated measure for the assessment of both PTSD and cPTSD will further human understanding of the nature of both disordes and may povide a baseline against which future assessment bools can be residued

Childhood Maladaptive Schemas (CMS)

It is undextood that some thought patterns, or schemas, are formed based on experiences from childhood (Vasilopoulou et al. 2019). If events experienced in childhood are of a traumatic or abusive nature, the schema one of as a read of en include totiefs such as "the sorial and unifair place" and "I are an unworthy person" (Valiopoulou et al. 2019). These thoughtpatterns are known as Childhood Maladaptive Schemas, as they can have regative impacts on the person later in life, causing anxiety and hypervigilance.

What is the relevance of CMS?

Provious research has linked the formation of CMIS and PTSD in adult life (Meyer, Moriseitte, Kindnel, Kruse, & Gulli ver, 2013). In a retrapective study. Vasiopoulou et al. 2019 found that traum at is experiences were linked to maladiptive schemas in the Disconnection and Impaired Autonomy domains. However, this study used a relatively of dim sample prises ege=71.4) and small sample size (42 participants). The dider ape of the participants means that results cannot be generalised to younger populations and the small sample size gives the results reliablely tow statistical power. This is, to date, the only study to have investigated the link between CMS and severity or type of CR. PR. D

The purpose of the indusion of CMS in the present study is partially to facilitate the understanding of how oPTSD is developed. It is thought that gester understanding of the development of the disorder will enable earlier intervention through sceening of appropriate individuals. This understanding by the wider scientific community may be passed on Those experiencing difficulties with oPT SD. It has been shown that a belier understanding of one's own disorder ny and control over treatment and can enable the p ad lates self acceptance, auton their thereasy.

The current iterature indicates that there is a need to study the effect of achievas on ICD-11 CPT SD, as previous indings gannot be extrapolated without verification. An ore varied participant pool is also required, as similar studies have mainly focused on populations with unique experiences (millibry service, specific waternes, etc.). Further research is also required to verify the effect of matadaptive indhemas developed as a result of traumatic experiences in childhood and using a younger population than Vasillopoulou at al (2019) If these volds in the literature are filled, it may be possible for future research and development to begin looking at treatment protocols for using information about schemas in the apountic interventions for PTSD and CPTSD Cockram, Dawren and & Lee, 2010

isonostic Consordance

This is the level to which two different tests can be said to agree with each other. In this instance, the level of diagnostic concordance between the LTC and the ITT is relevant because the ITC has previously been validated in empirical studies, meaning that it is a good boil to use to diagnose PTSD and CPTSD. If the ITT can be said to have good diagnostic concostance with the ITQ, it is easonable to say that the ITI is a good measure of assessing PTSD INC PTSD

What is the intervance of classrophic concentioner?

degroses of PTSD and cPTSD, it is common that self-report measures (such as questionnaires) and clinician ated measures (such as interviews) are used alongside each other, so give a full picture of the client. It is important, therefore, that two measures to be used concurrently have a level of agreement. In this case, the ITI and the ITQ are likely to be used to assess the same client with a vew to determine a diagnosis. It is important that both measures save a reasonable level of diagnostic concordance, or can be calibrated to ensure this, otherwise it may be the case hatthe ITI could give a result which does not agree with the ITQ, causing confusion as to what the client is in mediane loss

this study, the ITI will be assessed for diagnostic concordance with both the ITQ and a previously validated measure

of PTSD. The purpose of this is to support the velicity of the ITL, and to ensure that the ITL can be used alongside other neasures of PTSD without causing unnecessary dispute over the nature of the client's troubles

Clinical Utile

Clinical dility (CU) is a non-empirical masure of the practical applications dia particular tool. There is emphasis on the "usability" of tools to be brought into clinical practice because it is important that diagnostic tests can be applied to clients raviolity and efficiently, with useful results. CU is often assessed by interviews or surveys given to clinicians, with the intent to find out their opinions on the practical applications of the tool, and the ease of use.

FullSet of Project Data

RAS Version 63.5

RAS Version 63.5

Why is CU in portion?

Ou significantly affects the uptake and usage of assessment todis. For example, a questionnaire involving 100 questions may give highly accurate and reliable results, but is unlikely to be used in an appointment by a clinican due to three contracters, and will help be difficult to undestand for a clenct. Spaaky, a seen sixubuted in thereiver with only two terms might be much easier to administer, but the masks would likely be less them useful. It is important that a takence be found between being thoosugh and being understandable, as this will ensure that a Kill picture of the client is gained with minimal use of returnances resources.

The ITI aims to be accurate, and reliable, while neartaining the pradicality of an easily understood tool in order to answe that this aim has been next, it is important that directions who have used the ITI are given the opportunity to whole their granters on the easi of application and the releases of the results. Clinicians all also be able to advoce both the direct, and indicate whether these are any wording issues where language is used that night not be easily understood price direct.

Summary

To summarise, the presential buy drive to valid ble the TL answermeasure of PTSD and the TSD, so that the fill can be implemented in clinical practice. This is the fills study of its kind to be carted out on an English speaking population, but a previous study in Smoking paired positive results (Brongles, Hyland, Reberts, Balsion, Wilsteimuld, & Amberg, 2010), it is hoped that evidence trom this study all inform treatment protocols for dPTSD and best practice guidelines for assessment of cdPTSD.

Al3: Please summarise your design and methodol ogg if should be clipif leadily what will happen to the reason of participant how many limes and in what one. Please complete this section is language comprehensible to the lay present Do not aimply repeative or network of their gradment all walkables the publices of the.

Participants

It is infraction that 200 participants will be identified through a consecutive series of referred transparticipants invating the series of the tensions for this project allows for this number of participants be dentified and interviewed over an 18-month period. Based on an a priori power and spin to determine the minimum sample size, it was deen ad necessary to collect a sample of 200 periorbands in order to detect a small effect (20-0.07), at a 0.0 level of power, with 5 periods virtualities, and an angle in level of 0.05.

TTO, demographics and information on schemas will be collected as partor participants' southers assessed with an other III will be administeded by the essential for the stable. Printicipant's statist by the beterfletion by sin stars of the entrance centre, who will be able to ensure that participants must the indicate or theris. The division converge millial assessment all lask default of they with to part clopes in this project. If the centre state will be represented by the top and participants, and appoint and the best assessed to the part clopest to meet with the researcher for the ITI to be and invariant.

Manage and

Demographica-this information will be collected via questionnaire during the meeting with the researcher

Tournal exposure-Full timent of the inclusion oriteria "exposure to at least one traumatic life event" will be assessed by the completion of the ITE M.

International Texana Qualiformanti- a self-report questionnaire consisting of 18 items on a 5-point scale from "Not at all" (0) to "Extensity" (6) (Cloring et al. 2016). This will be completed as a part of the participants' admission to Rivers Carriers services.

The Core Bidlets Questionnaire (OBQ). (Wong, Gregory, Gaston, Repee, Wilson, & Abbdt, 2017) is a 17-itentod designed to measure thre persence of negative core ball's about the saft. The client is instructed to respond to each statemention a scale of one sitting is diselevely to its (strong) believely.

International Trauma Interview: The International Trauma Interview is a two part semi-discrete measure consisting of items reliating to symptoms of PT8D and D9D. Section one of the ITI indicates PT8D severity in interview second 0. Interview is consistent of the executed full fibrowise the significance of D9D symptoms is interview second 0. Interview is secre of 24), Taken together, the two halves of the ITI give a combined OPT8D score (minimum score of 0, maximum score of 446, and individual scores for each symptom chatter (minimum score of 0, maximum score of 0, maximum score of 446, and individual scores for each symptom chatter (minimum score of 0, maximum score of 0, maximum score of 446, and individual scores for each symptom chatter (minimum score of 0, maximum score of 0, This will be administrated by the researcher at an each symptom chatter (minimum score of 0, maximum score of 9, This will be administrated by the researcher at an each symptom chatter (minimum score of 0, maximum score of 9, This will be administrated by the researcher at an each symptom chatter (minimum score of 0, maximum score of 9, This will be administrated by the researcher at an each symptom chatter (minimum score of 0, maximum score of 9, This will be administrated by the researcher at an each symptom chatter (minimum score of 0, maximum score of 9, This will be administrated by the researcher at an each symptom chatter (minimum score of 0, maximum score of 9, This will be administrated by the researcher at an each symptom chatter (minimum score of 9, This will be administrated by the researcher at an each symptom chatter (minimum score of 9, This will be administrated by the second second at the second
On inclusting-Date bothe lack of an empirical measure of divided utility is in proposed that clinical utility is assessed through effection by the researcher, interviews with essenchers disenteine performing similar studies, and therapptis uning the results from the ITT. The questions their device will be circulated to researchers currently evolving on wildstorn studies for the ITT, with a sequest for their responses to be empired back. The questions all address it for six aspects of clinical site (similar by Finst Finance, terms, latins, and Peeles, (2004), its of these aspects

11

FullSet of Project Data

all be assessed by questions adapted from 5 amual and Widger (2006). These questions are interd below and are stead on a 5-point Litert scale from 1=Not at all useful, to 5= Safernely useful with a discussion about each answer where appropriate.

How easy do you feel it was to apply the interview to this individual?

-How useful do you feel the interview would be for communicating information about this individual with other mental hash to consultance ?

-How useful do you finel this interview would be for communicating information about the individual to him or heme#? -How useful is this interview for competensively describing all the important PTSDrCPTSD-elated problems the individual that mo?

-How useful would this interview be for helping you to formulate an effective intervention for this individual ? -How useful was this interview for describing the individual's global mental health?

Procedure

The study will take place in NHS Lohian and NHS Geater Glasgow and Dyde. Mental health pacificiones who work in various acute and testary services will be asked to refer to the study sublete participants who are coming of the mathing tais for teammentbut site in regie on a cessarement for MISO or CMTSD. Following international fine IT, writen feedback will be provided to the inferring clinician to further inform participants' care plan. Due to CMD10 existicants in secondary for interviews to take place without, Where possible, if Bare channels allow, interviews may be conducted on the ptensises of the NHS treatment centre whole the participant's secondary their heartment.

Participants will be provided the Plant opent Information Sheet by the referring dinician (Via entailor post, as performed by the dient), who will then have with the researcher to arrange avolution needing using Attend Anyohee software. Once the meeting have been amongot, the researcher will contain the participant to supply qualification rates to be completed plan to the meeting (apair, via post or email). This all include the ITC, demographics quasicommine, and the Core Belefis Quaetionnaire. The completion of these nearures before the meeting will include the overal length of the meeting and therefore mitigate part (gath buden).

The meeting with the essenther will take grade online using Allind Anyohaw lockware, term data by perceding the participant's individual and assessment with a balance domican. The researches will explain the product for the meeting. Here envirus the Participant information sheet and answer any questions which may aster. The consent form will be provided, read by the participant and signed. The researcher will then follow the interview probability of the time individual grade participant and signed. The researcher will then follow the interview probability of the time individual grade grade and an exploring balance transported with the debriefing sheet, and given the opportunity to all englishing the transport here. The participant debrief and any the and the englishing and any sheet and the participant term of the transport of the transp

At the end of the that appointment, 20 participants will be invited to ditend a second meeting with the researcher, where the 11 m at be administed for a second rise, in order to had little the assessment of ratio-retest reliability. This second meeting will be use the second meeting will be administed for a second meeting will be used to a the same procedure as the first. At the beginning of their meeting, 20 of first, participants will be asked to give permission for their interview to be audiotoped, the recording haracrited and the transmiptions to be and to a number of taken led drink will have the the participant and second meeting. This will end drink drink will have not reliable to the same second meeting and assign a diagnosis based on the outcome. This will endple the analysis of inter-same value ity.

Consideration will be given to any participants' ongsing therapy, and if their participation in the study is deemed to be inspropriate on the basis of regard valences on the participants' mental health. They will be removed from the study. Signpooting after the LT is administered will include provision of helpline numbers and advice to contact healthcare providers.

Scoring of the responses to the interview will also place after the meeting with the researcher. The participants results will be communicated to the therapist at the Rivers centre via parameter dynotected en sit, and will be available for discussion with the participant at their next therapy residue.

Researcher effects

Researcher effects will be minimised with the provision of effective training on the administration of the ITI. The transcribed interviews will also serve as an opportunity to reduce researcher effects trained diridines will eview the artificity of a number of interviews delivered by the researcher and will therefore be able to flag any inconsistencies or potential researcher biases.

Timeline .

This study will be certified out over the course of two years. Recruitmentwell bein in January 2021, with the flat interviews being held scon. Rewarder. The data collection period will end in Docember 2021, with the Tinai data analysis being carried out between December 2021 and February 2022. The will up of any papers and thesis drapters will begin in semand of this time, with the view to end in Pebbuary 2020. Interim analyses and reports with the apprentiations will begin in semand and this time. With the view to end in Pebbuary 2020. Interim analyses and reports with the apprentiations will be an all of cours all as in-order hind results. Next 2021, and Colders 2023. Interim analyses and reports with the senarts as years will be cours all as in-order hind results. Next 2021, and Colders 2023.



FullSet of Project Data

A21. How long do you expect each participant to be in the study in total?

would be taken to mini more risks and burdens as far as possible

immediately contact Rivers Centre staff and request support.

A24. What is the potential for benefit to research participants?

a e. ladding a core beliefto help to change negative thought patternsp.

If Yes, please give details of procedures in place to deal with these lasues:

be present during the completion of the ITI and will be available to provide support.

a Yes C No

before perficipation.

the time of the second meeting with the researcher.

100 participants will be in the study for a total of one hour itom signing the consent form to debrief with the essearcher.

20 participants being interviewed twice will be involved for two weeks, from signing the consent/form to final debreif at

For all studies, describe any potential adverse effects, pain, disconfibrt, distress, initiuson, inconvenience or changes

to life shak. Only describe raise or furders that could occur as a result of participation in the research. Say what alloss

This study inquires class from a number of psychological reasourse, inducing an interview potocol which has a stock information regarding traumatic experiences and incubing symptoms. It may cause some participants detress to diadge this information, but they will be informed and earlier index of their aget to altholarist any line. Interviews will be carried out on NHS premises with their red mental health support shall on site P at objects will also be their information will be light and an anonymous, with pseudoryms used in unsy published works. The researces used in this study do expresent a bunder to periodents which they would not otherwise have.

experienced. However, it is houghts that the benefit of the measures better understanding of the self and information

To reduce participation burden interne of the inconvenience of altending the interview meetings with the researcher

that can be used in the planning of an onward care pathway to greater than the burden put upon the participants.

Informed consent will be obtained before participents engage in the study. The Participant Information Sheet will

contain descriptions of all the measures they will be asked to complete, and it will be made clear that a decision to

A23. Will interviews/ questionnaines or group discussions include topics that might be sensitive, embarrassing or upsetting, or is it possible that or initial or other disclosures requiring action could occur during the study?

The iTI includes questions regarding information about traumatic experiences and troubling symptoms. It will be made clear in the participant information sheet and on the consent form that the study is interested in trauma and

participants will be raiked to provide informed consent before completing the CEQ and the ITI. The essencher will

Whilstitlis unitlely that there will be any i ong-term harm caused by participation in this study, there is a potential for

short-term distress and/or disclosures of sensitive, previously unknown information. In the case of a disdosure indicating risk of danger to the participant or others, confidentiality will be breached in line with BP S and NHS

guidelines, a member of the participant's care lears will be informed, and the necessary steps will be taken to

orded the participant and others. Participants will be made aware of this exception to the confidentiality diause

Participants will have access to their results from the ITI, which may further their understanding of their condition, and

Participants will also have the knowledge that their participation is furthering the understanding of PTSD and dPT SD, and therefore improving treatments for themselves and others with similar mental health conditions. This may provide

the nature of their symptoms. Additionally, the information from the OIIQ may be interpreted by their therapist to flici liste understanding of the development of their condition, and therefore provide an additional flocus for their therapy.

pertidpants with a sense of autonomy and achievement in helping both themselves and others.

Ind participate will not affed their treatment in any sey. If a patio part becomes distressed at any point during the interview, the researcher will that the interview and speak employed to with the participant until they for all blo effect contrasts or take the decision to a without. If the patio part becomes userely distributed, the second ther all the second s

will be scheduled to precede a meeting between the participant and the referring clinician

A22. What are the potential risks and burdens for research participants and how will you minimize them?

IRAS Version 63.5

RAS Version 63.5

A26. What are the potential risks for the researchers there solves ? if any?

There is a minor fisk that the part opent might present a risk of hermito the researcher. This is to be expedied in any research study of this network. As the meetings between the researcher and the participants are alabed to occur via video confirmence, the risk of physical harmito the researcher is extremely limited. Any vestal vidence will be dealt with on a zero-betweence policy. The with MHS pickes.

There is all so a risk of psychological harm to the researched due to the necessity of heading about multiple tourses and distessing symptoms. There will be nential headth support available from the university, and the supervision team will be contradiable throughout the data collection period in the eventuality that the researcher requires additional support.

RUTHER TAND INFORMED CONSENT

Full Set of Project Data

this eaction we ask you to describe the recruitment procedures for the study, Pissue give separate details for Herent study groups where oppropriate

A27-1. How will potential participants, records or samples be identified 7 Who will carry this out and what resources will be used? For exemple, identification may incluse a durance regizer, computerized arends of access care or GP ecceds, or evenue of medicar eccets, inducte whether this will be done by the direct care team or by researchers acting under earcegements with the responsible care organized on (b).

Recruitment will occur through ediamathem the participating teachment centrus. Braff will be avied to review their cavel and, and a creen any new activisions, to identify individuals who meet the inclusion of terio. Or identify and will then provide potentiate participants with a Participant Information Steed, and obtain consent/of the meeting there to make contact with them. The researcher will not have any contact with the potential participant until they consent through their chird any.

A27-2. Will the identification of potential participants involve reviewing or screening the identifiable personal information of patients, service users or any other person?

@Y8 (No

Please give details before Crinical care shall write asked to review their current case/card to identifypotential participants into may be eligible interested in taking part. They will be provided with inclusion/esclusion orienta. The researcher will not be included in this process.

A27-3. Describe what measures will be taken to ensure there is no breach of any duty of confidentiality owed to pall ands, service usars or any other person in the process of learninging potential part classes, indexer and any and other or will be relateries in thermalients and service user of the precisit user of an encode to this purpose. Describe the anargements to ensure that the instance of patients and service users regarding access to their records are expected. Please consult fine subtracts roles on that rock :

Only the participant of dirical team will have access to their excess. The measuring all have access to elevant questionnaire responses, but only after express permission is gained from participants through the signing of the consent from.

The Participant/Information Street will contain information on exectly which responses the researcher will be given access to 4 TO, demographics, trauma data), and participants will be informed that they are well within their rights to deery any of this inform also being shared and that has deal son with not affect, their treatment in any way. Bit does signing the conset form, the researcher will tak with the participant flave permission for this to happen.

A27-4. Will researchers or individuals other than the direct care learn have access to identifiable personal information of any potential participants?

16

O'Ye @ho

Full Set of Project Data

IRAS Version 63.5

IRAS Version 63.5

A28. Will any participants be required by publicity through posters, leaflets, adverts or websites?

O'Yes @No

A29. How and by whom will potential participants first be approached?

The part operation and initial contect at the Rivers Centre will inform the individual that there is a study number that it they wind a bip anticipate they should read the Participate Information Street, take a few days to consider their options, and then return for a discussion about shefter they would like to participate. Participants will be encouraged to weigh the tareful and potential coats with help from their crimical team.

ABO-1. Will you obtain informed consent from or on behalf of research participants?

@Yes ONO

If you will be obtaining consent from adult pains pains please give details of who will take consent and how it will be done, will details of any steps to pervise information is written information stead, whose or interactive material. Arrangements for adults under to consent for themselves should be described separately in Part 8 Section 6, and be informed in Part 8 Section 7.

If you plan to seek informed cansert from wineraldie groups, say hav you will ensure that consent is voluntary and May informed

All participants with have the opposity to provide consent for themselves. Clinicians at the Rivers Cente will provide the information sheet, and after the participant has each the information sheet. The divident will obtain verbal consent for the searcher to contact the potent all participants.

Once vedeal consert for contactmore the execution has been gained, the execution will make contact to arrange a meeting. At the start of the meeting, the execution will be though the gard upon if the meeting, and are the participant of the yound law to all king quantizers. Once any gaintering the arrange an arrange a solution of the yound law to all king quantizers. Once any gaintering the meeting will be the participant of the solution of solution arower form indicating that they understand shart will be asked of them, and that they have been informed of the ring the.

If you are not obtaining consent, please explain whynot.

Please enclose a copy of the information sites(s) and consent form(s).

A30-2 Will you record informed consent (or advice from consultaes) in writing?



A01. How long will you all ow potential participants to decide whether or not to take part?

Fion reading the Participant information Sheet provided by the clinical team, the participant will be allowed to take as long as they also before guing vertex permission for the researcher to contact them to arrange a meeting. This will be a minimum of 44 hours.

If the participant agenesis is a meeting with the measurbact they will be salked to sign a concentrom. If they field they need to, they will be able to take the unsigned concent form away and amongo a follow up meeting with the researcher to sign the concent form and complete the fit.

A33-1. What arrangements have been made for perions which indight not adequately understand verbal explanations or written information given in English, or who have special communication needs % g. tensiation, use of interpreting

As this is a validation study for the English vession of the 11, the inclusion oritoria require that participants be able to communicate vertailly in English. As a result, those who are unable to communicate vertailly in English will be unable to participate. If naceway to mitigate iteracy difficulties, the naveacher and dinicat team will be able to read out any information or consent toms.

A38. What steps would you take if a participant, who has given informed consent, loses capacity to consent during the study? Tick one option only.

The participant and all identifiable data or tissue collected would be withdrawn from the study. Data or tissue which is not identifiable to the research team may be retained.

If the period part is could be with drawn from the study identifiable data or tissue elready collected with consert would be retered and used in the study. No further data or tissue sould be collected or any other research procedures can fail out-or in reterion to the period period.

OThe participant would continue to be induded in the study.

O Not applicable - informed consent will not be sought from any participants in this research.

Further details

Full Set of Project Data

Both the researcher and participants will be in contact with divised staff throughout the study. The window between giving constant and the end of data collection will be relatively after the reach participant. Regesters, participants will be monitored by divised staff and the researcher Participants who miss appointments with the researcher will be contacted with prove call to accelor in which the two yould like to continue with their participation.

If it is deareed that a participant has lost the capacity to consent at any time during their participation in the study. Hey will be withorteen from data collection. Previously collected data will be retained for analysis and distroyed. This will be databet in the consent form that each participant will significant with grading before.

If you plan to retain and in alle further use of identifiable denail asse following loss of capacity, you should inform participants about this when seeking this consent initially.

FIGHTINUTY

In this section, personal data means any data relating to a participant who could potentially be identified. It includes meadorymixed data capable of the rigit relation is participant blocugh a unique code number.

rige and use of personal data during the study

A36. Will you be undertaking any of the following activities at any stage (inducing in the identification of potential participants)?(Ticr is appropriate)

Access to medical records by those outside the dired healthcare learn

Access to sodal care records by those cutside the direct sodal care team

Bedrori c transfer by magnetic or optical media, email or computer networks

Shat rp of personal data with other organisations

Esportof personal date outside the EEA

Like of personal addresses, postcodes, faxes, emails or telephone numbers

Publication of direct quotations from respondents

Publication of data that might allow identification of individuals

Like of aud o'vi sual recording devices

Storage of personal data on any of the following:

Manual Res (Includes paper or film)

NHS computers.

Social Gare Service computers

Home or dher personal computers

fullSet of Project Data	RAS Version 63.5	FullSet of Project Data	FAS Version 63
University computers P 4 valoe company computers		Qualifications Work Address	
Lapto computers		Post Code Web Read	
Anonymised participant data will be stored on password protected University visual oppies of questionnaires and consent forms will be digitised and stored in the same disknoyed at the earl ast possible opportunity.	desktop for data analysis. Any hast enannes, with the hast copy being	Work Telephone Rex	
Up to 201 interviews will be audio recarded using a university-growidad dexice. The the tensorphics stored on a paraword probability device of the store of the tensorphic on the store of the tensor of the store of the tensor of tensor of the tensor of the tensor of the tensor of ten	econtings will be transcribed and ne of bed reteries will be shared file transfer. This is so that the will below best practice guidelines up they have been reviewed and	A43. How long will personal date be stored or accessed after OLeas than 3 months O3 – 6 months	r the study has ended?
		inite - 12 months	
All interesting descriptions are proportion sectoring an experimental for according to personance and identification of the sector of the sector person of the sector of the point questionnaires, will not be stored for any length of time beyond the time taken to man all be stored on a parameter grant sector that according while distances, in an economic to what This is also the manner in which the data analysis will be carried out. Data will be a time to market in any other that distances and the analysis.	Lo digitations Hand copies of piete digitisation. All digital data only the researcher have access. bored using participant numbers	O Over 3 years	SY .
and an and a start of the start		ALL. For how long will you store research data generated by	the study?
A38. How will you ensure the confidentiality of personal data?Please provide a per pecelures for ensuing confidentiality, a g. anonymaution or pasadonym sation of d	heral statement of the policy and the	Yean: 10 Months	
City the consent form will carban any identifiable participant date, and this will be a disknoyed as acon as reasonably achievable after the participant signs it. Each part participant number and this will be used to refer to individual participants in publish	canned and subsequently foipant will be assigned a ed works.	A45. Please give details of the long term arrangements for a infere data will be abled, who will have access and the arrange	torage of research data after the study has ended. Say enterts to ensure security.
All data will be held securely and 'realed in adcardance with RHB Lohlan's policies Protection as well as the BH'S g0000 Cose of Ethics and Conductand BPS (2014) (gadelines documents and the study will adhese to the principles of Good Clinical P	on Confidentiality and Data Code of Human Rosearch Ethics radioe	Once the study has ended, the anonymised research data will data storage repository. The data will be stored in accordance guidelines for 10 years.	be stored securely on the Edinburgh Napler University with Edinburgh Napler Data Management Policy
Allo. Who will have access to participants' personal data during the study? When direct care twen, please putily and say whether consert will be acught.	excess is by individuels outside the	The fend of the study will be defined as the completion of the publication. All personal information will be etialred for 3 year This is essential from an audit perspective, as pool that the r	data analysis and submission of the write up for a in accordance with NHS Lothan data activiting policy, esearch took place. This information will be held on-site
The researcher will have access to demograph is information, as well as complete questionnaires relevant to the study. Consert for this will be gained via consert form of the researcher making initial contact via telephone call.	d copies of psychoniettic is and verbal consentinitie case	it the Rivers centre and will be disposed if according to data period	protection guidelines after the designated retention
Storage and use of data after the end of the study		IN CENTRES AND PAY HE HTS	
Aid. Where will the data compared by the study be analyzed and by show 7		A46. Will research participants receive any payments, reinb for taking part in this research?	unsement of expenses or any other benefits or incentives
The data will be analyzed on Edinburgh Napler University campus by the researcher	P.(⊖Yes ⊛No	
A42. Who will have control of and act as the custod an for the data generated by t	te study?	ALT. WE individual researchers receive any person al payme	int over and above normal salary, or any other benefits or
Title Porenamerinitials Sumarice Missi Zoo Wagland Post PHD Candidate		O Yes @ No	
19	<u> </u>	A48. Does the Chief Investigator or any other Investigatorics	laborator have any direct personal involvement (e.g.

RAS Version 63.5

Full Setof Project Data

O'Ye @No

C'Ye (RNo

O'Ve @No:

for these types of studies,

give riss to a possible conflict of interest?

for their care) that they are taking part in the study?

ASO-1. Will the research be registered on a public database?

Pleasegive debels, or justify if notregistreting the research.

entered registry reference number as in question A5-1.

SP or eviewed scientific journals

TTS upreterior to regulatory authorities.

countent Edinburgh Napler University

with no dentifable personal information.

Pseudorwrm will be used in all enalyses.

Wic plane to report or diamon insite the results

Conference presentation

Publication on avebaile

on behalf of all investigators

Citer (please specify)

publishing the moults?

internal export

Other publication

Registration of research studies is encouraged wherever possible.

RAS Version 63.5

RAS Version 63.5

AE3. How and when will you inform participants of the study results?

If there will be no amangements in place to inform participants places satisfy this. If all operats will be able to indicate all the study debief informative freq with to receive summary tesults of the findings. There will be distributed by small upon completion of the auty.

S. Scientific and Social and Review

Full Set of Project Data

A54-1. How has the ad onlific quality of the research been assessed?Tick as appropriate.

- Entropendent external review
- Review within a company

Review within a multi-centre research group

Review within the Chief Investigator's institution or host organisation

Review within the assesschases

Review by educational supervisor

Other

Availity and delarate me every process and outcome. If the every near bein undertaken but noticeen by the researcher, give delates of the body which this undertaken the near ex. The methods even near every an eventies of the their investigation supervision learn who have previously conducted am fair research. Monthly supervision methods will take place, as will equally progress evenes throughout the stands on the project with both the supervision in test and in independent advance advance.

For ell'adudes exceptinon-doctoral adudentineseerch, please enclose a copy of any available acientífic othique reports, logenter with any related correspondence.

For non-doctowil stutent essents, please endose a copy of the autosm and form your educational supervisor essitution.

A66. How have the statistical aspects of the research been reviewed 7Tick as appropriate

Filesiev by independent statistician commissioned by funder or sponsor

Cther review by independent statistician

Review by company statistican

Review by a statistician within the Chief mestgator's institution

Review by a statistician within the research team or multi-centre group

Revew by educational supervisor

Cher review by individual with relevant datistical expertise

No review necessary as only frequencies and associations will be assessed – details of statistical input not required.

In all cases place give debits below of the individual responsible for reviewing the abstancel sepects. If advice has been provided in confidence, give details of the department and institution conserved.

22

Tile Foenanerinitale Surrane Dr. Philip. Hyland Maynodh University

Department Institution Maynorth University Work Address Education House North Campus

21

In the wave of qualitative data analysis, all identifiable information such as names will be removed from quotes.

Entroid, share holding personal relationship do.) In the organisations sponsoring or funding the nasearch that may

A45-1. Will you inform the participants' General Plactitioners (and/or any other health or care professional responsible

If this, presse endose a copy of the information alreet/lefter for the GP-health professional with a variable number and date.

This study is not a clinical trial or a randomised controlled trial, and it is understood that registration is not necessary

You may be able to negative your alludy through your NHS organization or a negative run by a medical essanch chanty.

or publish your petractificough an open access publishie, if you are searce of a subble register or other method of publication, please give detering if not you may indicate that no subble register exists. Please ensure that you have

CAccess to sev date and right to publish freely by all investigators in study or by Independent Rearing Constitue

The skuly will be written up in doctoral thesis form it in the partial full linent of the requirements of the PHD Psychology

All2. If you will be using identifiable personal data, how will you ensure that anonymity will be maintained when

There will be no identifiable personal data used in the write-up of this study. The data used will be summary access

A61. How do you intend to report and dimensionate the results of the study?Tick as appropriate:



PullSet of Project Data

Total LK sample size:

Purrier detail a:

minobilly

O'Yes @No

Post Code

Telephone

File Moti le

E-mail



Ul Set of Project Data	IRAS Version 6.3.5	Full Set of Project Data	IRAS Version 6.3
	1	NHS oganisations in England	
0		NHS organisations in Wates	
Rease provide a copy of the undevourable opinion letter/s). You should explain in your answer	to question A5-2 how the	NHS organisations in Scaland 3	
eations for the unlavourable opinion have been addressed in this application.		HSC organisations in Northern Ireland	
AR-1. Give details of the lead NHS B&D contact for this research		GP practices in England	
		GP people in Wates	
- 10 M		GP practices in Scotland	
		GP practices in Northern Indiand	
Oganisation - Address		Joint health and sodal care agend as any community mental health teams;	
		Local authorities	
		Phase 1 had units	
Post Code		Prison establishments	
Work Ern all	. I 🖬	Probation areas	
Teleprove Pag		Independent (private or voluntary sector)	
Moti le	7.0	TT E de part formal ese tablé alternand a	
Details can be obtained from the HHS R&D Forum website to public dours on up			
UB-1. How long do you expect the study to last in the UK?		Total IN also to dista	
Planned start date: 01/01/2021		Tomore and thinking.	
Planned and date: 01/03/2023		AVE. 1 Mill restant a rest storet to black first through any second	these other than the operands of the linked shows?
Total duration		AUS-L WE DOORNE DERECTORS OF OFFETER PROOF BY OTHER	ators other than the research wes read above P
Years: 2 Months 2 Days: 1		O're @ho	
ATL1 is the dish?			
		AT4. What arrangers ents are in place for monitoring and auditing t	he conduct of the research?
OSingle centre		The lead researcher will ensure that recruitment does not start until	a favourable decisi on has been received from
(e) Multicentre		both the NHS and Edinburgh Napler University Ethics Committees.	and a channes in the product will be marke
		without the prior approval of the ethicit conventioe.	and charges o reproductive of mode
ATI-2. Where will the research take place? (Tick as appropriate)		The study will comply with all othical and legal requirements. Any co- Line are its and bitle? That the refersion the relational preficient and re-	rooms about governance will be raised with the
England		The Chief Investigator will take responsibility for reporting the results	of the study, including the shaling of results with
Ecoland		parti dpants.	26 E) (A
Water			
Nothernlind and		Are. Ensurement inderwity to rever potential legitiliabilities	
Cher countries in European Economic Area		Made, in this guession to NMS independs achieves include against	ent achieves provided by Mail/N and Social Care
Tetal UK altes in study		- Prosecy of No. Koleman Protected	
Does this trial involve countries outside the BU?		A76-1. What arrangements sill be made for insurance and/or inder spontor(s) to rhemito participants arising from the <u>management</u>	with to meet the potential legal liability of the of the research? Please new box(est as applicable.
X72. Which organizations in the UK will host the research?Piezze sylfacte the type of excent in the system of t	Nation by Eding the low and	Above Where a WHS organisation has append to act as approach or on inductor if this applies (there is no need to provide documentary evil all an application and provide acclerics).	aponaor, indemnity is provided through NHS schemer ince. For all other sponsors, prease describe the
pire approximate numbers if incom.	and the second se	and the state of the second state of the secon	
		NHS indexitity scheme will apply (NHS sponsos only)	

Full Set of Project Data

FAS Version 63.5

Other insurance or indemnity arrangements will apply (give details below)

This is covered by Edinburgh Napler University's Professional Indennity insurance and Public and Products Liability Insurance Please see attached documents for pool of insurance.

Please endose a copy of relevant documents.

A78-2: What arrangements will be made for insurance and/or indemnity to next the potential legal lability of the sponsors) or employer(s) for here to participants arising from the <u>delags</u> of the research? Please tick boy(s) as applicable.

<u>Abor.</u> Where researches with additional MB employment contracts have designed the research, indexnet is provided through MMS schemes indicate (this applies there is no need to provide documentage avalance). Por other probabl authors (in g. company employmest, university members), passed exactor free exemptionests and provide evidence.

NHS indemnity scheme will apply (protocol authors with NHS contracts only)
Other insurance or indemnity arrangements will apply (give details below)

T his is covered by the two policies mentioned at A 16 1 above and Edinburgh Napler University's Clinical Trials policy Please see attached documents for poor of insurance.

Please endose a copy of relevant documents.

A78-3. What arrangements will be made for imparance and/or indemnity to meet the potential legal fability of investig storaicol aborators at sing from hare to participants in the <u>conduct</u> of the research?

<u>Hzz.</u> When the participants are IMS patients, indentity is provided through the IMS achieves or through professional indentity. (Indicate if this applies to the whole study (there is no need to provide documentary evidence). Where non-IMS allos are to be inducted in the reasends, individing private profession, please describe the anonyments with will be need at these lines and powde evidence.

NHS indemnity scheme or professional indemnity will apply (perfoipants reduited at NHS sites only)

Research includes non-NHS sites (give details of insurance/indemnity arrangements for these sites below)

Paticiparts will only be recalled from NHS siles

Rease endose a copy of relevant documents.

8. Has the study been the subject of a scientific review opinion @spert Panel?

O'Yes ONO

If yes, please provide a copy of the review as part of your application.

PART C: Overview of research sites

Please enter details of the host organisations (Local Authority NHS or other) in the UK thatwill be responsible for the research sites. For further information please rater to guidance.



DATA MANAGEMENT PLAN

0. Proposal name

Towards the validation of the International Trauma Interview (ITI) for the ICD-11 diagnoses of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, and the role of core beliefs

1. Description of the data

2.2 Type of study

The main aim of this study is to provide evidence in support of the ITI being used as a diagnostic tool for Complex PTSD (CPTSD). Without this evidence, the ITI cannot be used by clinicians in clinical practice. There is presently no validated clinician-administered interview protocol, so the investigation of the ITI is important. This study will also look at the role of core beliefs in the development and maintenance of CPTSD. This is important to generally broaden human understanding of the cognitive structure of CPTSD but also to inform treatment approached by clinicians. For example, core beliefs known to contribute to the maintenance of CPTSD might be valid targets of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy. All this information will help in the diagnosing and treatment of CPTSD

1.2 Types of data

Both qualitative and quantitative data will be gathered. The researcher will collect the following:

- Participants' name, age, nationality, and gender
- Participants' scores on International Trauma Questionnaire (ITQ)
- Participants' scores on the Core Beliefs Questionnaire (CBQ)
- Details on Participants' most important traumatic event (ITEM)
- Participants' responses to the International Trauma Interview
- Observations of participants during the interview

1.3 Format and scale of the data

Data will be entered by participants on paper forms and entered by the researcher onto an electronic form. Collection of data from participants will take place during the video call interview. ITQ, CBQ, demographic and ITEM data will be collected from up to 200 participants on one occasion over the 18-month study period. The ITI data will be collected from the same 200 participants on up to two occasions during the same study period.

Only the consent forms and any audio recordings will contain any identifiable participant data. After recorded interviews occur, the recordings

will be transcribed, all identifiable data removed, and the audio recordings deleted. Data will be anonymous in any publications, and the only method of obtaining identifiable data on participants will be using the consent forms containing both participant names and participant numbers which will not be possible because they are held securely by the researcher and will not be shared.

Identifiable participant data will be stored and processed within separate password-protected files on the university network which will be accessed securely e.g. via Virtual Desktop/ VPN.. Only the researcher will have access to these files. Any paper notes will be held in a locked box and digitised as soon as reasonably possible. Non-identifiable data will be entered into a Microsoft excel spreadsheet for storage and processing.

All data will be held securely and treated in accordance with the BPS (2009) Code of Ethics and Conduct and BPS (2014) Code of Human Research Ethics guidelines documents and the study will adhere to the principles of Good Clinical Practice.

During the course of the research other University tools such as MS office documents, PDF, and SPSS may be used in the analysis and dissemination of the research findings.

2. Data collection / generation

2.1 Methodologies for data collection / generation

Participant data will be collected during one meeting with the researcher, with up to 20 participants being invited to a second meeting where a second round of ITI data will be collected. Up to 20 interviews will be audio recorded, transcribed, and the transcriptions transferred to another trained clinician via email in a password protected file. Participant identifiable information will be recorded on consent forms and will be held separately from their research data. At the end of research, all non-identifiable data will be stored within the university repository in accordance with policy, and all identifiable data will be destroyed.

During data gathering, the university-provided audio recording device will be stored in a locked safe along with any hard copy data awaiting digitisation. Paper copies will be destroyed as soon as reasonably achievable.

Participant identifiable information will be linked to their research data by a code accessible only to researchers, to enable data linkage and removal if requested by a participant and/or audit.

2.2 Data quality and standards

A trained and supervised PhD student researcher will administer measures to all participants. All measures will be valid and reliable, and the researcher will receive regular training to ensure consistency and reliability in administration and scoring.

Anonymity will be maintained to the highest standards reasonably achievable. All identifiable data will be removed and destroyed at the earliest convenience, and no identifiable data will be included in any published works or presented in public forums.

3. Data management, documentation and curation

3.1 Managing, storing and curating data.

Research data will be stored on the University's V:drive. Universitymanaged data storage is resilient, with multiple copies stored in more than one physical location and protection against corruption. Daily backups are kept for 14 days and monthly backups for an additional year.

3.2 Metadata standards and data documentation

All research data will be organized as per the Universities metadata standards <u>http://staff.napier.ac.uk/services/research-innovation-office/research-data/Pages/Organising.aspx</u>

3.3 Data preservation strategy and standards

The Edinburgh Napier Data Management Policy requires research data to be retained for 10 years after project completion if they substantiate research findings, are of potential long-term value or support a patent. The policy also requires that funders and/or sponsors requirements are met. Long term storage is provided through the University data repository.

4. Data security and confidentiality of potentially disclosive information

4.1 Formal information/data security standards

The university is Cyber Essentials standards compliant Certificate number – 6831201858139502

4.2 Main risks to data security

Each participant will receive a unique ID number upon giving consent to participate in the study. These codes will be generated randomly and can only be linked with the participant through viewing their consent forms, which will be kept in a password protected file on a University virtual desktop.

It may be necessary for some personal information to be collected in hard copy paper format (e.g. consent forms, responses to self-report measures, observational notes taken during meetings etc.). In these cases, all hard copy personal information will be stored in a locked drawer in a locked office to which only the researcher has access. Hard copy information will also be scanned into a computer and the paper copy destroyed via shredding at the earliest possible convenience. Storage of digital data will be on university computer V-Drives. In these instances, firewall protection is in place to ensure security of data. All data processing will take place on university computers or on a virtual desktop on a home computer. This means that at all times data will be protected by university firewalls, and erasure of data from home pc hard drives is not necessary. Personal identifiable data will be destroyed after the completion of this study.

It is proposed that a small number of participant interviews are transcribed and sent to trained clinicians for assessment (this is intended to provide data to support inter-rater reliability). In these cases, it may be necessary to send personal data via email or an online file transfer site. Encryption and password protection will be used at all stages of this process.

5. Data sharing and access

5.1 Suitability for sharing

Data collected in this study will be stored for 10 years and will not be made available to other researchers (because of the small sample sizes involved). Summary data will be provided in publications, but the individual data will not be available given the risks this raises with identification of participants.

5.2 Discovery by potential users of the research data

Research articles arising from data gathered in this study will be made searchable via the journal within which they are published.

Datasets will be allocated a DOI and stored on our open access Research Repository in accordance with the University research data deposit process. The DOI and the datasets will be made available to the UK Data Service ReShare repository within three months of the end of the grant.

5.3 Governance of access

The decision to share research information with a new user will be made jointly between Zoe Wagland and Thanos Karatzias.

After the project, the data will be stored in the university repository.

In compliance with MRC policy, the study team will formally review access requests for proposals. All significant decisions (approval, referral back for further information, and decline) will be documented for subsequent independent review. An advisor with appropriate expertise, independent of the study, will be appointed to periodically review the outcomes of access requests post hoc. Individual requests may be referred to the advisor for advice if difficult issues arise, e.g. a risk to the data, participants, study, or to depletable resources.

5.4 The study team's exclusive use of the data

Exclusive use of data will be maintained by the research team until the completion of the study project (estimated March 2023). After this time, the data will be available upon request from the University repository.

5.5 Restrictions or delays to sharing, with planned actions to limit such restrictions

No data with identifiable information will be shared externally. To reduce the necessity for these limitations, participant data will be anonymised in the first instance, with no identifiable information being stored alongside outcome data. Informed consent will be gained from participants, including proposed dissemination processes. Current and potential future risks associated with this will be explained to research participants.

5.6 Regulation of responsibilities of users

External users will be bound by a data sharing agreement, which will prohibit any attempt to (a) identify study participants from the released data or otherwise breach confidentiality, (b) make unapproved contact with study participants. The data sharing agreement will also include specific individuals to whom the data will be released, the purposes for the release of data, any constrains on publication of the data, and arrangements for data destruction or secure archiving on the part of the individuals using the data.

6. **Responsibilities**

The first point of contact for all queries in relation to this data is the PI (Prof. Thanos Karatzias), who will also have overall responsibility for the production and maintenance of metadata. Preparation and upload of the data will be carried out by the team with the support of the University's Information Services staff.

Policy	URL or Reference
Data Management Policy & Procedures	<u>http://staff.napier.ac.uk/services/research- innovation- office/Documents/Research%20Data%20Manag ement%20Policy.pdf</u>
Data Security Policy	<u>http://staff.napier.ac.uk/services/cit/infosecurit</u> y/Pages/InformationSecurityPolicy.aspx
Data Sharing Policy	<u>http://staff.napier.ac.uk/services/secretary/gov</u> <u>ernance/DataProtection/Pages/DataSharing.asp</u> <u>x</u>
Institutional Information Policy	<u>http://staff.napier.ac.uk/services/research- innovation- office/Documents/Research%20Data%20Manag ement%20Policy.pdf</u>
Other:	
Other	

7. Relevant institutional, departmental or study policies on data sharing and data security
8. Author of this Data Management Plan (Name) and, if different to that of the Principal Investigator, their telephone & email contact details

Zoe Wagland, Researcher

9.18 Validation study NHS letter of ethical approval

WoSRES *West of Scotland Research Ethics Service*

West of Scotland Research Ethics

ServiceProfessor Thanos Karatzias Director of Studies, School of health and social Care Edinburgh Napier University

West of Scotland REC 1 West of Scotland Research Ethics Service Ward 11 Dykebar Hospital Grahamston Road Paisley PA2 7DE



Date 23 March 2021 Direct line 0141-314-0212 e-mail WosRec1@ggc.scot.nhs.uk

www.nhsggc.org.uk

Dear Professor Karatzias Study title:

REC reference: Protocol number: IRAS project ID: Towards the validation of the International Trauma Interview (ITI) for the IDC-11 diagnoses of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress disorder, and the role of core beliefs 21/WS/0027 N/A 285376

Thank you for your letter, responding to the Research Ethics Committee's (REC) request for further information on the above research and submitting revised documentation.

The further information was considered in correspondence by a Sub-Committee of the REC. A list of the Sub-Committee members is attached.

Confirmation of ethical opinion

On behalf of the Committee, I am pleased to confirm a favourable ethical opinion for the above research on the basis described in the application form, protocol and supporting documentation as revised, subject to the conditions specified below.

Good practice principles and responsibilities

The UK Policy Framework for Health and Social Care Research sets out principles of good practice in the management and conduct of health and social care research. It also outlines the responsibilities of individuals and organisations, including those related to the four elements of research transparency:

- 1. registering research studies
- 2. reporting results
- 3. informing participants
- 4. sharing study data and tissue

Conditions of the favourable opinion

The REC favourable opinion is subject to the following conditions being met prior to the start of the study.

Confirmation of Capacity and Capability (in England, Northern Ireland and Wales) or NHS management permission (in Scotland) should be sought from all NHS organisations involved in the study in accordance with NHS research governance arrangements. Each NHS organisation must confirm through the signing of agreements and/or other documents that it has given permission for the research to proceed (except where explicitly specified otherwise).

Guidance on applying for HRA and HCRW Approval (England and Wales)/ NHS permission for research is available in the Integrated Research Application System. For non-NHS sites, site management permission should be obtained in accordance with the procedures of the relevant host organisation.

Sponsors are not required to notify the Committee of management permissions from host organisations

Registration of Clinical Trials

All research should be registered in a publicly accessible database and we expect all researchers, research sponsors and others to meet this fundamental best practice standard.

It is a condition of the REC favourable opinion that **all clinical trials are registered** on a publicly accessible database within six weeks of recruiting the first research participant. For this purpose, 'clinical trials' are defined as the first four project categories in IRAS project filter question 2. Failure to register a clinical trial is a breach of these approval conditions, unless a deferral has been agreed by or on behalf of the Research Ethics Committee (see here for more information on requesting a deferral: https://www.hra.nhs.uk/planning-and-improving-

research/research-planning/research-registration-research-project-identifiers/ If you have not already included registration details in your IRAS application form, you should notify the REC of the registration details as soon as possible.

Further guidance on registration is available at: https://www.hra.nhs.uk/planningand-improving-research/research-planning/transparency-responsibilities/ Publication of Your Research Summary

We will publish your research summary for the above study on the research summaries section of our website, together with your contact details, no earlier than three months from the date of this favourable opinion letter.

Should you wish to provide a substitute contact point, make a request to defer, or require further information, please visit: https://www.hra.nhs.uk/planning-and-improving-research/application-summaries/research-summaries/

N.B. If your study is related to COVID-19 we will aim to publish your research summary within 3 days rather than three months.

During this public health emergency, it is vital that everyone can promptly identify all relevant research related to COVID-19 that is taking place globally. If you haven't already done so, please register your study on a public registry as soon as possible and provide the REC with the registration detail, which will be posted alongside other information relating to your project. We are also asking sponsors not to request deferral of publication of research summary for any projects relating to COVID-19. In addition, to facilitate finding and extracting studies related to COVID-19 from public databases, please enter the WHO official acronym for the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) in the full title of your study. Approved COVID-19 studies can be found at: https://www.hra.nhs.uk/covid-19-research/approved-covid-19-research/

It is the responsibility of the sponsor to ensure that all the conditions are complied with before the start of the study or its initiation at a particular site (as applicable).

After ethical review: Reporting requirements

The attached document "After ethical review – guidance for researchers" gives detailed guidance on reporting requirements for studies with a favourable opinion, including:

- Notifying substantial amendments
- Adding new sites and investigators
- Notification of serious breaches of the protocol
- Progress and safety reports
- Notifying the end of the study, including early termination of the study
- Final report
- Reporting results

The latest guidance on these topics can be found at

https://www.hra.nhs.uk/approvals-amendments/managing-your-approval/.

Ethical review of research sites

NHS/HSC sites

The favourable opinion applies to all NHS/HSC sites taking part in the study, subject to confirmation of Capacity and Capability (in England, Northern Ireland and Wales) or management permission (in Scotland) being obtained from the NHS/HSC R&D office prior to the start of the study (see "Conditions of the favourable opinion" below).

Non-NHS/HSC sites

I am pleased to confirm that the favourable opinion applies to any non-NHS/HSC sites listed in the application, subject to site management permission being obtained prior to the start of the study at the site.

Approved documents

The final list of documents reviewed and approved by the Committee is as follows:

Document	version	Date
Evidence of Sponsor insurance or	r indemnity (non NHS Sponsors	01 August 2020
only) [Indemnity insurance]		
IRAS Application Form [IRAS_For	rm_15022021]	15 February 2021
Letters of invitation to	3.2	26 January 2021
participant [Privacy Notice]		
Non-validated questionnaire	3.2	15 December 2019
[International Trauma		
Interview]		
Non-validated questionnaire	1.2	28 January 2021
[Clinical utility questionnaire]		
Non-validated questionnaire	1.2	10 February 2021
[Demographics questionnaire]		05.14 1 0004
Participant consent form	3.3	05 March 2021
[Consent form]	0.4	05 March 0004
Participant information sneet	3.4	05 March 2021
(PIS) [PIS] Research protocol or project	4.2	29 January 2021
proposal [Proposal]	4.2	Zo January 2021
Posponso to Poquest for Eurther	Information [REC Clarifications]	
Summary CV for Chief Investigate	r (CI) [Prof. Thance C)/1	11 Eebruary 2021
Summary CV for student [Student		TTTEDIUALY 2021
Summary CV for supervisor (stud	ent research) [Dr Phil Hyland C\/]	
Summary synopsis or diagram		05 March 2021
(flowchart) of protocol in non		
technical language [Protocol]		
Validated questionnaire [Core Bel	iefs Questionnaire]	
Validated questionnaire [ITEM]		
Validated questionnaire [Internation	onal Trauma Questionnaire (ITQ)]	
Statement of compliance	· · · ·	

The Committee is constituted in accordance with the Governance Arrangements for Research Ethics Committees and complies fully with the Standard Operating Procedures for Research Ethics Committees in the UK.

User Feedback

The Health Research Authority is continually striving to provide a high quality service to all applicants and sponsors. You are invited to give your view of the service you have received and the application procedure. If you wish to make your views known please use the feedback form available on the HRA website: http://www.hra.nhs.uk/about-the-hra/governance/quality-assurance/

HRA Learning

We are pleased to welcome researchers and research staff to our HRA Learning Events and online learning opportunities— see details at: https://www.hra.nhs.uk/planning-and-improving-research/learning/ IRAS project ID: 285376 Please quote this number on all correspondence Enclosures: List of names and professions of members who were present at the meeting and those who submitted written comments

"After ethical review – guidance for Dr Nina Hakanpaa researchers" *Copy to:*

West of Scotland REC 1

Attendance at Sub-Committee of the REC meeting on 16 March 2021

Committee	Profession	Present	Notes
Members: Name			
Dr Katriona	Clinical Trial	Yes	Chair of Meeting
Brooksbank	Manager (Vice		5
	Chair)		
Dr John D McClure	Statistician	Yes	
Also in attendanc	e: Name	Position (or rea	ason for attending)
Mrs Kirsty Burt		Senior Co-ordi	nator
Ms Ashley McLaren		REC Assistant	

9.19 Validation study IRAS amendment tool 09/12/2022

An v	1.6 06 December 2021				QC: N		
otion 1: Project Information							
Short project title":	International Trauma I	nterview (ITI) Stan	dardisation and Vi	alidation			
IRAS project ID' (or REC reference if no IRAS project ID is available):	285376						
Sponsor amendment reference number":	285376 Amendment 1						
Sponsor amendment date" (enter as DDI/MMYY):	09 December 2022						
Briefly summarise in lay language the main changes proposed in this amendment. Explain the purpose of the changes and their significance for the study. If the amendment significantly alters the research design or methodology, or could otherwise affect the scientific value of the study, supporting scientific information should be given (or enclosed separately). Indicate whether or not additional scientific critique has been obtained (note: this field will adapt to the amount of text entered) ¹ :	The study finish date is larger number of partic	s being extended f ipants to be recru	rom March 2023 t ted to increase th	o 31st of July 2023. e overall power of th	This will allow a e study.		
	j.			Specific stud	У		
Project type (select):				Research tiss	ue bank sbase		
Has the study been reviewed by a UKECA-recognised Rese Committee (REC) prior to this amendment?:	arch Ethics	Y	N	b			
What type of UKECA-recognised Research Ethics Committee	ee (REC) review		NH8/H8C REC				
is applicable? (select):				Ministry of De	tence (MoDREC		
Is all or part of this amendment being resubmitted to the Re- Committee (REC) as a modified amendment (i.e. a substa previously given an unfavourable opinion)?	search Ethics ntial amendment	Y	es	No			
Where is the NHS/HSC Research Ethics Committee (REC)	that reviewed the	England	Wales	Scotland	Northern Irelan		
study based?:		Yes	No	No	No		
Was the study a clinical trial of an investigational medicinal OR does the amendment make it one?:	product (CTIMP)	Y	es	N	0		
Was the study a clinical investigation or other study of a me does the amendment make it one?:	dical device OR	Y	es	No			
Did the study involve the administration of radioactive subst requiring ARSAC review, OR does the amendment introduc	ances, therefore e this?:	Y	es	No			
Did the study involve the use of research exposures to ionis involving the administration of radioactive substances) OR of amendment introduce this?:	ing radiation (not loes the	Y	5	i N	0		
Did the study involve adults lacking capacity OR does the a introduce this?:	mendment	М	es	No			
Did the study involve access to confidential patient informati direct care team without consent OR does the amendment in	ion outside the ntroduce this?:	У	5	No			
Did the study involve prisoners or young offenders who are is supervised by the probation service OR does the amendment	in custody or nt introduce this?:	Я	5	No			
Did the study involve children OR does the amendment intro	oduce this?:	Y	es	N	0		
Did the study involve NHS/HSC organisations prior to this a	mendment?:	<u>ې</u>	96	N	lo -		
Did the study involve non-NHS/HSC organisations OR does introduce them?:	the amendment	Y	es	N	0		
		England	Wales	Scotland	Northern Irelan		
Lead nation for the study:		No	No	Yes	No		
Which nations had participating NHS/HSC organisations pri amendment?	or to this	No	No	Yes	No		
Which nations will have participating NHS/HSC organisation amendment?	ns after this	No	No	Yes	No		
					2		

Section 2: Summary of change(s)

Please note: Each change being made as part of the amendment must be entered separately. For example, if an amendment to a clinical trial of an investigational medicinal product (CTINP) involves an update to the investigator's Brochure (B), affecting the Reference Safety information (RSI) and so the information documents to be given to participants, these should be entered into the Amendment Tool as three separate changes. A list of all possible changes is available on the "Glossary of Amendment Options" tab. To add another change, click the "Add another change" box.

	Change 1					
Area of change (select)*:	Study Design					
Specific change (select - only available when area of change is selected first)":	Extension to study duration that will not have any additional resource implications for participating organisations - Please specify in the free text below					
Further information in particular, please describe why this change can be implemented within the existing resource in place at the participating organisations (free text - note that this field will adapt to the amount of text entered)"	There is currently no res required, the only addition	source burden on on will be further	participating orga time for clinicians	anisations. Physic to refer participar	al space is not its to the study.	
Applicability:	-	England	Wales	Scotland	Northern Irelan	
Where are the participating NHS/HSC organisations located this change?!:	that will be affected by	No	No	Yes	No	
Will all participating NHS/HSC organisations be affected by some? (please note that this answer may affect the categori	this change, or only isation for the change):	A	11	Some		
				Add an	other change	

Beeden 3: Declaration (c) and look for submission Declaration by the Sponsor or authorised delegate • I confirm that the Sponsor takes responsibility for the completed amendment tool • I confirm that the Sponsor takes responsibility for the complete amendment tool on their behalf Name (first name and sumame)*: Paula Stevenson Email address*: Paula Stevenson Look for submission Please note: This button will only become available when all mandatory (*) fields have been completed. When the button is available, clicking it will generate a locked PDF copy of the completed amendment tool which must be included in the amendment submission. Please ensure that the amendment tool is completed correctly before locking it for submission. Look for submission Look for submission. After looking the tool, proceed to submit the amendment online. The "Submission Guidance" tab provides further information about the next steps for the amendment.

Section 4: Review bodies for the amendment

								F	Review	bodie	5								
	1		UK	Nde			England and Wales:					Scol	tand:		N	orthern	irelar	nd:	ľ.
	限0	Competent Authority MERA - Medicinee	Competent Authority MHRA - Devices	ARSNO	Padation Assurance	UKSW Governance	REC (WCH)	CVG	SoldWH	HRA and HICRW Approval	PECC (MARA)	d dBd	(CERVER) BUEE	Netional coordinating function	HOREC	HBC Data Guardiam	Prisona	National coordinating hyndion	Catego
Change 1:						m								3					C
Overall reviews for the amend	ment	· · · · · · ·		·····	·				·		·		·		· · · · · ·	· · · · ·			
Full review:						N								N					
Notification only:						Y								Y					
Overall amendment type:	N	in-subs	tantial	, no st	tudy-w	ide rev	iew re	quired	1				· · · · · · · ·						
Overall Category:	C	2																	

285376_285376 Amendment 1_09Dec2022_Locked09Dec22_161224.pdf

Page 2 of 2

9.20 Validation study IRAS amendment tool 30/01/2023

~	v1.6 06 December 2021				QC: N			
otion 1: Project Information								
Short project title":	International Trauma In	terview (ITI) Stan	dardisation and \	/alidation				
IRAS project ID' (or REC reference if no IRAS project ID is available):	285376							
Sponsor amendment reference number*:	2678999 Am 1							
Sponsor amendment date" (enter as DD/MM/YY):	30 January 2023							
Briefly summarise in lay language the main changes proposed in this amendment. Explain the purpose of the changes and their significance for the study. If the amendment significantly alters the research design or methodology, or could otherwise affect the scientific value of the study, supporting scientific information should be given (or enclosed separately). Indicate whether or not additional scientific critique has been obtained index this field will adapt to the amount of text entered/?:	Veteran's First Point (Argy/e House, 3 Lady Lawson Street, Edinburgh EH3 9DR) has agr to refer patients to this study. This will allow a larger number of participants to be recruited increase the overall power of the study.							
				Specific stud	dy			
Project type (select):				Research tiss Research da	ue bank tabase			
Has the study been reviewed by a UKECA-recognised Re Committee (REC) prior to this amendment?:	search Ethics	Ye	6	P	io			
What type of LIKECA-recognized Research Ethics Commi	thee (REC) review			NH8/HSC RE	NH8/HSC REC			
is applicable? (select):				Ministry of De	fence (MoDREC			
Is all or part of this amendment being resubmitted to the R Committee (REC) as a modified amendment (i.e. a subs amendment previously given an unfavourable opinion)?	lesearch Ethics tantial	Ye	s	No				
Where is the NHS/HSC Research Ethics Committee (REC	c) that reviewed	hat reviewed England Wales		Scotland	Northern Irelan			
the study based?:		No	No	Yes	No			
Was the study a clinical trial of an investigational medicinal OB does the amendment make it one?	i product (CTIMP)	Ye	s	No No No				
Was the study a clinical investigation or other study of a m does the amendment make it one?	edical device OR	Ye	s					
Did the study involve the administration of radioactive sub- requiring ARSAC review, OR does the amendment introdu	stances, therefore use this?:	Ye	s					
Did the study involve the use of research exposures to lon (not involving the administration of radioactive substances amendment introduce this?"	ising radiation) OR does the	Ye	s		10			
Did the study involve adults lacking capacity OR does the introduce this?:	amendment	Ye	s	No				
Did the study involve access to confidential patient information direct care team without consent OR does the amendment	ation outside the t introduce this?:	Ye	s					
Did the study involve prisoners or young offenders who an supervised by the probation service OR does the amendmethis?:	e in custody or nent introduce	Ye	s	N	10			
Did the study involve children OR does the amendment in	troduce this?:	Ye	s	B	io			
Did the study involve NHS/HSC organisations prior to this	amendment?:	Ye	6	ħ	10			
Did the study involve non-NHS/HSC organisations OR doe amendment introduce them?"	es the	Ye	5	P	io			
		England	Wales	Scotland	Northern Irelan			
Lead nation for the study:		No	No	Yes	No			
	orior to this	No	No	Yes	No			
Which nations had participating NHS/HSC organisations p amendment?	amendment? Which nations will have participating NHS/HBC organisations after this							
Which nations had participating NHS/HSC organisations p amendment? Which nations will have participating NHS/HSC organisatic amendment?	ons after this	No	No	Yes	No			

Section 2: Summary of change(c)

Please note: Each change being made as part of the amendment must be entered separately. For example, if an amendment to a clinical trial of an investigational medicinal product (CTIMP) involves an update to the investigator's Brochure (IB), affecting the Reference Safety information (RSI) and so the information documents to be given to participants, these should be entered into the Amendment Tool as three separate changes. A list of all possible changes is available on the "Glossary of Amendment Options" tab. To add another change, click the "Add another change" box.

285376_2678999 Am 1_30Jan2023_Locked30Jan23_105600.pdf

	Change 1						
Area of change (select)*:	Participating Organisations						
Specific change (select - only available when area of change is selected first)":	Addition of sites undertaking the same activities as existing sites Veteran's First Point (Argyle House, 3 Lady Lawson Street, Edinburgh EH3 SOR) has agreed to refer patients to this study. They have agreed to speak to their clients and are able to provide physical space for interviews. A new site is being added to the list of recruitment sites.						
Further information (free text - note that this field will							
adapt to the amount of text entered):	provide physical space	e for interviews. A	new site is being	added to the list of	of recruitment sites.		
adapt to the amount of text entered): Applicability:	provide physical space	England	wales	added to the list o	Northern Ireland		
adapt to the amount of text entered): Applicability: Where are the participating NHS/HSC organisations loca by this change?":	provide physical space	England	Wales No	added to the list of Scotland Yes	Northern Ireland		
adapt to the amount of text entered): Applicability: Where are the participating NHS/HSC organisations loca by this change?": Will all participating NHS/HSC organisations be affected I some? (please note that this answer may affect the cate change):	ter that will be affected by this change, or only egorisation for the	England No	Wales No	Scotland Yes	Northern Irelan No Some		

Declaration by the Sponsor or author	tsed delegate
 I confirm that the Sponsor takes response I confirm that I have been formally auto 	onsibility for the completed amendment tool thorised by the Sponsor to complete the amendment tool on their behalf
Name [first name and sumame]*:	Paula Stevenson
Email address*:	
Look for submission Please note: This button will only becom	ne available when all mandatory (*) fields have been completed. When the button is available, clicking it will
Look for submission Please note: This button will only becom generate a locked PDF copy of the comp tool is completed correctly before locking	ne available when all mandatory (*) fields have been completed. When the button is available, clicking it will pleted amendment tool which must be included in the amendment submission. Please ensure that the amendmen g it for submission.
Look for submission Please note: This button will only becom generate a locked PDF copy of the comp tool is completed correctly before locking	ne available when all mandatory (*) fields have been completed. When the button is available, clicking it will pleted amendment bol which must be included in the amendment submission. Please ensure that the amendmen t for submission.

								F	leview	bodie	5								
	UK wide:			England and Wales:			Scotland:			Northern Ireland:									
	REC	Competent Authority MHRA - Medicines	Competent Authority MPRA - Devices	ARSAC	Radiation Assurance	UKSW/ Governance	REC (MCA)	C/G	SJ dWH	HRA, and HCRW Approval	RED (AWAA)	60.66	(DEVEC)	National coordinating function	HSIC REC	HSC Delli Quantians	Prisons	National over direction.	Categor
Change 1:		1				3								m					Newst
Overall reviews for the amend	ment		2		98 - E	8. G			88	0		187	139	2		18:	8 8	1	
Full review:						N								N					
Notification only:						Y								Y					
Overall amendment type:	No	n-subs	stantia	l, no s	tuchry	ide re	view	equire	d	0		115	0.0	2.00		30 - Y	8 8		

285376_2678999 Am 1_30Jan2023_Locked30Jan23_105600.pdf

Page 2 of 2



9.21 Validation study end of study declaration

Declaration of the end of a study

(For all studies except Clinical Trials of Investigational Medicinal Products)

To be completed in typescript by the Chief Investigator or sponsor representative and submitted to the Research Ethics Committee (REC) that gave a favourable opinion of the research within 90 days of the conclusion of the study or within 15 days of early termination

1. Details of Chief Investigator



2. Details of study

Full title of study:	International Trauma Interview (ITI) Standardisation and Validation
IRAS ID:	285376
Name of REC:	West of Scotland REC 1
REC reference number:	21/WS/0027
Date of favourable ethical opinion:	23/03/2021

Sponsor:	Edinburgh Napier University

3. Study duration

Date study commenced:	31/03/2021
Date study ended	26/07/2023
Did this study terminate prematurely?	No If yes, please complete sections 4.
	5 & 6.
	and then go directly to section 7.

4. Recruitment

Number of participants recruited	29
Proposed number of participants to be recruited at the start of the study	200
If different, please state the reason or this	Unforeseen issues with recruitment were experienced. There were not as many treatment-seeking individuals willing to participate, and NHS clinicians were unable to discuss the option to participate with their clients due to overworking.

5. Circumstances of early termination

What is the justification for this early	
termination?	

6. Potential implications for research participants

Are there any potential implications for research participants as a result of terminating the study prematurely?	
Please describe the steps taken to address them.	

7. Final report on the research

Have you submitted a Final Report?	Yes If no, please submit a Final Report within 12 months of the end of the study (or for paediatric CTIMPs, within 6 months).
	More information is available on the <u>HRA</u> website

8. Declaration

*Signature or Electronic Authorisation of Chief Investigator/sponsor representative: *Please print below or insert electronic signature	Zoe Wagland
Print name:	Zoe Wagland
Date of submission:	26/07/2023

9.22 Validation study NHS letter of access

2 November 2021 Miss Zoe Wagland Edinburgh Napier University Sighthill Campus



Dear Miss Wagland

Letter of Clinical Research Access – only valid until 31 March 2023 for study number 2021/0141 entitled 'Towards the validation of the International Trauma Interview (ITI) for the IDC-11 diagnoses of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress disorder, and the role of core beliefs'.

The UK Policy Framework for Health and Social Care Research outlines the responsibilities of researchers who undertake research in a clinical setting. The framework has been compiled by the Scottish Executive Health Department to ensure all research meets high scientific and ethical standards.

This Letter of Clinical Research Access defines the requirements of Lothian Health Board (the "Board"), subject to which, you are granted rights of Clinical Research Access to carry out Approved Research in the course of your current PhD programme of study at the Edinburgh Napier University.

On signature of this letter, subject to the Board undertaking appropriate Disclosure Scotland checks, you will be granted the right of Clinical Research Access which will continue, until such time as permission is withdrawn by the Board, in the circumstances mentioned in the next paragraph, or such time as you cease to be involved in Approved Research activity or you current study programme mentioned above.

In the event that you are in material breach of the requirements regarding Clinical Research Access as set out in this letter, or the Board considers that it is in the best interests of its patients, then in either circumstance the Board may withdraw Clinical Research Access with immediate effect by giving you written notice of this.

1. Definitions

"Approved Research" means research which has not only been approved by Edinburgh Napier University but has also received the approval of Lothian Health Board i.e. R & D Management approval, the necessary ethical approval and any further statutory approvals.

"Confidential Information" includes all information which has been specifically designated as confidential by the Board and any information which relates to the commercial and financial activities of the Board, the unauthorised disclosure of which would embarrass, harm or prejudice the Board.

"Principal Investigator" means, in relation to a specific unit of research undertaken in a specific location, the researcher responsible for the overall conduct of that research activity.

2. Confidentiality and Disclosure of Information

You must not divulge Confidential Information to any third party during the period of your research or any time thereafter without the proper authority having first been given. All Confidential Information belonging to the Board, together with any copies or extracts thereof, made or acquired by you in the course of research shall be the property of the Board and must be returned to the Principal Investigator on completion of the research to which they relate or on the termination of your employment whichever is the earlier date. You will be entitled to retain any copies or extracts made or acquired by you in the course

of research for references purposes only, provided that such copies or extracts are held and maintained in accordance with the provisions of the Data Protection Act 2018 and Caldicott principles.

3. Protection of Intellectual Property

The protection of intellectual property is an important matter, and you will abide by the requirements of the Board and the Edinburgh Napier University in relation to this matter. The Board and Edinburgh Napier University deal with intellectual property matters on a case-by-case basis.

4. Obligations Arising from Data Protection Act 2018/IT Security

Particular regard should be given to your responsibility to abide by the principles of the Data Protection Act 2018, a copy of which is available for reference in the Human Resources Department of the Board.

You must comply with the Board's Information Technology Security Policy on computer security, which is available within the Board R & D Department and on the Board Intranet site. Failure to comply with this will be brought to the attention of the University for investigation/action under the appropriate procedures. In addition failure to comply may lead to temporary or permanent withdrawal of permission to carry out research within the Board.

Patients

In the course of your duties you may have access to Confidential Information regarding patients. You must not divulge such Confidential Information to anyone other than authorised persons, for example, medical, nursing or other professional staff as appropriate, who are concerned directly with the care, diagnosis and/or treatment of the patient. Where, in the course of your clinical research activity, new information comes to light that will or may impact on patient care, you will forthwith advise the relevant personnel within the Board.

<u>Staff</u>

You must not divulge Confidential Information concerning individual members of staff to anyone without the authority of the individual concerned and the appropriate Principal Investigator. If you are in any doubt whatsoever as to the authority of a person or body asking for information on patients or staff, or your own authority to divulge information, you must seek advice from the Principal Investigator and/or the responsible person at your **University.**

These provisions are without prejudice to the NHS's stated commitments in the NHS Code of Openness. Further information is available from the Board's Human Resources Department.

5. Disclosure of Concerns

If you have any concerns about quality of service, health and safety, use of NHS money, or believe a colleague's conduct, performance or health may be a threat to patient care or to members of staff, you have a responsibility to raise these concerns without prejudice, directly with the Principal Investigator, your line manager or the responsible person at the University. If you are unable to, or wish not to raise these concerns directly with your line manager / Principal Investigator, you are encouraged to seek the advice of the Human Resources Department or Edinburgh Napier University as appropriate.

You are protected against any harassment or victimisation resulting from such a disclosure. Therefore in the event that you are subjected to any form of harassment or victimisation, formal action will be taken against the perpetrators.

Concerns related to any research misconduct or fraud should be addressed similarly.

6. Conflict of Interest

As a general principle, you should not put yourself in a position where your official and private interests conflict, nor must you make use of your official/research position to further your private interests.

7. Research Governance

You are required to observe those requirements of the Research Governance Framework which are applicable and binding on you. The Research Governance Framework is available in the R & D Department and on the Intranet under Organisational/R&D. The framework relates to the management and monitoring, ethics, science, finance, health and safety aspects of research.

8. Health and Safety

The Board has a written Health and Safety Policy. The Board has a duty to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, the health, safety and welfare at work of all its employees/individuals who work on the site. As an individual who works on the site, you have a duty to observe safe systems of work at all times, to take reasonable care of yourself and others who may be affected by your activities at work and to co-operate with the Board and others in meeting statutory requirements.

Additionally, you are required to report all accidents "near misses"/ incidents to the responsible person at the University and to use any safety equipment provided for your protection. Failure to comply with the provisions detailed above, without reasonable cause, will be brought to the attention of your employer for investigation/action under the appropriate procedures. In addition failure to comply may lead to temporary or permanent withdrawal of permission to carry out research within the Board.

9. Hepatitis B

For your own protection, you are advised to maintain Hepatitis B immunity status throughout the period during which you have been granted Clinical Research Access rights if your work brings you into contact with blood, other body fluids or fresh tissue.

10. Professional Registration

If your programme of study requires professional registration you must be fully registered with the appropriate professional body and maintain this registration throughout the period during which you have been granted Clinical Research Access rights. Evidence of this must be produced upon request.

11. Personal Property

The Board accepts no responsibility for damage to, or loss of, personal property. You are, therefore, advised to take out an insurance policy to cover your personal property. If you need any further advice or guidance on any of the paragraphs set out above you should contact the responsible person at the University in the first instance. If you agree to accept the conditions indicated above, please print this letter and sign the statement of acceptance and return to the Board's R & D Department. Please retain a second signed copy of this letter for future reference as you will be required to provide this for evidence of clinical research access to each Principal Investigator with whom you work. Yours sincerely

Dr Heather Charles Head of Research Governance

сс

9.23 Validation study participant information sheet

Participant information sheet

Towards the validation of a new Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder tool

Invitation

My name is Zoe Wagland, and I would like to invite you to take part in a study I am conducting as part of my PhD in Psychology. Joining the study is entirely up to you and you have the right to withdraw at any point in time. Before you decide we would like you to understand why the research is being done and what it would involve for you. Please take time to read through this document and ask any questions you may have.

Background to the study

The title of this study is "Towards the validation of the International Trauma Interview (ITI) for the ICD-11 diagnoses of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, and the role of core beliefs". What this means is we are trying to provide evidence that the International Trauma Interview (ITI) is a good method of diagnosing both PTSD and Complex PTSD (CPTSD).

Presently there are no interview assessment tools that clinicians can use in the assessment and diagnosis of Complex PTSD (CPTSD). It is important to make sure that new assessment tools give results that are reliable enough to use in diagnosis and treatment. This study is looking at the reliability of the ITI to make sure that it can be used in clinical practice.

One of the minor aims of this study is looking at how a person's beliefs about themselves can contribute to the development of CPTSD. We hope to be able to show that certain beliefs can be adjusted in therapy to help reduce the severity of CPTSD.

Why have I been invited to take part?

We are inviting patients referred by NHS clinicians. NHS clinicians might refer a person if they would benefit from further assessment for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) or Complex PTSD (CPTSD).

What does the study involve?

If you agree to participate in the study, you will be sent a participant pack including three questionnaires. These questionnaires will ask you about your PTSD symptoms, your beliefs about yourself, and the nature of your most important traumatic event. You will also be asked to fill out a demographic form with information such as your name, age, and ethnicity.

We will then arrange a time to meet via videocall using NHS-provided Attend Anywhere software. You will be able to ask any initial questions and I will collect your responses from the questionnaires and record your response on the consent form. I will then ask you the questions from the ITI and make a few notes on your answers. The video call should take no longer than around an hour. After this we will debrief, and your results will be sent to your clinician for discussion at your next meeting. Some participants will be asked to give permission for their interviews to be audiotaped, transcribed, and the anonymous transcriptions sent to another trained clinician. It is important that we make sure that two different clinicians give the same interview the same score.

Other participants may be asked to attend a second meeting with the researcher where the ITI will be repeated. It is important that some participants do the interview twice so that we can make sure that the interview gives the same results for the same person even on different days. If you would like to take part but would prefer not to repeat the interview, this can be accommodated.

However, most participants will be asked to do the interview only once, without being recorded. If you would like to take part but would prefer not to be asked to do the interview twice and would not like to be recorded this can be accommodated.

Do I have to take part?

It is your decision to take part or not. Your standard of treatment and any future medical or psychological care will not be affected by a decision to not participate.

You are welcome to withdraw from the study at any time until your data had been fully anonymised. At this point it will be impossible or your data to be identified. If you decide to withdraw your data, all hard copy notes will be shredded, and digital data will be destroyed in line with University and NHS guidelines. It may not be possible to delete data after it has been anonymised and analysed, though identifiable data can be deleted if it hasn't already. If you decide to withdraw you would not have to give a reason, and your ongoing treatment would not be affected.

What are the discomforts or risks?

The questionnaires you will be asked to complete are used routinely in research and clinical practice, and therefore have no adverse effects associated with them that we are aware of. As the study does involve talking about your traumatic experience it is possible that you may experience some discomfort or distress. If you do experience distress, you are welcome to ask for a break, and the interviewing researcher is clinically trained and will be able to contact your referring clinician for support if needed.

What will happen to the information you collect about me?

All the information collected about you will be stored electronically on the University network. This means that your data is password-protected and stored on encrypted servers. The findings from your questionnaires and interviews will be collated and analysed with other participants' data. All identifiable information (such as your name, date of birth etc.) will be kept separately from your interview data and no identifiable information will be presented in public forums. Please read the privacy notice for full information on how your data will be stored and processed.

Who has reviewed the study?

The Edinburgh Napier University Research Ethics Committee, which has responsibility for scrutinising proposals for research conducted by staff and students, has provided a favourable ethical opinion for this study.

What to do next

If you would like to take part in this study, please read the privacy notice and complete the consent form. Your consent form must be collected before your participation in the study. You are welcome to choose one of the following methods of indicating your completion of the consent form; send the completed form by mail (please email Zoe Wagland for details) OR show the completed form to the researcher via webcam at the time of interview. No responses or participation can be recorded until after proof of the completed consent form has been received. If you wish a copy of the overall results from the study or if you have any difficulties or further questions, please contact the chief investigator using the contact details provided below.

Further information

If you have any questions about this study, you are welcome to contact the researcher Zoe Wagland or a member of the supervisory team Thanos Karatzias

If you would like to contact a person who knows about this study but is not directly connected with it you are welcome to speak to Lis Neubeck

Thank you for taking the time to read the Participant information sheet and for considering taking part in this study. Please take the time to carefully read the privacy notice and the consent form before completing the consent form to indicate your consent to participate.

9.24 Validation study privacy notice

Name of Research Project: Towards the validation of the ITI for the ICD-11 diagnoses of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, and the role of childhood maladaptive schema

Description of Project: The study involves 200 participants being interviewed using the International Trauma Interview (ITI) protocol. The interviews will be conducted and scored by a trained researcher, and a report of the results forwarded to the primary clinician associated with each participant.

Data Controller	Edinburgh Napier University	
Purposes for	To find the reliability of an interview assessment of	
collection/processing	Complex PTSD (CPTSD)	
Legal basis	Art $6(1)(e)$, performance of a task in the public	
	interest/exercise of official duty vested in the Controller	
	by Statutory Instrument No. 557 (S76) of 1993 as	
	amended, e.g. for education and research purposes.	
	Where sensitive personal data is being processed the	
	additional bases from Article 9 is:	
	Art $9(2)(j)$ for archiving purposes in the public interest,	
	scientific or historical research purposes or statistical	
	purposes.	
	All staff involved in this project will receive data quality	
	and management, confidentiality, and record-keeping	
	training	
Whose information	Patients referred to the study by NHS clinicians.	
is being collected?		
What	Name, age, gender ethnicity	
type/classes/fields of	Details about most important traumatic event	
information are	Thoughts and feelings about the event	
collected?	Symptoms relating to the event	
	Beliefs about themselves	
Who is the	Data is being collected directly from you as the participant	
information being	in the study.	
collected from?		
How is the	Interview information is being collected by NHS-	
information being	approved video call software and recorded on paper by the	
collected?	researcher. Paper notes will then be transferred to an	
	electronic record and the paper copy destroyed.	
Is personal data	No	
shared externally?		
How secure is the	Paper notes will be locked in a filing cabinet until	
information?	digitization at the earliest opportunity, after which time	
	the paper copies will be shredded.	
	Electronic information will be stored on the University	
	network (which will be accessed remotely via secure	
	methods e.g. Virtual Desktop or Virtual Private Network	
	provided by the University) and therefore protected by	
	university policies and procedures.	

	Participant identifiable information will be linked to their	
	research data by a code accessible only to the study	
	researchers. This is to enable retrieval or removal if	
	requested by a participant and/or audit.	
	In the event that it is necessary to transfer data	
	electronically, this will be done in password protected	
	documents sent via encrypted email. Analysis of data will	
	also take place on university-owned and protected	
	computers. At the end of the project, all identifiable	
	information will be removed from the data sets and data	
	will be stored within the university information repository,	
	with all remaining copies of digital data being erased.	
Who keeps the	The researcher will have responsibility for keeping	
information	information updated if informed by participant/s that this	
updated?	is necessary	
How long is the	Any voice recordings will be stored only until the end of	
information kept	the project. Written data will be retained in the university	
for?	repository for 10 years. This does not include personal	
	data such as dates of birth and ethnicity, which will be	
	destroyed after the end of the project.	
Will the data be	No	
used for any		
automated decision		
making?		
Is information	No	
transferred to a		
third country?		
Outside the \underline{UK} and		
not included in the		
adequate countries		
	If and have a second for a second for a second s	
the ITI he	If you have given consent for your interview to be	
the III be	vill be sent to a trained avternal alignment for secondary	
other third party?	will be sent to a trained external childran for secondary	
Vou can access all the l	assessment.	
https://staff.napier.ac.ul	services/governance_	
compliance/governance/DataProtection/Pages/statement aspy		
You have a number of rights available to you with regards to what personal data of		
vours is held by the University and how it is processed – to find out more about		
your rights, how to make a request and who to contact if you have any further		
queries about Data Prot	ection please see the information online using the	
following URL: https://	staff napier ac uk/services/governance-	
compliance/governance	/DataProtection/Pages/default.aspx	

9.25 Validation study consent form

Towards the validation of a new Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder tool

Participant identification number for this study:

Name of researcher: Zoe Wagland

Edinburgh Napier University requires that all persons who participate in research studies give their written consent to do so. Please read the following and sign it if you agree with what it says.

	Initial
I have read and understood the participant information sheet (version	
3.4) and privacy notice (version 3.2).	
I give consent for this form to be stored electronically on Edinburgh	
Napier University secure research computer drive.	
I have had an opportunity to ask questions about my participation.	
I understand that I am under no obligation to take part in this study.	
I understand that I have the right to withdraw from this study at any	
stage without giving any reason. If I withdraw from the study, any	
non-identifiable data	
I have provided may still be used as part of the study.	
I understand that non-identifiable data will be shared with the research	
team.	
I understand that data collected for the study may be shared with other	
researchers (on an anonymous basis). Data sharing will only be	
conducted as per the UK Data Protection Act 2018 and UK General	
Data Protection Regulations.	

Please state yes or no to following questions:	Yes	No
I give permission for my interview to be audio recorded.		
I am aware that anonymised quotes may use my exact words in the publication of these findings.		
I would be interested in attending a repeat interview in two weeks'		
time		
I agree to participate in this study		
I give permission for my interview to be audio recorded.		

Name of Participant

Participant's Signature

Date

9.26 Validation study debrief sheet

Towards the validation of a new trauma assessment tool

Thank you very much for participating in this study. I would like to take this opportunity to remind you of your rights, including your right to withdraw your responses up until the time that your data is anonymised. I would also like to remind you that all your information and results will be anonymised before analysis, and a pseudonym will be used where appropriate during publication.

Moving forward from this point, I will write up a summary of your results and forward this to your primary clinician. This may be the person conducting your clinical assessment. This summary will be helpful in planning the treatment you receive in the future.

If you feel that you have been negatively affected by anything which we have discussed today, I advise you to contact your primary mental health care provider. This may be your Therapist, Psychiatrist, or GP. It may also be helpful to contact a helpline such as Samaritans on: 116 123, or to visit a community support website such as the Big White Wall: www.bigwhitewall.com.

Should you wish to be informed of any papers which make use of the data you have provided, please let me know. I will take a note of your name and email address and these will be stored securely on a password protected computer and only used to send you copies of published works directly resulting from your responses.

If you wish to withdraw your data, or if you have any questions please contact me at: <u>zoe.wagland@napier.ac.uk</u>, or the supervisor at: <u>t.karatzias@napier.ac.uk</u>.

9.27 Validation study letter to referring clinician

Re: **participant name**

To whom it may concern,

The above individual attended a meeting with myself on **date** during which time I interviewed them using the International Trauma Interview (ITI). The ITI is an interview protocol designed to assess for PTSD and Complex PTSD. I have attached below the outcome of the interview, along with responses to the self-report psychometrics administered.

The results of the ITI and ITQ responses meet the current threshold criteria for **PTSD/CPTSD/subclinical presentation**, though this is not a formal diagnosis as the ITI has not presently been validated as a diagnostic tool.

Andrew has given informed consent and has been informed of their rights, including their right to withdraw their data at any time. They have also been informed that the results of the interview with me will be available for discussion at their next meeting with you.

Thank you very much for this referral, the research we are undertaking is of vital importance for the improved assessment and diagnosis of Complex PTSD and we would readily welcome any other clients you believe may be suitable or may benefit from this interview.

Yours Sincerely,

Zoe Wagland



Core Beliefs Questionnaire (Wong et al., 2017)



International trauma questionnaire (Cloitre et al., 2018)

9.28 International Trauma Interview

International Trauma Interview (ITI) for ICD-11 PTSD and Complex PTSD Test Version 3.2


9.29 Clinician survey

Clinical utility survey

We are interested in how useful the results of the ITI were in your clinical practice, as well as some other aspects of clinical utility. Please answer the questions below with as much detail as you are able. You do not need to respond to questions which do not apply to you (for example, if you have not used the interview protocol yourself).

How easy do you feel it was to apply the interview to this individual?

How useful do you feel the interview would be for communicating information about this individual with other mental health professionals?

How useful do you feel this interview would be for communicating information about the individual to him or herself?

How useful is this interview for comprehensively describing all the important PTSD/CPTSD-related problems the individual has?

How useful would this interview be for helping you to formulate an effective intervention for this individual?

How useful was this interview for describing the individual's global mental health?